Game Hacking Academy

A Beginner's Guide to Understanding Game Hacking Techniques Created from materials originally published from 2019 to 2021 on <u>https://gamehacking.academy</u> and <u>https://github.com/GameHackingAcademy</u>.

Created in 2021.

This book is distributed without charge. If you want to support future works, feel free to donate:

https://www.buymeacoffee.com/gamehackingacad



Have questions or notice issues? Feel free to contact me via email or Twitter:

attilathedud@gmail.com

https://twitter.com/GameHackingAcad

Computer Photo by Luke Hodde on Unsplash

Licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International Public License.

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	3
Introduction	7
External Resources	8
Basics	9
1.1 Computer Fundamentals	10
1.2 Game Fundamentals	18
1.3 Hacking Fundamentals	24
1.4 Setting Up a Lab VM	26
1.5 Memory Hack	29
Debugging & Reversing	37
2.1 Debugging Fundamentals	38
2.2 Reversing Fundamentals	41
2.3 Changing Game Code	45
2.4 Reversing Code	56
2.5 Code Caves	68
2.6 Using Code Caves	72
2.7 Dynamic Memory Allocation	78
2.8 Defeating DMA	82
Programming	90
3.1 Programming Fundamentals	91
3.2 External Memory Hack	95

3

3.3 DLL Memory Hack	110
3.4 Code Caves & DLL's	122
3.5 Printing Text	131
RTS Hacks	142
4.1 Stathack	143
4.2 Map Hack	151
4.3 Macro Bot	160
FPS Hacks	175
5.1 3D Fundamentals	176
5.2 Wallhack (Memory)	183
5.3 Wallhack (OpenGL)	196
5.4 Chams (OpenGL)	217
5.5 Triggerbot	221
5.6 Aimbot	230
5.7 No Recoil	253
5.8 Radar Hack	260
5.9 ESP	266
5.10 Multihack	298
Multiplayer	312
6.1 Multiplayer Fundamentals	313
6.2 Packet Analysis	317
6.3 Reversing Packets	331
6.4 Creating an External Client	345
6.5 Proxying TCP Traffic	356

Tool Development	365
7.1 DLL Injector	366
7.2 Pattern Scanner	372
7.3 Memory Scanner	380
7.4 Disassembler	389
7.5 Debugger	403
7.6 Call Logger	409
Appendix A	415
A.1 Lab VM Setup Script	416
A.2 Wesnoth External Gold Hack	416
A.3 Wesnoth Internal Gold Hack	418
A.4 Wesnoth Code Cave DLL	419
A.5 Wesnoth Stathack	421
A.6 Wesnoth Map Hack	424
A.7 Wyrmsun Macrobot	425
A.8 Urban Terror Memory Wallhack	428
A.9 Urban Terror OpenGL Wallhack	430
A.10 Urban Terror OpenGL Chams	433
A.11 Assault Cube Triggerbot	437
A.12 Assault Cube Aimbot	439
A.13 Assault Cube No Recoil	442
A.14 Assault Cube ESP	443
A.15 Assault Cube Multihack	448
A.16 Wesnoth Multiplayer Bot	480

A.17 Wesnoth ChatBot	483
A.18 Wesnoth Proxy	487
A.19 DLL Injector	491
A.20 Pattern Scanner	493
A.21 Memory Scanner	495
A.22 Disassembler	499
A.23 Debugger	503
A.24 Call Logger	506

Introduction

Hacking games requires a unique combination of reversing, memory management, networking, and security skills. Even as ethical hacking has exploded in popularity, game hacking still occupies a very small niche in the wider security community. While it may not have the same headline appeal as a Chrome Oday or a massive data leak, the unique feeling of creating a working aimbot for a game and then destroying a server with it is hard to replicate in any other medium.

When I first started learning game hacking years ago, resources were spread out across several sites and were very sparse. Typically, you would find a section of code that linked to a broken site. You would then search around for some forum that would have some part of the broken site in a post and piece together the information. While this rewarded thorough searching, it was a massive time-sink. These days, there are several places where you can find a variety of information regarding game hacking. You can find boilerplate code for almost any engine, along with the memory offsets for any structure you may care about.

However, one area still underserved by all the information out today is the concepts and fundamentals behind the offsets. My hope is that this book helps fill those gaps.

- attilathedud

External Resources

This is a list of all the external resources, such as tools and games, used in this book. They are ordered by their appearance. This is intended to help if you plan to read this book in a location without access to the Internet.

- <u>VirtualBox</u> (https://www.virtualbox.org/wiki/Downloads)
- <u>Windows 10 Evaluation Virtual Machine</u> (https://developer.microsoft.com/en-us/ microsoft-edge/tools/vms/)
- <u>Cheat Engine</u> (https://cheatengine.org/)
- <u>x64dbg</u> (<u>https://x64dbg.com/</u>)
- <u>The Battle of Wesnoth 1.14.9</u> (https://www.wesnoth.org/)
- <u>Visual Studio 2019 Community Edition</u> (https://visualstudio.microsoft.com/vs/ community/)
- <u>Wyrmsun</u> (https://store.steampowered.com/app/370070/Wyrmsun)
- <u>Urban Terror 4.3.4.</u> (https://www.urbanterror.info/)
- <u>Assault Cube 1.2.0.2</u> (https://assault.cubers.net/)
- <u>Wireshark</u> (https://www.wireshark.org/)
- <u>cmder</u> (<u>https://cmder.net/</u>)
- <u>ZLib</u> (<u>https://zlib.net/</u>)
- The Battle of Wesnoth 1.14.12 (https://www.wesnoth.org/)

Part 1 Basics

1.1 Computer Fundamentals

1.1.1 Computer Components

A typical computer has several connected components. Among the most important are:

- Hard-drive
- RAM
- Video card
- Motherboard
- CPU

If you were to remove the side of a desktop computer, the parts might be placed in a configuration like so:



For our purposes, we will only briefly address the first four components, and then we will focus on the CPU in the next section:

- Hard-drives are responsible for storing large files, such as photos, executables, or system files.
- RAM holds data that needs to be accessed quickly. Data is loaded into RAM from the hard-drive.
- Video cards are responsible for displaying graphics to the monitor.
- Motherboards tie all these components together and allow them to communicate.

1.1.2 The CPU

The CPU is the brain of the computer. It is responsible for executing instructions. These instructions are simplistic and vary depending on the architecture. For example, an instruction might add two numbers together. To speed up execution time, the CPU has several special areas where it can store and modify data. These are called registers.

Registers

			rtogiotoro
The o being	current instruct	tion	eax ebx
			ecx
	add eax, 2		eux
			eui
			esi
			ebp
			esp

1.1.3 Instructions

All computer programs are made up of a series of instructions. As we discussed above, an instruction is simplistic and typically only does one thing. For example, the following are some of the instructions found in most architectures:

- Add two numbers.
- Subtract two numbers.
- Compare two numbers.
- Move a number into a section of memory (RAM).
- Go to another section of code.

Computer programs are developed from these simple instructions combined together. For example, a simple calculator might look like:

mov eax, 5 mov ebx, 4 add eax, ebx

The first instruction (**mov**) moves the value of 5 into the register **eax**. The second moves the value of 4 into the register **ebx**. The **add** instruction then adds **eax** and **ebx** and places the result back into **eax**.

1.1.4 Computer Programs

Computer programs are collections of instructions. Programs are responsible for receiving a value (the input) and then producing a value (the output) based on the received value.

For example, one simple program could take a number as the input, increase the number by 1, and then move it into an output. It might look like:

mov eax, input
add eax, 1
mov output, eax

A more complex program would have many of these simple programs "inside" of it. In this context, these simple internal programs are called functions. Functions, just like programs, take an input and produce an output. For example, we could make our previous program a function that does the same thing. It might look like:

```
function add(input):
    mov eax, input
    add eax, 1
    mov output, eax
```

We could also make another function that does a similar operation. For example, we could write a function to decrease a number by 1:

```
function subtract(input):
    mov eax, input
    sub eax, 1
    mov output, eax
```

These two functions (**add** and **subtract**) can then be used to create a more complex program. This new program will take a number and either increment or decrement it. It will take two inputs:

- 1. A number
- 2. A mathematical operation, in this case, add (+) or subtract (-)

This new program will be longer and have two different ways it can execute. These will be explained after the code:

```
function add(input):
    mov eax, input
    add eax, 1
    mov output, eax
function subtract(input):
    mov eax, input
    sub eax, 1
    mov output, eax
cmp operation, '-'
```

```
je subtract_number
add(number)
exit
subtract_number:
    subtract(number)
    exit
```

This code has two functions at the top. Like we discussed, these take an input and then either add or subtract 1 from the input to produce the output. The **cmp** instruction compares two values. In this case, it is comparing the operation type received as input and a value coded into the program, -. If these values are equal, we go to (or jump to) another section of code (je = jump if equal).

If the operation is equal to -, we go to code that subtracts 1 from the number. Otherwise, we continue the program and add 1 to the number before exiting.

Comparing numbers and then jumping to different code depending on their value is known as branching. Branching is a key component of designing complex programs that can react to different input. For example, a game will often have a branch for each direction a player can move in.

1.1.5 Binary, Decimal, and Hexadecimal

Fundamentally, CPU's are circuits. Circuits either have electricity flowing through them (on) or they do not (off). These two states can be represented by a binary (or base-2) numeral system. In a base-2 system, you have two possible values: 0 and 1. An example binary number is 1101.

We are familiar with a decimal (or base-10) numeral system, which has 10 possible values: 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9. An example decimal number is 126. This number can be represented in a more explicit format as:

$$(1*10^2) + (2*10^1) + (6*10^0)$$

We can represent the binary number above (1101) in the same format. However, we will replace the 10's with 2's, as we are switching from a base-10 to base-2 system:

$$(1 * 2^3) + (1 * 2^2) + (0 * 2^1) + (1 * 2^0)$$

Binary numbers can quickly become unwieldy when they need to represent larger values. For example, the binary representation for the decimal number 250 is 11111010.

To represent these larger binary numbers, hexadecimal (base-16) numbers are commonly used in computing. Hexadecimal numbers are usually prefixed with the identifier **0x** and have sixteen possible values: 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, A, B, C, D, E, and F. An example hexadecimal number is **0xA1D**.

1.1.6 Programming Languages

Instructions are represented as numbers, like all other data on a computer. These numbers are known as operation codes, often shortened to opcodes. Opcodes vary by architecture. The CPU knows each opcode and what it needs to do when encountering each one. Opcodes are commonly represented in hexadecimal format. For example, if an Intel CPU encounters a **0xE9**, it knows that it needs to execute a **jmp** (jump) instruction.

Early computers required programs to be written in opcodes. This is obviously hard to do, especially for more complex programs. Variants of an assembly language were then adopted, which allowed writing of instructions. They look similar to the examples we wrote above. Assembly language is easier to read than just opcodes, but it is still hard to develop complex programs in.

To improve the development experience, several higher-level languages were developed, such as FORTRAN, C, and C++. These languages are easy to read and introduced flow-control operations like **if** and **else** conditionals. For example, the following is our increment/decrement program in C. In C, an **int** refers to an integer, or a whole number (-1, 0, 1, or 2 are examples).

```
int add(int input) {
    return input + 1;
}
int subtract(int input) {
    return input - 1;
}
if(operation == '-') {
    subtract(number);
```

```
}
else {
    add(number);
}
```

All these higher-level languages are compiled down to assembly. A traditional assembler then turns that assembly into opcodes that the CPU can understand.

1.1.7 Operating Systems

Writing programs to communicate with hardware is a time-consuming and difficult process. To execute our increment/decrement program, we would also have to write code to handle keystrokes from a keyboard, display graphics to the monitor, build out character sets so we could represent letters and numbers, and communicate with the RAM and the hard-drive. To make it easier to develop programs, operating systems were created. These contain code that already can handle these hardware functions. They also have several standard functions that are commonly used, such as copying data from one location to another.

The three main operating systems still in use today consist of Windows, Linux, and MacOS. All of these have different libraries and methods to communicate with the hardware. This is why programs written for Windows do not work on Linux.

1.1.8 Applications

Operating systems need a way to determine how to handle data when a user selects it. If the data is a photo, the operating system wants to bring up a specific application (like Paint) to view the photo. Likewise, if the data is an application itself, the operating system needs to pass it to the CPU to execute.

Each operating system handles executing uniquely. In Linux, a special executable permission is set on a normal file. In Windows, applications are formatted in a special way that Windows knows how to parse. This is referred to as the PE, or Portable Executable, format. The PE format has several sections, such as the **.text** section for holding program code, and the **.data** section for holding variables.

1.1.9 Games

With all of that out of the way, we can finally discuss games. Games are simply applications. On Windows, they are formatted in a PE format, identical to any other application. They contain a **.text** section that holds program code, made up of opcodes. These opcodes are then executed by the CPU, and the operating system displays the resulting graphics and handles input, like key presses.

1.2 Game Fundamentals

1.2.1 Parts of a Game

While games are applications, they are complex and made up of several parts. Some of these include:

- Graphics
- Sounds
- Input
- Physics
- Game logic

Due to each part's complexity, most games use external functions for these parts. These external functions are combined into what is called a library. Libraries are then used by other programs to reduce the amount of code written. For example, to draw images and shapes to a screen, most games use either the DirectX or OpenGL library.

For some types of hacks, it is important to identify the libraries being used. A wallhack is a type of hack that allows the hacker to see other players through solid walls. One method of programming a wallhack is modifying the game's graphics library. Both OpenGL and DirectX are vulnerable to this type of hack, but each requires a different approach.

For most hacks, we will be modifying the game logic. This is the section of instructions responsible for how the game plays. For example, the game logic will control how high a character jumps or how much money the player receives. By changing this code, we can potentially jump as high as we want or gain an infinite amount of money.

1.2.2 Game Structure

Game logic is made up of instructions, like all computer code. Due to the complexity of games, they are often written in a high-level language and compiled. Understanding the general structure of the original code is often required for more complex hacks.

Most games have two major functions:

- Setup
- Main Loop

The setup function is executed when the game is first started. It is responsible for loading images, sounds, and other large files from the hard-drive and placing them in RAM. The main loop is a special type of function that runs forever until the player quits. It is responsible for handling input, playing sounds, and updating the screen, among other things. An example main loop might look like:

```
function main_loop() {
    handle_input();
    update_score();
    play_sound_effects();
    draw_screen();
}
```

All of these functions in turn call other functions. For example, the **handle_input** function might look like:

```
function handle_input() {
    if( keydown == LEFT ) {
        update_player_position(GO_LEFT);
    }
    else if( keydown == RIGHT ) {
        update_player_position(GO_RIGHT);
    }
}
```

Every game is programmed differently. Some games might prioritize updating graphics before handling input. However, all games have a main loop of some sort.

1.2.3 Data and Classes

Any data that can be updated in a game is stored in a variable. This includes things like a player's score, position, or money. These variables are declared in the code. An example variable definition in C might look like:

int money = 0;

This code would declare the **money** variable as an integer. Like we learned in the last chapter, integer values in C are whole numbers (like 1, 2, or 3). Imagine if we had to track the money for several players. One way to do this would be to have several declarations, like so:

int money1 = 0; int money2 = 0; int money3 = 0; int money4 = 0;

One downside to this approach is that it is hard to maintain as the game gets larger and more complex. For example, to write code that increases every player's money by 1, we would have to manually update each variable:

```
function increase_money() {
    money1 = money1 + 1;
    money2 = money2 + 1;
    ...
}
```

If we added another player, we would have to go and update every section of code that altered the players' money. A better approach is to declare these values in a list. We can then use an instruction known as a loop to go through every item in the list. This is known as iteration. In C, lists are commonly implemented using what is known as an array. For our purposes, you can assume lists and arrays are synonymous. One type of loop in C is known as a for loop. For loops are divided into three segments: the starting value, the ending value, and how to update the value after each iteration. An example of the previous code might be written like:

```
int money[10] = { 0 };
int current_players = 4;
function increase_money() {
    for(int i = 0; i < current_players; i++) {
        money[i] = money[i] + 1;
    }
}
```

We now would only have to update the **current_players** variable to add support for another player.

To make it easier to develop complex applications, developers often use a programming model known as object oriented programming, or OOP. In OOP, variables and functions are grouped together into collections called classes. Classes are usually self-contained. For example, many games will have a Player class. This class will contain several variables like the player's position, name, or money. These variables inside the class are known as members. Classes will also contain functions to modify these members. One example of a Player class might look like:

```
class Player {
    int money;
    string name;
    function increase_money() {
        money = money + 1;
    }
}
```

Games will often contain lists of classes. For example, the game Quake 3 has an array of all the players currently connected to a server. Each player has their own Player class in the game. To calculate the score screen, the game will go over every player in the list and look at the amount of kills they have.

1.2.4 **Memory**

Games have a lot of large resources, like images and sounds. These must be loaded from the hard-drive, usually in the game's setup phase. Once loaded, they are placed

in RAM, along with the game's code and data. Because games are so large, they must constantly load different data from the RAM into registers to operate on. This loading is typically done by a **mov** command. This command will move a section of memory into a register. Our **increase_money** example function executed by the CPU might look like:

```
function increase_money:
    mov eax, 0x12345678
    add eax, 1
    mov 0x12345678, eax
```

In this example, we use **0x12345678** as the location in RAM of the player's money. Most games will have this structure but a different location. For more complex games, these locations will be based on other locations. If our game had a Player class, the **increase_money** code executed by the CPU would need to use the Player's class location to retrieve the money.

```
function increase_money:
    mov ebx, 0x12345670
    mov eax, ebx + 8
    add eax, 1
    mov ebx+8, eax
```

In this case, the CPU had to offset the money's location based on the location of the Player class.

1.2.5 Multiplayer Clients

Multiplayer games allow multiple players to interact with each other. To allow this, multiplayer games make use of clients and servers. An example of the client-server model is shown below:



Clients represent each player's copy of the game and contain all the information regarding the local game. For example, each client will contain that player's money. When a player causes an action to change their money, the client is responsible for sending this update to the server.

Information can also be sent in both directions. An example of this is player movement. One client will tell the server that the player has moved their position. The server will then tell all other clients to update their associated positions for the moved client.

1.2.6 Multiplayer Servers

While the client represents each player's copy of the game, the server ensures that all the connected clients are playing the same copy of the game. Servers will often restrict what changes they accept from clients. For example, imagine we wrote a hack to change our money in a game. If it is a multiplayer game, the server will reject our changes. This is why single-player hacks will often not work in multiplayer.

We will discuss multiplayer fundamentals further in a future chapter.

1.3 Hacking Fundamentals

1.3.1 Hacking Steps

All hacking consists of modifying memory in a game. Writing any hack involves four main steps:

- 1. Identify what you want to change.
- 2. Understand what memory you need to locate.
- 3. Locate that memory in the game.
- 4. Change that memory.

These steps apply for any hack, regardless of the complexity.

1.3.2 Identify

The first step for any hack is to identify what you want to do. Different hacks will require different approaches. For example, modifying a player's money will require a memory modification of a variable, whereas seeing other players through walls will require a memory modification of the game's code.

1.3.3 Understand

To modify memory, we need to locate it. Before we attempt to locate it, we need to understand what memory we need to locate. In some cases, the memory you want to modify will be a variable. In other cases, you will want to modify large sections of code. There are three main types of modifications:

- Variables, like modifying the value of a player's money
- Code, like modifying how walls are drawn
- Files, like modifying the saved items in your inventory

1.3.4 Locate

Once you know what you want to change and understand where to look, you can start looking for it. For some hacks, this may involve searching memory with a tool called a memory scanner. For others, it may involve looking through the game's code using a tool called a debugger. Depending on the game and approach, this can be a timeconsuming process.

1.3.5 Change

After you have located the memory, the last step is to change it. Initially, this will mean using a memory scanner or debugger to manually modify the memory. Once you have verified that this works, you can write a program to automatically change it for you.

1.4 Setting Up a Lab VM

1.4.1 Overview

When doing any sort of hacking, it's best practice to separate your personal and hacking machines. One easy way to achieve this is using a virtual machine, or VM. In this chapter, we will set up a game hacking VM running Windows 10. This will be the environment we use for all the other chapters as well.

Due to the hardware requirements of games, you will often find that it will be impossible to run a certain game in a VM. In these cases, one option is to create another section on your hard-drive known as a partition. You can then install Windows on this separate partition and reserve it for game hacking.

1.4.2 VirtualBox

For this book, we will be using a virtual machine hypervisor known as VirtualBox. This software allows you to run and manage virtual machines. You can download it <u>here.</u>

1.4.3 Virtual Machine

Next, we need a virtual machine. Since most games are released for Windows, we will be using a Windows 10 VM. Microsoft releases free Windows 10 VMs for testing old versions of Internet Explorer. These are completely legal but have a 90-day limit for activation. For our purposes, we will download a VirtualBox image. You can download the image <u>here.</u> Be aware, these VMs are about 7GB in size. Once the image is downloaded, extract the OVF file from the archive. VirtualBox uses extensions of OVA and OVF for images. These images contain a saved copy of a pre-configured machine.

Once we set up our machine, we will create a snapshot of it. This will allow us to throw out the old machine and create a new copy when it expires. Never keep notes or anything personal on your VM. Open VirtualBox and import the downloaded OVF. Keep all the options as the default.



Once the VM is imported, start it up. Windows 10 will start and send you to a login screen. The password for the user is "Passw0rd!", without the quotes.

1.4.4 **Tools**

We will use a Boxstarter script to install some game hacking tools. Boxstarter is a set of utilities that allows you to script and recreate installations. In this case, we will use it to install a memory searcher and debugger. Within your VM, open up Powershell and run the following two commands:

```
. { iwr -useb https://boxstarter.org/bootstrapper.ps1 } | iex;
Get-Boxstarter -Force
```

Install-BoxstarterPackage -PackageName https://
raw.githubusercontent.com/GameHackingAcademy/vmsetup/master/
vmsetup.txt -DisableReboots

The *vmsetup.txt* file is also available in <u>Appendix A</u>. If using the local version, run the following second command instead of the version above:

Install-BoxstarterPackage -PackageName C:
\location\of\vmsetup.txt -DisableReboots

The first command installs BoxStarter and is taken from their website. The second command is a setup script that enables some folder options and installs three programs:

- 1. Cheat Engine, a memory scanner
- 2. x64dbg, a debugger
- 3. Chocolatey, a package manager

As you discover more tools, you should create your own script and add them.

1.4.5 Cloning VMs

Now that we have our environment set up, we will create a clone. This will allow us to recreate our VM with all the tools already installed. Power off the VM completely and then choose *Export to OCI*. Keep all the defaults and begin the export.

	•	Move					
D Plan		Export to OCI					
ILY	Tool	Romovo					
UUU		Group		tin			
64	Dev	Start	•	a			
	🔁 S	Pause					
		Reset		S			
64	Andı	Close		le			
		Discard Saved State		m			
X	IE11	Show Log	жL				
	🔁 S	Refresh		5			
		Ohann in Eindan		r:			
64	blac	Show in Finder		or			
	S 🗹	Create Alias on Deskto	D				
64	MSE	Sort		у			
10	🕛 Po	wered Off	Video Me	mc			
			Graphics	Co			
			Remote D	es			

This will create an OVA, similar to the OVF we initially downloaded. If we ever corrupt our environment, we can simply delete it and import this new OVA. It will already have all of our tools installed, so we don't need to waste time reinstalling them.

1.5 Memory Hack

For our first hack, we will be targeting a game called "The Battle for Wesnoth", shortened to Wesnoth. This is a free, open-source game that has no anti-cheating mechanisms in place. Most of the chapters in this book will specifically target version 1.14.9. To install it on our VM, open up Powershell as an administrator and run the following command:

```
choco install wesnoth --version=1.14.9 -y
```

This will use Chocolatey to install The Battle for Wesnoth. Once the installation finishes, open the game and verify that it works. Then, go into the *Preferences* menu and change the game's video mode to *Windowed*. Finally, play the tutorial mission to learn about how the game works.

1.5.2 Identify

Our goal for this hack is to change our gold. Players use gold to buy troops in the game, so the more gold we have, the more troops we can buy. We will accomplish this by using a tool called Cheat Engine, which allows us to scan and modify game memory. To do that, we will use the steps we learned in <u>Chapter 1.3</u>.

Players only receive gold while playing a scenario. To create a scenario, select *Multiplayer* and then *Local Game*.



Keep the defaults for the rest of the settings and start the game.

1.5.3 Understand

In this game, a player's gold is stored in a variable. This variable is referenced by the code of the game.



To successfully complete our hack, we will need to find where this variable is stored in memory and change its value. Since we are dealing with a variable, we will use a memory scanner to find it.

1.5.4 Locate

Our next step is to locate the memory holding our gold value. We will start by opening Cheat Engine and attaching it to Wesnoth. In this tool, click on the icon in the top-left that looks like a computer with a magnifying glass.



In the window that appears, choose the Wesnoth process.



Memory scanners allow you to scan for a value in the game's memory. In the example game, the player has 75 gold, so that is what we will search for. Place your gold value in the *Value* box and select *New Scan*. Several thousand results will come back.



Initial scans in any memory scanner will return thousands of results. This is because games are complex and thousands of section of memory have the same value as our gold. These other sections could be variables like timers, the opponent's gold, or character health. Our goal when using a memory scanner is to filter these results down to one or two values that we can then manually test. To do this, we will modify our gold value in the game and then perform another scan using the *Next Scan* button. The next scan operation will only bring back results that were previously our initial value, in this case, 75.

Recruit a unit of troops in the game and look at your new gold value. Place this new value in the *Value* box and select *Next Scan*. In the example below, we recruited a unit for 17 gold, leaving us with 58 gold.

	a Battlafor Nasnoth	-1.90									0.3		
de tito	PEU ACTIONS	1	6.33	10 0.14	2 6-	10) 🚮 (1 200	1:53	E				
_										100	10022	3	
										1075	100		
- 9	Chest ingine	1.6						- 3	\times				
da derb	FIR EDIT TADIE	060	нер								100		
	122 14 14			00001	KC venui	heie			1	10.00	1.15	٩	
									5	Sec.			
~	Found 1,291	_			_				\sim	Parent Parent			
	2ddress	Ŧ	P	A Nev	(21)	Net Scen		Unito Score	Lations			4	
da 🖌	00020048	78	78		Tarue								
* 8	C1017820	75	75	Hex [24								
	C17830.00		75					le .		-	114	idean b	40
	(1782014	•	35	Scan Typ	Cart Volu		~	Luaform	ula			1.14.1	
	C17EA670	1	75	Value Typ	 ADyber 			1.144			HP .		
	C1 MA00C0	78	2.2		Carres	re ta Sistiscan					99149		
	019240-00	25	3.2	Men	ery Sum Op	uives .		Denndor	160	M	8/70		
	CINENAC	78	75	00				C) these of	CHENHCE.	* *	NP		
	CINERIPO		75	(a)		-				mmeus	player 1 🖡	2	
	(1)(0)(1)			U.S.						Rocklobb	н М		
	(1)(0)(0)		75	2016		0000721	1111111111111			ene (+0%)			
	C11079514	-	75	⊠ Wn	sion		Executable			NTREE MORES			
5 📓	(1980)26	15	75	1.60	VOUNTR					100			
• 81	C188C30C	75	75	2 Fig	Scan 4	Algone	nc			001			
. B	11/80304	78	15			Claiby	3			2 list			
B	CLIBCSFC	28	75	🚽 🌂 🗆 Рж	or the game	while cranni	ngi			No. of Contract			
. 8	Mercey Fer				Ø			Add Address h	denselly	ubiq-jub			
66	Arthur Darrandar	_		balance of	has	Value .							
	PARTY PERCENT			1484	-				-	-	Trees		
										LINC	Tum		

The result of this second scan is only one value. This is most likely our gold, but we will confirm that in the next step.

1	💹 Administrature Wendoms Prem	a Shel	- 0 X	
	The Battle for Wetacth - 1.14.9		– D X	^
Register las	Moru Actions 🐜 1 🧔 55	14014182 d-13 d+1 Xee	a.53	
en en	€ Creat Bryine 70 Disc Edit Table 100 Halp		- • ×	
	2008	COEPERC-webrock.exe	E Cont	
Second Swill	DISCOLUCE SS SS	Wec Her S	Grine Start	
		feer Type Boart Value -	 Lisafemile 1/6 1/6 1/6 1/6 	
		Veruel Water 4 Extent	429 47/47	
		MemoryScan Options	Diandoncer Att	
		AI ~ ~	Litrate Steelaat	
		Statt +00+09000900000	Rostletaer 12	
	10	Stop schuterverver	otic () 490	
	10	Con-Collitia	eneracis	
se.		Platikas 4 (1) Algoment	cei -2 Sat	
		Kauta the game while reasoning	· L Hing	
	Marnery Yeen	0	Add Address Menually 1005111000	
- 1	Adhe Description	Address Type Value		
deciteptes			End Ture	
# O	type here to search	ि म 😜 🚍 🔒 💼 /	🗵 📡 🚝 🖻 🗛 🖬 🖓 🖬 🕅 🖂	

1.5.5 Change

In Cheat Engine, you double-click on a memory location to move it to the bottom box on the screen. This bottom block allows you to edit the value stored in the memory location. Double-click on your result to bring it to the bottom box. Next, double-click on the value to bring up a box that will ask you for the new value. Type something large in there, like 200.

	😹 Administrator: Windows PowerShell	- u x
Annala Ba	The Battlefor Wesnoth - 1.34.9	- 🗆 🗙 🔷
veryoe an	Mens Actions 🍽 1 🐇 200 🎄 0/14 (8) 2 🦑 1(1) 👫 1 🛣 09:53	
	C thest Engine 10 — File Edit File Edit File Image: State State State	E
Bestatir	Number Vision Vision	
540	Scan Type Exact Value Laa form Value Type 4 Exact Value Compareto first scan Unrando Memory Scan Options Evalue 3 Start 00000000000000 Starp 00007Effffffffff Whitsble Executable CopyOn/Wite Fast Scan 4 Alignment	nizer preuffwick Preuffwick
Chest Engine	Pause the game while scanning Memory View O Add Address	ckt -2 Get Manually blet-impact
desktopini	Active Description Address Type Valve Nic description 05530A4C 4 Bytes 200	End Turn
= 0	Type tere to search 🛛 🕹 🖃 😁 🖉 🕱	😤 🖈 n 😥 🧣 👪 🕅 🖓

With the value changed, go back to the game. You should see your gold refresh to 200. Recruit a ton of units to confirm that your change was successful.


Part 2 Debugging & Reversing

2.1 Debugging Fundamentals

2.1.1 Goals

In our previous chapter, we hacked our gold by modifying a variable in memory. Memory modification like this is powerful, but it also has limitations. More complex hacks will often require you to modify the game's code. For example, imagine if we wanted to create a hack that would allow us to recruit units for no gold. One way to do this would be to constantly monitor our gold and manually increase it whenever we recruited a unit. This would also require you to constantly look for any new units added to the game and that unit's cost. An easier approach would be to modify the game's code to never decrease a player's money when recruiting.

Viewing a game's code as it is running is known as debugging. Understanding and modifying that code to do what you want is known as reversing. You do not have to debug a game to reverse it, but it is very helpful if you can.

2.1.2 Tools Involved

To debug a game, you use a tool known as a debugger. The first step in debugging is "attaching" the debugger to the game you want to debug. Once it's attached, you are able to view the game's code in memory. You are also able to pause execution of the game, change the game's code, and modify registers. We will see examples of these actions in future chapters.

Debuggers can cause unintended side-effects. For example, if you change the game's code incorrectly, the game can crash. Depending on the game, this can freeze your computer's display. This is another reason to always separate your hacking machine from your personal machine.

There are many debuggers, but some well-known ones include IDA and gdb. Other debuggers, like WinDbg and OllyDbg, are often mentioned but no longer maintained. In this series, we will be using an open-source debugger named x64dbg. Like any other

tool, it's more important to know the fundamentals than the tool. The same approach we will learn while using x64dbg can be applied to any debugger.

2.1.3 Disassembly and Debugging

After attaching a debugger to a game, the debugger will display the game's code. However, this is not the original game's code. Like we discussed in the first chapter, games are usually programmed in a high-level language, like C++. However, the executable running on our computer only contains the opcodes for the CPU to execute. This lack of the original code is what makes reversing difficult. Often games will contain thousands of these opcodes.

When assembling a program, each line of assembly code is converted to an opcode. Disassembly is the process in which opcodes are converted back to assembly. Normally disassembly and debugging are used interchangeably, especially when reversing a game. However, they can be done separately. It is possible to disassemble a program without debugging it. This is known as static analysis and is commonly done when reversing malware. It is also possible to debug a program without disassembling it. A common example of this would be debugging a program that you have written. In this case, you have the original code and the disassembly is unneeded.

It is possible to partially recreate the original high-level code from the disassembly. This is known as decompiling. However, disassembly is always representative of the code executing, while decompiling is not. Decompilers are often forced to guess at the original structure of the code. While these tools can be helpful, they can also lead you down false paths. In this book, we will not cover decompiling.

2.1.4 Assembly

When debugging and reversing a game, you will mainly be dealing with assembly. Assembly is similar to the first language we covered in <u>Chapter 1.1</u>. Each instruction in assembly does one thing, such as add or subtract. It is not necessary to know every assembly instruction to reverse a game.

While it may appear daunting, any assembly code can be understood by going through it one instruction at a time. When debugging, this is known as stepping through the disassembly. Often there are many instructions in a game that are not critical to understand while reversing. For example, the CPU has to do several instructions when adding numbers that have decimal values. If we are only interested in the result of this addition, we can skip over many of these instructions. Understanding which instructions can be skipped comes with experience.

2.2 Reversing Fundamentals

2.2.1 Context

The process of reversing a game can seem overwhelming the first time you attach a debugger to a game. The best way to start reversing a game is to figure out what you want to look at and then find where it is. Once you establish this context, you can step through only those instructions that actually matter to you.

There are many ways to establish a context. In some cases, you may want to search for text that is displayed when the game does a certain action. Any locations that load this text must eventually be related to the action that you are interested in. In other cases, you can use memory addresses found in the memory editor to find the code that you are interested in. Regardless of which approach you take, you will use a breakpoint.

2.2.2 Breakpoints

Breakpoints allow the debugger to pause execution of the game at a specific instruction. With the game paused, you can then step through individual instructions and view the game's memory. You can set breakpoints on any type of memory. This includes memory found using a memory scanner.

Breakpoints can be set to trigger both non-conditionally and conditionally. Conditional breakpoints will only trigger if their conditions are met. These conditions can be things like registers having a certain value or the memory (that the breakpoint is set on) changing. When a breakpoint is triggered, it's also known as popping.

2.2.3 Memory Breakpoints

The best way to illustrate the use of breakpoints is through an example. In this section, we will examine how a memory breakpoint can be used to establish a context.

Back in <u>Chapter 1.5</u>, we found the memory location of our gold. We can use this memory location to find the game logic responsible for lowering our gold. We do this by setting a conditional breakpoint on the memory location of our gold and then going into the game to recruit a unit. When we recruit the unit, the breakpoint will pop and execution will be paused at the function responsible for lowering the player's gold. This function may look something like below, with the line in blue representing our paused location.

```
mov eax, dword ptr ds:[0x05500ABC]
mov ebx, dword ptr ds:[0x12345678]
sub eax, ebx
mov dword ptr ds:[0x05500ABC], eax
mov esi, ebx
```

The first instruction moves the value stored at 0x05500ABC into the register **eax**. This value was the location we found in our previous chapter for gold. The next instruction moves a hypothetical value for the unit's cost into the register **ebx**. The game then subtracts the unit's cost from our gold value. Our paused location is responsible for moving the new value of gold back into the memory location that stores our gold value.

You may notice that the game did not pause on the subtraction operation. This is because this operation only modifies the value in the register and not the actual value of the memory we set the breakpoint on. Breakpoints will always pause on the instruction immediately after the affected memory.

2.2.4 Code Breakpoints

Sometimes it may be difficult or impossible to find a memory value to set a breakpoint on. In these cases, you can set a breakpoint on a section of code. A common example of this is setting a breakpoint on a text reference and then using that to find the toplevel function we are interested in.

Consider a game for which we want to write a wallhack. The game's main loop may look something like:

```
void main_loop(){
    draw_players();
    draw_walls();
    ...
```

}

And the game's **draw_wall** function may look something like:

```
void draw_wall(){
    bool succeeded = load_texture("wall_texture");
    if(succeeded == false){
        print_error();
    }
}
```

Finally, the **print_error** function may look something like:

```
void print_error(){
    print_to_log("Couldn't find wall texture");
}
```

One method of writing a wallhack is to remove this game's **draw_wall** function. Since there is no variable to use as a memory breakpoint, we will instead use a code breakpoint.

Debuggers allow you to view all the text in a game and all the locations that use that text. For example, with a debugger, we could find the *Couldn't find wall texture* text and where it is referenced. It may look something like:

```
mov eax, dword ptr ds:[0x23456789]
push eax
call print_to_log
...
```

This section of code is responsible for loading the string into a register and then calling the **print_to_log** function. By setting a breakpoint on this code and then finding a missing texture in the game, our breakpoint would pop. We could then continue to step through the code until it returned us to the function that called this code. This is known as stepping out of a function. After we have stepped out, we would be in the **draw_wall** function and could then remove the function.

2.2.5 The nop Instruction

A **nop** (opcode **0x90**) stands for no operation. When encountering this instruction, a CPU will do nothing and continue on to the next instruction. This behavior can be used to modify game logic.

For example, in Section 2.3.3 above, we found the portion of code responsible for subtracting our gold. The code looked like:

mov eax, dword ptr ds:[0x05500ABC]
mov ebx, dword ptr ds:[0x12345678]
sub eax, ebx
mov dword ptr ds:[0x05500ABC], eax

By replacing the **sub** operation with a **nop**, the game will no longer subtract our gold.

2.3 Changing Game Code

2.3.1 **Target**

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

2.3.2 Identify

Our goal in this chapter is to change Wesnoth's code so that recruiting units does not decrease our gold.

2.3.3 Understand

To modify the game's code, we will need to use a debugger. To locate the game code to modify, we will set a breakpoint on our gold address and then recruit a unit. Our debugger will pop at the code responsible for decreasing our gold. We can then **nop** out the **sub** instruction.

2.3.4 Locating Gold

Our first step is opening up Wesnoth and creating a local game. Then you can follow the steps in <u>Chapter 1.5</u> to find your gold address. Due to a process called Dynamic Memory Allocation (or DMA), it will be at a different address than before. We will cover DMA in a future chapter. Once you have found your new gold address, close down Cheat Engine but keep Wesnoth open. In this chapter, we will use the value of 0x051D875C as our gold address.

2.3.5 Attaching the Debugger

Next, start the 32-bit version of x64dbg. It can be found at C:\ProgramData\chocolatey \lib\x64dbg.portable\tools\release\x32\x32dbg.exe. Once started, open the File menu and choose Attach.



In the attach dialog that opens up, choose the Wesnoth process and hit Attach. This will attach our debugger to the Wesnoth process.



Upon attaching, x64dbg will pop in a module called *ntdll.dll* and display a lot of information.



Before we dive into reversing, let's quickly cover the major components in any debugger. The highlighted section contains the code being executed. The dump section directly below displays the memory of the application in its hexadecimal (hex) and ASCII representation. To the right of the code section is a list of all registers and their values. Below the registers is the application's stack.

In this chapter, we will only be using the code section and the dump section. For more complex hacks, understanding all these sections will be necessary. Different debuggers will always contain all of this information, but they will often arrange them in different ways.

We are currently viewing the ntdll.dll module. This is not our target, but it's a common module loaded into all Windows executables. To view the game's code, we need to navigate to the *Symbols* tab and double-click on *wesnoth.exe*.

	Cant .	Peters	-	Tintes	Breakmints	🛩 Jac & A. S. 🔤 👻	EH Solo	Sumble .	O faura	D References	
Base	Module	Ly coy		Address	Type Ordi	1] Smbol	61 <u>2</u> 300	- street	300°08	2 HIPPOL	Synbr
74610000 76370000 76370000 76370000 76470000 9640000 9640000 97370000 71370000 71370000 7130000 7130000 7130000 7130000 71460000 71370000 71460000 71460000 71400000 714000000 7140000000000	ole32.dll powprof.dl powprof.dl prefapi.dll prefapi.dll prefapi.dll prefapi.dll prefapi.dll prefapi.dll prefapi.dll prefapi.dll prefapi.dll sethoust.dll sholla2.dll sholla2.dll sholla2.dll sholla2.dll sholla2.dll sholla2.dll sholla2.dll sholla2.dll sholla2.dll sholla2.dll sholla2.dll sholla2.dll sholla2.dll sholla2.dll sholla2.dll users.dll users.dll wenoth exe whistowick.dll wenoth exe whistowick.dll wen	ann ann ann ann ann ann ann ann ann ann	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	IO04011C0 0110000000000000000000000000000000000	Export 0 Import	Cost sonal Header. Addressof Entrys CrystEnumProvidersA CrystEnumProvidersA CrystEnumProvidersA CrystEnumProvidersA CrystEnumProvidersA CrystEntessof HeadersA Address	Porint				
Search: Do	e here to fiter re	Reg	ex	Search: Tvi	pe here to filter re	Hz					Lock 🗌
No symbol [DIA] Fki \{3150:10 No symbol [DIA] Fki No symbol [DIA] Fki	s loaded for pping non-a 664107DADDO s loaded for pping non-a s loaded for	r: Sem12 Histent 0445DDC7 r: props Histent	. di 900 940 940 940	L1 B: C:\Rrog X341\pops d11 B: C:\Ried d11	ranData/choc ys.pdb iow/.Sys#OFE4	canes.pue asey\libux64dbg.portable\tools\u ecopeys.pdb	release'):32/s	Ampoge/bicobel	s.pdb		

This will switch our view to the game's code and memory space.

2.3.6 Setting Up the Debugger

Certain default settings in x64dbg will make it pop when we do not want it to. To make reversing in this chapter and future chapters easier, we will disable these settings.

In the top menu, choose Options -> Preferences.



In the modal that opens, uncheck the *TLS Callbacks* option and select *Save*. This will disable x64dbg from automatically popping when receiving a TLS callback.

💮 Setti	ngs					×
Event	ts Engine	Exceptions	Disasm	GUI	Misc	
Break	on:					
⊠ sv	vstem Breakpoint	*	DLL Load			
<u></u> π	.S Callbacks*		DLL Unloa	ad		
🗹 Er	ntry Breakpoint*		Thread S	tart		
	L Entry		Thread E	nd		
	ttach Breakpoint		Debug St	rings		
Th	nread Entry					

2.3.7 Setting a Breakpoint

Next, we will set a breakpoint on our gold location. After we set this breakpoint, we will go into Wesnoth and recruit a unit. Doing so will cause the breakpoint to pop and pause execution at the location responsible for subtracting gold.

Right-click in the dump section and choose Go to -> Expression:

	 0040101 0040101 0040101 0040101 	13 8910 15 E8 06 14 8810	58A100 04482401 01	cmo dwore	d ptr ds:[eas snoth.sub_E10 d ptr ds:[180	[],edx 6890s 64804],1		Watch I Allocate	Memory		20.00	FS 0053 DS 0028 EE 0028		
	 0040101 0040101 	31C0	10	xor eax	eax		65	Golto		•	Θ	Expression	CEI+G	E
111	<			1000 000				Hex		,		File Offset	Cbl+Shift+G	10
000008	1000						A.	Text		•	٠	End of Page	End	1
ext:00	401052 wesnot	th.exe:\$1052	#452					Integer		•	٠	Previous		
ių Durp :	1 👫 Dump 2	EliDunp 3	Eli Duno 4	Elli Duno S	😸 Watch 1	In-I Locals	4	Float		•	ets	en to ntdl	1.710983A9 fro	a nti
idness.	Hex				ASCII			Address	1		tdl	1.7:098370		
FF1010 FF1010 FF1010 FF1010	28 00 28 00 28 00 28 00 1E 00 20 00 1A 00 18 00	A4 C4 FF 76 44 C4 FF 76 EC C3 FF 76 84 C1 FF 76	14 00 16 00 14 00 16 00 14 00 16 00 20 00 22 00	0 C4 FF 74 C C4 FF 74 C0 C3 FF 74 10 C3 FF 74	(.*.DAyv1.6. 	DAYV AYV DAYV AYV		Disase	UIFEFFSC 01FEFFSC	00000000 01FBFFCC	Petr	NEAT TO SEA	"Record(1)	
FF1010 FF1010 FF1010 FF1010	20 00 21 00 10 00 12 00 06 00 13 00 06 00 05 00	08 C3 FF 76 08 C2 FF 76 20 82 FF 76 F0 81 FF 76	18 00 1A 00 00 00 02 00 00 00 02 00 00 00 08 00	60 SD FF 74 10 82 FF 74 10 82 FF 74	Avv. 0Å v.	12V			01F8FF64 01F8FF65 01F8FF6C 01F8FF70	770686D0 F3802734 00000000 01FBFF80	ntdl	1.7:068600	-1	
FF10A0	05 00 05 00 05 00 0A 00	54 77 FE 76	06 00 08 00 22 00 24 00	10 80 FF 74		5. SV		~	<	199729-121	rets	rn to kern	e151176840179	TT ON

In the dialog that opens, type in our gold address and hit OK.

Enter expression to follow in Dump		×
05108750		
Correct expression! -> 051D875C		
	UK.	Cancel

The dump will then show the address we just typed in. The data displayed is in hexadecimal format. In the target game, the player had 100 gold. 100 in hexadecimal format is **0x64**. This is the value displayed in the dump.

.text:00	.tex1:00401052 wesnoth.exe:\$1052 #452																				
🛃 🖉 Dump	1	4	Dur	np 2		1	Dun	р 3		<u>, m</u>	Dump	4	,	. D	ump	5		Wate	h 1	l∞-l L	ocals
Address	He:	K 👘															ASC:	II			
051D875C	64	0	00	00	84	5 E	53	01	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	d	.^s			
00 20 0, 00	<u></u>	7	1D	05	61	87	1D	05	00	00	00	00	00	87	10	05	d	c			
0510877C	00	00	00	CICI	CIO.	00	00	aa	1111	00	00	00	on	CIC)	00	00		· ::	<u>-</u>		
051D87BC	<u>BO</u>	<u>A8</u>	DC	00	80	AB	DC	OD	98	AC	DC	0D	00	00	00	00	^ U.	«U			
051D879C	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	90	87	1D	05	90	87	1D	05					
051D87AC	00	00	00	00	01	00	00	00	C 8	87	5D	0D	4R	00	00	00			.E.J	. K	
051D87BC	4B	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	02	00	00	00	01	00	00	00	К				
051D87CC	00	00	00	00	14	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00					
051D87DC	D8	25	5 F	00	88	21	5 F	OD	58	24	5 F	0D	07	00	00	00	Ø%	- I_	. X\$_		
051D87EC	F4	87	TD	05	05	00	00	00	6E	6F	72	74	68	00	00	00	û		. חטר	ch	
051D87FC	20	83	E0	05	22	B4	04	77	88	Γ8	CE	07	50	EC	27	06	à.	· • . • !	wjoî	.rì'.	
LOC (D D D D D D	1.2.6		- 65				27	26	40	0.0	40	0.5	20	00	00	0.0	0.27				

Command:

Right-click on the value and choose *Breakpoint -> Hardware, Write -> DWORD*. This will set a conditional breakpoint on this memory address. The condition for popping is any modification of the memory address.



With our breakpoint set, we will now resume execution of the program. This can be done by pressing the *Play* button until the *Paused* status disappears and the game resumes. You will have to do this several times due to the several breakpoints that x64dbg automatically creates.



2.3.8 Locating Code

Once the game resumes, go back into Wesnoth and recruit a unit. You will notice that Wesnoth will freeze due to our breakpoint popping and pausing execution. Navigate back to x64dbg to see where it popped.

_	• 007CCDA1		808D 48FCFFFF 00	cmp byte ptr ss: ebp-385,0	
	-01007CCDA81	4	74 23	1e wesnoth.7CCDCD	
	007CCDAA		8D85 08FDFFFF	lea eax, dword ptr ss:[ebp-2F8]	
	007CCDB0		BA 01000000	mov edx,1	
	007CCDB5		894424 04	mov dword ptr ssiesp+4],eax	[esp+4]:&"p
	007CCDB9		8D85 18FDFFFF	lea eax, dword ptr ss: ebp-2E8	
	007CCDBF		890424	mov dword ptr ss: esp],eax	
	007CCDC2		8995 88FCFFFF	mov dword ptr ss: ebp-378, edx	
	007CCDC8		E8 936AF9FF	call <wesnoth.sub_763860></wesnoth.sub_763860>	
	007CCDCD	>	8B85 7CFCFFFF	mov eax, dword ptr ss:[ebp-384]	
	007CCDD3		89 01000000	mov ecx,1	
	007CCDD8		890424	mov dword ptr ss: esp],eax	
	007CCDDB		898D 88FCFFFF	mov dword ptr ss:[ebp-378],ecx	
	007CCDE1		8D8D FOFCFFFF	lea ecx, dword ptr ss: ebp-310	
	007CCDE7		E8 A4F58900	call <wesnoth.sub_106c390></wesnoth.sub_106c390>	
	OO7CCDEC		888D FOFCFFFF	mov ecx, dword ptr ss:[ebp-310]	
	007CCDF2		83EC 04	sub esp,4	
	007CCDF5		85C9	test ecx,ecx	
	007CCDF7	~	OF84 90180000	je wesnoth.7CE68D	
	007CCDFD	>	88 08000000	mov eax, B	8: '\V'
	007CCE02		C70424 00000000	mov dword ptr ss: esp],0	
	007CCE09		8985 88FCFFFF	mov dword ptr ss: ebp-378, eax	
	007CCEOF		E8 FCD2F9FF	call <weshoth.sub_76a110></weshoth.sub_76a110>	
	007CCE14		8885 FOFCFFFF	mov eax, dword ptr ss:[ebp-310]	
	007CCE1A		83EC 04	sub esp,4	
	007CCE1D		85C0	test eax, eax	
1.1	 007CCE1F 	×	74 10	je wesnoth.7CCE31	
	007CCE21		890424	mov dword ptr ss:[esp],eax	
11	007CCE24		3100	xor eax, eax	
	<)

The highlighted **EIP** represents the current location of execution within the program. **EIP** stands for Extended Instruction Pointer and is a special register used by programs to understand the current execution location. From our last chapter, we know that conditional breakpoints are triggered after the operation that affected the memory in question. Scroll up in the code window to see the previous instructions.

🔟 CPU	👰 Graph	2Log 🛛	Notes	 Breakpoints 	Memory Map	Call Stack	SEH SEH	Script
	 007CCD8J 007CCD8J 007CCD9J 007CCD9J 007CCD9J 007CCD9J 	L > 6985 8890 01D8 89C2 8985	S&FCFFFF 4CFCFFFF	700200(imu mov add mov	<pre>l eax,dword ptr ebx,dword ptr eax,ebx edx,eax dword ptr ss:</pre>	ss:[ebp-3A8], ss:[ebp-3B4]	270	
310	 007CCD98 007CCD98 007CCD48 007CCDA8 007CCDA4 007CCD44 	8 8845 2942 8080 74 2 8085	18 04 4BFCFFFF 3 08FDFFFF	00 cmp lea	eax, dword ptr dword ptr ds:[byte ptr ss:[eax, dword ptr eax, dword ptr	ss:[ebp+18] edx+4].eax bp-385].0 ss:[ebp-2F8]		

The highlighted **sub** instruction was responsible for modifying our gold value. As we remember from previous chapters, **sub** stands for subtract and is responsible for subtracting two numbers. In this case, it is subtracting the value held in the memory location stored in **edx + 4** and **eax**. The exact specifics of these values are not necessary to know now. All we need to know is that this operation is affecting our gold in some way.

2.3.9 Change

Finally, we will change this code and finish our hack. To do this, we will replace the **sub** instruction with the **nop** instruction. This will replace the subtraction with an operation that does nothing. As a result, our gold will no longer decrease. Luckily, x64dbg contains a built-in way to automatically **nop** out an instruction. Right-click on the line with the subtract instruction and choose *Binary -> Fill with NOPs*.

	00/DCD55 00/DCD55		5502 5505 701CHTT 5845 18 2542 04	new dward str ssi new dward str ssi new eax, dward ptr sub dward str	ebs uuu ,eak ss:[ebp-18]			FRX DF 10875 R ECX 000000000 ED2 05 10875 R	
	CONCEPTE		BUBD 1BHCFFFF 00 /1 /25	te wesnoth vit	Bhary	•	2	rde -	Celler
	OD/CCBAA		BUSS CONCOMPTENE	lea eax, dword 🚊	Capy	•	2	ni	r
	OD/IXTERA OD/IXTERA		ENDINAL DO ROOM TREASER	nov dvord pro 🔹	Dreakpoint	•	1	Lil with NOPA	06144
	0D/13118F		KNU124 KNUS KRECEFEE	ney dword pro	Follow in Dump	•	E.	1 million	1.1.1.1.1
	00700BC8 00700BCB	5	ES BREAFBEE BREAT COCCEPEE	nell sweenoth.	Followin Disastenbier	•	61	Copy Notes	distant.
	0070CBDR 0070CBDR		89-01000000 890424	nov ecs.1	Follow in Nenary Map			Harts Descentral	cal and they
	0070CBBR 0070CBF1		ASSO ASSOCRESS SOOD CODOLEDE	nov dword pin 👰	Graph	6	4	reserved and approach	T (DRAWN_SOUCE
1	0070CBF7		FO A4FS0000 MAD FORCEFEE	nev en dwerd	Liep on measure	0944-1		LastStatus C000008	I (STATUS OSDE

x64dbg will populate the next values for you automatically. Just select *OK* on the next screen.

📳 Size	×
Expression:	0000003
Bytes:	0300000
Signed:	3
Unsigned:	3
ASCII:	
=	OK Cancel

If done correctly, the code should now look like the image below. You will notice there are three **nop** instructions. We will cover why in a future chapter.

	00700098		8845 18	nov eax, dword ptr ss:[ebp=18]
	007CCD9E		90	nop
	OOZCODOE		90	nop
	007CCDA0		90	nop
	OU/CCDA1		80BD 1BFCFFFF 00	cnp byte ptr ss:[ebp-385],0
®	007CCDA8	- - •	74 23	je wesnoth.7CCDCD
	00700044		SDSS_OSEDEEEE	lea ear dword of riss. Tebo-2E8

Before we can verify that our change has worked, we need to disable our breakpoint so that it doesn't pop again. To do this, first go to the *Breakpoints* tab. This tab contains a list of all the breakpoints we have set in the application.



Right-click on the breakpoint you have set and choose *Remove*.



With the breakpoint removed and the code changed, we can now go back into Wesnoth and observe our changes. Recruit a few units and observe that your gold no longer goes down.

2.4 Reversing Code

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

2.4.2 Identify

To recruit units in Wesnoth, you right-click on a tile and choose *Recruit*. In Wesnoth, you can only recruit units on specific tiles. Our goal for this chapter is to change this behavior so that we can recruit units anywhere on the map.



2.4.3 Understand

This hack will require us to modify the game's code using a debugger. To conduct this hack, we will first need to find the code executed when right-clicking on a tile and choosing an option. The original game code probably looks something like:

```
switch( option_selected ) {
   case "Terrain Description":
        show_terrain_description(location);
        break;
   case "Recruit":
        recruit_unit(location);
        break;
   case ...
}
```

A switch statement allows you to execute different branches depending on the state of a variable. We want to modify this statement so that clicking on *Terrain Description* instead calls the code for recruiting a unit.

2.4.4 Bubbling

In the previous chapter, we found the code responsible for subtracting gold when we recruited a unit. We will use this code to bubble up to the right-click menu code location. To illustrate the concept of bubbling up, imagine that the code in Wesnoth for recruiting units looks like:

```
function handle_context_menu() {
    ...
    case "Recruit":
        recruit_unit(location);
        break;
    ...
}
...
function recruit_unit(location) {
    ...
    check_location(location);
    find_unit_in_unit_list();
    ...
```

```
}
. . .
function find_unit_in_unit_list() {
    . . .
    get_unit();
    get_unit_cost();
    subtract_unit_cost();
    . . .
}
function subtract_unit_cost() {
    check_player_gold();
    subtract_gold();
    . . .
}
. . .
function subtract_gold() {
    player_money = player_money - cost_of_unit;
}
```

A good way to visualize the interactions between all these functions is through the use of a function chain. The function chain for this example would look like:

```
handle_context_menu() -> recruit_unit() -> find_unit_in_unit_list() ->
subtract_unit_cost() -> subtract_gold()
```

The code we found in the previous chapter was in the **subtract_gold** function. By bubbling up from this code, we will eventually locate the **handle_context_menu** function.

To bubble up in our debugger, we will make use of two features: *Execute till return* and *Step Over*. The execute till return feature executes instructions until reaching a return statement. The step over feature executes a line of code. Unlike the *Step Into* feature, step over does not enter a function if the instruction being executed is a **call**. We will elaborate on this later, but first we need to cover how functions are translated into assembly.

2.4.5 Calls and Returns

The **call** instruction is used to invoke a function in assembly. At the end of the called function, the **retn** (return) instruction is used to go back to the code that called the function. For example, the code below uses a **call** to increase the register **eax** by 1:

```
main:
    mov eax, 0
    call increase_eax
    mov ebx, eax
increase_eax:
    add eax, 1
    mov ecx, eax
    retn
```

Imagine we set a breakpoint on the **add eax**, **1** instruction. Once it pops, using the execute till return feature would cause the debugger to continue executing code until the first **retn** instruction is reached. Once on the **retn** instruction, the step over feature would then execute the **retn** instruction and arrive at the **mov ebx**, **eax** instruction. This is a good illustration of bubbling up to a higher function.

To understand stepping in versus stepping over, imagine we set a breakpoint on the **call increase_eax** instruction. Stepping into this instruction would cause our debugger to go to the first line of the function (**add eax, 1**) and wait there. Stepping over this function would cause our debugger to continue execution until reaching the **mov ebx**, **eax** instruction. When dealing with lots of low-level code, it is often convenient to step over functions to not waste time.

2.4.6 Locating the Menu

Unlike variables, code locations within a game will usually not change. Because of this, we can use the same location we found in the previous chapter to begin reversing. After attaching x64dbg to Wesnoth, navigate to the location we found in the last chapter (0x007ccd9e) and click on the dot to the instruction's left to set a breakpoint. The address will turn red to indicate that a breakpoint has been set. This breakpoint will pop whenever this instruction is executed.

ŧ.	🔷 Graph	Log	🛱 Notes	• Dreakpoints	; Memory Map	🗐 Cal Stack	🧠 SCH	📃 Script	
	 00700 	DOF	2942 04	51	b dword ptr ds:[edx+4],eax			
	00700	DAI	808D 48FCFF	FF 00	p byte pin sst <mark>f</mark> e	bp-385,0			_
1.11	0 00/CC	DA8 -	74 28	16	wesnoth./CCDCD				
	0.00703	DAA	30385 OSLDET	10 1 0	a cax, dword prr	SS: Chp 218			
	# 00700	DBO	BA 01000000	mo	v edx,1				
	# 007CC	DBS	891121_01	mu	w dword ptr ss:	esp+1, eax			
	# 007CC	089	8065 180011	H 10	a cax, dword ptr	SS: CDD 218			
	007CC 007CC	DRF	890424	me	w dword ptr ss:	esp , eax			
	+ 0070C	The second	acon secon		and all and a set of the set of t	and and the second seco			

Next, go back into Wesnoth and recruit a unit. Upon doing so, the debugger will pop at the same location we saw in the last chapter.



Click the Execute till return button once to execute until the first retn instruction.



Once on it, click the Step over button to go to the calling code.



You should be sent to the following location:

🍂 weivetikene - PID 201 - Midule weivetikene - Thread Ma	ir Thread 1819 - x22ebg		- 6 ×
File View Debug Trace Plugins Favourities Options	Hip Feb 23 2020		
🛎 👽 🖛 🕂 🚓 嗪 🕹 🕇 📲 🦉	😸 👻 🥐 fz. # 🗛 👗 📗 🔮		
🔤 CV 🔍 Grash 🔂 Loo 🖹 Notes 🔹 Bresko	aints 💻 Menory Rao 🛛 🖓 Cal Stad: 🧠	92H 📈 Scrot 🔮 Symod	ks 🗢 Source 🖉 References 😒 Trice
OUTCFIDS 894C24 08 OUTCFIDC C746 A8 02800000	mov dword ptr sst tspie ,ecx mov dword ptr sst top-5.81.2	^ Hide	FRU
ID FALL F	<pre>by easy dword ptr is: [cop-10] list col, com dword ptr is: [cop-10], com gov dword ptr is: [cop-10], dword ptr is: [cop-1</pre>	EAX EEX EEX CON CS CS CS CS CS CS CS CS CS CS CS CS CS	017ED728 017ED728 017ED744 AVAJ85JA 00000006 00080006 00088520 wesheth.00686320 007CF3E8 wesheth.007CF3E8 5 00000006 P7 1 AF 0 57 0 DF 0 T7 0 IF 1 Pror UUUUUUUU (DURLE_SULLESS) E4:US E0000034 (STATUS_083ECT_PATH_M 28 F5 0003 58 03.0008 53 0008 53 0008 54 0003 55 0003 56 0003 56 0003 57 0 E 1 Trop UUUUUUUU (DURLE_SULLESS) 58 0003 58 00000 58 00000 58 0
exx-02702738 dword ptr [eop-12]='01702730]=L3585550		10.00	1016 147 607 8K
.text:00/CF3E8 wesnoth.exe:\$3CF3E8 #3CE7E8		81 (a) 51 (b)	[p+10] 00000011 [p+14] 00000000
Bits Dump 1 Bits Dump 2 Bits Dump 3 Bits Dump 4 Bits Dump 4	U Dunp 5 ♥ Wetch 1 M=Lacais ♥ 5 ANS 22 4 07 21 4 07 21 5 0 22 4 07 2 5 0 22 4 07 2 5 0 22 5 0 2 5	CONTRACTOR OF PROPERTY OF	
Commands			Defait •
Pauled [BC3 breakment at seconds an 2000 BE (no 2000 BE)			Time Washer Deburying 0-00-49.26

The **call** instruction above the highlighted line is the **call** we were just inside of. The code we are currently at was responsible for calling this function. We can use this technique to keep bubbling up to the function we care about.

We know that the function for handling the right-click menu will have many branches and calls. We can guess that when translated into assembly, the game's switch statement will most likely look something like:

call some_address
jmp to_end
call some_address
jmp to_end
call some_address

jmp to_end

There will most likely be other instructions, but this is the format we are looking for. Keep following the cycle of executing until a return statement and then stepping out. After several times, you should land in the following code:



This pattern looks similar to what we were expecting. We can verify that this is the correct code by **nop**'ing out the **call** we just stepped out of, like so:

藏 wenotkese- PIP: 281 - Nodule wenoth.exx - Thread Main Thread 1811 - x论dby	0		- n ×
File View Debug Trace Plugns Favourites Options Help Feb 23 2020			
ڬ 🖏 🖬 🔿 🖩 🏌 🚓 嗪 🌲 🛊 🔩 🔳 🥜 🔗 🖉 fx. 🕅	Au 👗 📕 💇		
🔤 CPU 🗣 Graph 🔂 Log 🕥 Notes 🔹 Breakprints 💻 Memory Max	o 🧊 Call Stack 🔍 SDI	🖂 Script 🛛 Symbols	🔾 Souce 🖉 References 🛸 Thise
	: [eax+40] ds:[eax] ds:[eax] ds:[est] ::[eax+40] ds:[eat] ::[eax+40] ds:[eax] ds:[eax] :[eax+40] ds:[eax] :[eax+40] ds:[eax] :[eax+40] ds:[eax] :[eax]	A Hide FPU EAX 0000 EVE 012 EX 0000 EVE 0022 EVE	0001 E35- 655- 655- 60000 E180 000C ntdTl.770607EC 0000216 AF 1 0 F 0 1 FF 1 00000000 (BORUR_SURCESS) 1 00000000 (BORUR_SURCESS)
€		> it feared	00000000
.textroccAF20 wesroth exerS8CAF20 #8CA310		21 (5)174 31 (6)54 41 (6)549 51 (6)543	00000000 weshpith.0100000 001607F8 1408081# 01550704 weshoth.01550704
110 Dumo 1 210 Dumo 2 210 Dumo 3 210 Dumo 4 210 Dumo 1 🐡 Vatid	1 It-Look Zshuh	PS NO GEA USER HE	L 75 P 29 00 A
Amble tess Percent Party Figure 0 Amble tess Percent Party Figure 0 Amble tess Amble tess<		C / ILLO 40 / PPPFFFFL C / ILLO 40 / PPPFFFL D / ILLO 40 / OCCOMMONS D / ILLO 40 / OCCOMMONS C / ILLO 40 / OCCOMMONS	to wesneth.00077AAF from wesn
Cummend:			tefnat -
Surving Breakpoint delated			Time Warted Debugging: 0x00x55.00

If you go back into the game and try to recruit a unit, nothing will happen. This is good verification that we found the function responsible for handling the right-click menu event of recruiting. Go back into x64dbg and right-click on the code we just changed and choose *Restore selection*. This will restore the original instruction.



2.4.7 Locating Other Events

Now that we have found the **call** for the recruit event, we can use its structure to figure out how the other events in the game are called. The **call** looks like:

call dword ptr ds:[eax+0x54]

This **call** is not calling a static location. Instead, it is calling the location held in memory at **eax+0x54**. If we look at the other calls in the function, we see that they all have a similar form, with only the last number changing.

OUCCAE95	E9 63E9EEE	Inp wesnoth.CCA8FD
Ø000000000000000000000000000000000000	8801	nov eax, dword ptr ds:[ecx]
OOCCAF9C	FF90 2C010000	call dword ptr ds:[eax+120]
Ø 00CCAFA2	BO 01	nov al,1
OOCCAFA4	∧ E9 54F9FFFF	1np wesnoth.CCA8FD
OOCCAFA9	8E01	nov eax, dword ptr ds: [ecx]
OOCCAFAB	FF90 50010000	call dword ptr ds:[eax+150]
Ø 00CCAFB1	BO 01	nov al.1
OOCCAEB3	∧ E9 45F9FFFF	1np wesnoth.CCA8FD
OOCCAFB8	8E01	nov eax, dword ptr ds: [ecx]
OUCCAEBA	FF90 4C010000	call dword ptr ds:[eax+140]
Ø000000000000000000000000000000000000	BO 01	nov al.1
OUCCAFC2	E9 36F9FFFF	Inp wesnoth.CCA8FD
Ø000000000000000000000000000000000000	8E01	nov eax, dword ptr ds: [ecx]
00CCAEC9	FF90 48010000	call dword ptr ds:[eax+148]
Ø000000000000000000000000000000000000	BO 01	nov al,1
OOCCAFD1	E9 27E9EEE	inp wesnoth.CCA8FD
OOCCAED 6	8801	nov eax, dword ptr ds:[ecx]
OUCCAED 8	FF90 44010000	<pre>call dword ptr ds:[eax+144]</pre>
OOCCAFDE	BO 01	nov al,1
OUCCAFE0	E9 18E9EEE	jnp wesnoth.CCA8FD
OOCCAFE5	8B01	nov eax,dword ptr ds:[ecx]
OUCCAFE7	FF50 24	<pre>call dword ptr ds:[eax+24]</pre>
OOCCAFEA	BO 01	nov al,1
↑↑↑↑↑↑ ● 00CCB01C	8D7426 00	lea esi,dword ptr ds:[esi]
• 00CCB020	E9 D8F8FFFF	inp wesnoth.CCA8FD
OOCCB025	8801	nov eax, dword ptr ds:[ecx]
Ø00008027	FF50 18	call dword ptr ds:[eax+18]
OOCCB02A	BO 01	nov al,1
Ø 00008020	8D7426 00	<pre>lea esi,dword ptr ds:[esi]</pre>
OOCCB030	E9 C8F8FFFF	jnp wesnoth.CCA8FD
Ø 00000035	8E01	nov eax, dword ptr ds:[ecx]
OOCCB037	FF50 OC	<pre>call dword ptr ds:[eax+C]</pre>
ODCCB03A	BO 01	nov al,1
OOCCB03C	8D7426 00	lea esi,dword ptr_ds:[esi]
OOCCB040	A E9 B8F8FFFF	jnp wesnoth.CCA8FD
OOCCB045	8E01	nov_eax,dword_ptr_ds:[ecx]
OOCCB047	FF50 08	<pre>call dword ptr ds:[eax+8]</pre>
OOCCB04A	BO 01	nov al,1
OOCCB04C	8D7426 00	lea esi, dword ptr ds; [esi]
OOCCB050	A E9 A8F8FFFF	jnp wesnoth.CCA8FD
ODCCB055	3100	tor eax,eax

Due to this structure, we have to revise our original code model that had a switch statement. In the screenshot above, we can see that the last number is always a multiple of 4. Therefore, we can assume that these functions are most likely stored in some type of list or array. The original's game code probably looks something like:

```
void* context_menu_functions[MAX_FUNCTIONS] = {
    terrain_description,
    recruit_unit,
    ...
}
context_menu_functions[option_selected]();
```

This code stores a pointer to each function in an array. The **option_selected** variable can then be used to retrieve the correct function from the array and execute it. We will cover pointers in a future chapter. It's important to note that even though we had the wrong original code in mind, the overall structure of branching will always be obvious in a game's code.

We know that the offset for recruiting is 0x54. To determine other offsets, we can change the recruiting call to other values and note the result when we use the *Recruit* entry on the context menu. Starting at **eax**, we can try each multiple of 4 and log their result (**eax + 4**, **eax + 8**, **eax + 0xc**, **eax + 0x10**, and so forth). For example, by changing the value to 0x28, a terrain description will show up when we try to recruit a unit.

٠	DOCCAF1A	8801	mov eax, oword pro <u>as</u> : [edx]	
E	DOCCAF 20	FF50 28	call dword ptr ds:[eax+28]	recruit uni
:	00CCAF25 00CCAF2A 00CCAF2C	E9 D3F9FFFF 8801 807426 00	jnp wesnoth.CCASED mov eax,dword ptr ds:[edx] lea est.dword ptr ds:[edx]	

Far more interesting is when we change the value to **0x68**. In this case, a *Debug* menu to spawn units will appear.



2.4.8 Change

We can use the two values we found above to create our hack. First, we will locate the menu item code responsible for showing the terrain description. Then we will change this value to call the debug menu instead.

We know that the value for the terrain description is 0x28. By observing the area around the recruit call, we will eventually find the code responsible for the terrain description event.

00CCAESS ^ 00CCAESA	E9 73F9FFFF 0D01	<pre>imp wesnoth.CCASED mov cax,dword ptr ds:[ccx]</pre>	
DOCCAF BC	8D7425-00 FE50-28	cell dword ptr ds: [eax+28]	
00CCAE93 00CCAE95 00CCAE95	80 01 F9 63E9EEEE 6801	<pre>imp wespoth.CCASED mov eax,dword ptr ds:[ecx]</pre>	

Next, we will change this value to **0x68**. This will invoke the debug menu anytime we select *Terrain Description*. Since the terrain description is available on any tile, this will allow us to recruit units anywhere.

	00CCAF8A	5801 507426-00	mov eax, dword ptr <u>ds</u> : [ecx]	
	OCCAF90 OCCAF93	FF50 68 R0 01	call dword ptr ds: [eax-es]	
0 0	00CCAF95 00CCAF9A 00CCAF9C	2 E9 63F9FFFF 5801 FF90 20010000	<pre>imp weshoth.CCABED mov eax,dword ptr ds:[ecx] call dword ptr ds:[cax112C]</pre>	

Once this change is made, go back into Wesnoth, select a random tile, and choose *Terrain Description*. Select a unit from the debug menu and verify that the hack works.



2.5 Code Caves

2.5.1 Background

In the previous two chapters, we made changes to the game's code to alter its functionality. For both of these changes, we replaced the original instruction with a new instruction. But what if we want to keep the original instruction or replace it with multiple instructions? In these cases, we will need to use a code cave.

A code cave is a section of the game's memory that we fill with instructions. We then change the game's original code to call these instructions. The name comes from the fact that we are creating a hidden "cave" of instructions. Most games will have large sections of unused memory between functions or at the end of the executable. These locations are perfect for creating a code cave in.

2.5.2 Redirection

In our last chapter, we changed the function for displaying a terrain description to instead call a debug menu. By using a code cave, we can still invoke the debug menu, but also call the terrain description function after. By doing this, we won't lose any functionality in the game.

The original instruction for the terrain description **call** looked like:

```
0x00CCAF90 call dword ptr ds:[eax+28]
```

For this example, assume that there is an empty section of memory at 0x00D00000. Our first goal is to recreate the original **call** at 0x00D00000 and then redirect the original code to this new code. First, we will copy the original instruction to 0x00D00000:

```
0x00D00000 call dword ptr ds:[eax+28]
```

Next, we will redirect the original code to this call:

0x00CCAF90 jmp 0x00D00000

Finally, in our code cave, we need to go back to the original code. This can be accomplished by jumping to the instruction that comes after the one we replaced. In this case, the next instruction in the game is at 0x00CCAF93. Our completed code cave would then look like:

0x00D00000 call dword ptr ds:[eax+28] jmp 0x00CCAF93

2.5.3 Restoring Instructions

As of right now, this code cave only recreates the original instruction. This is an important first step to ensure that our redirection isn't breaking anything. This is not always the case, especially when dealing with game functions that modify the stack. We will discuss how to deal with these in future chapters. For now, just be aware that redirecting the game's code will not always be a smooth process.

When writing a code cave, it's critical to only modify what you require and nothing else. Accidentally changing other registers, sections of memory, or the stack can cause the game to crash. To illustrate this principle, imagine we had the following code that we intended to redirect:

mo∨ eax, 999 call ØxDEADBEEF

Let's say we redirected the call to a code cave that looked like:

mov eax, 123
call some_other_function
call 0xDEADBEEF
jmp back

If the function at **0xDEADBEEF** required **eax** to be 999, the game would throw an exception and crash. While this is a trivial example, calling game functions will often have many side-effects that you won't be aware of.

To save and restore the game's register values (**eax**, **ebx**, **ecx**, and so forth), we will use two instructions: **pushad** and **popad**. **pushad** pushes (or saves) all register values on the stack. **popad** pops (or restores) all register values from the stack. In future chapters, we will cover the stack itself and how to restore the game's stack. However, restoring the register values will prevent most crashes.

2.5.4 Cave Skeleton

With these instructions, we now have a basic skeleton for a code cave. It looks like:

pushad execute new functionality popad invoke original instruction jmp back to game's code

Let's return to our Wesnoth example. In Section 2.5.2 above, we had the following code cave:

0x00D00000 call dword ptr ds:[eax+28] jmp 0x00CCAF93

With **pushad**/**popad**, we can now safely introduce new instructions. The code to invoke the debug menu looked like:

call dword ptr ds:[eax+68]

Let's assume that this **call** doesn't modify the stack in any way. We can safely call this function in our code cave by saving the registers, calling the function, and then restoring the registers. We will then execute the original instruction and jump back to the game's code after the original instruction. Our final code cave would look like:

0x00D00000 pushad call dword ptr ds:[eax+68] popad call dword ptr ds:[eax+28] jmp 0x00CCAF93 By doing this, we have created a cave in the game's code that replaced one instruction with multiple instructions. As long as everything is restored, there is no limit to the amount of new code that can be called.

2.6 Using Code Caves

2.6.1 Target

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

2.6.2 Identify

Our goal in this chapter is to create a code cave inside Wesnoth. This code cave will be executed whenever we select *Terrain Description*. The code cave will give us 999 gold before bringing up the terrain description box.

2.6.3 Understand

To create a code cave, we will first need to find two locations: the location to redirect and the location to place the cave skeleton. We will then create a cave skeleton at the second location. With that created, we will redirect the first location to jump to the skeleton.

2.6.4 Locating Gold

Since we will be modifying our gold with this hack, we need to find our gold address. Our first step is opening up Wesnoth and creating a local game. Then we'll follow the steps in <u>Chapter 1.5</u> to find our gold address. Like we discussed in <u>Chapter 2.3</u>, our gold address will be at a different address than in previous chapters. Once we have found our new gold address, we will close down Cheat Engine but keep Wesnoth open. In this chapter, we will use the value of **0x05F3B85C** as our gold address.
2.6.5 Locating Code Cave

First, we will locate where to place our code cave. While there are many places where we can find empty sections of memory, the quickest and easiest approach is to scroll to the end of the Wesnoth module. At the end of most executable modules, there is a large section of empty data that can be modified. In our example, this memory is around 0x0134360E.

Fàr	View	Debug	Toor	Platin	Econolics	Options Help	Ech 23	2020							
۵.	Ð 🖬	🔿 🖬	24	\$ 19	4 2 12	3 / 8	æ 🥔	fx -	4 A	e 📕	🗐 🔨				
-1			. Ēs		- A					-			[] (a		1
	1001		an 14	(Lou	1 0 NOLES	 Breakbourg 		den ter	, Picp	1.00	a state	SEH	101 Script	. 1	Symbols -
		+ 01	34360E	0	000	800	byte.	ptr -	da le	ax a				A.,	infde i nu
		+ 01	343610	1 2	000	curk	s byte	ptr	da i je	ax , a					-
		* 01	345612	1 3	000	acc	byte.	per		ax, a					LAX 0000
		- A 61	242616	1 5	000		i bute	ote	de la						LUX 01/L
		el õi	343616	l ă	000		by to	al e -	is le	ar o					DCX 76FF
		# 01	343614	0	000	800	1 byte	ptr	dsile	axi al					LLDX 0000
		0.01	343610	0	000	100	d by ter	pl r	ds: c	an a					ERP 017F
		# 01	34361E	0	000	8.00	i byte	ptr	ds:[e	ax, a l					ESP 017F
		# 01	343620	9	000	100	d by Lo	pt r	den for	ax a					ESI 0000
		01	343622	2	000	ace	byte.	ptr	ds le	ax, a					EDI 017E
		0 01	141624	1 2	000		i ny te	pre	15 10	ar a					
			315826	1 3	000	act	byte	per		an e					FIN 1406
			314 102 D 318 82 0	1 3			1 burne	DTC .	4	av1 1					
		el õi	343620	1 5	000		line to	al e -	15 I S	ar a					LILACS 0
		0 01	345575	0	000	800	byte.	DEC.	ds le	axi al					
		0.01	343630	ā	000	110	by te	pl r -	ds: 1 c	an a					
		- e U1	345832	0	000	800 B	1 byte	ptr	ds:[e	axj al					CE 0 TE 1
		 # 01 	343634	0	000	100	d by Le	pt r -	doc [e	an a					
		01	343836	0	000	ade	byte	ptr	ds [e	ax] a]					LastError
		01	343636	0	000	100	d by Lo	b) u	dec la	ak a					LastStatus
		0 01	345634	1 2	000	800	i byte	per	as re	ax] a					
			A REAL PROPERTY.				i butte							1.1	STATUS, OR FOU
		- E 01	343640	1 8	000	CL1	1 by Le	al e	da le	ang et					The path 90 pide
		0 01	345542	1 a	000	800	byte	DEC	ds le	ax al					
		0.01	348644	ā	000	213	t by Let	pl r -	dist 1 e	HK 31					
		01	345546	0	000	800	1 byte	btr -	ds:Ìe	axi al				~	Tables in Ashdard
		<											5		Deraura (stocal)
les.et			01.000				_	_	_	_				-	1: [ESD+4]
11	e ptr	[cav] [M 100												2: esp+8
	-														3: [esp+c]
, te	x1:013-	4360E N	esnoth	. exec \$	r43.600 #0										5: esp+14

2.6.6 Hooking Location

Next, we need to identify the address to hook. In this chapter, we will be hooking the method that displays the terrain description. To find this address, we can use the same method and address we identified in <u>Chapter 2.4</u>. This **call** is at **0xCCAF90**.

00CCAEBS 00CCAEBA	 E9 73F9FFFF 8D01 	<pre>imp wesnoth.CCABFD mov cax,dword ptr ds:[ccx]</pre>	
DOCCAFSC DOCCAFSO	8D7425-00 FF50-28	cell dword ptr ds: [eax+28]	
00CCAE93 00CCAE95 00CCAE9A	80 01 * E9 63E9EEEE 8001	<pre>imp wesnoth.ccaseD mov cax,dword ptr ds:[ecx]</pre>	

2.6.7 Redirection

With our code cave and hooking locations identified, we can now create the code cave. When modifying a game's code in a debugger, it's important that the game is in a paused state. This prevents the game's normal execution from accidentally entering our code cave before we have finished it. If it does, the game could jump to non-existent code and crash. To pause the game, we can use the *Pause* button next to the *Continue* button.



We can now redirect the hooking location to jump to our code cave. In <u>Chapter 1.1</u>, we covered the idea of opcodes. Each instruction has a different opcode and also a different opcode length. This is because certain instructions require additional pieces of data to execute. For example, the **pushad** instruction is represented by the 1 byte opcode **0x60**. This is due to the instruction not requiring any additional data to execute. As a contrast, the instruction **mov al**, **1** is represented by the 2 byte opcode **0xB0 01**. This is because the **mov** instruction requires the data to be moved (in this case, the value 1) to be encoded somewhere inside the opcode.

The **jmp** instruction's opcode is 5 bytes long. This is because the opcode encodes the address that will be jumped to. Because of this, we will need to find a location of at least 5 bytes to place our **jmp** instruction. To do this, let's examine the method for displaying the terrain description:

opcode	instruction
8B01 8D7426 00 FF50 28 B0 01	<pre>mov eax, dword ptr ds:[ecx] lea esi, dword ptr ds:[esi] call dword ptr ds:[eax+28] mov al,1</pre>

Unfortunately, there is no instruction in this method that has a 5 byte opcode. In this case, we will need to replace the first two instructions. When writing our code cave, we will need to remember to replace both of these. However, the opcodes of these first two instructions (0x8B01 and 0x8D742600) combine to 6 bytes total. When we replace the first 5 bytes with our jump, the last byte (0x00) will stay and potentially be

executed. To ensure that our change does not cause the game to crash, we will replace the last byte with a **nop** instruction. x64dbg will automatically do this when assembling instructions.

With all of this out of the way, we can finally make our code change. Navigate to the first **mov** instruction at 0x00CCAF8A and change the instruction to **jmp 0x0134360E**. Make sure that the *Fill with NOPs* option is checked when assembling this instruction. This jump will be responsible for jumping to our code cave.

衆 weathing	PD: 1990 - M	belok: we shall be example	ead Man Husa	d2388 _x32dbg				
File View Del	bug Trace P	Plugins Favourites Op	tions Help Fe	b 20 2020				
🐸 🧐 🖬 🛛 🚽	0 🕴 😤 🚓	- 😒 🎍 🦹 🤹 📓	🥒 😂 🏖	🥢 🦅 🕸 A:	1. 🖩 😤			
🖾 орц — 👰	Graph [🎉	Log 🏦 Notes 🔹	Breakpoints I	Memory Nap	🗐 Cal Stack	MR SEH	Script	🛃 Symbola
	OOCCAF7C OOCCAF80	8D7428-00	les es	1, dword ptr ds:	lest			infde i Pu
	00CCAF83	B0 01	nev al	1				LAX 000
· · ·	OUCCAP84	2 F9 73F9FFFF 2 F59 7 F556/00	ing we	snoth, 13 4360E				EBX 017
	OOCCAESE	90	пор					FCX 768
	000004190	80.01	call d	word ptr ds:[ea	ax128]			EBP 017
	0000AF95	< 19 63 91111	Tub Me	SNOTH, LEASING				ESP 01/
	00CCAE9A	BB01	nev ea	x, dword ptr ds:	ecx.			101 000 TDT 013
	OUCCAHA2	80 01	nov al	,2	and a second			
	00000AEA4	S E9 54EBEEEE	Top we	Shoth, COARED	Lars 1			ETP 270
	OUCCAEAB	EES0 50010000		word pin daties	4x+150]			AND ANY
	OUCCALD1	00 01	nov al	, 1 · · · · · ·	-			21 1 11
	OOCCAFBS	· E9 ISFBFFFF	JUD ME	snoth,CCABFD aldword of rids:	[mail]			00.0 50
	OUCCAFBA	FFS0 40010000	ca11 d	word ptr ds:[es	5X+14C]			CF 0 TF
	0000A000	D0 01	nov al	1 month in an an				LastEctor
	ODCCARCZ	RR01	TOY PA	s,dward plr dae	(et al.			LASTSTATI
	OUCCALCS	11.90 49010000	ca11 d	word ptr`ds:[ea	201248			
:	00CCAFCF	80 01 (52 27525555	ing at	2 Seath, CCASED				GG 0020
	00CCAFD6	8801	ney ea	x, dword ptr dsa	[ecx]			CS 0023
	ODCCATDO ODCCATDO	FF90_44010000	tell d	mord ptr ds:[es	(x) 144]			
	OOCCAFED	SO OI	pro we	shoth.CCARED			с.	1. C. S. C. I.
	<						3	Default (stots
Tunp in Laker	1							21 05018
wesnoth.01343	SBUE							3; esp+C
. TEXT: ODUCALS	as wesnoth.c	CKC:\$8CALGA #9CALGA						5: [esp+1
	1 C ma 2	100 1 mm - 1	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	(Million and a second s	test states	- \$1. J. L. 01	ZEE0F0 7541	DS16 retur

2.6.8 Cave Skeleton

Next, we can write our cave skeleton. For now, our cave skeleton will just save and restore the registers, replace the original instructions, and then jump back to the original code. This will execute identically to the original code and will allow us to verify that our redirection was successful. Navigate to 0x0134360E and insert the following code:

pushad popad mov eax, dword ptr ds:[ecx] lea esi, dword ptr ds:[esi]
jmp 0xCCAF90

🖾 (Pil) 🛛 👻 Graph 🛛 🖳 Log 🚔 Notes 🔹 Brea	kpoints 🚥 Memory Map 🔛 Call Stack 🛛 📲 SEH 🛛 🖂 S	kalipt 🛛 🖭 Syn
Image of the second s	pushad postd mov eax, dword ptr cs:[ecx] lea est, dword ptr cs:[ecx] lea est, dword ptr cs:[ecx] lea est, dword ptr cs:[ecx] add byte ptr cs:[eax], al add byte ptr cs:[eax], al	
 C1343635 COOC C1343635 COOC C1343637 COOC C1343637 COOC C1343638 COOC C1343641 COOC C1343641 COOC C1343643 COOC C1343645 COOC C1343645 COOC C1343647 COOC C1343643 COOC C1343643 COOC C1343645 COOC C1343645 COOC C1343645 COOC C1343645 COOC C1343645 COOC C1343647 COOC 	add byte pir ds: eas, al add byte pir ds: eas, al	Las Las GS CS V Defau

Ele View Debug Trace Magina Facauites Options Help Feb 23 2020

To verify that this code cave is being called, place a breakpoint at **0x01343610** and then continue execution of the program. When you bring up the terrain description, the breakpoint in our code cave should pop.

i = 🙂 🖴	+ #1†4	4 H 4 I	t 📲 🖌	l 🗟 🖗 🖌	fr # A.	11 🗉 🔮							
🖬 CPU 🛛	🥊 Graoh 🛛 🚺	Lig DN	ites • Brea	elippints 💻	Memory Map	G Cal Stack	··· SB-	Scipt		Symbols	O Source	P References	9 76
	(c, 1, 4) GC (c, 1, 4) GC	60 61 11034 0026 0020 000	19877	pushad pocad meters i ea est. i ea est. add byte add byte	decend ptr di eth-CCAFSO ptr disi (eds) ptr				~	Hide PP EBA 0 EDX	U 0000001 0000001 0000000 175000 175000 0000002 175000 1343610 00000385 F 1 AF 0 F 1 AF 0 F 1 IF 1 07 000000 F5 0051 55 0028 55 0008 55 000	wesnoth.013436 0 (BRRIR_SUCCES 4 (STATUS_CEDEC • 1 +	10 *)
dword ptr	[ECX]+[08383 1510 vesnoth	E74]=wesnot . exe: 164365	1.01508C80							21 esp 31 esp 41 esp 51 esp	<pre>e] +1.7EDEO C] +0E421F 10] 000000 14] 017EDE</pre>	0 vesneth.00E42	153
Address Mo 76FF1000 Br 76FF1000 Br	00 16 01 1	Ell Dunp 3	#10ump 4	111 Dunp S	Watch 1 ASCII	PHILICOIS	2 shik	01710041 01710043 0171004 01710054 01710054 01710054	01'EI 01'EI 001'EI 00043 00000	2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000	urn to wesn	oth.oo(423/3 fr	on wear

2.6.9 Change

With a working skeleton, we can now change our gold. In between the **pushad** and **popad** instructions, we will insert our instruction to modify our gold. To do this, we will move the value of 999 into the address holding the gold value. This instruction will look like:

mov dword ptr ds:[0x5F3B85C], 0x3E7

With this instruction, our final code cave will look like so:

T *	01343608	0000	add byte ptr ds: eax[,a]	~
	01343G0A	0000	add byte ptr ds:[eax],al	
	01343600	0000	add byte ptr ds: eax[,a]	
	01343601	50	pushad	
	0131360F	C705 5C88F805 E70300	how dword ptr ds:[SF3B85C],3E7	
	01343619	- 51	popad	
	0134361A	5B01	nov eax, dword ptr ds:[ecx]	
	01343610	8036	lea est, dword ptr ds: [est]	es1:6"Y-",
	01343611 / /	1.9 00799801	jinp wesneth.cost.co	
	01343623	0000	add byte ptr ds: [eax],al	
	01343625	CHERCE	add byre pre ds:[eax],al	
	01343627	0000	add byte ptr ds; [eax] al	
+	01343629	0000	add byte ptr ds: eax[,a]	
*	01313627 01343629	0000	add byte ptr ds: eax al add byte ptr ds: eax al	

If we go back into Wesnoth and select *Terrain Description* on a tile, our gold will change to 999 before the terrain description box appears.



2.7 Dynamic Memory Allocation

2.7.1 Overview

In previous chapters, we modified the player's gold in Wesnoth. Whenever we restarted the game, we had to repeat the process of finding the player's gold memory address, as it was different each time. This is because of Dynamic Memory Allocation, or DMA. To write hacks that can be reused and distributed, we will need to somehow convert these "random" addresses into consistent addresses. There are many methods to accomplish this task, but first we need to discuss how DMA works and why it exists.

2.7.2 Background

As we discussed in <u>Chapter 1.2</u>, games are large programs with many resources. There is no way to fit all of a game's data into RAM at one time, so it must be loaded when it is needed. For example, a game will not load an enemy's model or image until the player is about to encounter them. This process is known as dynamic loading of resources.

These dynamically loaded resources must be placed in some section of memory so that the game can access them again. The game is responsible for creating and destroying these sections of memory. The creation is known as allocation, and the destruction is known as deallocation. Dynamic Memory Allocation is therefore the process of creating memory sections to hold resources when they are needed by the game. The game can only ask the OS for memory and cannot control where this memory is located.

Let's consider the player's gold in Wesnoth and how it is created. When Wesnoth is started, a player's profile is loaded into the game's Player class. The player can then select from a variety of game modes and other options in the main menu. If the player then starts a game, several items are allocated and placed in the Player class, such as the player's race, their available units, and their gold. When the player quits the game, these values are then destroyed. This is why the player's gold address is always different.

2.7.3 Programming

To program hacks, we need some way to consistently find the gold address without searching in Cheat Engine. There are several ways to accomplish this:

- An automated scanner, such as Cheat Engine
- Code Caves
- Reversing

These methods can be used to find any dynamic address. We will discuss each of these briefly in this chapter, but in future chapters we will use all of the methods.

When using Cheat Engine or reversing, our goal will be to find something known as the base pointer. In general, the base pointer represents a memory address that is always consistent and can be used to offset to the values we care about. This method works because there are some addresses that must be constant for the game to find them. For example, in Wesnoth, the game needs to know where the Player class is. If we find the Player class, we can then use it as a base pointer to offset to our gold address.

2.7.4 Cheat Engine

One feature of Cheat Engine is the ability to conduct a pointer scan. This can be done by finding an address (such as the player's gold) and then right-clicking on it to bring up a context menu. This context menu contains all the pointer scanning functions.



This feature returns all the memory locations that currently reference the selected address. These addresses can then be saved to a scanfile. After that, the game can be reloaded and the address can be found again. By then comparing the new memory locations to the scanfile, only the consistent locations can be narrowed down, similar to regular memory searching. Eventually, we will be left with only the pointers that always point to our selected address.

2.7.5 Code Cave

Another method to defeat DMA is using a code cave. With this approach, a location is found where the desired value is accessed. For our Wesnoth example, this can be

anywhere that gold is changed. Immediately after this location, the code is redirected to our code cave. In our code cave, we can then save the current value to a piece of memory we control. This memory can then be accessed consistently by our hack.

For example, the code in Wesnoth responsible for decreasing our gold when recruiting a unit looks like:

```
sub dword ptr ds:[edx+4], ecx
```

When this instruction executes, $\mathbf{edx} + \mathbf{4}$ contains a reference to the gold memory address and \mathbf{ecx} contains a reference to the cost of the unit just recruited. By redirecting the code immediately following this address to a cave, we can then save the address's value in the cave. An example cave is shown below that would accomplish this:

```
pushad
mov dword ptr ds:[0x12345678], edx+4
popad
...original instruction replaced...
jmp 0xredirect_location
```

With this done, our hack could then reference **0x12345678** to get the current value of the gold address.

2.7.6 Reversing

The final method of dealing with DMA is reversing the target. This method uses a combination of the previous two methods and is the most versatile. In this approach, we first find an instruction that modifies the value we care about, such as the **sub** instruction in the previous section. Then, we analyze the function before that instruction and determine where the register we care about (in this case, **edx**) is assigned. Often, this will be assigned the value of another register with an offset, such as **eax+60**.

We then repeat this process to find where this previous register is assigned. Eventually, we will find the base value or pointer used to assign all these values. This base pointer can then be combined with all the offsets we reversed to retrieve the address we care about.

2.8 Defeating DMA 2.8.1 Target

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

2.8.2 Identify

Our goal in this chapter is to locate the base pointer for our Player class. After that, we need to figure out how to offset our gold address from this base pointer.

2.8.3 Understand

When a player begins a game, Wesnoth uses DMA to allocate several values, including the player's gold. This means that the player's gold address will be at a different address for each game. By contrast, there are several values that remain constant between games, like the player's profile name. These constant values must be stored in some sort of Player class. Since these values persist for every game, there must be a static address that Wesnoth uses to locate them. If we can find this static address, we can then offset to our dynamic gold address while in game.

To visualize this, let's imagine that Wesnoth's Player class looks something like:

```
class Player {
   string player_name = "IEUser";
   int wins = 100;
   Game game = null;
}
```

And the Game class looks something like:

```
class Game {
    string side;
    int gold;
    int turn;
}
```

When a player enters a game, the game's code will allocate memory for this game object and all the values that it contains:

```
player.game = new Game("Human", 100, 1);
```

By finding the value of the gold address, we can reverse the game to find the value of the Game address for the current game. We can then use that address to find the address of the Player class. Since the Player class is always loaded, it will be a consistent address. From the Player class, we can then use the addresses we found while reversing to offset to the current gold address.

2.8.4 Locating Gold

For the last time in this book, we will need to find the address of our gold value. Our first step is opening up Wesnoth and creating a local game. Unlike the previous chapters, make sure that you give yourself *Income* to make the reversing process easier. Also, make sure the second player is set to a *Computer* opponent.



Then follow the steps in <u>Chapter 1.5</u> to find your gold address. Once you have found your new gold address, close down Cheat Engine but keep Wesnoth open.

2.8.5 Base Pointer

Next, attach x64dbg to Wesnoth and set a breakpoint on write on the gold address that you found. Unlike previous chapters, do not recruit a unit. Instead, choose to end your turn. Upon ending your turn, your breakpoint should pop as income is added to your gold.



Let's briefly examine the instruction that our breakpoint popped on:

009B4D00	add	dword	ptr	ds:[eax+4], edx	
----------	-----	-------	-----	-----------------	--

When this instruction is executed, **eax+4** holds the value of our gold address (in this instance, **0x0D70B9AC**). Our next step is to determine how **eax** is assigned. If we look above the **add** instruction, we see several **mov** instructions that reference the value of **eax**. Above these, we have a **call** instruction to an unknown function. To determine if this function is responsible for setting **eax**, we can set a breakpoint on this **call** and then resume Wesnoth. When we end our turn again, this breakpoint will be hit.

🏚 westelburge - PEX 1583 - Nodule: westolburge - Timod M	ain Thread 1000 - x02dbg	– 🗆 ×
File Yes Debug Trace Hugins Ferourbes Options	Help Feb 23 2010	
🖴 🕲 부 수 비 수 유 수 수 씨 🔳 🥒	😔 🛷 📌 fic n 🛼 🔝 🔮	
🖩 CFU 👰 Graph 🔛 Log 🖄 Roles 🆛 Breaks	arts 💻 Henny Hup 🚺 Gal Studi 👘	🕿 EDH 🗵 Engel 🔮 Eynikols 🔿 Enures 🖉 Funderursess 🛸 🕬
 CONBACOS E1 BLANEDFF CONBACOS ELED 20FEFFFF 	call warpth, saif is may ack, dward ptr iss (stop-sco)	A 1586 PPV
5 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Call Description, and The second	B.A. CONSISTING ett: CONSISTING B'1156.1 ett: CONSISTING CONSISTING ett: CONSISTING CONSISTING ett: CONSISTING CONSISTING ett: CONSISTING CONSISTING ett: CONSISTING
2 mm		Default (rithout) * 2 4 United in 11 [sep] consecution
WANDER, DEMAISED - CANCE CORRACCE WEBHOUCH AND BERNES		 Big (sign+) SLTECKER #"side_L_Start," Big (sign+) SLTECKER #"side_L_Start, " Big (sign+) SLTECKER # sign=)
19 0.mp1 29 0.mp1 29 0.mp1 29 0.mp1 2	🛿 Cump I 🦉 Webh S 🗁 Levals 🤰	Same Contraction Considered All a Martin a Linear all
Address Nature 100 1005-000 200 000	A OF TT 00 40 00 B 00 00 00 B F- F-	 Contract, User and the Method: Australia (Contraction Users) when the Method State (Contraction Users) when the Method State (Contraction Users) (Contraction Users) Contraction Users) (Contraction Users)
00100000 44 712 84 05 10 71 84 05 10 72 84 05 100 72 84 05 100 72 84 05 100 72 84 05 100 72 84 05 100 72 84 05 100 72 84 05 100 72 84 05 100 72 84 05 100 72 84 05 100 72 84 05 100 72 84 05 100 72 84 05 100 72 84 05 100 72 84 05 100 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 7	00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	(371223) 0000000 (371223) 0013224 (371223) 0113224 (371223) 0113274 (371223) 0111274 (371223) 0111274 (371233) 011
Terminal II 11 71 00114 15 80 06 87 84 17 06 105	100.00.001-MC.# 1-114	Talat a
Pauled Drill State and Lines with Mild States (CEA)		Time Wasied Oblassia, 2000 (201

Observing the registers, we see that **eax** is set at 0 entering this function, meaning this function must be acquiring the correct value for **eax**. We can confirm this by stepping over the function and noting the new value of **eax**.

👼 vecnothuse - PD: 19FI - Nodule vecnothuse -	Trivial: Main Thread 1830 - x124bg		- 3 ×
He New Debug Taxe Plyons Pavouriles	Cotors Heb Pro 22 22 22		
📫 D 🖩 🤎 🖩 🕇 🖓 🖣 🗎 🐄	🔳 🎻 😒 🐨 🛷 jx 🕡 A. 🔣 🗒 👼		
🖬 (21) 🕸 Griph 📄 Log 🔅 Roles	🕈 Snealpoints 🗰 Memory Mag 🛛 Call Stack	🛛 🔤 SEN 🔄 Songet 🕷 Symb	de O Source 🖉 Kalanarces 🛸 Thells
COMBACT: COMBACT: COMPACT COMPACT COMBACT: COMPACT COMPACT COMBACT: COMPACT COMPA	Long exercision delayers more considered por lost (chp-exc) more considered por lost (chp-exc) more considered por lost (chronical) more considered por lost (chronical)	attus attus da attus attus da attus attus da attus attus da attus da attu	FFU (D1065AL C116136CL C11613CL C116131C
# 00088040 C314 # 00088040 C314	DEPT (B) (D) DEPT (B) (D) DEPT (B) (D)	est a deg	PFIFOCO4CO4CO4CO4CO4CO X8374 Engty 14
		2 Ocfault	(Model) = 5 = Univoked
ets-0210(001 2"side_2_turn_1" deard pt: [cox-05]=[0070142(]-4 "\s" .test:00084021 wesneth.exes 8184218 4214	088	44.4	0110 06251624 0 8 00 7. 1215200 010 06551624 0 981075 1215200 010 06 05 120 0 981075 1215200 0120/ 1215550 0120/ 1215550
SaDarp1 SaDarp1 SaDarp3 SaD	ungit 🟭 Dungit 😻 Vlaich I ×1 Iusab	2 deb. 01716218 01768.008	(stde_s_purn_4)
Normality Normality <t< td=""><td>ACCET 20 0</td><td>CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACTO</td><td>EINOTH TEERING EINOTH TO FEEL</td></t<>	ACCET 20 0	CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACTO	EINOTH TEERING EINOTH TO FEEL
Read Int leaders at any state of the fit	Name P Da		These sizes and finds are not a first state
and chemporical wearer for wearer	an wear		The Nasias Descripting Counter21

With this confirmed, resume Wesnoth and end your turn again to trigger the same breakpoint. This time, step into the function. After stepping through a few lines, we see that **eax** is being set based on the value of **ecx + 60**.

A wenothese - PID 1588 - Module wenothese - Thread M	ain Thread 1830 - xl2dbg		– n ×
File lifew Debug Trace Pugins Favourites Options	Help Feb 23 2020		
ڬ 🗹 🖬 🕂 와 😒 🕹 💲 🗺 🔝 🥒	😔 🗶 🧨 📩 # 🗛 👗 📱 🕊		
🔟 C/U 🌻 Graph 🗋 Log 🕒 Notes 🔹 Breakp	oints 💻 Memory Map 🛛 🔂 Cal Stade 🗠 🧝 SDH	📃 Script 🛛 Symbols 🔿 Source	🖉 References 🛸 🕅 🕇
OOMETTO 56 OOMETTO 53	push est push etx	Hide PPU	
 005AE7F2 005AE7F4 005AE7F4 005AE7F4 005AE7F4 	mor ebr, ecc	EXX 0100000	
+ 001AE7F7 #841 60	mov eat, dword ptr dst [ecx-60]	EX OTTRES	
003AE800 85F6 003AE822 7 26 31	test esi,esi	451: 51de_: E8P 017(E710	
 003AE844 6890 8C0x0000 003AE844 8088 8C0x0000 	nov eds, dword ptr ds: [eax-ABC]	ESP 017(E1F4 ESI 017(E6D)	"side 1 tern 5"
 OCMALECO DELZ OCMALECO ELZ <li< td=""><td>mor edt, dword ptr dit edk)</td><td>LEI 0000005</td><td></td></li<>	mor edt, dword ptr dit edk)	LEI 0000005	
ODSAESIS ZE 74 DOSAESIS CE 80040900	ine weiners SEESS	E3* 009/E77/	visneth. 019AE7FA
 003AE8LF 8850 04 	mov ed:, dword ptr ds:[eax-4]	ER.465 0000/202	
 003AE824 29CA 	sub edt, eck	ZF 0 PF 0 AF 0 OF 0 SF 0 DF 0	
003AE828 C1F8 04	Sar cal,4	CFO TFO IFI	
 OOMALESE OOMALESI OOMALESI IC6 	Cmp es', eax	estitate: Lastarror 0000000	(DRRIR_SILLESS)
000AESE 8802000	are wesnoth seeas a	Casestatus colocula	(STATUS_REPECT_AMPL_A
 OSALECA DOSALECA DOSALECA E24424 DE 	mor dward otr sstespie .tax	13820P61"51 GS 0028 75 0053 E5 0028 E5 0028	
* 003AE845 895424 04 * 003AE847 C70424 18213801	mov dward otr ss: espire .edx mov dward otr ss: espire.wesnoth.1382130	1362110: 'gi CS 0023 55 0028	
• 005AE84E 68 88604990 • 005AE853 8848 60	mov ect, dword ptr dst[ebx-60]	51(0) FFF/00000000	ocoooco xi7ro Empty 14
* 001AE816 8883 DC00000	wor ear dword bir dr: [ecx-CDC]	Centure (Index)	• 1 ÷ Uniced
exe-Li IC-BORG		1: [eip+4] 0190C1.C	Refuel is a meater.
dword ptr [e(x+60]=[017EED18]=03908468		3: [esp+C] 0190C1:C	-
.Lext:005AE717 Wesholh.exe:15AE7F7 #SADSF7		5: [esp+14] 017EE4C	8 &"side_1_turn_6"
## Dump 1 ## Dump 1 ## Dump 4 1	🖽 Dump 5 😻 Watch I 🔤 Itocals 🎤 State	C17661F8 0190C11C	
4107 08342 82 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	00 00 00	01781200 0100112	
28728225 84 18 23 08 84 88 20 05 82 82 82 83	00 00 00 "D. 'D	CLTERION ORTECCE A'side_l_kurr_d	-
0070890C 40 72 95 05 E0 72 95 01 E0 72 95 05 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	00 00 00 0r. ar. ar.	017EI210 00984CES return to weine	oth.00184C18 from west
007089FC 00 00 00 00 01 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	00 00 00	017EE218 017EE6CB 4'side_1_turn_0	5
00708A1C 00 00 00 00 14 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	00 00 00 1146, #e, 4e,	017E1220 01552ED0 wtshoth.01552ED	20
00708436 44 44 73 00 84 00 00 00 77 65 75 74 00 00708446 26 74 82 05 99 84 00 71 68 F3 71 00 66	10 00 00 00 0°p	21522528 8808888	-
0070845C 88 F3 71 00 88 10 85 01 6C 8A 70 00 01	00 00 00 .3g. t. µ. 1*p V	¢	>
Conmand:			Default 💌
Paused DNT3 breakpoint at wesnoth.00484CE3 (00484CE3)		In	e Wastel Debugging: 0:00:12:51

For now, we will note that we need to determine the value of **ecx**. However, **eax** is still not close to the value of our gold address. Before we move on to determining the value of **ecx**, we need to determine how **eax** is modified from the initial assignment to reach the gold address. If we continue down the function, we see that the value of **0xA90** is being added to **eax**. After that, **edx** is loaded with the value of **eax + 4**. Let's step to the address after that code to see what value is being loaded into **edx**.



We can see here that **edx**'s value is only 4 away from our gold address, identical to how the initial **add** instruction referenced it. From this, we know so far that **[[ecx + 60] + 0xA90] + 4** is our gold address. Our next step is determining **ecx**.

When locating base pointers, it's important to stop each time a new register or address is introduced and ensure that it is actually random. To do this, first make a current note of **ecx**'s value when it is loaded into **eax**. In this case, that value is **0x017EECB8**. Next, make a note of the address of the instruction that assigns the value so that you can place another breakpoint here. In this case, it will be the **mov** instruction at **0x009AE7F7**.

Now, detach x64dbg and then close Wesnoth. Once it is closed, start Wesnoth again, recreate a game with the same income settings, and reattach x64dbg. Place a breakpoint at the address noted (0x009AE7F7) and then end your turn. When the breakpoint pops, observe the new value of **ecx**. In this case, it's the exact same as the last time (0x017EECB8). Therefore, we know that this must represent a base pointer that doesn't change. If it did change, we would have to continue with the reversing process.

2.8.6 Change

With our base pointer found, we can now save its value for use in future projects. From our reversing, we know that the value of the player's gold in Wesnoth is always at: [[0x017EECB8 + 0x60] + 0xA90] + 4. To simplify, we know that 0x017EECB8 + 0x60 will always be 0x017EED18, so the actual offset can be represented as: [[0x017EED18] + 0xA90] + 4.

Cheat Engine allows us to manually add pointers with offsets as addresses. We can use this to verify that our value is correct. First, open Cheat Engine and attach it to Wesnoth. After attaching, select the *Add Address Manually* button.

	🐔 Add addr	225	×	✓ Not
	Address: Description No description lype 4 Bytes Pointer OK	_??? ion Cancel se the game whi	000000000 /ffffffff Execut iment Digits le scanning	Unrandomizer Enable Speedhack
Memory View	Address	Ø.	Value	Add Address Manually
ave prescription	Address	TYPE	Value	~

In the box that pops up, select the checkbox for *Pointer*. When doing this, Cheat Engine will prompt you for a base address and one offset. Type in **0x017EED18** as the base address and **0xA90** as the offset. Then add another offset and type in 4. This is all the information we found while reversing.

Address: 055BF424 =256 Description Gold					
055BF424 =256 Description Gold					
Description Gold					
Gold					
Туре					
4 Bytes \checkmark					
Pointer					
< 4 > 055BF420+4 = 055BF424					
< a90 > [03906310+A90] -> 055BF420					
0x17EED18 ->03906310					
Add Offset Remove Offset					
OK Cancel					

In the Address box at the top, you should notice that Cheat Engine has correctly resolved our offset to the current amount of gold that we have. If you close and restart Wesnoth, this pointer will then change to the new value for gold.

Part 3 Programming

3.1 Programming Fundamentals

3.1.1 Overview

In the previous chapters, we explored techniques to hack Wesnoth, including changing memory (such as gold) and changing code (such as recruiting units). However, all of these changes only persisted until we closed Wesnoth. To regain these hacks upon reopening the game, we would then have to repeat the initial process in a memory scanner or debugger.

This is both tedious and impossible to distribute to a larger audience. However, since we can now defeat DMA, we know that any memory we need to change is always in a static location. Because of this, we can create a set of instructions that contains the changes we wish to make. Creating this set of instructions in a way that a computer can understand is known as programming. By programming hacks, we can create programs that can be executed and will automatically change the memory we care about. We can also distribute these programs to other people who want to experiment with our hacks.

Programming, as a whole, is too large of a topic to comprehensively cover in these chapters. Instead, we will focus on the subset of programming that is relevant for creating hacks.

3.1.2 Programming Languages

In <u>Chapter 1.1</u>, we briefly covered programming languages. Programming languages allow code to be written in a human-readable form. This code is then translated down to instructions that a CPU can understand. There are many programming languages, and they can be broken down into roughly two categories: what they execute on, and how they execute.

Programming languages can create code that either executes directly on a CPU or executes through an interpreter. An interpreter works by dynamically translating the initial code into a form that the CPU can understand. These two types are known as

compiled languages and interpreted languages, respectively. Programming languages can also either execute instructions in order (top to bottom), or through the declaration and resolution of functions. These types are known as imperative and functional, respectively.

A language can be classified by applying those two modifiers. For example, C is a compiled, imperative language. Java is an interpreted, imperative language. Haskell is an example of a compiled, functional language. Interpreted languages can be compiled as well, often by bundling the interpreter and the initial instructions together.

There is no correct or best language. Some languages are better suited for different purposes, but all languages can achieve every purpose. However, when programming game hacks, we have several restrictions that limit our choice of language. The language we pick needs to support three main features:

- Direct access to the Windows API
- Modification of other applications' memory
- Loaded and executed on the CPU

All of these requirements will be explained later, but they basically exclude interpreted languages. In addition, languages that don't allow direct memory access, such as Java, are excluded.

3.1.3 **C++**

There are several languages that support the three criteria above. These include C and C#, as well as compiled versions of python. However, C++ offers the best combination of high-level language features (such as classes and strings) and low-level direct access to memory. This makes C++ ideal for programming game hacks.

C++ is a compiled, imperative language. It is a relatively difficult language to learn, but we will only need to understand a subset of its features to create game hacks. One of its most important features, for us, is the ability to create pointers that can directly modify memory addresses.

3.1.4 Pointers

Pointers are another complex topic that we will only cover briefly. Pointers are a type of variable that point to another section of memory. For example, take the following C++ code:

int x = 5; int *y = &x;

In C++, a * represents a pointer declaration. The **&** returns the address of a variable. So, after executing this code, the variable **y** points to the variable **x**. Consider the following code:

*y = 6;

This code will dereference (or get the address it points at) **y** and then assign that value to **6**. After this code executes, the variable **x** will also be **6**, since this was the value that **y** points to.

Applying this to game hacking, let's say we find a gold value at 0x12345678 and this value is not dynamically allocated. If we were to load our C++ program into the game's address space, we could use a pointer to modify the value of the gold:

int *gold = (int*)0x12345678; *gold = 999;

After executing, the gold value at **0x12345678** will now be set to 999. Pointers give us a large amount of control over a game's memory, but they can be hard to understand. We will explore them more in following chapters.

3.1.5 Types of Hacks

There are three main types of game hacks that can be programmed. These are:

- External executables
- Injected DLL's (dynamic-link libraries)
- Custom wrappers

Each of these has its own use-case. External executables are stand-alone programs that can be executed normally. These executables use functions built into Windows, known as Application Programming Interfaces (API's), to read and modify memory of another executable. By contrast, injected DLL's need to be loaded into the game's memory in some way. Once loaded, they execute within the memory of the game and can directly access the game's memory through pointers. Custom wrappers are used when creating hacks that target the game's drawing libraries, such as DirectX and OpenGL. By loading a custom version of these libraries that "wrap" the original functionality, we can cause the game's drawing logic to be altered.

3.2 External Memory Hack

3.2.1 **Target**

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

3.2.2 Identify

In this chapter, we will create a C++ program that will modify a player's gold in Wesnoth.

3.2.3 Understand

In <u>Chapter 2.8</u>, we defeated DMA in Wesnoth and located the player's base pointer at **0x017EECB8**. We then determined the offsets necessary to locate the player's gold from the base pointer. This allowed us to start at a static address, add a series of static offsets, and reach a dynamic address.

Since these addresses and offsets are static, we can create a program to perform this operation. We covered several approaches to do this in <u>Chapter 3.1</u>. In this chapter, we will create an external executable.

3.2.4 Visual Studio

To create C++ programs, we need a compiler and a linker. A compiler is used to turn high-level language code into opcodes. A linker is used to then create an executable that the OS understands from these opcodes. These two components are normally bundled into an Integrated Development Environment, or IDE. IDE's contain other components as well, such as code-completion and interactive debugging. Visual Studio is an IDE that Microsoft has released for Windows. The community edition is free to download and use in personal projects. It can be installed using Chocolatey, which we installed when first setting up the VM. To do so, open up Command Prompt or Powershell and run the following command:

```
choco install visualstudio2019community
```

In Visual Studio, source code files are contained within projects. Several of these projects can be contained within a solution. For example, the Visual Studio solution for Wesnoth might look like:

```
Game - Solution
Engine - Project
Player.cpp - Source Code
main.cpp - Source Code
UI - Project
...
Network - Project
...
```

To create a C++ solution, we will first need to install some C++ components. This can be done by selecting the *Install more tools and features* link, and then selecting *Desktop development with C++* in the wizard.



With these components installed, we can now create C++ projects and compile them.

3.2.5 Creating Projects

Once these components are installed, create an empty C++ project and name it *ExternalMemoryHack*.

CO		All platforms		All project types						
Empty Project New Start from scratch with C++ for Windows, Provides no starting files. New										
Console C++ Windows										
Empty Project Console C++ Windows										
Project name										
ExternalMemoryHack										
Location										
C:\Users\EUser\source\repos										
Solution name 🕕										
ExternalMemoryHack										
Place solution and project in the same directory										

With the new project created, we can now add our source code file that will contain all of our code. To do this, right-click on *Source Files* and select *Add* -> *New Item*:

			ina E ≠⊒ F ≠⊒ R	tererences ixternal Dependencies Header Files Resource Files	
1 L	New Item	Ctrl+Shift+A		Add	
to e	Existing Item	Shift+Alt+A	₽₽	Class Wizard	Ctrl+Shift+X
🊈 I	New Filter			Scope to This	
'मे <u>:</u> (Class		œ۲.	New Solution Explorer View	
* t e	Resource			Cut	Ctrl+X
			ų	Сору	Cul+C

In the modal that appears, choose C++ File and name it main.cpp:



With the project and source file created, we can now begin programming.

3.2.6 C++ Basics

C++ has many features and is a versatile language. For our purposes, we will focus on the most important ones for creating hacks. For this chapter, we need to know two things about the language:

- 1. Programs start at a function called **main**. This function has to return a value.
- 2. Programs can call other functions built into Windows.

Any C++ executable needs to have a **main** function that returns an integer. This function takes two parameters, which are not important to know at the moment. When executed, the OS looks for and executes this function. When the function returns, it signals to the OS that the program is finished executing.

In addition to functions we create, we can call other functions that are built into Windows. Windows has many API's to do things like displaying text, playing sounds, and creating files. Windows also has API's that allow us to read and write values to an address in a process. These are what we will use to create our hack.

To use these functions, we need to include certain header files. Header files contain definitions for functions that are defined outside of our source file. To read and write memory, we will need to include the header file **Windows.h**.

3.2.7 Reading Values

We need to read several values in Wesnoth to locate our gold value. The API to read another process's memory is called **ReadProcessMemory**. If you google this name, the first result will be <u>documentation by Microsoft</u>. This documentation describes how the API works, including what parameters it takes and what values it returns.

By examining this documentation, we can determine what values we need to provide. For any values we still need, we can then determine how to get them. ReadProcessMemory's function definition is:

BOOL ReadProcessMemory(
 HANDLE hProcess,
 LPCVOID lpBaseAddress,
 LPVOID lpBuffer,
 SIZE_T nSize,
 SIZE_T *lpNumberOfBytesRead
);

Looking at the code block above, we can start at the first parameter and work our way down to determine what values we need. First, we do not have a handle to a process, so we will need to find that. We will discuss how to do this in the next section. We have the base address (in this case, our base pointer). The buffer needs to be provided by us, so we will need to create that. The size parameter will be the size of the data to read. In this case, the size will be 4 bytes, due to the size of the registers we saw while reversing. Finally, we will need to create another variable to hold the number of bytes actually read when the function is executed.

While this might seem overwhelming, this gives us a starting point to program from. First, we know that we need to include **Windows.h** so that we can use **ReadProcessMemory**:

```
#include <Windows.h>
```

Next, since this is a C++ executable, we will create our **main** function:

```
int main(int argc, char** argv) {
   return 0;
}
```

Finally, in the **main** function, above the **return** statement, we can insert our call to **ReadProcessMemory**. For values we don't have yet, we will put in a variable name. As we figure out how to retrieve these values, we can then assign these variables.

ReadProcessMemory(wesnoth_process, 0x017EECB8, gold_value, 4, bytes_read);

Both the **gold_value** and **bytes_read** values are provided by us and populated by the API. Therefore, we need to initialize two variables to hold these values. Since we are reading 4 bytes, these variables need to be large enough to hold amounts of this size. One option to accomplish this is to use a **DWORD**, which is <u>32 bits</u> (or 4 bytes) long. We need to place these declarations above the call to **ReadProcessMemory**:

DWORD gold_value = 0; DWORD bytes_read = 0;

Since both of these parameters are expected to be pointers, we need to also change our **ReadProcessMemory** call. Instead of passing the variable's value, we need to pass the address of these variables using **&**:

ReadProcessMemory(wesnoth_process, 0x017EECB8, &gold_value, 4, &bytes_read);

3.2.8 Opening Processes

Our next step is retrieving a process handle. To do this, we can use an API called <u>OpenProcess.</u> The definition for this API is:

```
HANDLE OpenProcess(
   DWORD dwDesiredAccess,
   BOOL bInheritHandle,
   DWORD dwProcessId
);
```

From this definition, we see that **OpenProcess** returns a handle to a process. This handle can be used as the first parameter for **ReadProcessMemory**. Looking at the documentation, we want our desired access to be **PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS**, so that we can both read and write to the process. The second parameter does not matter for what we are doing, so we will set it to the value of true. We will need to find the last parameter, so for now, we will create a variable. Since we need the result of this function to call **ReadProcessMemory**, we will place the call to it above **ReadProcessMemory**. Our code should now look like:

```
HANDLE wesnoth_process = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true, process_id);
```

```
DWORD gold_value = 0;
```

```
DWORD bytes_read = 0;
ReadProcessMemory(wesnoth_process, 0x017EECB8, &gold_value, 4, &bytes_read);
```

Next, we will retrieve a **process_id** for the OpenProcess call. Similar to the previous two API's, we will use another API and then fill in any information we need. In this case, the API will be <u>GetWindowThreadProcessId</u>. This API retrieves a process ID when provided with a window handle, which is different than a process handle. The definition for this API is:

DWORD GetWindowThreadProcessId(
 HWND hWnd,
 LPDWORD lpdwProcessId
);

This function requires a handle to a window and a variable to hold the process ID. Just like before, we will add this code above our call to **OpenProcess**:

DWORD process_id = 0; GetWindowThreadProcessId(wesnoth_window, &process_id);

To get a window handle, we can use the API <u>FindWindow</u>. This function takes the name of a window title and returns a handle to the window. The definition is:

```
HWND FindWindowA(
   LPCSTR lpClassName,
   LPCSTR lpWindowName
);
```

Since we want to search all windows, we will set the first parameter to **NULL**. For the second parameter, we know the name of the Wesnoth window, as it is displayed in the game's title bar. We can insert this final call at the top of our **main** function. Right now, our code will look like:

```
#include <Windows.h>
int main(int argc, char** argv) {
   HWND wesnoth_window = FindWindow(NULL, "The Battle for Wesnoth - 1.14.9");
   DWORD process_id = 0;
```

```
GetWindowThreadProcessId(wesnoth_window, &process_id);
HANDLE wesnoth_process = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true, process_id);
DWORD gold_value = 0;
DWORD bytes_read = 0;
ReadProcessMemory(wesnoth_process, 0x017EECB8, &gold_value, 4,
&bytes_read);
return 0;
}
```

3.2.9 Casting Parameters

Visual Studio will display several errors for the code we have written. This is because we have not properly casted two of our variables. As a result, the compiler cannot understand how we want to pass data to a function. If we want to compile our program, we will need to fix these errors. Luckily, by reading the *Error List* in Visual Studio, we can determine what we need to do to fix these errors.



Let's address the two **ReadProcessMemory** errors that occur on *Line 13* of the code. The first error for *Line 13* is argument of type "int" is compatible with parameter type "LPCVOID". This indicates that we have a parameter that is an integer that is supposed to be a **LPCVOID**. The second error, *cannot convert argument 2 from 'int' to* 'LPCVOID', indicates which parameter this is. Argument 2 is our address 0x017EECB8. If we google **LPCVOID**, the <u>first result is Microsoft's documentation regarding LPCVOID</u>. The documentation shows us that **LPCVOID** is defined as a **void***:

typedef const void* LPCVOID;

To solve these errors, we can cast our address as a **void***. The resulting code looks like:

```
ReadProcessMemory(wesnoth_process, (void*)0x017EECB8, &gold_value, 4,
&bytes_read);
```

With this, those errors will disappear. Now we can examine the second set of errors that occur on *Line 4*, regarding the **FindWindow** call. These errors indicate that the **The Battle for Wesnoth - 1.14.9** string is not cast correctly. It is a **const char*** and needs to be cast as a **LPCWSTR**. To do this, we can prefix the string with an **L**. Our **FindWindow** call now looks like:

```
HWND wesnoth_window = FindWindow(NULL, L"The Battle for Wesnoth - 1.14.9");
```

After making this change, the errors will disappear and we can now compile and execute our program. To do this, go to the *Build* menu item and select *Build Solution*. Once this completes, we will have a program that we can execute.



3.2.10 Debugging

To verify that this code works, we need to make sure that we are actually reading the correct value at the memory address 0x017EECB8. To do this, we will debug our program inside Visual Studio and compare the results of our **ReadProcessMemory** call against Cheat Engine.

First, open up Cheat Engine and manually add the address 0x017EECB8. Then, set a breakpoint on the **ReadProcessMemory** line. This can be done by left-clicking on the area to the left of the line of code you wish to breakpoint. If done correctly, a red circle will appear.



Next, click on the *Local Windows Debugger* button at the top of the IDE. This will begin executing our program with a debugger attached.



Since we have written the source code, debugging our program will be far easier than debugging Wesnoth. When our breakpoint is reached, the debugger will pop and let us explore various elements of the code, including our variables. These variables will be shown in the bottom left of the IDE. To make sure we are reading memory correctly, we want to look at the **gold_value** variable and make sure its value matches Cheat Engine.



Since the values match, we know that we are correctly reading memory in Wesnoth. Hit the *Continue* button at the top of the IDE to finish executing our program. Now we can move on to finding our gold value.

3.2.11 **DMA**

Since we can read memory, we can now retrieve our gold value. In <u>Chapter 2.8</u>, we determined that our gold address is stored at [[0x017EECB8 + 0x60] + 0xA90] + 4. This can be further simplified to [[0x017EED18] + 0xA90] + 4. To retrieve the gold address in our program, we can first read the value at 0x017EED18, then add 0xA90 to

that value. We can then read this address and add 4 to it. Once we have done that, we will have our gold address.

To do this entire process, we can use the **ReadProcessMemory** call identically to our previous code. First, we will read in the value of [[0x017EED18] + 0xA90].

```
DWORD gold_value = 0;
DWORD bytes_read = 0;
ReadProcessMemory(wesnoth_process, (void*)0x017EED18, &gold_value, 4,
&bytes_read);
gold_value += 0xA90;
ReadProcessMemory(wesnoth_process, (void*)gold_value, &gold_value, 4,
&bytes_read);
```

We can use Cheat Engine to examine offsets to ensure that we are reading the value correctly. We can then use a breakpoint on the second **ReadProcessMemory** call to ensure that the values match. Since Visual Studio displays variables in a decimal format, we will need to convert these numbers to hexadecimal to check.



Since our values match, we can add a final offset of 4 to the address to retrieve our gold address. Next, we will focus on writing memory.

gold_value += 4;

3.2.12 Writing Memory

The API to write to another process's memory is called <u>WriteProcessMemory</u>. Its definition is very similar to **ReadProcessMemory**:

```
BOOL WriteProcessMemory(
  HANDLE hProcess,
  LPVOID lpBaseAddress,
  LPCVOID lpBuffer,
  SIZE_T nSize,
  SIZE_T *lpNumberOfBytesWritten
);
```

The major difference is that this function writes the value of a buffer into a section of a memory, instead of reading a section of memory into a buffer. Like before, we will need to declare two variables for the buffer and the number of bytes written.

```
DWORD new_gold_value = 555;
DWORD bytes_written = 0;
```

Then, we can call **WriteProcessMemory** in an almost identical manner to **ReadProcessMemory**. Like with **ReadProcessMemory**, we will cast our **gold_value** to **(void*)**:

WriteProcessMemory(wesnoth_process, (void*)gold_value, &new_gold_value, 4, &bytes_written);

When this is executed, our gold will be set to 555 and our hack will be complete. We can now run this executable whenever we want to change our gold. We can also distribute it to other players to execute on their machines.


The full code for this chapter is available in <u>Appendix A</u> for comparison.

3.3 DLL Memory Hack

3.3.1 **Target**

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

3.3.2 Identify

In this chapter, we will create a dynamic-link library (DLL) that will modify the player's gold in Wesnoth. This DLL will modify the player's gold every time the user presses a certain key.

3.3.3 Understand

In the previous chapter, we created an external C++ program that used **ReadProcessMemory** and **WriteProcessMemory** to modify the player's gold. While these API's are useful, they also have several limitations. Due to their definitions, they require us to cast parameters into a defined type. Their definitions make it easy to modify simple values like gold, but they make it difficult to read and write full classes or complex data types.

Since these API's are executed from an external program, we would struggle to do things like listen to key presses from the game. In addition, if we wanted to create a code cave in the game, we would have to manually convert that code cave into its opcode representation. We would then need to find a memory location to place it at for **WriteProcessMemory** to work.

To bypass all of these limitations, we can instead inject a DLL into Wesnoth. Once injected, this DLL will be loaded into the game and can directly access the game's memory through the use of pointers. We can also create threads that execute inside the game, allowing us to listen for user input and other events.

3.3.4 Creating DLL's

First, create an empty project, this time named *InternalMemoryHack*. After the project is created, add a *main.cpp* file. The process to do these steps is identical to the previous chapter.

By default, empty projects in Visual Studios are set to build as executables. To build a DLL, we will need to change the project's *Configuration Type*. This can be done in the project's preferences. First, right-click on the project's name and select the *Properties* menu item.



Next, under Configuration Properties, choose General. Then, change the Configuration Type from Application to Dynamic Library. Choose Apply and then hit OK to close the modal.

InternalMemoryHack Property Pages		7 ×
Internal/MemoryHack Property Pages Configuration: Active(Debug) Configuration Properties General Advanced Debugging VC Directories > C/C) (> Linker > Manifest Tool > XML Decomment Generator > Strowse Information > Build Events > Custom Build Step > Code Analyse	 Platform: A General Properties Output Directory Intermeticale Directory Terget Name Configuration Type Workson SIGC A Platform Toolset C++ Language Standard 	? × tive(Win32) ✓ Configuration Manager S(SolutionDir)S(Configuration)\ S(Configuration)\ S(Confi
4 Code Analysis	Configuration Type Specifies type of program being gen	rerated (e.g. executable, static library, dynamic library,) OK Content Apply

Our project will now be built as a DLL instead of an executable.

3.3.5 DLL Basics

DLL's cannot be executed by themselves. Instead, they need to be loaded into an executable. DLL's allow developers to create libraries of functions that can be loaded dynamically. These libraries can then be used across several executables and reduce the amount of code that developers need to write.

For example, user32.dll contains code that displays modals, alerts, and other Windows UI elements. Most executables released for Windows load this DLL automatically and gain access to this functionality without needing the original code. If Microsoft updates this code and changes how an alert box looks, all executables that load this library will benefit from this change.

DLL's have several differences from normal executables. For our purposes, we need to know three of them:

- 1. DLL's have a **DIIMain** function instead of a **main** function.
- 2. This **DllMain** function is called when a process loads or unloads a DLL.
- 3. DLL's run inside their parent process. Variables declared in DLL's are created in the parent's memory.

The **DIIMain** function has different parameters from a **main** function. Its <u>definition</u> is:

```
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(
    _In_ HINSTANCE hinstDLL,
    _In_ DWORD fdwReason,
    _In_ LPVOID lpvReserved
);
```

The **fdwReason** parameter contains the reason that the **DllMain** function was called. For example, when the DLL is loaded into a process, this parameter will hold the value of 1. This value is also defined by the constant **DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH**. To ensure that our code only executes once, we will check this parameter in our final hack.

Since DLL's execute in another process's memory, we will need to load them in some manner. In hacking, this is often known as injecting, as we are falsely loading our DLL into a process. It can often be hard to detect if a DLL has injected successfully. One approach is to attach a debugger to a process and observe all of the process's loaded modules. However, this approach can be time-consuming and is not always feasible. Another approach is to create a DLL that will display an obvious indicator when it is injected. This is the approach we will use to test our DLL injection.

3.3.6 MessageBox

The Windows API has a function to display a message box in a process. The <u>definition</u> for this function is:

```
int MessageBox(
   HWND   hWnd,
   LPCTSTR lpText,
   LPCTSTR lpCaption,
   UINT   uType
);
```

However, due to how C++ handles parameter casting, we can ignore the types for these values. By calling the **MessageBox** function like below, we will display a blank message box with an *Error* title and no text.

```
MessageBox(0,0,0,0);
```

We can use this behavior to ensure that our DLL is injected successfully into Wesnoth. In main.cpp, add the following code:

```
#include <Windows.h>
BOOL WINAPI DllMain( HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID
lpvReserved ) {
   MessageBox(0,0,0,0);
   return true;
}
```

This code will make our DLL display a message box inside the parent process whenever the DLL is loaded or unloaded. We will use this behavior to ensure that our DLL is being injected successfully. Build this code using the *Build* option to produce a DLL. This DLL will be placed in the location you specified when creating the project. By default on our lab machine, this will be *C:\Users\IEUser\source\repos\ InternalMemoryHack\Debug\InternalMemoryHack.dll*.

3.3.7 Injecting DLL's

DLL's are normally loaded into a process through the use of the **LoadLibrary** API. However, since we are not modifying the original source code of the game, we will need to find another way to load our DLL into Wesnoth.

One approach we can use is a DLL injector. DLL injectors are external programs that create a thread inside the target process. This is done through the use of the API **CreateRemoteThread**. This thread then calls the **LoadLibrary** API inside the process. In <u>Chapter 7.1</u>, we will cover how to create a DLL injector.

For this chapter, we will use a feature of Windows that will inject user-defined DLL's into every executable that is started. This feature is called AppInit_DLLs and can be controlled via the registry.

Since this feature is often used by malware, Windows 10 requires *Secure Boot* to be disabled for the feature to work. By default, VirtualBox does not support this feature and it will be disabled. If you are using actual hardware, you will need to disable it through the BIOS. Its current state can be determined through the *System Information* program:

Nystem Information		× L –				
File Edit Vice Help						
System Summary	tem	Value	2			
III Hardware Resources	OS Name	Microsoft Windows 10 Enterprise Evaluation				
Df Components	Version	10.0.17763 Build 17763				
B- Software Environment	Other OS Description	Not Available				
	OS Manufacturer	Microsoft Corporation				
	System Name	MSEDGEWIN10				
	System Manufacturer	innotek GmbH				
	System Model	VirtualBox				
	System Type	x64-based PC				
	System SKU	Unsupported				
	Processor	Intel(R) Core(TM) is 0210M CPU (A 2.50GHz, 2494 Mhz, 2 Core(s				
	100% Version/Date	innatek Geld I Virtualitas, 12/1/2005				
	SM000S Mersion 2.5 DOS Mode Legecy BaseBoard Monifacturer Oracle Corporation					
	BaseBoard Product	VirtualBox				
	BaseBoard Version	12				
	Platform Role	Mobile				
	Secure Boot State	Onsupported				
	PCI// Configuration	Binding Not Possible				
	Windows Directory	Ci/Windows				
	System Directory	CAMindow-Asystem02				
	< C					
Find what:		Find Close Find	1			
Search selected category only	E Search category name	et anly	1			

Once Secure Boot is disabled, we need to modify the registry to enable AppInit_DLLs. This can be done by first opening up the regedit program. The Windows registry contains keys and values that change OS and individual program functionality. It is similar to the file system on Windows in that these keys and values are contained in paths. The path for the AppInit_DLL feature on 64-bit Windows computers is Computer\HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\WOW6432Node\Microsoft\Windows NT\CurrentVersion\Windows. Navigate to this location in regedit.

-	 X.

magney control				6P 11
File lidit View Tarco	itts Heig			
Compute/UNEY_DOCAL	MACHINE/SOFTWARE/WOW6438Node/Microsofty	Windows NT/CenentWe	mion/Windows	
	Image Intelsection Option: A	Norre	Tips	Dete
2	iniFieVtspping	W. Balante	BIG 52	000007
	KnewnFunctionTable2lls	And at Dill	810.57	Cilliansi III hasi ata anglamani latan alkaman dilar
	KnownManagedDebuggingDill:	Appril Dut	100,52	C. Totare inclusive control repeat internative incryptus
	LanguagePack	No contraction	100,040,040	
	LonsingDag	Bill Derktoprisapt.5	and toword	osononce: ()
	NC Educiena	Devicive/beloet.	REG_52	10
	MCB2	M Dvml gutUtest	R1G,DWORD	0100000001 (1)
	MiriDumpAuniliaryD1s	E FrankDuminpu.	REGIDIVORD	0.0000007 (7)
5	NetworkCards	E ODProcestrat	REG, DWORD	0100002710 (10000)
	NetworkList	😹 loonSuniceLb	RIG_SZ	FoonCodedService.dll
5	NolmeModeimes	E LoadAppint_ULLs	KEG_DWORD	CH0000000 (II)
	howPlayingSessionWanages	NetunilinputHa	RE0_32	Neputoli
5	Neldm61	SutdumWmi	REG, DWORD	04FFFFFF(4294057225)
	CEM	Societ	REG SZ	VS
	CpanitDrivers	Threat Unware	REG DWORD	0+01010144 (\$00)
	Paerivez	TassaisineRet	RIG ST	98
5	Devilia	N 15DHate IV.	RIG DWORD	0.000002 (20
5	Perfectorige	HIER Continues	RIC DACED	0-00002738-0-0000
	Pers	The second secon	NHO DAVIND	Dependence of a control of the contr
	Pirt	e coorrectoria.	http://www.htm	disables in (lower)
	Prefibilit			
	Providentification			
	Schedule			
	Secidt			
	SoftwareProtectionPlatform			
	SRUM			
	Sychast			
3	SystemBestrue			
	Time Sones			
	TrimeRmiler			
	Tueing			
	Upulate			
	VersionsList			
	Veturiation			
	Vibra/trf			

Register Friday

AppInit_DLLs will load any DLL's specified in the AppInit_DLLs value into all started programs. Double-click on the *AppInit_DLLs* value and change the string to the location of our DLL:

Name	lype	Data
💐 (Delault)	REG_SZ	mmsive
Appinit DLLs	REG SZ	C:\Users\IEUser\source\repos\InternalMemoryHac
3 DdeSendTimeout	REG_DWORD	0x00000000 (0)
🐺 Desktopi lespi o	REG_DWORD	0x0000001 (1)
	000.07	*!
👯 DwminputUs Edit	t String	×
👹 EnableDwmir 👝		
💥 GDIProcessi I	Je name.	
🔊 konServiceti	plnit_DLLs	
👯 LoadAppinit_ Val	ue data.	
🕂 Natural oputi 📃	Jser/source/repos/Inter	nalMemoryHack/Debug/InternalMemoryHack.dl
No ShaddownWa		
See Successive		
A Speeler		OK Canad
Specier	RH4_DWORD	OK Caned 0x0/000/114 (500)
Spooler ThreadUnrespo IransmissionRet	RHS_DWORD RLC_S2	OK Caneel 040-000-114 (500) 90
Spooler ThreadUnrespo TransmissionRet WUSERNestedWin	REG_DWORD REG_SZ REG_DWORD	OK Caneel 0x00000032 (50)
Specier Specier ThreadUnrespo IransmissionRet USERNestedWin USERPostMessa	REG_DWORD REG_SZ REG_DWORD REG_DWORD	OK Canad D4040001144 (500) 90 0x00000032 (50) 0x00002710 (10000)
Spooler Spooler ThreadUnrespo TransmissionRet WUSERNestedWin USERPostMessa WUSERPostMessa WUSERProcessUla	REG_DWORD REG_DWORD REG_DWORD REG_DWORD	OK Canad D4010001114 (500) 90 0x0000032 (50) 0x00002710 (10000) 0x00002710 (10000)

Next, we need to enable the feature by changing the value of *LoadAppInit_DLLs*. After making this change, our DLL will be loaded into every new process. When the value is set at 1, this feature will be enabled. When it is 0, this feature will be disabled.

GDIProcessi Ian Ibi conServiceLia I conServiceLia I contApplait Di Is Matural aputi Ia	REG_DWORD REG SZ REG DWORD REG_SZ	0x00002710 (10000) IconCodecService.dl 0x0000000 (0) Ninput.dll
Eals DWORD (32 White reams Load Applint_DLLs	brt) Value	×
양방 Walne dato NG [1	Base ⊛The ⊖Der	vadecimel circul

After these changes, the registry key should look like:

Name	Турс	Data
ab] (Default)	REG_SZ	mnmsrvc
🐠 Appinit_DLLs	REG_SZ	C:\Users\IEUser\source\repos\InternalMemoryHac
💓 DdeSendTimeout	REG_DWORD	0200000000 (0)
😻 DesktopHeapLo	REG_DWORD	0x0000001 (1)
🐏 DeviceNotSelect	RFG_S7	15
😢 DwminputUsesi	REG_DWORD	0x0000001 (1)
😢 FnableDwminpu	REG_DWORD	0x0000007 (7)
💓 GDIProcessHan	REG_DWORD	0x00002710 (10000)
👲 IconServiceLib	RFG_S7	IconCodecService.dll
🔁 LoadAppInit_DLLs	REG_DWORD	0x0000001 (1)
👲 NaturalinputHa	RFG_S7	Ninput.dll
😢 ShutdownWarni	REG_DWORD	0xffffffff (4294967295)
👲 Spooler	REG_S7	уеч
💓 ThreadUnrespo	REG_DWORD	0x000001f4 (500)
👲 TransmissionRet	RFG_S7	90
😻 USERNested Win	REG_DWORD	0x0000032 (50)
😻 USERPostMessa	REG_DWORD	0x00002710 (10000)
😻 USERProcessHa	REG_DWORD	0x00002710 (10000)

We can now start Wesnoth. Upon starting the game, several message boxes should appear, indicating that our DLL was injected successfully and is being both loaded and unloaded.



One important thing to remember is that AppInit_DLL will inject DLL's into every started process. This includes the process spawned to build our DLL as we make changes. To avoid any issues, we will have to disable this feature when we build our DLL. Make sure, after testing the DLL, to set the value of LoadAppInit_DLLs to 0. After building our DLL, set this value back to 1 to re-enable DLL injection.

3.3.8 Creating Threads

Now that we have verified that DLL injection is working, we can start programming our hack. We want this DLL to wait for a user to press a key before changing the gold. To do this, we will create a thread in the Wesnoth process. This thread will run until the game is exited.

First, we will change our **DllMain** to only execute our code when our DLL is first loaded into the process. This will ensure that we only create one thread in the game. We can do this by checking the **fdwReason** parameter:

```
BOOL WINAPI DllMain( HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID
lpvReserved ) {
   if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
     // Code to execute when the process is loaded
   }
   return true;
}
```

To create threads in a process, we can use the <u>CreateThread</u> API. Its definition is:

HANDLE CreateThread(
LPSECURITY_ATTRIBUTES	lpThreadAttributes,
SIZE_T	dwStackSize,
LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE	lpStartAddress,
drv_aliasesMem LPVOID	lpParameter,
DWORD	dwCreationFlags,
LPDWORD	lpThreadId
);	

Since we are creating a thread within Wesnoth with no special attributes, we can ignore most of these parameters. The only parameter we are concerned with is **IpStartAddress**, which represents the function we want to execute when the thread is started. Because this function does not need to return, we will create it as a **void** function.

```
void injected_thread() {
}
BOOL WINAPI DllMain( HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID
lpvReserved ) {
    if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
        CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)injected_thread, NULL, 0,
NULL);
    }
    return true;
```

}

When loaded, this code will create a thread that will execute the **injected_thread** function and then exit. To ensure that our thread remains active, we will use an infinite **while** loop in our **injected_thread** function:

```
while (true) {
   Sleep(1);
}
```

while loops will execute until their condition is false. Since true can never equal false, this while loop will run until our thread is exited by the closure of the game. To prevent our thread from causing slowdowns, we can use the **Sleep** API to pause its execution for a millisecond.

3.3.9 Detecting Key Presses

To detect a keypress, we can use the <u>GetAsyncKeyState</u> API. This takes a single parameter, which is the key to check for. If the key is down, it will return true. Otherwise, it will return false. For this chapter, we will check for the user to press **M**:

```
while (true) {
    if (GetAsyncKeyState('M')) {
        // Change the player's gold
    }
    Sleep(1);
}
```

One important caveat about **GetAsyncKeyState** is that it will constantly return true if the key is held down. This will not affect us in this chapter, but if we want to toggle a value off and on in the future, we will need to account for this behavior.

3.3.10 Pointers

In <u>Chapter 3.1</u>, we discussed pointers. Since our DLL is injected into Wesnoth, we can access memory in the game through the use of pointers. This allows us to bypass

ReadProcessMemory and **WriteProcessMemory**. However, we will still use the same offsets and addresses that we used in the previous chapter.

First, we will get the player's base address by reading the value at 0x017EED18:

```
DWORD* player_base = (DWORD*)0x017EED18;
```

This will declare **player_base** as a pointer to a **DWORD** value. The location it will point at is our player's base address at 0x017EED18. We can then dereference this pointer to "read" or retrieve this value. Using this, we can get our game base address by adding an offset:

```
DWORD* game_base = (DWORD*)(*player_base + 0xA90);
```

Finally, we can dereference the **game_base** address and add an offset to retrieve our gold value. We can then dereference this gold value and set its value directly:

```
DWORD* gold = (DWORD*)(*game_base + 4);
*gold = 999;
```

After building the DLL and re-enabling LoadAppInit_DLLs, we can inject this hack into Wesnoth. Create a game and then hit the "M" key. After you move your camera, the gold value will be updated to our new value. The full code for comparison is available in <u>Appendix A</u>.



3.4 Code Caves & DLL's

3.4.1 **Target**

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

3.4.2 Identify

Our goal in this chapter is to create a code cave inside a DLL. The code cave will be executed whenever we select *Terrain Description*. The code cave will give us 888 gold before bringing up the terrain description box.

3.4.3 Understand

In <u>Chapter 2.6</u>, we created a code cave in the game's memory. We then adjusted the opcodes in the *Terrain Description* feature to **jmp** to this code cave. We used x64dbg's built-in instruction assembler to create the code cave and adjust these opcodes.

To create this behavior inside a DLL, we will first need to create a code cave in our DLL. We will then need to modify the opcodes in the *Terrain Description* feature to jump to this code cave inside our DLL.

3.4.4 Assembly in C++

One feature of C++ is the ability to insert assembly code into a C++ source file. This assembly will not be modified during the compiling steps. To do this, you use the **__asm** keyword. For example, the following code can be used to execute the instruction **pushad** in a C++ source file:

asm {			
pushad			

}

You can also mix C++ and assembly in a function. For example, the following code will save all registers, create a variable \mathbf{x} , add 1 to it, and then restore all registers:

__asm {
 pushad
}
int x = 0;
x = x + 1;
__asm {
 popad
}

Finally, variables declared in C++ can be referenced in these assembly blocks. We will use this behavior later when programming our hack.

3.4.5 Assembled Functions

To jump to our code cave from Wesnoth's code, we will need to know our code cave's location. The easiest way to accomplish this in C++ is to declare our code cave as a function. We can then use the **&** operator on it to retrieve its address, identical to other variables. The pseudo code for this might look like:

```
void codecave() {
   //our code cave
}
...
terrain_description_jump_location = &codecave;
```

However, when assembled, functions are normally created with stack frames. Stack frames allow the compiler to easily offset and compute the location of local variables and function arguments. We will discuss this behavior more in future chapters as we explore the stack. For this chapter, we need to know that the **codecave** function above will be assembled into:

codecave: push ebp mov ebp, esp

```
mov esp, ebp
pop ebp
ret
```

These extra instructions can cause our code cave to corrupt the game when we jump to it. This corruption can then cause the game to crash. To avoid this behavior, we will use the **__declspec** C++ keyword to modify how the function is assembled. When using this keyword with the **naked** attribute, the compiler will not add a stack frame.

3.4.6 Cave Skeleton

Now, we can move on to creating our code cave. First, create a DLL in Visual Studio identically to how we have done it in previous chapters. The name for this project will be *CodeCaveDLL*.

After creating the DLL, we can add our code cave function. Like we discussed above, the function will use the **___declspec** keyword to avoid the compiler adding a stack frame. Its definition will look like:

```
__declspec(naked) void codecave() {
```

}

As we discussed in <u>Chapter 2.6</u>, the first step when creating a code cave is to save and restore the registers and then restore the overwritten instructions. We identified these instructions in <u>Chapter 2.6</u>.

pushad popad mov eax, dword ptr ds:[ecx] lea esi, dword ptr ds:[esi] jmp 0xCCAF90

When this code cave was created in x64dbg, it looked like:

File View	Debug Trace Pl	gina Econolica Op	diana Help Eda 23 2020	
🛎 🧐 🔳	+ 11 † 24	😤 🎍 🤶 😫 📕	📱 🞻 🧺 🛷 🌈 fiz # 🗛 🧕 📃 🔮	
🖾 CPU	🍨 Graph 🛛 🌛 Le	iq 😤 Notes 🔎	Breakpoints 🔎 Mamory Map 🗐 Call Stack 🖓 SEH	🔟 Salipt 🛛 🛃 Synk
1	0134360L	00	pushad	A 810
	0134360	61	popad	in and
	01243610	3601	mov eax dword ptr ds:[ecx]	EAX
	01343612	8D36	lea esh, dword ptr ds:[esh]	= B X
_	01343614	 E9 777998FF 	jnp wesneth.CCAF90	ECX
	01343619	0000	add byte ptr cs:[eax],al	LUX.
	01343618	0000	and byte per usi eaxi, al	EEP
	01242615	0000	and both other days and all	150
	01343621	0000	and byte ate disclosed at	EST
	0.01343623	0000	add byre ore day leax [a]	1111
	01343625	0000	add byte otr ds:[eax],al	
	0 01343627	0000	add byte ptr ds:[eax],al	CTP.
	01343629	0000	add byte ptr ds:[eax],al	
	0134362B	0000	add byte ptr ds:[eax],al	CELA
	0134362D	0000	add byte ptr ds:[eax],al	2F 1
	0134362F	COOC	add byte ptr cs:[eax],al	OF 9
	01343631	0000	add byte pir os: eax , a	CF 0
	E D1343683	0000	and by a pre-base was part	
	01242627	0000	and both one declaration of	LOST
	0.013436.03	0000	add bute ate day payl al	Last
	0 013436-05	COUD	add byte ate day leav1.al	
	0 01343630	0000	add byte otr ds:[eax].al	65.0
	0134363F	0000	add byte ptr ds:[eax].al	15.0
	01343641	0000	add byte ptr ds:[eax],al	CS_0
	01343643	0000	add byte ptr ds:[eax],al	
	01343645	0000	add byte ptr ds:[eax],al	
	01343647	0000	ladd byte ofr ds;feaxf.al	Defaul
	<			>

In our DLL, we will create two separate blocks of assembly instructions. The first block will save all of the registers. The second block will restore the registers and then execute the original instructions we have overwritten. Between these two blocks, we will place C++ code to modify our player's gold.

```
__asm {
  pushad
}
// code to modify gold
__asm {
  popad
 mov eax, dword ptr ds:[ecx]
 lea esi,dword ptr ds:[esi]
  jmp 0xCCAF90
}
```

If you attempt to compile this code, you will get an error on the **jmp** instruction:



This is because the compiler cannot resolve the **jmp** instruction when a static address is provided. There are many types of **jmp** instructions which differ based on the length of the jump. Without this knowledge, the compiler does not know how to encode the instruction. There are several ways to resolve this ambiguity, the easiest of which is to create a variable. That is what we will do in this chapter.

Since our code cave has no stack frame, we cannot declare variables inside of it. To bypass this, we will declare all of our variables globally, right below the include statements. Since we need to hold a static address value, we will declare the address as a **DWORD**:

```
#include <Windows.h>
DWORD ret_address = 0xCCAF90;
___declspec(naked) void codecave() {
    __asm {
      pushad
    }
    // code to modify gold
    __asm {
      popad
      mov eax, dword ptr ds:[ecx]
      lea esi,dword ptr ds:[esi]
      jmp ret_address
    }
}
```

3.4.7 Changing Gold

With our code cave function created, we can now use the same approach discussed in <u>Chapter 3.3</u> to modify the dynamic address of our gold through the use of several pointers.

As we discussed in the previous section, we will place this code between the two assembly blocks so that our code cave properly saves and restores all the game's registers. The code to change our gold will be mostly identical to the previous chapter. The only difference is that we will have to initially declare our variables globally outside of our code cave function:

```
DWORD* player_base;
DWORD* game_base;
DWORD* gold;
...
__declspec(naked) void codecave() {
    __asm {
      pushad
    }
    player_base = (DWORD*)0x017EED18;
    game_base = (DWORD*)(*player_base + 0xA90);
    gold = (DWORD*)(*game_base + 4);
    *gold = 888;
    __asm {
    ...
```

3.4.8 Redirection

Next, we can work on redirecting the game's code to call this function. To do this, we will again use a pointer. However, this time we will declare the pointer to point to the address of the game's code responsible for displaying the *Terrain Description* feature. This will be the same hooking location we found in the previous code cave chapter at **0x00CCAF8A**.

We need to take a slightly different approach to modify the game's code using a pointer. Since we want to modify individual bytes, we will declare our pointer as an **unsigned char** (short for character). Unlike a **DWORD**, an **unsigned char** represents 1

byte of data. Declaring our pointer like this will give us the flexibility to modify individual bytes.

Before we can modify the game's code, we will need to change its protection type. Code is only intended to be executed, so Windows will, by default, not allow other processes or DLL's to write data to code addresses. To change this protection, we will use the API <u>VirtualProtect</u> and reassign the protection type.

Finally, we need to understand how the **jmp** opcode is structured. We know that **jmp**'s start with the opcode value of 0xE9. However, there are an additional 4 bytes after this 0xE9. These additional bytes direct the CPU where to jump to. These 4 bytes are not simply the new address. We can see an example from our previous code cave that we created with x64dbg:

🖾 (791)	👰 Graph 🔰 🌽 L	oq 🚔 Notes 🛛 📍 Br	reakpoints 🚥 Memory Map 🔛 Call Stack 🛛 📲 SEH 🛛 🖂 S	Xaript 🔰 🐏 Symb
1	0134360L	CO CO	pushad	A HIGH
	01343601	62	poped	
	01242010	3601	nov eax, owerd per cs: jeck	EAX
L	01343614	· E9 7779957E	and wesneth, CCAE90	182
	01343619	0000	add byte ptr ds; leax1.al	ECX.
		0000		100
	e 01343610	0000	add byte ptr ds: eas , al	EEP
	e 0134361E	0000	add byte pin dat eax yal	1.240
	01040621	0000	and byte pir dat cas yal	EST
	0 01343623	0000	add gyre pre ds:[cax],al	101
	0 01343625	0000	add byte otr ds:[eax],al	
	01343027	0000	add byte ptr ds:[eax] al	L L L L
	a 0134362B	0000	add byte ptr dolleavi al	
	0134362D	0000	add byte ptr ds:leaxl.al	I FFLA
	0134362F	0000	add byte ptr ds:[eax].al	21 1
	01343631	0000	add byte pir ds;[eax],al	OF Q
	01343633	0000	add byte pir ds: eax , al	CF 0
	e 01343635	0000	add byte pin dat easi, al	
	e 01343637	0000	and byte pin dat case yal	Last
	0 010406-09	0000	add gyre orn os:[cax].al	Last
	0 013436 10	CODO	add gyre pre ds:[eax],al	
	0 01343638	0000	add byte ptr estication	65 0
	# 0134505F # 01242644	0000	add byte ptr ds: [cox], al	15.0
	a 01242642	0000	add byte ptr ds. [cox], at	CS 0
	01343645	0000	add byte ptr dstleaxlai	
	01343647	0000	add byte ptr ds; [eax], al	4
	3			> Defau

ile View Debug Trace Plugins Foreautiles Options Help Feb 23 2020

There are several resources online that describe how this opcode is structured. The basic formula is:

new_location - original_location + 5

Let's verify this formula with the code cave above:

 $0 \times CCAF90 - 0 \times 1343614 + 5 = FF 98 79 77$

This initially looks incorrect. However, bytes are stored in a "reverse" order on all Windows-compatible CPU's. This is a concept known as endianness, which we will cover more in future chapters. If we reverse the byte order from the value we found above, we find that it matches the opcode in x64dbg:

77 79 98 FF

Since we verified that the formula works, we can implement it into our own code to **jmp** to our code cave.

3.4.9 Redirection Function

We will handle the redirection in our **DIIMain** function, when our DLL is first injected. First, we will need to declare a pointer to our hook location. In addition, the **VirtualProtect** API requires a parameter to hold the previous protection type. We will declare that as well:

DWORD old_protect; unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x00CCAF8A;

Next, we will change the protection type for our hook location. The **VirtualProtect** API has similar parameters to the **ReadProcessMemory** and **WriteProcessMemory** API's. Like we did in our previous code cave chapter, we will need to rewrite 6 bytes.

```
if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
   VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 6, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
   //redirection
}
return true;
```

With the location now writable, we can begin the process of reassigning the bytes to jump to our code cave. First, we will set the first byte to **0xE9**:

```
*hook_location = 0xE9;
```

We will then write the additional opcodes needed for the **jmp** using the formula we tested above. These opcodes will begin 1 byte after the hooking location:

```
*(hook_location + 1) = &codecave - (hook_location + 5);
```

However, this code will not work as intended. Instead of writing 4 bytes, this will only write 1 byte. This is because **hook_location** is defined as a pointer to an **unsigned char**, which is 1 byte long. To write the 4 bytes we need, we will cast **hook_location** as a pointer to a **DWORD**. We will also cast the other variables to **DWORD**'s:

(DWORD)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&codecave - ((DWORD)hook_location + 5);

Finally, just like we did in the previous chapter, we need to make the sixth byte a **nop**. This can be done in an identical manner to the method we used to set the first byte to a **jmp**. We add 5 (instead of 6) as values are indexed from 0 in C++:

*(hook_location + 5) = 0×90 ;

With this done, we can build and inject the DLL identically to how we did it in the previous chapter. When in game, select *Terrain Description* on any tile. Before displaying the description, your gold should be set to 888.

The full code is in <u>Appendix A</u> for comparison.

3.5 Printing Text

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

3.5.2 Identify

In this chapter, we will print our own text in Wesnoth. To accomplish this task, we will first locate a section of code responsible for printing text. Then, we will use a code cave to modify the game's memory to display our text.

3.5.3 Understand

There are multiple approaches to print our own text inside a game:

- 1. Use an external overlay.
- 2. Create a code cave inside the game's main display loop and call the function responsible for displaying text.
- 3. Create a code cave inside a function responsible for displaying text and modify the text about to be displayed.

Different games are suited best for different methods. For this chapter, we will use the third approach as it is the easiest to do in Wesnoth. We will examine the other approaches more in-depth in future chapters.

3.5.4 Locating Text

Our first task is to locate the game's code that is responsible for displaying text. To start, we need to find a string of letters that appears in the game. For Wesnoth, we can use the *Terrain Description* text that is displayed when clicking on a tile. Any description will work, but for this chapter, we will use the description for the *Ford* tile. For other games, chat messages are a good starting location.

First, select a map that has Ford tiles on it. Den of Onis is one example:



When the map loads, select a *Ford* tile and select the *Terrain Description* entry on the context menu:





This will bring up the description for the tile, which contains a long string of text:

We can use Cheat Engine to search for where this text is stored within the game. Make sure to close down the terrain description box before searching to reduce the amount of results. Due to the unique nature of the text, we only need to search for a couple words:

Chest Engin	e 7.0			- 🗆	- 5
File Edit Tab	e D30 Help		00001ABC-wesmothexe		fc.
Pound: 13 Address 0511DBdB 0751D3A3 0AC73948 00961327 10957528 10C88B8F 10C88B8F 10C8879 10C8970 10C89701 10C89701 10C89701 10C8948 10C8970	Value When a When a	Trevious	New Scan Next Scan Value When a river happens to be coherence Scan Type Search for text When Type String Mannary Scan Optimes All Start 00000000000000 Sing 0000725777777777777777 Witable bocutable CosyOwWeite Fast Scan 1 LastDigite Passe the game while scanning	Undo Scan	
Memory V Action Descripti	tew vis	Δddress	Type Välue	Add Address Ma	nual
Advanced Upbor	rsi			lab	ik Ex

To narrow down which address represents the string we are interested in, change the first letter of every string. After changing these values, go back into Wesnoth and examine the terrain description again. The version of the string that is displayed in game will match up with the correct address. In this case, the string starting with *Lhen* was displayed, making our address **0x10CE996B**.



3.5.5 Locating PrintText

We can now use the address we found to locate the function responsible for printing text. We know that the print text function must access this text in some way to print it. To determine where this function is, we can set a breakpoint on a byte of the text.

Hic	WOW	Dehu	g trace	Plugins	Favourtes	Optor	s Help	Feb 23	2020				
	🔳 🕑	-	1 ¥	a 🛬	🎍 🕆 🕫	\$	1 3	÷ 🥠	fr #	A,	🎄 🖩 👮		
e,	CPU	🧼 g	aph	Log	Notes	• Bre	eakpoints	and M	enory N	lap	Call Stack	SEH	0
IP	_	} •	7671297	1 C	3		rct						
		(Data)			- -		int:	-					
		M	anary		,		Int	i					
		10	Copy		•		101	1					
		1	Holow in	Memory M	ар		Int						
		2	Holow in	Disassemb	ler		Int						
		A	SetLabel	I			int	-					
		100	Modify W	due	Space		int	3					
			Deschard			1.							
		-	creation	11		•	Hardware,	Access		۰.	Byte		
		10	Find Path	ern	Chil+D	2		100-1-		-	anard.	•	
		îî.	Find Refe	erences	Ctrl+R	٠,	Hardware,	Execute			Dword		
		2	Sync with	rexpressio	n i								
		66	Walds D	NORD			Memory, A	CCEES	•	F *	s; esp		
							Memory, R	ead	•	ι <mark>ε</mark> Γ21	SFC1/FC],0		x1use
		4	Allocater	viemory		N .	Memory, W	vrite		r a	S: [<mark>ZGHC1/HC</mark>	1	
		æ	Go to		•	-	Memory F	we auto	•	5:[<art ebuge<="" lb="" td=""><td>r 1 nt i 1mes</td><td></td></art>	r 1 nt i 1mes	
	L.,		Lieve		•	32	I nov	CCX-ch	ord n	Jt 🛔	S: esp+2E0		
		-	LIEX.			100	THORE	cex, u					1
		Å,	lext		,								
			Integer		•								
. te	xt:76F:	A.	Floet		•								
<u>.</u>	Dump 1	9	Address			p 4	💷 Du	mp 5	🥮 Via	lch 1	IX-I Locals	2 1m	0546
Add	ress	- 22	Upessen	Diy.					II 200			× 1	0546F
100	E 9 9 6 1	4. 10. cr	65 72	20.24.0		-5 72 20 CE	20 68 7	61 20 I	hch a	n n N	er hap extre		0546F
100	7800 T	6D 65	6C 79	20 23 6	8 61 66 66	65 77	00 20	20 61 i	nely s	hall	ow, pe		05468
100	F999R F99AR	73 73 20 61	63 6F 20 74	67 20 6 72 69 7	E 76 65 72 6 69 61 60	20 69 20 60	74 20 61 74	69 73 3 74 65	a tra	over vial	mette		0546F
100	F99RR	72 20	66 6F	72 20 6	C 61 6F 54	20 62	61 73	65 64 r	TOP	land	based		05466
100	E99CR	20 75 20 20	6F 69	74 73 21 79 20 6	F 20 40 6F 3 72 65 51	72 65 74 75	6F 76 72 65	55 72 20 62	units any	. No crea	ture b		0516F
100	FBBER	55 73	74 20	61 54 6	1 70 74 55	64 20	74 6F	20 73	st ad	apte	d to s		05168
100	E99FB	77 69 20 60	6D 6D 6F 62	69 5E 6 69 5C 6	7 20 68 51 9 74 79 20	73 20	66 75 65 6F	SC 6C V 20 61	nobil mobil	ig ha itv	s full even a		0516

🕷 wesnothlexe - PID: 1ABC - Module: ntdll.dll - Thread: 1184 - x32dbg

With the breakpoint set, go back into Wesnoth and invoke the *Terrain Description* action again. Your breakpoint will pop immediately:

	1 2 20	** : * 🔳 /	(😂 🖤 🖋 Ja 👭 🔺 📓 🔮		0		
CRI CRI	0.00	D. North Bank	Coursend	2 304 25 34 p.	Synbox O Source	D Referencee	99 1 de
	ACCR DIST.	#3184 #142_14	map novels		Hide me		
	OTHER ALL	AND N	nov an own a ptr stt and st	(600-6411)	EAN ADVENANT	Nothing a mi	later (a
	00363633	ES SCIPHIN	3 to wellooth, 3130-64		EEX 2000000	01042-021 4 11	
	0052526	455 CFEFFFF	mov eax, dword ptr sst ebe-134		ECK 0000187	6.16T	
	00569667	4380 CAPEPPPP op	simp deve of pin and returning of	16 TAK	EEX 50000187	C.8.	
	0000965	PARL CORFEREN	may depend one southernald, each		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		
	VUSE 2L/A	000+ 10FEFFFF	moy cas, dword pur set cop-13-0		E12 AOCE1978	Theppens to be	extreme
	00529284	SE2485 68413601	3mp dword ptr dr: [eachi-1348198]		EFT 100E1490	 (x06)/,\8ate% 	a for we
	22221	22 cocococo	les edt. deard atr dat fed 1	ad1:: " (x85)	ETE INCOMEN	watereth OVELOP	
	00363630	CO-D+ HCFFFFFFF	Ten cax, deard ptr pat cbp 14	10.1 0.000,	EAP DOGE TE DA	PERIOD IN CONSIDER	
1	00569696	BOBS A4PEPFFF	mov dword otr si: ebo-15(3,eax	A (10) - 100 - 100 - 100	EPLASS 010 80 34 4		
	OOSENEN	abat sarenny	mor ear, deard ptr ass [ebp-140]	SWY AL/H	ZF 1 PF 1 AF 3		
	00579784	894124 10	new deserve and sold associate and				
	14.36.3200	894424 CC	mov dword dtr sstessect.eax				
	00529282	ADD: BOPERFFF	mey car, doerd ptr sist cap 150		ListError 0000003	(00010_E1).E_M	T_DOUND
1 1	225251	Boliococo	mov dword gtr ssilesal/eck		LASTSTATUS CODORO64	(ITATUS_RE:ECT	_AARE_N
	10363061	034424 0B	new dword gtr and esoid look		G3 COGB #3 COSB		
	005E96C4	IDBE 24FFFFFF	les eas.deard ptr ss: ebe-DC		£5 0020 D5 0020		
	OUTAL PLC.L	BABD COPERPRE	moy eword ptr si: eco-ise ecx		C1 0028 S5 0028		
	ODEEDID-1	E8 07104C00	call weenoth.cesceo		ST(C) FFFF00000000	ROCOLDO XE/10 E	maty in
	0058 9(D)	800	test eax, eax	BALLE MANY			_
	4)	Selauk (stalial)	 E 2: 	Urlaskes
13					11 [BEP+1] D0000000		
					31 [E58+C] DB0E14(8		
Personal Sectors	a was made, and	- SIESELL #100051			4: [sap+30] 10C3D87		
- CREATE OF COMPANY	a meanwart the			EXCLUSION	[1] [P50+14] 00000000		_
Dump i	iliy Dump 2 🛛 👹	i Dump 3 📲 i Dump 4	🙀 Dump 5 💮 Watch L 🕨 Loxals 🍃	301C 017EC7A8 0000	0000		
Address Hex			ASCIE	A OLIECTAC 0600	0.001		
AK(9768 K 1	0 01 00 10 0	29 72 67 16 65 72 7	0 66 61 10 Ellen a river hau	01786784 1003	0.80		
10C(9588 6) 6	5 66 79 10 7	1 68 61 6C 6C 6F 77 0	0 20 70 41 mely shallow, pa	01:EC788 0000	09060		
EDC(9991 73 7	3 65 62 57 2	a 6F 76 61 12 20 69 1	4 20 69 73 ssing even it is	0176C7C0 0004	2518 return to wesh	ch. 00642538 fri	on wes
10C(9508 72 2	0 64 67 72 2	6C 51 6E 64 20 62 6	1 73 65 64 r for land based	01786764 1661	6870		
10019908 25 7	5 61 69 14 7	3 2E 20 40 4F 72 48 0	F 76 65 12 units Noreover	01700700 0000	0001		
10012008 10 1	9 74 30 11 4	4 41 70 74 46 64 39	4 6F 20 19 est adapted to 1	01/86/00 0000	01/4		
10C(99F8 77 8	19 60 60 59 6	67 20 65 61 73 29	6 75 6C 4C within ng has full	01160709 0071	Cece &' \n\nther a r	fiver (k06)/Ab	att la iv
10C19A08 20 1	0 67 62 19 6	20 70 60 41 63 41	3 20 64 45 5 such places 15	V E			>
in mark						D	dadi v
		the standard second				14	

Examining this code, we appear to be in a loop responsible for moving each byte of the text into a buffer. Like we did in previous chapters, we want to navigate to the code that called this lower-level code by using execute until return and stepping out.

We we snoth exe	-PID: 1ABC - I	Module: we	snothexe	- Thread: M	ain Threa	d 'CA0 - :32d	bg							-	٥	>
Fik Vev De	bug Trace	Pugins Fi	avountes	Options H	telp Feb	5 25 2020										
- S	N 1 2 0	► 🛥 ∔	1 🕈 📲	I 2	98.	🥖 fx #	A- 👗 🔳	9								
🖪 O'U 🛛 👰	Graph 🗋 🗋	bg 🕄	Notes	• Breakpoi	ints 💻	HemoryMap	i 🗐 cite	stack 🖷 St	н 🗵	Sript	🜒 Syr	aloda	O Source	P Refer	ences	-
11	005/E00FD	3100	24.46		NOT CAN	ed phr son Leax	esprik i je	an .		~	810	e PPU				
	005.ED0FF	8944	24 08		mov dwo	ord ptr ss:	esp+8],ea	DK .	[45p+	e]: "['	EAX	000	00000			
	 00582108 00582100 00582100 00582110 00582114 0058211A 0058211A 00582123 00582123 	85-C 8974 8975 8975 8914 8840 8965	24 24 24 10 24 04 POPERFF 4 6CPEFFF 78FEFFF	-	nav dvo nav dvo nav dvo nav dvo nav dvo nav dvo nav ecx	and ptr sst and ptr sst	esp+14 e esp+10 e sol cbg 1 esp edx sol ebp-1 esp edx	CX 51 19 94 6ax	(chup-	199]14	ECX EDX EDX ESP ESI EDI	000 013 017 000 017	00400 00000 07407 00000 00000 00424			
300	005121212	6845	20/10/	F	mov cas	, dword ptr	sst ebp-D	67			EIP	009	D126	vesnoth. 0	054D124	E
eau=0 dword ptr (e	00000000000000000000000000000000000000	* 74 0 5966 5976 5986 5885 5895 5977 * 0784 5895 5875 5977 * 0784 5895 5775 * 0784 5895 5775 * 0784 5997 * 0784 5997 * 0784 5997 * 0784 5978 * 0784 5978 * 0784 5978 * 0784 5978 * 0784 5978 * 0784 * 0784	24 224 25 ECEDO 700 EFFF 700 EFFF 04 40 EFFFF 04 4 CFFFFFF 17 ECA2C	F 18 F 0 F	smp easy ie vesn mov dwo mov dwo mov easy mov easy mov easy in vesn mov easy in vesn mov easy in vesn mov easy in vesn	Award ptr oth SED47 seach, 2994 rd ptr 391 ,dword ptr rd ptr 391 ,dword ptr rd ptr 391 ,dword ptr 1, 401 seth SED07 4, dword ptr 1, 401 seth SED07 ,dword ptr 1, 401 seth SED07	dir (eas) dir (eas) dir (eas) dir (eas) dir (eas) dir (eas)	15 A3 93 93	[400- [400- [400- [400-	190]:4 190]:4 190]:4	LFL 2F 0F CF LAS LS CS ST(0 Defa 21 3:	1028 1028 1028 1028 1028 1028 1023 1023 1023 1023 1023 1023 1023 1023 1023 1023 1023 1025	AF 0 D F	(DREOL_F) (ETATIE_) 0000000 x [[[[1mg]\ns	ILI_N01 38:807, 8710 B 5 0 0	ngty Junio terra
TONTIOCSEDA	el wesneth.	exc:\$510	156 -166	97E					01766	940 013	ECA70	esp+1	1 OLICAR			_
address Hex	## Dune 2	Et Durp :	3 4 40	unp 4 🚦	4 Dunp S	ASC 11	1 0-1.0	cals 🦉 tur	01760	954 01 958 80	EC 8F0	-[1=+	Name-\"	ornetr/we	ter/fo	
10(E9968 4C 10(E9978 70	68 65 6E 20 65 6E 73 20	61 20 7	2 61 76	61 72 20 20 65 18	68 51 7 74 72 6	O Lhen a r	iver hap be extre		01760	960 01 964 01	ECAS8 ECAS8					

This call looks like it could be responsible for populating the terrain description box with text. If we continue execution, we notice that this code is called multiple times for each section of the terrain description box. To determine the parameters passed to this call, we can set a breakpoint on 0x005ED114 and invoke the *Terrain Description* action again:



The highlighted section shows that the text is loaded into the register **edx**. The code at **0x005ED11A** then moves the value in **edx** into the location pointed at by **esp**. This is identical to pushing the value of **edx** on the top of the stack. While we have not discussed the stack yet, for the purpose of this chapter, we need to know that functions will often retrieve values off of the stack for use in execution.

3.5.6 Memory and Endianness

You may have noticed that the address in **edx** does not match the address we found in Cheat Engine. Since the text space is dynamically allocated, we will need to understand how to retrieve the value of the text from **edx** to create our code cave.

Invoke the *Terrain Description* action again to force our breakpoint to pop. Once it does, right-click on the value of **edx** and choose *Follow in Dump*:

Script		🖭 Symbo	ols	⇔ so	ource	DReference	ces 🛛 😒 Ilar
	^	Hide	FPU				
		FAX	0000	011			
		EBX	017E	04E0			
		ECX	0000	0000			
n=1901:7		EDX	OEFO				
pl:"[im		EBP	017E		Modify	/ value	Enter
- J - C		ESP	017E		Follow	in Dump	
	- 4	ESI	00000				
		EDI	01760	0-0	Follow	in Dump	•
		EIP	005 E	22	Follow	in Disassembler	r
o]:"[imo		EFLAG	5 0(.	Follow	in Memory Map)

This will change the current address displaying in the dump to the value of **edx**. As we discussed in previous chapters, the dump section displays the current running memory of a process. It's important to remember that both the dump section and Cheat Engine are displaying and searching the same data.

🌉 Dumpi I	🚛 Dump 2	🕕 Dump 3	🚛 Dump 4	🕖 Dump 5	🧶 Watch 1 🛛 🖾 🗉 Le	ocals
Address He	ex .				ASCII	
0EF0E938 68	90 CE 10	97 01 00 00	97 01 00 00	67 GE 72 00	h.1gor.	
OEF0E948 60	75 72 62	6F 77 00 00	BO DO CD 10	2E 00 00 00	lurbowD1	
OEF0E958 26	00 00 00	67 GF 72 00	GC 61 79 65	72 00 00 00	gor.layer	
OEF0E968 20) E9 F0 OE	02 00 00 00	2C 20 00 01	2C C7 7E 01	péö,Ç~.	
OFF0F978 F8	01 00 00	2C C7 /F 01	10 D9 C3 10	40 00 00 00	P,C~UA.(4	
OFF0F988 40	00 00 00	6E 63 65 6D	65 6F 74 OD	0F 00 00 00	Mncement	
OEF0E998 18	35 4B OD	17 00 00 00	17 00 00 00	6D 65 6E 74	.9Knent	
OEFOESA8 00	6E 74 00	OE 00 00 00	<u>B8 E9 BB 10</u>	30 00 00 00	.ntÉ».0	
OEF0E9B8 30	00 00 00	75 64 5F 61	6E 64 5F 66	6F 67 00 00	0ud_and_fog	
OEF0E9C8 20	D1 CD 10	2A 00 00 00	2A 00 00 00	61 74 00 61	N1.**at.a	
OEFOESD8 68	61 SF 66	6F 67 00 00	38 EB BB 10	30 00 00 00	nd_fog8ë».0	
OEF0E9E8 30	00 00 00	74 5F 63 6F	GE 71 69 GE	65 GE 71 00	0t_continent.	

Command:

This value stored in **edx** is obviously not a text string. However, if we examine the value of the bytes, we see that they share many similarities to the address we found in Cheat Engine. In the previous chapter, we briefly discussed a concept known as endianness. Most Windows-based CPU's are little endian. By definition, this means that the least-significant byte is stored in the smallest address.

In practice, this means that when the address 0x12345678 is stored in memory, it will be stored as 0x78 56 34 12. In this case, 0x78 represents the least-significant byte, or the smallest value. A good comparison is to imagine the number 123. Expressed in a longer form, this value can be understood as 1*100 + 2*10 + 3*1. The smallest value in this form is the number 3.

The second part of this definition can be understood by examining the dump. In the dump, memory addresses grow from a lower value to a higher value. Because of this, the least-significant byte will be stored "first" in memory. The combination of these factors make addresses stored in memory appear to be "reversed".

Now that we understand endianness, we can conclude that the value stored at **edx** is an address. We can quickly navigate to this address in the dump by selecting all the bytes and selecting *Follow in Dump* again:



After selecting this, we arrive at our string's location in memory:

				·					1					~ -		-	
a dida a a a	1.000																
10000968	20	0A	0A	4C	68	65	GE	20	61	20	72	60	7 G	65	72	20	Lhen a river
10CE9978	68	61	70	70	65	6E	73	20	74	6F	20	62	65	20	65	78	happens to be ex
10CE9988	74	72	65	6D	65	6C	79	20	73	65	61	6C	6C	6F	77	00	tremely shallow.
LOCE9998	- 20	70	61	73	73	69	6F	67	20	6E	75	65	72	20	69	74	passing over it
100159948	-20	69	73	20	61	20	74	17	69	76	64	61	60	ZD	61	61	is a trivial ma
TOCE9989	74	- 14	65	72	20	66	61	12	20	6C	61	6E	64	20	62	61	tter for land ba
10069908	73	65	61	20	75	GE	69	74	73	25	20	4D	6F	72	65	6F	sed units. Moreo
10069908	76	65	72	20	20	61	6E	79	20	63	44	65	61	71	25	<u>72</u>	ver, any creatur
10015918	GS	20	62	65	13	12	20	61	64	61	20	<u> / 4</u>	05	- 64	20		c best adapted t
10055405		20	15	20	69	00	60	69	00	60	20	20	20	12	20	20	o swimning has t
LOCE9418	65	20	61	20	20	72	75	63	6C	20	44	60	61	63	65	73	n at such places
10.73410	or.	20	61	7.4	20	7.5	10	0.5	65	20	1.0	nt.	n I	-		10	n ar sian praces
command:																	

To reference this value in assembly, we can make use of the **ptr ds** keyword:

```
mov eax, dword ptr ds:[edx]
```

This will load the value of the address stored in **edx** into **eax**. In this case, it would load the value **0x10CE9968** into **eax**. We could then use the **ptr ds** keyword again to access the individual bytes of the text.

3.5.7 Changing Text

With this reversing done, we can start creating our hack. To verify that we have the correct method, we will create a code cave that will change the text displayed each time the *Terrain Description* action is invoked. To do this simply, we will increase the value of the first byte each time our code cave is executed. This will change the value of the character and allow us to confirm that our hack is working.

Since we know the **call** at **0x005ED129** is responsible for printing the text and is also 5 bytes long, we will use it as our redirection point. As discussed in previous code cave chapters, any location near the end of program's memory will work for our cave location. In this case, we will create it at **0x01343E1B**. As usual, we will replace the hooking location with a jump to our code cave:

• •	005ED114 005ED11A 005ED11D	891424 8B8D 6CFEFFFF	mov dword ptr ss:[csp],cdx mov ecx,dword ptr ss:[cbp-194]
-	005ED123 005ED129 005ED125	8985 78FEFFFF VE9 ED6CD500	jmp wesnoth.1343E1B
	005ED134 005ED137	83EC 1C 3885 68FFFFFF	sub esp,ic cmn eax.dword ptr ss: ebp-198

We will first save the registers in our code cave. Then we will use the **ptr ds** keyword to load the value of the text from **edx** into **eax**. After that, we will use the **inc** operator to increase the value of the first byte of the string. For example, if the first byte is currently A (ASCII value 65), it will be increased to B (ASCII value 66). Finally, we will restore the registers, recreate the **call**, and then jump back to the original code.

P	Graph 🔰 🏒	Log 📋 Notes	Breakpoints	Memory Map	Call Stack
	01343E1B	60	push	nad	
•	01343E1C	8802	mov	eax, dword ptr c	ls:[edx]
•	01343E1E	FEOO	inc	byte ptr ds:[ea	ax]
•	01343E20	61	popa	ad	-
	01343E21	E8 0A582AFF	call	wesnoth.5E9630)
	01343E26	~ E9 03932AFF	jmp	wesnoth.5ED12E	
•	01343E2B	0000	add	byte ptr ds:[ea	x],al
	01242520	0000	bbe	hute ntr de+les	vl al

With this completed, go back into Wesnoth and invoke the *Terrain Description* action multiple times. You will notice that a character after the image changes each time, demonstrating that we have successfully modified the text displayed.



Part 4 RTS Hacks

4.1 Stathack

4.1.1 Target

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

4.1.2 Identify

In this chapter, we will create a statistic hack, more commonly known as a stathack. This type of hack displays information to us about other players, such as their gold or number of units.

In this chapter, our stathack will display the gold of the second player.

4.1.3 Understand

To create our stathack, we need to accomplish two steps:

- 1. Find the second player's gold.
- 2. Print this value to the screen.

In previous chapters, we covered the techniques to do both of these steps.

4.1.4 Second Player's Gold

Back in <u>Chapter 1.2</u>, we explored how games will often allocate similar data and classes in arrays. These arrays can then be iterated over by the game to locate and update data. While we do not know if this is how Wesnoth works, we can use it as a model to try to locate the second player's gold value.

We know from <u>Chapter 2.8</u> that the game dynamically allocates player classes based on a base pointer. We also identified the game's and first player's base pointers. By closely examining the code we located in that chapter, we can determine if the game uses an array for its player classes and, if so, locate the second player's base pointer. First, create a local game with two local players. Make sure both players receive income each turn. Start the game and attach x64dbg. Play one turn for each player to make sure any first-turn initialization code has executed. Next, set a breakpoint in x64dbg on 0x9B4CE3, the same **call** we identified before. In Wesnoth, end the first player's second turn and the breakpoint should pop:

📫 💟 🖬 🗌	+ I † A	🤏 🕹 🔮 🤕 🔳 ،	🥜 😔 👻 🥒 fx # 🗛 👗 📗 👮				
🔟 CPU	🔀 Log 🛛 🕄 Note	s • Deakpoints =	Memory Map 🧊 CallStack 🖷 SE4 🗵	Script 🕙 Symbols	O Source	P References	😒 Threads 🛛
316	-	LD OB30FFFF	Coll weaverb, sairro	*		Hide	PU
	 00984C88 	1858 68	mov ebx, dword ptr ds:[eax+61]	ebx:&"side_	EAX 000	00000	
	00984CF1 UV704LF4	8870 60	mov es1, dword ptr ds: [eax+6c] add edx, exx	esi:"side_2 cos:e/side_	EBX 013 CEN 047	10000 4"5	1de_2_turn_2*
	 00984CF6 00984CF5 	8901	mov ecx, edx mov edx, dword ptr. dst[eax=16]	ECX: 6"3+"	EEP 013	1E71C	
	 00984CF8 00984CFE 	3FAFD6	inul edx.es1	esi: "side_2	ESP 013	16214	de 2 turn 2"
	 00984000 00984000 	3150 04	add dword ptr di:[eax+4],edx	[ebo-410]14	EDI 000	00005	
	 00198-40-09 00198-40-07 	1840 60 103.5 5040000	nev eax.dword otr ds: eax+60]	PCN1A"br."	E2P 001	15 4CC3 wes	neth.00984663
	 00984012 	BBBO DCOCOOOO	mov eax, dword ptr ds: eax+CDC	the second second	EFLAGS	00000364	
	 00364010 00564010 00564020 	E8 00857600 8880 20585555	call wasnoth Chic to	[ebo-40114	ZF 0 PF OF 0 SF	AF C	
	 00984026 	13EC 04	sub esp.4	[cob.+col.te	CF 0 TF	1 IF 1	
	 00964029 00964027 	La actorrer	cull meanoch, BALTFO		Lasterner	00000004 (8	NACA_PELE_NOT_P
	 00984037 	1848 73	mov ecx, dword ptr ds: eax+70	ecx:4"br.,"	Lastscatt	15 C0000014 (5	TATUS DEJECT NA
	 0096403A 0096404040 	JFAPU1	mov est, dvord ptr ssi eop-418	8CX14"24"	GS 0028 ES 0028	FS 0051 05 0028	
	 00964043 00964045 	2906 85F6	tes: esi,esi	es1:"side_2	<		
	· 039642-0	- 7E 14	11e wesnoch, 964063	-	Default (stds	-0	* 1 ÷ 🗆 w
	4			>	2: esp+4	01755668 4"1	ide_2_turn_2"
weinoth. 001	BAE7F0				4: esp+6	01552100 we	noth.01552820
.text:00984	ACE3 wesnoth.ex	e:1584CE3 #5840E3			si (esp+1	0] 0176(508	
🖏 Dump 1	BiDump 2 8	Ump 3 📲 Dump 4	💷 Dunp S 💮 Wath 1 🗵 Locals 🍃	4 0170000 0000	0002	de 2 turn 2"	
Address H	ex		ASCII	017EE11C 0195 017EE120 0195	2600 wesni 2600 wesni	ch.01512600	
77451010 2	8 00 2A 00 44 4	4 15 77 14 00 16 00	C C4 25 22	017EE124 017E 017EE128 017E	E308		
77451020 1	E 00 20 00 EC 0 8 00 1A 00 84 0	3 15 77 20 00 22 00	10 C3 15 77 A.WBA.W	01765120 0000	0002	a to wasnestly	COTTANDA From 7
77491040 3	0 00 32 00 22 4	3 83 77 DC 00 1E 00	C C3 13 77 0.2. (A.W A.W	01799344 070	9020	e co stanochi	COLUMN TO ME T

The value in **ebx** indicates that this function is invoked for every player each turn. Furthermore, we know that the value in **ecx** is the game's base pointer. From these two facts, we can assume that the game has an array of player classes.

Our next step is to determine the size of each player in the array. The game must know this size to advance to the next player in the array. Step into the **call** at 0x9B4CE3 and step through each line of code. From the previous chapter, we know that this code will return the player's gold address in **eax**. For the majority of this function, the addresses and values used are identical to the values we observed when looking for the first player's gold address. However, near the bottom of the function is an **imul** (signed multiply) instruction:
av	12	og 🛛 🕅 Not	es 🕴 Breskpoints	💳 Menory Nap 🛛 🚔 Call Stack 🛛 🧠 STI	i 🔄 🖳 Seript 🛛 🔮 Symbol	e 0 s	auroe 🖉 Betere	nas 👌
	1	000AE51F	6050 04	new eds, dword pith ds: [cas: 4]		^		ride Pru
		0004E524 0004E525 0004E525 0004E525 0004E525 0004E534 0004E534 0004E534 0004E534 0004E534 0004E545 0004E545	2004 8500 21-6 01 6000 8760000 87 75 16 88 81020000 84 F6203801 80444 05 805424 04 576424 00 505424 04 576424 10211801 88 83604500	The contract of the second sec	10820F6:"5	F ESI BOS BESI BOS CEP	05140245 012188 0000000 0121120 01051124 0000002 0000005 0000005	with" wesnet
-	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	039/12853 109/02855 109/02855 109/02855 009/02855 009/02855 009/02855 009/02857 009/02875 000000000000000000000000000000000000	8815 60 9881 000 0000 9000 FF 9000 FF 9000 0000 2001 0170 04 0000 970F1906 390A - /3 1A FN02 2000000	nov ecx, oword ptr ds: [ebx-e0 nov eax, oword ptr ds: [ebx-e0 lea edx, dword ptr ds: [ecx-a0 nov eax, dword ptr ds: [ecx-A0 sob etx, ecx sor etx, 4 inal ecx, ecx, 50750797 cpp cdx, cdx four edx, edx	2 2 2	575 575 1 45 1 45 1 45 1 45 1 45 1 45 1 45 1 4	AGS 000000000 0 FF 1 AF 1 0 SF 1 AF 1 1 TF 1 IF 1 LEFFOR 0000000 0028 FS 0008 0028 FS 0028	92 (1993) 84 (517)
	-	TELEVIER REL	58	pop Acx	where of the pro-	<		
	:	0090E854 0056E555 4	SF OIDO	pop ext add nax, rdx	د	v Defa 1: 2:	II. (adical) cap 4] 07000AD cap 5] 07000AD	-
	AES7	A wesneth, e	NU: STAESTA #TADOTA			4	esp+10] OL/EES esp+10] OL/EES	en wistr
June 1	5	E Dama 2	E Daniel De Daniel	💷 Dava S 🛛 🖓 Walds A - De-Hards	. S () UTZERTEN	LAC HINNER		

When we step through this function as the first player, **edx** is set to the value of 0. However, when we step through with the second player, **edx** is set to the value of 1. From this code, it appears that the game uses **edx** to offset the current player and then multiplies **edx** by the value of 0x270 to identify the current player. If we step down a few more lines of code, we see that this value is then added to the value of **eax** to get our current player's gold address:

0/9AE826 8100	may eix, edx		^	HTDE FPU
 OTOALESSE OTOALESSE	IFF996 inul eax, eax, t cmp eil, eax	H6F96797	est:"stde_2	EAX OSLABSIB EEX 017EE6C8 &"side_2_turn_2"
+ 019AE833 + 7E 1E + 019AE833 B# 81920	11e Wesnoth.9/ 1000 Hev etx,101	NE 45 3		EDX 000000270 L'4'
OUSAES3A 84 F6203 OUSAES3F 894424 0	1801 may edx, wesnot 16 may dword ptr	551 t50+6 .eax	13820F6:"sr [esc+6]:4"s	ESP 01/EE/10 "8L>"
 009AE843 815424 003AE847 C'0424 	M mov dword ptr	ss: ssp+4 .edx	1302110: "01	ESI 01/EE6D0 "side_2_:urn_2"
 019AE84E E1 8060 E1 8060 	900 call vesnoth.	4486)		
 009AE854 8181 DC0 	coooo may etx, dword	ptr ds: [ecs+CDC]		EP 000AE887 wesnoth.009AE817
 OUSAESSF 8181 900 	A0000 may etx, dword	ptr ds: eca+A90]		EFLAGS 00000206
 012AE865 019AE868 21C1 	sub ecc., dword sub ecc., eax	ptr di:[ecs+A04]		OF O SFO DFO
 019AE860 019AE870 61C9 970 	IFF996 Sar etx,4 Imul etx,etx,1	16F 96F 97		CF 0 1F 0 1F 1
 OUSAES76 OUSAES78 71 1A 	ine wesnoth.9/	E194		LastError 00000002 (ERROR_FILE_NOT_F LastEtatus C0000034 (STATUS.083ECT_NA
 019AE87A 019AE880 81C4 14 	20000 1mu1 ddx,edx, add eip,14	270		65 0028 ES 0053
 0/9AE853 0/9AE884 56 	pop etx		ebx:&"side_	ES 0028 DS 0038
• 01945855 0100	add eax, edx			·
 009AE668 90 	nop		¥ 6	(stoal) * 3 - U U
				2: esp+i 017E16C8 &'side_1_turn_2"
				4: [esp+10] 01562ED0 wesnoth.01552ED0
.text:009AE887 wesnoth.exe:\$!AE887	#SADC 87			it [esp+14] olitisos
Dump 1 Dump 2 Dump 3	🖽 Durro 4 🗱 Durro 5 👹 V	Vatch 1 IX-ILocals 🎾 🕩	017(1210) 009840	CEB return to vesnoth.00984CE8 from a
Address iex	ASCE		01718218 C17EE	6C8 4-5106_2_TWO_2-
05148518 C0 85 10 01 81 00 00 00 00 05148528 88 48 68 04 18 04 18 05 88	61 74 69 00 00 00 00 Aup.		01708220 61552	ED) wesmth.01152ED0
03148338 50 43 10 74 00 00 00 00 00	0 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 16 5		01705224 01765	505

From this code, we can identify how to offset our second player's gold value. Like we have found previously, we will use [[0x017EED18] + 0xA90] to offset the game's base pointer. If we add 4, we will get the first player's gold address. To get the second player's gold address, we can instead add 0x270 + 4, or 0x274. We can verify this calculation using Cheat Engine:

🐔 Cheat Engine 7.1			_		×	×
File Edit Table DBD Help	000009A4-wesnoth.exe				5	
Found:0 Address Value Pr	First Scan Next Scan Value: Hex		Undo S	can	settings	
	Volue Turie & Potes Kalda address X Address: Volue State - 225	v		andomiz ble Spee	er dhack	1/6
	Description No description Lype 4 Bytes V	0000 tttt alable			<	IF Y IP
	✓ Pointer < 0x274 > 051AB2A8+274 = 051A85 < 0x740 > [07CE9020+A90] -> 051A 0x17Eb178 > 07CE9020 					
Active Description A	Add Offeet Remove Offeet	A	dd Addi	ress Mar	nally	
						Turr

In previous chapters, we have already written code to offset the first player's gold address. We can modify this code with the new value of 0x274 to retrieve the second player's gold address like so:

```
player_base = (DWORD*)0x017EED18;
game_base = (DWORD*)(*player_base + 0xA90);
gold = (DWORD*)(*game_base + 0x274);
```

4.1.5 Printing Value

In the previous chapter, we covered a method to print text. We determined that by creating a code cave, we could access the text for the *Terrain Description* method by referencing the value pointed at by **edx**. Once we accessed it, we could store bytes in this location to be displayed by the game.

Using the method from <u>Chapter 3.4</u>, we can implement this functionality in a DLL. Since we already discussed the method to redirect code, we will examine only the code cave function now. We will start with the skeleton:

```
DWORD ori_call_address = 0x5E9630;
DWORD ret_address = 0x5ED12E;
__declspec(naked) void codecave() {
   __asm {
     pushad
   }
   // new code
   _asm {
     popad
     call ori_call_address
     jmp ret_address
   }
}
```

We have seen this code before. The major difference is that the instruction we are replacing for the text printing is a **call**.

This code cave will be called each time the *Terrain Description* method is invoked. In it, we want to retrieve the second player's gold value. We can do this using the code we discussed in the previous section:

```
__asm {
   pushad
}
player_base = (DWORD*)0x017EED18;
game_base = (DWORD*)(*player_base + 0xA90);
gold = (DWORD*)(*game_base + 0x274);
```

We now have the second player's gold value stored in the **gold** variable. To display this value in the game, we need to convert it to a string of characters. To understand what we are trying to accomplish, here is the memory dump containing the text string we found in the previous chapter:

			·									• •		- v		-	
adda a a a	1.00															_	
1000090	6 20	0.0/	OA	4C	68	65	GE	20	61	20	72	60	7 G	65	72	20	Lhen a river
10CE997	8 6	6 61	. 70	70	65	6E	73	20	74	6F	20	62	65	20	65	78	happens to be ex
10CE998	8 7.	4 72	65	6D	65	6C	79	20	73	65	61	6C	6C	6F	77	00	tremely shallow.
LOCE999	8 20	0 70	61	73	73	69	6F	67	20	6E	75	65	72	20	69	74	passing over it
10015994	8 20	0.65	1/3	-20	61	20	74	17	69	76	64	61	60	2D	60	61	is a trivial ma
TOCEAAB	8 7	4 /4	65	12	20	66	61	12	20	6C	61	6E	64	20	62	61	tter for land ba
10CE99C	8 Z	3 65	64	20	75	6E	69	74	73	25	20	4D	6F	72	65	GF	sed units. Moreo
LOCE99D	8 7	6 65	72	20	20	61	GE	79	20	63	44	65	61	- 22	75	22	ver, any creatur
LOCESSE	8 G	5 20	62	- 65	73	74	20	61	64	61	70	74	05	64	20	4	e best adapted t
LOCESSF	8 6	20	73	11	69	60	60	69	05	67	20	25	61	<u>7</u>	20	50	o swimming has t
LOCESAO	0 73	60	60	20	OD	01	02	09	OC.	69	44	13	20	25	10	55	ull nobility eve
TUCE 9A1	<u>n bi</u>	- 21	61	74	20	1.5	15	6.5	65	20	70	hL.	h1	h.1	<u>bb</u>	7.5	n at such places
ommand:																	

Looking at this, we see that even though the game displays *Lhen*, the values stored in memory are **0x4C 68 65 6E**. This is due to the game using ASCII encoding to encode character values as certain numbers. The game then knows to decode these values and display the corresponding character in game.

Therefore, if our gold value to display is 225, we cannot simply write 225 into the game and expect the game to display it successfully. Instead, we need to convert it to 2 2 5, or 0x32 32 35. There are several ways to do this, the easiest being through the use of the sprintf_s API:

```
#include <stdio.h>
char gold_byte_array[4] = { 0 };
...
gold = (DWORD*)(*game_base + 0x274);
sprintf_s(gold_byte_array, 4, "%d", *gold);
```

This will convert the value pointed at by the **gold** variable into its string representation and store that value in **gold_byte_array**.

Finally, we will move this converted value into the memory that will be displayed. Since **sprintf_s** alters several registers, we will first restore them and save them again to ensure that the game does not crash:

__asm { popad pushad mov eax, dword ptr ds:[edx]

In the previous chapter, we simply incremented the first character pointed to by **eax**. To display our gold value, we will move the values stored in the **gold_byte_array**:

mov bl, gold_byte_array[0]
mov byte ptr ds:[eax], bl

First, we move the first byte of the **gold_byte_array** into **bl**. To understand why we are using **bl**, we need to understand the different sizes of data used by the CPU. A bit is the smallest unit of data, representing either 0 or 1. A byte is 8 bits. A word is 16 bits. A double word (or **DWORD**) is 32 bits. When looking at the memory dump in x64dbg, we are looking at byte values. 4 of these byte values combined together form a **DWORD**.

Currently, all the registers we have seen, like **ebx**, are **DWORD'**s. Early Intel CPU's, like the 8088, used 16-bit or **WORD** registers, like **bx**. To access each byte in the **bx** register, you would use **h** and **l**, such as **bh** and **bl**. On modern CPU's, even though we are using extended (or **DWORD**) forms of these registers, these same rules apply. Since we are moving individual bytes, we need to move them into a value that can hold a byte. We then move this value into the location pointed at by **eax**, which is also a byte long.

This code will move our first character into the text. We can repeat it several times to move additional characters. For this chapter, we will only display 3 characters' worth of data:

```
mov bl, gold_byte_array[1]
mov byte ptr ds:[eax + 1], bl
mov bl, gold_byte_array[2]
mov byte ptr ds:[eax + 2], bl
```

Finally, identically to <u>Chapter 3.4</u>, we will redirect the game's print text function to our code cave in **DIIMain**:

```
DWORD old_protect;
unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x5ED129;
```

```
if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
   VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 5, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
   *hook_location = 0xE9;
   *(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&codecave - ((DWORD)hook_location +
5);
}
```

Build and inject this the same exact way we did it in previous chapters. Finally, go inside a game and open up the *Terrain Description* on a tile. We should see the second player's gold value printed several times due to how we hooked the function:



The full code for this chapter is available in <u>Appendix A</u>.

4.2 Map Hack 4.2.1 Target

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

4.2.2 Identify

Our goal in this chapter is to create a map hack, a type of hack that displays the entire map to the player and removes elements like fog-of-war.

4.2.3 Understand

In strategy games like Wesnoth, tiles on the map can either be visible or hidden by fog-of-war:



We know that the game must store whether the tiles are visible or not somewhere in memory. These locations are most likely in one large block of memory. One way a game might choose to represent the map is through the use of an array. In this array, each element would represent one map tile's visibility status:

int map[map_size] = {0, 0, 1, 0, 0, 1, 1, 1, 0, ...}

The game could then iterate over each tile in the array to determine whether fog should be drawn over the tile.

We also know that the game must calculate the values for each tile every time the player moves a unit. If the player moves a unit in range of a tile, the game needs to set the tile's visibility to true. If the player moves a unit out of range of a tile, the game needs to set the tile's visibility to false. To make this calculation easier, games will often first set all tiles to an invisible state:

```
for(tile in map) {
    map[tile] = 0
}
```

Then the game can go through each unit that the player controls and set all the surrounding tiles to visible.

While every game will have its own way of handling map data, they all must follow a similar set of steps to calculate visible tiles. We can use the following approach to create a map hack for any strategy game:

- 1. Search for an unknown value.
- 2. Move a unit to reveal part of the map.
- 3. Filter for changed values.
- 4. Move a unit to hide the revealed part.
- 5. Filter for changed values.
- 6. Repeat this process until you have a reasonable amount of results (~50).
- 7. Look for patterns in the results and edit each one until you figure out which ones represent tile data.

Once you have found the tile data, a breakpoint can be set on one of the tiles. Then, a unit can be moved and the breakpoint will pop in the function responsible for writing values to the map data.

4.2.4 Locating Map Data

Locating the map data is the most time-consuming part of creating a map hack. First, create a local game in Wesnoth with a single player-controlled opponent. Since we do not know what values we are searching for, start a new scan for an *Unknown value* type.

After the scan completes, select a unit and move it to a new location to reveal additional tiles. Make sure you remember this location to use on all future requests.

After moving the unit, change the scan type to *Changed value* and filter the results. When the filtering has completed, move the unit back to the start location and end your turn to hide the terrain again. Quickly end the next player's turn and then scan again for *Changed value* when you regain control of the first player. Continue this process until you filter the results down to a manageable amount.

To quickly reduce the amount of results, you can also change the scan types to eliminate values that may change constantly but not in a manner related to the map tiles. For example, if you recruit a unit that does not reveal additional squares and then search for *Unchanged value*, many results will be filtered out. This approach can be used with different conditions (for example, pausing and resuming the game and searching for unchanged values) to quickly reduce the search size.

Eventually, you will get your set of results down to a reasonable level that will allow you to observe game behavior manually. In this chapter, we have managed to narrow down the result set to 10 possible addresses. Due to DMA, these addresses will be different each time we start a new game:

🖉 The Battle f	Chest Ergin	e7.1 (e D)D)	hely	00001E4	d-secoth a		-	• ×	D X
Menu Actio	Pound: 10		_		a septore			E	22
	Address 14115850 19087940 19087950 19087950 1907190 1907190 1907190 1907190 1907190	Value 40 34 43 14 20 20 20 18 18	Provide 40 34 43 143 16 20 20 18 18 18	Scan Tyge Value Tyge All Start Stop Wirtal Cooy Fast S Passio	Changed value 4 Bytes Comparetory 5 can Option ble 0xWikis can 4 2 the game wh		Unde 1	andonizer bie Spoedhuck	6/6 9/33 P/29 P
	Memow V	iev			0		Add Add	iress Manually	
	Active Pescripti No descri No descri No descri No descri No descri No descri No descri No descri No descri	on pion pion pion pion pion pion pion pi	44 94 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95 95	kdmis k19250 388D40 388D50 388D50 388D50 388E	Type 4 Bytes 4 Bytes 4 Bytes 4 Bytes 4 Bytes 4 Bytes 4 Bytes 4 Bytes	Value 4063232 1690K5984 4351,4848 2361,4848 2361,2848 1671,680 201293824 201293824 201293624 201293624		^	Furr
	No decri	ption	19	C 900	4 Bytes	184217232			Build 17763.md

Initially, these values do not appear correct, as the values seem almost random. To determine if we have the correct addresses, check the box next to each address in the *Active* column. Checking this box will disable modifications to the addresses' values. With the addresses inactivated, move your unit away from the tiles you have been testing on. You should notice that the tiles no longer display fog-of-war when moving away. This test confirms that we have found the correct addresses.

4.2.5 Locating Map Code

Now we need to determine how the game handles map tile data. When reversing an unknown game, we start by making educated guesses. In this case, we guessed that the game stored individual tiles with a simple visible/invisible scheme to determine visibility. We used this model to help track down the data we are interested in, but we now realize that this model is incomplete. Before we can continue, we have to update our model to reflect our findings.

Observing Cheat Engine, move a unit to reveal and hide tiles. You should notice that the values we found change consistently when doing this. When a tile is hidden, it appears to be several large values. However, when a tile is visible, it appears to always be set to 4294967295:

lattlefor Wesnoth - 1.14.9	1 n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n					
Actons 🍋 14 👶 104 🏦 0/12 🕅 2 🦑 1(Found: 10			Maria	and Mar	15
	Address 14415E50 1948FD40 1948FD60 1948FD60 1946FEF0 19461250 19461250 194618A0 194618A0 194618F0 194618F0	Value 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42 42	PT 40 36 43 43 16 20 20 10 18	New S Scan Type Value Type Mamo All itart itart itap Winita Copy Fast	Changed value 4 Bytes Compare to y Sean Option the converses Scan 4	tScan t t t t t t t t t t t t t
allera.	MemoryVie	w	1	Paus	e the game with	Last Digits ile scanning
the state of the s	Active Descriptio No descrip No descrip No descrip No descrip No descrip No descrip No descrip No descrip No descrip No descrip	n tion tion tion tion tion tion tion	Addr 14415 19067 19067 19067 19067 19061 19061 19061 19061	ess E50 0-40 050 050 EF0 E50 570 EA0 BF0	Type 4 Bytes 4 Dytes 4 Dytes 4 Dytes 4 Dytes 4 Dytes 4 Dytes 4 Dytes 4 Dytes	Value 4293918720 4294708152 4294967295 4294967295 4294967295 4294967295 4294403224 4294403224 4294403224

This is a distinct value, so let's try setting another address we identified to this value. When this is done, a whole column of tiles should appear visible:



By scrolling up the map, you can see that the whole column from the top of the map down is controlled by this one value:



With this information, we can now alter our model. Instead of an array of tiles, Wesnoth appears to use an array of tile columns. These columns are then set to a value between 0 and 4294967295, depending on the number of tiles in the column that are visible:

```
int map[column_size] = {0, 0, 4294967295, ...}
```

The value of 4294967295 converted into hexadecimal is **0xFFFFFFF**.

Now we can begin tracking down the code responsible for setting these values. Attach x64dbg and set a breakpoint on write on one of the map column addresses. Move your unit to reveal that tile, and the breakpoint should pop:



Looking at the registers, we can identify that **esi** holds our map column data. Scrolling up, we immediately see the code responsible for setting this column's value:

	Je neonoenroebroe
mov eax,ebp	mov eax,ebp
shl eax, cl	shl eax,cl
not eax	not eax
and dword ptr ds:[esi],eax	and dword ptr ds:[esi],eax
cmp_ecx,1F	cmp_ecx,1F

If we examine this code, we can see that a value is loaded into the register **eax**, modified, and then used to set our column's value.

4.2.6 Changing Map Code

Since we always want the column to appear visible, we can modify this code to set the column's value to 0xFFFFFFF. We will do this through the use of an **or** operation. An **or** operation takes two sets of bits and creates a new set in which the value of each bit is 0 if both source sets are 0, and 1 if either source set is 1. Since 0xFFFFFFFF translates to all 1's, **or**'ing a value with this value will always produce 0xFFFFFFFF. We will conduct this operation on our tile column and **nop** out the other instructions:

 006CD519 006CD51A 006CD51B	90 90 90	nop
006CD51C	830E FF	or dword ptr ds:[esi], [[[]]
 006CD520 006CD521	90 83F9 1F	nop cmp_ecx,1F

We could also use a **mov** instruction here to accomplish the same goal. However, one drawback to the **mov** operation is its size, or the amount of opcodes we would require. We simply do not have enough room and would require a code cave. To avoid this extra complexity, we use the **or** instruction instead since it is shorter.

With this modification made, go back into Wesnoth and observe that the entire map is now visible:

🕱 The Battle for Weynoth - 1.14.9



We can use a similar approach covered in <u>Chapter 3.4</u> to create a DLL to accomplish this behavior. First, note down and copy the opcodes generated by x64dbg when making our alteration. We will place these values into an array so we can iterate over them:

unsigned char new_bytes[8] = { 0x90, 0x90, 0x90, 0x83, 0x0E, 0xFF, 0x90, 0x90 };

Next, just like we did in other chapters, we will unprotect the memory at the hooking location. Then, we will iterate through each opcode in our **new_bytes** variable and write it into the game's memory:

```
unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x6CD519;
```

```
if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
```

```
VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 8, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
  for (int i = 0; i < sizeof(new_bytes); i++) {
    *(hook_location + i) = new_bytes[i];
  }
}
```

This DLL can then be injected like we did in all the previous chapters. When injected, our map hack will reveal the tiles for every map in the game.

The full code for this chapter is available in <u>Appendix A</u>.

4.3 Macro Bot 4.3.1 Target

In this chapter, we will switch our target to the game <u>Wyrmsun</u>, version 5.0.1. This is because Wesnoth, our target so far, does not support gameplay mechanisms (such as real-time control of building units) that would allow us to write a macro bot. Wyrmsun is free and similar to other traditional RTS games, such as StarCraft, WarCraft, or Command & Conquer.

4.3.2 Identify

A macro bot is a type of hack that will monitor our resources and automatically build worker units. In this chapter, we will create a macro bot that will automatically build a worker out of the currently selected structure when our money is over 3000.

4.3.3 Understand

To write a macro bot, we need to understand how RTS games handle unit creation. Typically, RTS games have a list of units associated with each player. When creating a unit, the game performs several operations and then adds the new unit to that list. The code may look something like:

```
recruit_unit(unit_type) {
    memory = initialize_memory(sizeof(unit))
    unit = create_unit(unit_type, memory)
    player->decrease_money()
    player->add_unit(unit)
    player->increase_population_counter()
}
```

To create units, we need to find this function and call it ourselves. To locate this function, we can use two different approaches, depending on how the game handles unit creation.

- If we create a unit and the game instantly decreases our money, we will locate our money and then set a breakpoint on write on our money value.
- If we create a unit and the game instantly increases our population, we will locate our population and then set a breakpoint on write on our current population.

When these breakpoints trigger, we will be inside of the hypothetical **decrease_money** or **increase_population_counter** functions in our example code above. We will therefore need to go up several functions. We will do this by executing the function until it returns and then stepping out.

Wyrmsun (our target in this chapter) loads code dynamically. As a result, the addresses you see in this chapter will be different when following along. However, the instructions and methods described will not change. We will discuss how to deal with this behavior when we create our DLL.

4.3.4 Locating the Create Unit Function

In Wyrmsun, money is decreased instantly when recruiting a unit, so we will use the first approach mentioned in the previous section. To find our money address for this new target, we can use the method discussed in <u>Chapter 1.5</u>.

Next, attach x64dbg to the game. Make sure that no operations are taking place that will alter your money, and set a hardware breakpoint on write on the money address. Recruit a worker and the breakpoint should instantly pop. Using execute until return/ step over, go up several levels of code until you see the following string:

		and the second sec	The second se	
	0116i06A	887D FO	mov edi, dword ptr ss: [ebp-10]	
	0116:060	6867 A4060900	mov eax, dword ptr ds: [edi+EAk]	
	01161073	BOBB D4000000 00	cmp byte ptr ds:[eax+04].0	
	0116007A	¥ 74 68	1e wyrmsun, 11650E7	
	01166070	8850 08	mov ebx.dword ptr ss:[ebp+#]	
-	01100077	37		sdi:e==o=
	01160080	880096	nov ecx, dword ptr ds: [es1+ebs+4]	
	0116-083	E8 SSECDOFF	call wyrnsun, F43CDD	
	01160088	8400	test al.al	
	0116008A	+ 75 5B	ine wyrmsun, 11650E7	
	01166080	EB 20FFDDFF	call wyrnsun, F44F81	
	01164091	68 1C844801	push wyrnsun, 148841C	148841C1"The unit requires railroads to be placed on"
	01160096	BBFO	mov esi,eax	
	01164098	E8 110CDEFF	call wyrnsun, F4SCAE	
	01166090	6800 SC815101	mov ecx, dword ptr ds: [1558150]	0155B15C: "x057 057 057"
	011640A3	50	push eax	
	011660A4	65 <u>14484A0</u>	push wyrnsun, 14A4834	
	011640A9	881499	how eak, over a ptr est[ecx+eet*4]	
	011660AC	686A DC000000	mov ecx, dword ptr di: [edx+0C]	
	01164082	8D82 CC000900	lea eax, dword ptr ds:[edx+CC]	
	01160085	FF31	push dword ptr ds:[ecx]	
	0116108A	50	push eax	
	0116-088	6A 01	push 1	
	01161080	56	push est	
	0116:085	E6 FAF200F1	call wyrnsun, F44300	

From this string, we can see that we are in the right place, as this logic is clearly related to recruiting and placing units.

From here, navigate up one more level to the parent calling function:

_	011024021	CO TOOMDELL		
	0116346A	58	pop ebx	
	01163468	5F	pop ed1	
	0116346C	5E	pop esi	
	01163460	SD	pop ebp	
	0116346E	C2 0400	ret 4	
$\rightarrow \bullet$	01163471	51	push ecx	
	01163472	88C E	mov ecx,esi	
	01163474	E8 7EF8DDFF	call wyrmsun.F42CF7	
	01163479	5B	pop_ebx	
	0116347A	SF	pop edi	
	01163478	SC	pop est	
	0116347C	5D	pop ebp	
	01163470	C2 0400	ret 4	
0	01163480	51	push ecx	
	01163481	88C E	mov_ecx,es1	
	01163483	E8 33040EFF	call wyrmsun. F508BB	
	01163488	58	pop cbx	
	01163489	5 F	pop ed1	
	0116348A	SE	pop esi	
	01163488	5D	pop cbp	
	0116348C	C2 0400	ret 4	
	0116348F	51	push ecx	
	01163490	88C E	mov_ecx,esi	
	01163492	E8 795CDEFF	call wyrmsun.F49110	
	01163497	58	pop ebx	
	01163498	5F	pop edi	
	01163499	SE	pop es1	
	0116349A	SD	pop ebp	
	01163498	C2 0400	ret 4	
	0116349E	57	push edi	
	0116349F	5BC E	mov ecx.esi	

If we examine this code, we can see it is a series of very similar calls that take a single parameter. If we set a breakpoint on the **call** to 0xF42CF7, we can see that it is called only when a unit is recruited. Next, place a breakpoint on the **call** above the **call** to 0xF42CF7. With that set, do various actions in the game, such as moving units, attacking, and building. When conducting a build action, your breakpoint at the **call** above the unit recruitment function should pop:

	0116345D	56	pop esi
	0116345E	50	pcp ebp
•	0116345F	C2 0400 🗖	ret 4
$\rightarrow \bullet$	01163462	51	push ecx
•	01163463	8BCE	mov ecx.esi
•	01163465	E8 10B4DEFF	call wyrmsun F4B87A
•	0116346A	58	pop ebx
	01163468	5F -	pop edi
•	011G34GC	50	pop esi
	0116346D	50	pcp ebp
	0116346E	C2 0400	ret 4
٠	01163471	51	push ecx
•	01163472	8BCE	mov ecx.esi
•	01163474	E8 7EF8DDFF	call wyrmsun.F42CF7
•	01163479	58	pop ebx
	0116347A	5 F	pop ed1
•	0116347B	5E	pop esi
•	0116347C	50	pop ebp
٠	0116347D	C2 0400	ret 4
۲	01163480	51	push ecx
-	01162491	2005	mov ecv esi

Given this behavior, we can guess that all these calls are related to functions in the unit card (the bottom-right of the screen). We can imagine the code may look something like:

```
switch(menu_event) {
    case BUILD:
        build_structure(event_data);
        break;
    case RECRUIT:
        recruit_unit(event_data);
        break;
    case MOVE:
        move_unit(event_data);
        break;
}
```

Therefore, we can assume the **call** to 0xF42CF7 (in our example) is responsible for recruiting units. We can verify this by **nop**'ing out the following instructions:

push ecx mov ecx, esi call 0xF42CF7

When **nop**'d out, clicking the recruit button on a structure no longer creates a unit.

4.3.5 Reversing Event Data Structure

Now that we have located the unit creation function, we need to reverse the data provided to it so that we can call it ourselves. We can see that there are two pieces of data potentially being passed to the function:

- A value in **ecx**, which is pushed on the stack
- A value in **esi**, which is moved into **ecx**

Let's determine if both of these are necessary. First, replace the **push ecx** instruction with another register, such as **push eax**. If you try to recruit a unit in the game, you will notice the game will instantly crash, indicating that the push is important. Next, restart the game and **nop** out the **mov ecx**, **esi** instruction. You will notice that the game responds normally, indicating that this operation is not used by the unit creation event. As a result, we only need to reverse the value of **ecx** when pushed.

Set a breakpoint on the **push ecx** and recruit a worker. When the breakpoint pops, right-click on the value of **ecx** and choose *Follow in dump*:

,	Dump	1	Į		Dump	o 2		,	Dun	np 3		,	Du	mp 4	ŧ	Ĵ.		ump 5	6	Watch	1	[x -]
Addr	ess	,Heu	<u>د</u>															ASCII				
0727	74EA0	F0	10	87	10	<u>C0</u>	2A	87	10	<u>C8</u>	21	B 7	10	70	32	87	10	0 A*	•.EI	•.p2•.		
0722	74EB0	10	23	87	10	68	12	87	10	BO	13	87	10	E.8.	26	87	10	.#•.h.	·. °.	· . e&· .		
0727	74EC0	78	29	87	10	50	20	87	1.0	98	2E	87	10	70	58	87	10	X) • . P-	· · · ·	· . p[· .		
0727	74ED0	50	30	87	10	40	3F	87	1.0	38	18	87	10	F0	46	87	10	< . @?	• . BH	1ðF		
0727	74EE0	10	85	-91	80	80	DD	-A5	11	E8	C3	A5.	-11	00	40	5 F.	40	•µ•••¥	¥.bA	¥@_8		
0727	74EF0	2A	83	48	80	DD	00	02	8C	20	00	85	3F	02	02	AS	11	* . KV:Y .		.?¥.		
0727	74F00	08	97	E3	11	38	88	DE	<u>0C</u>	00	00	00	00	18	8D	DE	<u>0C</u>	ä.8.	Þ.,	Þ.		

This data does not appear to contain all of the information we would expect. The similar values of the data (the first three entries repeat 0xb710 at their end) indicate that this may be a pointer in a table of pointers. To validate this assumption, select the 4 bytes (0xf01db710) and choose *Follow in dump*. Your dump view should change to 0x10b71df0, like so:

Address	не	c															ASCII
10871DE0	90	AF	48	01	68	0A	E9	10	00	10	CD	01	25	00	00	00	
10871E00	00	00	00	00	40	E6	5A	03	00	00	00	00	OF	00	00	00	@ # 7
10871E10	38	E4	DG	0Č	00	00	00	00	00	00	29	00	00	00	00	co.	.äÖ)
10B71E20	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	74	00	65	00	t.e.
10871E30	01	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	73	00	m	00	00	00	
10B71E40	41	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	77	6F	72	68	65	72	00	00	Aworker.
10871E50	72	00	6D	00	73	00	75	00	06	00	00	00	OF	00	00	00	r.m.s.u
10B71E60	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	
10B71E70	2C	2C	00	00	2F	00	6E	00	65	00	75	00	74	00	72	00	,,/.n.e.u.t.r.
10871E80	02	00	00	00	UF	00	00	00	30	DF	F4	04	30	DF	F4	04	
10B71E90	<u>3C</u>	DF	F4	04	00	00	73	00	2F	00	6D	00	65	00	72	00	<bôs. .m.e.r.<="" td=""></bôs.>
10B71EA0	G3	00	65	00	00	00	00	00	0	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	C. C
10B71EB0	00	00	00	00	00	00	2E	00	70	00	6E	00	67	00	2E	00	p.n.g
10871EC0	67	00	7A	00	00	00	00	00	OF	an	00	00	00	FF	FF	00	g.zŷŷ.
10871ED0	EF.	FF	FF	00	EF.	FF	FF	00	FF	FF	FF	00	00	00	00	00	YYY•YYY•YYY•••••
10B71CE0	OF	00	00	00	00	FF	FF	00	EE.	FF	FF	00	EE.	FF	FF	00	
10B71EF0	EF.	FF	FF	00	00	00	00	00	OF	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	yyy
10B71F00	70	БF	70	75	70	SF	75	GE	69	74	00	00	EE.	FF	FF	00	popup_unityyy.
10B71F10	0A	00	00	00	OF	00	00	00	00	00	67	00	ZE	00	67	00	
10B71F20	7A	00	00	00	26	80	3E	EA	00	00	00	00	OF	00	00	00	Z&.>C
10871F30	12	89	46	<u>A2</u>	00	44	00	88	<u>9C</u>	AE	48	01	80	20	85	08	F4.JºK,
10B71F40	08	35	85	03	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	
10871F50	24	00	00	00	ZF.	00	00	00	E8	60	116	<u>uc</u>	11	00	00	00	3/em0
10671F60	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	
10871F70	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	05	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	
10871F80	00	00	00	00	UE.	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	

Immediately the text *worker* should jump out at you. It appears that this structure contains data on the unit to be created. Back in game, create another structure to create units (such as a War Hall, or barracks-type building) and create an infantry unit. When the breakpoint pops, examine the section of memory at 0x10b71df0 again:

Addi Caa	III CA															ABCIT
10B71DF0	9C AE	48	01	68	0.4	F9	10	00	10	0D	01	25	00	00	00	. ^ө К.h.ùж
10B71E00	00 00	00	00	40	E6	5A	03	00	00	00	00	OF	00	00	00	@az
10B71E10	98 E4	06	OC.	00	00	00	00	00	00	29	00	00	00	00	00	.aö)
10B71E20	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	74	00	65	00	t.e.
10B71E30	01 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	73	00	OD	00	00	00	
10B71E40	2C 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	69	6E	66	61	6E	74	72	79	,infantry
10B71E50	00 00	6D	00	73	00	75	00	08	00	UÜ	00	UF	00	00	00	
10B71E60	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	
10B71E70	20 70	<u>C2</u>	3E	2F	00	6E	00	65	00	75	00	<u>74</u>	00	72	00	}Å7/.n.e.u.t.r.
10871E80	02 00	00	00	1F	00	00	00	50	GG	53	30	54	GG	50	08	Pfs.Tfs.
10B71E90	68 66	53	08	00	00	73	00	2F	00	6D	00	65	00	72	00	hfss./.m.e.r.
10B71EA0	63 00	65	00	00	00	00	00	0F	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	c.e
10B71EB0	00 00	00	00	00	21	4D	6F	76	65	00	00	67	00	2 E	00	!Moveg
10B71EC0	57 00	7A	00	00	00	00	00	0F	00	00	00	00	FF	FF	00	g.zÿÿ.
10B71ED0	FF FF	FF	00	FF	FF	FF	00	FF	FF	FF	00	00	00	00	00	ŷŷŷ,ŷŷŷ,ŷŷŷ
10B71EE0	DF 00	00	00	00	FF.	EF.	00	EF.	EF.	FF	00	EF.	FF.	FF	00	···· ŷŷ, ŷŷŷ, ŷŷŷ,
10B71EF0	FF FF	FF	00	00	00	00	00	0F	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	ŶŶŶ
10B71F00	70 GF	70	75	70	5 F	75	GE	69	74	00	6E	64	73	00	00	popup_unit.nds
10B71F10	DA 00	00	00	OF	00	00	00	00	00	67	00	2E	00	67	00	qq.
10871F20	7A 00	00	00	26	80	3E	EA	00	00	00	00	OF	00	00	00	z&.>ê
10B71F30	12 89	46	A2	00	4A	00	88	9C	AE	4B	01	80	2C	85	05	F¢.] ⁰ K
10B71F40	08 35	85	08	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	.5
10B71F50	24 00	00	00	2F	00	00	00	E8	GD	DG	0C	01	00	00	00	\$/emö
10871F60	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	
10B71F70	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	05	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	
			-							_			_			

We can see two main pieces of data changed between a worker and an infantry unit being recruited: the text (*worker* vs *infantry*) and the number beforehand (0x41 vs 0x2c). We can assume that this number may be the internal representation of the type of unit.

Let's verify that this works, as we are still guessing. First, set a breakpoint on the **push ecx** instruction and create an infantry unit. Next, when the breakpoint pops, change 0x2C to 0x41 and *infantry* to *worker*. If you then resume the execution and go back in game, you can see that despite clicking infantry, we are now creating a worker out of the barracks structure.

There is also other data in this structure that changes but is not directly tied to the unit being created. While we could reverse the entire structure, we will instead copy the structure when a worker is created and use those values for our hack.

4.3.6 Locating the Main Game Loop

Now that we have located the function responsible for recruiting units and understand how to call it, we need to locate a place to call it from. For this chapter, we will choose to hook the main game loop. Finding the main game loop is easy in our case. First, place a breakpoint on the **call** to recruit a unit and create a unit in game so that the breakpoint will pop. Next, continue to step out of each function. Eventually, you will reach the following **call**:



If you attempt to execute until return here, you will notice the game will begin and continue to execute. This is due to the fact that we are in a loop and no **ret** instruction is being encountered. We can verify this behavior by setting a breakpoint on this **call**. You will notice the breakpoint pops continuously. Both of these factors indicate that this code is part of the main game loop.

4.3.7 Locating the Player's Money

Finally, we want to monitor our player's money for our hack. Wyrmsun, like other games, allocates a player's money dynamically, meaning it will be different for each game. In previous chapters, we have discussed methods to defeat DMA. For this chapter, we will use Cheat Engine's pointer scan feature instead of reversing the target.

Cheat Engine's pointer scan works similar to regular memory scanning. First, we need to locate our money address as usual. Then, right-click on the address and choose *Pointer scan*:

	Value	Type 4 Bytes	Q	Set/Change dropdown selection optio	ns
		Compare t		Toggle Selected Records	Spac
	M	lemory Scan Option		Generate pointermap	
	A	di .	Q	Pointer scan for this address	
	St	art	e,	Find out what accesses this address	F
	St	op	2	Find out what writes to this address	F
		Writable		Recalculate new addresses	
		CopyOnWrite		Force recheck symbols	
		Fast Scan 4	×	Cut	Ctrl+
	× -	Pause the game wi	È	Сору	Ctrl+
Memory View		0	Ē:	Paste	Ctrl+
memory new			+	Add to new group	
Active Description	Address	Туре	+	Create Header	
No description	11CFED6C	4 Bytes		182-1	
No description	403AE7DC	4 Eytes	6	000	

In the dialog that appears, keep all the default options and choose *OK*. When prompted, select a file anywhere:

🐔 Pointerscanner scanoptions		-	-		\times
Scan for address) Generate pointern	ыр			
11CFED6C					~
Compare results with other saved pointermap(s)					
Show advanced options					
Max different offsets per node: 3	Allow scanner	s to connect at i	untime	2	
Base address must be in specific range	Port: 52737	Pass	word		
Pointers must end with specific offsets	Connect to po	pinterscan node			
Nr of threads scanning: 2	Normal	\sim			
Maximum offset value: 4095	Max level 7				
OK	Cancel				

Cheat Engine will now search the target for all pointers that point to the selected address in some way. When it is finished, you will get thousands of results back:

4 Bytes 🗸 🗸		Pointer p	aths:54916975			
Base Address	Offset 0	Offset 1	Offset 2	Offset 3	Offset 4	Offset 5 ^
"wyrmsun.exe"+00001DEC	10C					
"Qt5Widgets.dll"+000CB	134					
"Qt5Quick.dll"+000D0B2C	18C					
"Qt5Quick.dll"+000136BC	1F0					
"Qt5Widgets.dll"+001528	200					
"Qt5Gui.dll"+0028483C	20C					
"Qt5Widgets.dll"+0016D	5F8	48	0	0	0	8
"Ot5Widgets.dll"+0033A	980	0	20	0	0	8
"Qt5Location.dll"+00060	2E0	30	20	0	0	8
"Qt5Gui.dll"+00012464	2FB	30	20	a	D	8
"Qt5Widgets.dll"+0033A	770	60	20	0	0	8
"Qt5Widgets.dll"+0033A	980	18	20	a	D	8
"Qt5Location.dll"+00060	2E0	48	20	0	0	8
"Qt5Gui.dll"+00012464	2F8	48	20	0	0	8
"Ot5Widgets.dll"+0033A	770	78	20	0	0	8
"Qt5Quick.dll"+001FBDE4	34	218	28	0	0	8
"Ot5OmI.dll"+000AEE54	34	218	28	0	0	8
"Qt5Gui.dll"+00333664	34	218	28	0	0	8
"Qt5Location.dll"+00042	34	218	28	a	D	8
"Qt5Widgets.dll"+000FF1	34	218	28	0	0	8
"Qt5Network.dll"+00028	104	218	28	a	D	8
					-	

File Distributed pointer scan Pointer scanner

Like regular scanning, we now need to filter these addresses down. Restart your match so that your goal is moved to a new address. Next, find your money address again. Then, in the pointer scan window, choose *Rescan Memory*:

can : moo.PTR					-	_	Ц	X
ited pointer sci	an 🛛	Poin	ter scanner					
~		Q	Scan for po	nter				C
	Of		Rescan mer	nory - Removes pointers not pointing	g to the	right ac	idress	C
e"+00001DEC	10Č							
dll"+000CB	134							
I"+000D0B2C	1BC							

In the dialog that appears, enter your new address and hit OK:



Like regular filtering, Cheat Engine will now rescan all the previously identified pointers and see if they are still correctly pointing at your new address. Repeat this operation several times, and eventually you will find a few pointers that always correctly point to the player's money value. For this chapter, we will use:

+0x14 [+0] [+0x4] [+0x8] [+0x4] [+0x78] wyrmsun.exe + 0x0061A504 We will discuss how to use these values in our code, so feel free to substitute in whatever value you find.

4.3.8 Dealing with Dynamic Code

At the beginning of this chapter, we discussed how code was dynamically loaded and, as a result, addresses would not be consistent. You can verify this behavior by starting Wyrmsun, noting an address, restarting your VM, and opening Wyrmsun again. You will notice that the address no longer contains the same code.

Just like DMA, we know that the game must have some way to locate its code. When dealing with dynamic code, generally games will offset all addresses from the game's module base address. We can observe this behavior by looking at the creating unit **call**. While the first byte will change, the **call** always ends in 0x2CF7 (e.g., 0xF42CF7 or 0x292CF7).

We can determine the base address of the main module by going into the *Symbols* tab in x64dbg:

	= -> = I (+ -> + I	-4 🔟 🖉	
🖾 cru	🍃 Log 📫 Notes 🔺 Breakpoints	🚥 Memory Hap	💣 Call Stack 🖓 SEH 🔟 Script 🛃 Symbolis 🗢
sase	Vodule 🔺	Address Type	Ordinal Symbol
0000000	certbare.dll	ODF4125F Export	0 OptionalHeader.AddressOfEntryPoint
0F40000	Myrmsun, eae	018C6AE8 Import	gt5widgets.7710App1ication@UNE@XZ
509-0000	11bvorb1s-0.d11	GIBCENHC INDOLC	dtswiddets, yexecs0ApplicationevsAHX2
B3C0000	11bvorbisfile-J.811	01906000 100070	gtswidgets, yyogapp11cat1onwagatwaannahabnaz
0000300	devobj.dll	018C6998 Tmport	g15multimedia.7sampleTypeRQAudioFormatioNQBE?A
0000210000	nndevap1.dll	01808990 inport	gts multimedia, vsanplesiz econudioronnatecosenx
00003183	dsound.dll	01806940 Import	gts multimedia. 7700Audior ornatww0ALWKZ
00000503	vnRdgThelper.dT1	018C68A4 Tripor E	g15multimedia.7preferredFormat@GAudioDeviceTn
00008203	vm3dg1.d11	018069A8 Import	gtsmultimedia.?defaultoutputDeviceSQAudioDevi
00003833	d3d9.d11	018069AC Import	gts multimedia. 7700AudioDeviceEnfo990AE802
6EA60000	qtSquicktenplates2.dll	010C6000 Topor E	gl5mullimedia.7byLeOrder@QAudioFormal@8QDE?Au
6EB5 0000	qtquickcentrols2plugin.dll	018C6984 Import	gt5 multimedia, ?sampleRate@QAudioFormat@QBEHX
GE BD 0000	civfindoes.cl11	01806988 Import	gts multimedia. ?channelCountikQAudioFormatikQBL
000000130	qtSquidc.dll	015C6365 Tepor L	gt5location,7inportGeolson@Geolson@GA7AV7\$Q
6F080000	gtSnetwork.d)]	018C69EC Inport	gt5positioning.7setWidth@QGeoPath@@QAEXABN02
GF1A0000	dbghc1p.d11	018C69F0 Import	gtSpositioning. 7710GeoPath@00AE0X2
00002573	opengl3z.dll	015C53F4 Teport	gtspositioning.7700ScoretherQADAGAGV000Z
6600EP-38	qtScore.dl)	GIRCERFR Import	gtspositioning.770QGeoPath@@QAE@XZ
GF 93 0000	qtSqml.dll	018C69FC Import	gtSpositioning. 2200SeeRectangle000AE9ABV0GeoC
GFE 40000	តុំនេត្តហំ.តា]	015C5A00 Topor L	gtspositioning.7730SeoShapeM0AE00Z
70780000	qtSquickcontrols7.dll	GIRCEAG4 Import	gt5 positioning. ?widtheQGebPath99QRENXZ
10350000	offenInodals dll	DIRCEMPE INPART	dati post at ordină. Spat bendenzat beand stanici tere

We can see here that our base address is 0x00F40000. As such, we know that the create unit function will exist at the base address + 0x2CF7. Likewise, we saw that in this chapter, the **call** to create unit was at 0x01163471. If we subtract this address from the base address, we get an offset of 0x223471. We can use these offsets when creating our DLL to automatically calculate the addresses of functions we care about.

4.3.9 Creating our DLL

Like in previous chapters, we will create a DLL to inject into our target. First, we will start with our base:

```
#include <Windows.h>
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
    DWORD old_protect;
    if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
        //hooking code here
    }
    return true;
}
```

Our DLL will have two code caves. First, we will create a code cave at the code responsible for creating a unit. In this code cave, we will retrieve the value of **ecx** and copy the structure it points to into our DLL's memory. Our second code cave will hook the main game loop. In this code cave, we will check the current player's money value and then call the create unit function.

4.3.10 Create Unit Code Cave

When we reversed the create unit function, we identified the structure that was pushed as an argument to the function. While we identified several components of this structure, we did not fully reverse it. Since this structure does not change when creating worker units, we will use a code cave to copy a valid form of the structure. We will then use this copied form in our main game loop code cave.

First, we will hook the address for creating a unit and direct it to our code cave, as we have done in previous chapters. Since the code's addresses change, we will determine the address based on the base address of the module. We will also use this base address to calculate the recruit unit call location:

HANDLE wyrmsun_base;

```
DWORD recruit_unit_ret_address;
DWORD recruit_unit_call_address;
. . .
wyrmsun_base = GetModuleHandle(L"wyrmsun.exe");
unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)((DWORD)wyrmsun_base +
0x223471);
recruit_unit_ret_address = (DWORD)hook_location + 8;
recruit_unit_call_address = (DWORD)wyrmsun_base + 0x2CF7;
VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 8, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
*hook_location = 0xE9;
*(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&recruit_unit_codecave -
((DWORD)hook_location + 5);
*(hook_location + 5) = 0x90;
*(hook_location + 6) = 0 \times 90;
*(hook_location + 7) = 0x90;
```

In our recruit unit code cave, we will first retrieve the value of **ecx** and place it in a variable:

```
DWORD* base;
__declspec(naked) void recruit_unit_codecave() {
    __asm {
        pushad
        mov base, ecx
    }
```

With this pointer now stored in the **base** variable, we can dereference this pointer to retrieve the location of the structure. With the pointer dereference, we can then copy the entire structure into another variable to use in our other code cave. We can retrieve the size by observing the size of the structure in x64dbg. Additionally, we will create an **init** variable to track whether this has occurred yet:

```
DWORD* unitbase;
unsigned char unitdata[0x110];
bool init = false;
```

```
...
unitbase = (DWORD*)(*base);
memcpy(unitdata, unitbase, 0x110);
init = true;
```

Finally, we will restore our registers and the original instructions:

_asm {	
	popad
	push ecx
	<pre>mov ecx, esi call recruit_unit_call_address</pre>
	jmp recruit_unit_ret_address
}	
}	

4.3.11 Game Loop Code Cave

With our data copied into a buffer, we can now create our game loop code cave. Like before, we will begin by hooking the address that we identified earlier:

```
DWORD gameloop_ret_address;
DWORD gameloop_call_address;
hook_location = (unsigned char*)((DWORD)wyrmsun_base + 0x385D34);
gameloop_ret_address = (DWORD)hook_location + 5;
gameloop_call_address = (DWORD)wyrmsun_base + 0xDBCA;
VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 5, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
*hook_location = 0xE9;
*(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&gameloop_codecave -
((DWORD)hook_location + 5);
```

In our game loop code cave, we will first check the value of our player's money. We will use the pointer and offset that we received from Cheat Engine to do this:

```
DWORD *gold_base, *gold;
```

```
...
__declspec(naked) void gameloop_codecave() {
    __asm {
        pushad
    }
    gold_base = (DWORD*)((DWORD)wyrmsun_base + 0x0061A504);
    gold = (DWORD*)(*gold_base + 0x78);
    gold = (DWORD*)(*gold + 4);
    gold = (DWORD*)(*gold + 0x14);
```

Next, we will check to see if our unit buffer has been initialized and if the player's money is over 3000. If so, we copy our buffer for the worker into the buffer pointed to by the game, and move the base into **ecx** before calling the recruit unit function:

```
if (init && *gold > 3000) {
    memcpy(unitbase, unitdata, 0x110);
    __asm {
        mov ecx, base
        push ecx
        call recruit_unit_call_address
    }
}
```

Once again, we need to restore the original instructions:

__asm {
 popad
 call gameloop_call_address
 jmp gameloop_ret_address
 }
}

Finally, we can build this DLL and inject it into our game. In game, recruit a unit to copy our buffer and then start collecting money. You should notice that workers begin to get recruited instantly.

The full source code for this chapter is available in <u>Appendix A</u>.

Part 5 FPS Hacks

5.1 3D Fundamentals 5.1.1 Overview

In the previous chapters, we focused on hacking two-dimensional (2D) games. While many of the techniques we have covered can be applied to any game, there are unique techniques that only apply to three-dimensional (3D) games. To make hacks like wallhacks or aimbots for 3D games, we need to understand how 3D games actually work.

5.1.2 Coordinates

When we say a game is 2D, we are referring to the fact that all objects in the game can be located by a coordinate pair. These coordinate pairs contain two values: X (horizontal position) and Y (vertical position). Coordinate pairs are usually referenced with parentheses around them, like (X, Y).

Using the screenshot from Wesnoth as an example below, let's imagine we had a point (0, 0) in the bottom-left of the screen and a point (10, 10) in the top-right. The highlighted unit could be represented by the coordinate (7, 5) and the un-highlighted unit could be represented by the coordinate (3, 1).



The game uses these coordinates for many critical operations. For example, when a player attempts to move, the game will verify that the player's new coordinates will not be in water or impassable terrain. All 2D games use coordinates in this manner, whether the game has a top-down or side view.



5.1.3 **3D Space**

When playing Wesnoth, one thing you may notice is that two units can never share the same coordinates. This is because the game would not be able to properly display each unit to the player without having special logic to handle switching between the two images. However, in 3D games, two units can share the same horizontal and vertical coordinates.



As you can see, the other player and our current player are both in the middle of the screen and have the same (X, Y) values. However, in 3D games, coordinates are represented with three values: X, Y, and also Z (depth). In the example above, both players could be at (5, 5) in 2D space, but their 3D coordinates could be (0, 0, 0) and (0, 0, 5).

5.1.4 Cartesian Coordinates

One of the easiest ways to understand the relationships between coordinates is through the use of Cartesian coordinate systems. For example, we could graph our first Wesnoth example like so:



The strength of visualizing the coordinates like this is that we can then use normal geometric operations. Let's say we wanted to get the distance between these two units. By creating a right triangle from the two units, we can use the Pythagorean theorem to calculate that triangle's hypotenuse. Due to the way we created this triangle, this hypotenuse would represent the distance between these two units:



3D coordinates can also be graphed with the addition of another axis. Our 3D game example above might be graphed like:



Notice how, despite each player having identical X and Y coordinates, they exist in different places on the graph.

5.1.5 Viewports

Monitors display a 2D image on a flat screen. Therefore, it is impossible for monitors to render a 3D scene directly. Instead, the 3D world must be converted into a 2D scene, like taking a picture. Games will often have functions for this, typically called some variation of **WorldToScreen**. Sometimes, when programming hacks such as displaying text above a player's head, you will need to write this code yourself. In <u>Chapter 5.9</u>, we will discuss how to write this code for any game.
A key aspect of 3D-to-2D conversion is that games will choose a viewport, or a view into the game's world. This will often be the current player's view, but in games that support free cameras, this could be any position. For this viewport, the game will then calculate the depth for all objects in the scene. It will also draw objects that are farther away "behind" objects that are closer. For example, in the following viewport, the game first draws the building in the background. It then determines that the trees are in "front" of the building in the current viewport and draws them on top of the building. In this way, the game achieves the illusion of depth.



5.1.6 3D Movement

Operations in 3D space are expensive to compute. Because of this, games will often take several shortcuts to optimize their performance. One these shortcuts is always placing the player at the origin, or point (0, 0, 0). This way, all distances and angles for objects can be calculated by just retrieving that object's coordinates instead of having to subtract the object's position from the player's position. However, if the player is

stuck at (0, 0, 0), they will be unable to move. To achieve the illusion of movement, some games will instead rotate the entire world around the player. For example, if you press the key to move forward, the game will respond by moving the whole world toward you instead of moving your player forward. Not all games work like this, but several well-known ones use this model.

5.2 Wallhack (Memory) 5.2.1 Target

Since we are shifting to a new dimension, we have to shift to a new target. Several of the following chapters will be targeting <u>Urban Terror 4.3.4.</u> This game is an FPS based on the Quake engine.

Like Wesnoth, this game is open-source and has no integrated anti-cheat. It also runs well on low-spec hardware. Unlike Wesnoth, the Chocolatey package is broken. Due to this, the best way to install the game is to download and run the installer from the site.

You will need to enable 3D acceleration in VirtualBox for the game to function. Depending on your computer's hardware, it may not be possible for your machine to run a 3D game inside a VM. In this case, you have several options. Some are better than others:

- 1. Explore another hypervisor, like VMWare or Hyper-V.
- 2. Use another machine as a dedicated hacking computer and isolate it from your home network.
- 3. Find another target game with even fewer requirements and follow along with the concepts of the following chapters.
- 4. Partition your hard-drive and dual-boot. Even if you encrypt your personal drive, it is possible for malicious tools to access your personal data.
- 5. Run the target and tools on your personal machine and hope that nothing malicious happens.

5.2.2 Identify

Our goal in this chapter is to create a wallhack, a type of hack that allows us to see other players through walls. We will not modify any of the graphics functions of the game. Instead, we will use the game's rendering logic and modify sections of the game's memory.

5.2.3 Understand

In 3D games, depth testing is used to determine when an item should be visible in the player's viewport. For example, if a player is behind a wall, depth testing will tell the rendering logic of the game to not draw the player.

All wallhacks operate on the principle of disabling depth testing. One way to do this is by hooking the graphics library of the game and disabling depth testing through library functions. We will cover this approach in the next chapter. In this chapter, we will rely on the game's built-in rendering logic to achieve our goal.

Games have to draw many dynamic objects, including players, weapons, and map assets like doors. These objects are normally referred to as entities. To simplify development and increase performance, games will often use the same function for drawing all of these entities.

However, these entities often have different rendering considerations. A game may want to draw shadows on characters, but not on static entities like doors that can be opened. Games will often have structures for each entity and store these rendering considerations in the entity's structure. When the entity is rendered, the game will check this member and render the entity according to it.

For some entities, like puddles of water or glass, games will want to disable depth testing. Because of this, the render member in the entity class will have a disabled depth testing value. If we can locate the function responsible for drawing entities and then modify all entities to contain this disabled depth testing value, players will appear through walls.

5.2.4 Target Setup

All games that are based on the Quake engine have a console. This console can be accessed by hitting the tilde (~) key while in game. This console allows you to run commands, such as moving the player or changing a map. These commands typically start with a backslash (\) and can be auto-completed by hitting tab. Some helpful commands for our purposes are:

• \devmap abbey - start the map Abbey with cheats enabled

- \g_gametype 0 set the default game mode to deathmatch
- \bot_enable 1 enable bots to join a game
- *reload* restart the current map
- \addbot boa 1 add a bot

In addition to these commands, we can easily switch the game to a windowed mode by hitting *Alt+Enter*.

5.2.5 Locating Draw Entities

By exploring the commands available to us, we can find several drawing commands under $r_:$



The most important command to us is $r_drawentities$. By setting this value to 0, entities are not drawn in the game, including our player:



We can assume that the game's code looks something like:

```
if(r_drawentities == 1) {
    draw_entities();
}
```

To find this code, we will use Cheat Engine to find the address of the variable holding the **r_drawentities** value. We can switch the value of **r_drawentities** in the console from 0 to 1 to narrow this value down. Then, we can use a breakpoint on access in x64dbg to locate the code that accesses this value. The breakpoint should pop at the following code:

Log	g 📑 Notes	📍 Breakpoints 💷	F Memory Map 📑 Call Stack 🌱 SEH 🛛	🛚 Script 🛛 🛀 Symbols 💎
	0052F712	8815 SCA90201	nov edx,dword ptr ds:[102A99C]	edx:&"r_drawent:ties"
	0052F718	8509	test ecx.ecx	
	0052F71D -	74 05	je guake3-urt.52F724	
•	0052F71F	E8 ACD BFFFF	call quakes-urt.520200	
20	00521724	8835 /0830201	nov est, dword ptr ds: [10283/0]	
	00527728	5650 6C650201	los any deard are destanded with	
1.2	00527750	80040E	rub add aby	
	00521733	200F	now dword atta any formula add	
1.2	00521735	8004334	nov dword ptr sst[csp].com	
	00526236	ER REFCEEFE	call duakes-uet. \$25400	
	0052F741	8810 DC780201	nov ebx.dword ptr ds:[102280C]	
	0052F747	8853 20	nov edx, dword ptr ds: [ebx+20]	edx:&"r_drawentities"
	0052F74A	8502	test edk.edk	edx:&"r_drawentities"
	0052F74E **	74 2C	je guakes-unt.\$2F77A	
	00527748	E6 0007FEFF	call quakes-unt.510560	
	00527753	8500 78AA0201	nov ecx, dword ptr ds: [102AA78]	0102AA78:#"*white"
	00527759	800024	nov dword ptr ss:[esp],ecx	
-	0052E750	ES SEF4EDEE	call quake3-unt.SOEBCO	

We can see that the value of **r_drawentities** is loaded into **ecx** and then tested. Testing a register against itself compares that register's value to 0. If the value is equal to 0, the game jumps over the **call** at 0x52F717. This **call** is most likely responsible for drawing entities in the game. We can confirm this by **nop**'ing out this **call**. When it is **nop**'d, the game will not draw any entities.

5.2.6 Entities and Rendering

If we step inside the **call** at 0x52F717, we see the following code:

0°U	1	g 🚺 Notes	Drealpoints	😑 Memory Map	🥑 Cel Stack	°<u>1</u> SEH	Script	💁 Smbols	 Source 	References	۲
		00120204 00120206 00120206 00120206 00120206 00120206 00120206 00120206 00120206 00120206 00120206 00120206 00120206 00120206 00120206 00120206 00120207 0012007 00120007 00120000000000	8515 5483201 33C0 53C0 54C0 552 57 56 53 8512 20 8522 20 8552 20	mov edx, dec mov edx, dec mov edx, dec test edx, eda push edg push edg push edg push edx sub esp, 3C isa, bab, new ish ebx, dec mov edx, dex ish ebx, dec mov edx, dex ish ebx, dec mov edx, dex ish ebx, dec ish	rd ptr ds:[1024F52] vert.s.zu.z.m rd ptr ds:[1024F52] vert.s.zu.z.m rd ptr ds:[1024 rd ptr ds:[1024F62] rd ptr ds:[1024F62] rd ptr ds:[1024F62] vert.s.20130 rd ptr ds:[1024 vert.s.20130 vert.s.20130 vert.s.20130 vert.s.20135 vert.s.20135	1354) ,0 1,0 1,0 1,0 1,0 1,0 1,0 1,0	0102435	81° GA/1*		AX 00000 EX 0000 EX 0	00000 0000 2000
e=0000005	ds. [040	A CAEPS - SA\F		1 mov dword p	ntr ss:[esp+4];e	(U#K#3-U71.	102			espro espro esprint	0100 (44 3FE

We can see in the second highlighted block that values are loaded into several registers and compared to certain values. If these values are equal, the game jumps to different locations and executes different rendering code. If we look closely, we can see

that the registers are based on values of the address held in **ebx**. If we look up at the first highlighted block, we find the closest location in which **ebx** is set. We now know that at address **0x52D2FD**, **ebx** contains what is most likely the current entity to render. If we set a breakpoint at this address and observe **ebx**'s address in the dump, we see a chunk of data:

	44	44	ļ.		48																			
	ord ptr ds:[0102AE98 " BA\f"]-OCCODFA0 x=OCCODS20																							
te	cext:0052D2FD_quakeB-urt.exe:\$12D2FD_#12C6FD																							
	Dur	p 1		•	Dum	p 2		-	Dun	πp 3		14	Dur	np 4	ł	Ţ	Þ	ump 5	-	Watch	1.	- Locals	2	Struct
dd	ress	He	ĸ															ASCIT						
20	0052			00	41	83 EF	38	00	00	28	01	00	00	25	80		£4	11.61						
ŝĝ	0054	0	0	80	3F	00	00	00	50	00	00	80	BF	2E	80	38	83			%				
čč	0055				00	00	80	00	č4	00	00	88	43	EF	38	01	42		6A	.C18.B				
22	0057		2	00	80	00	88	80	88	00	00	80	00	20	80	20	00			•••••				
ŝċ	0059	0	00	00	00	00	FF	00	80	00	00	00	00	99	00	00	00	•••••5						
ĒČ	0058			00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00							
22	005C			00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00							
110000	005A 005B 005C			000000000000000000000000000000000000000	00	00 00 00	00000	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	36.00	00 00 00 00	00	00 00 00	00 00 00	20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 2	00 00 00							

Since this chunk of data is isolated from other data and in one continuous section, we can assume that it represents a structure of some type. For example, it might look something like:

```
struct entity {
    int type;
    int render_type;
    float location[3];
    ...
}
```

To determine what location of the structure holds the render type, we must reverse this structure.

5.2.7 Reversing the Entity Structure

There are many ways to reverse an unknown structure in a game. One way is to build up a dataset of valid values and then make inferences based on these values. For example, if all the structures contain one member that constantly increases, we can assume that this member is being used as a counter of some type. In this case, our goal is not to fully reverse the entity structure, but to only reverse enough to find the render type variable. Since we have located the code responsible for drawing entities, we can set a breakpoint in that code and observe entity structures. Like we discussed in the last section, at address 0x52D2FD, **ebx** holds the address of the current entity to render.

You will notice that each time our breakpoint is hit, **ebx** contains a different value. While we could manually follow **ebx** in the dump each time the breakpoint is hit, a more convenient way is to use the Watch feature of x64dbg. Adding an expression to the Watch panel allows us to observe it independently of the dump. In this case, we can watch the expression **[ebx]** and always view the current value of the address in **ebx**.

To add a value to watch, open up the *Watch* panel (near the dumps), right-click, and choose *Add*:



In the modal that appears, type your expression. In this case, we want to start with just **[ebx]**:

Enter the expression to watch	
	ς Ι
[ebx]	
-1	
OV Consul	
3 OK Cancel	
3-unt 52D3D5	

We want to also observe the first chunk of the entity structure. For now, we will assume that all these values are 4 bytes long. Add watches for **[ebx+4]** through **[ebx+2C]**. After you are finished, the *Watch* panel should look like:

	00520357	C74424 04 68	AF0201 MØ	w dword ptr	ss:[esp+4	j,quakes-urt.1	02						
dword ptr ds:	[0102AE98 0	<pre>\/f"]=0CCODE20</pre>			_								
EDATOLOUSED TANTIONSPREN AUGKALUET AVAILTERDEN ADEREN													
.text:005202FD_duake3-urt.exe:51202FD_#1206FD													
💭 Dump I	🛄 Dump 2	🕮 Dump 3 🛛 🜉	Dump 4 🛛 💷	Dump 5	🔯 Watch I	In Locals	2 Struct						
Nane	Expression	Value	Type W	atchdog Node	: 1	10							
watch 2	[ebx]	0000000	UINE D1	1sabled									
Watch 3	[ebx+4]	00000000	UINT D	isabled	1	3							
Watch 4	[ebx+8]	00000079	UINT D1	1sabled	4	4							
watch 5	[enxic]	00000000	UINI DI	15abled									
Watch 7	Construction 1.4	00000000	UTAT D	is abled									
Watch 8	Lebx+0x18	00000000	UINT DI	isabled		8							
watch 9	[cbx+0x1c]	BEZEFES8	UINT D	1sabled		í							
Watch 10	ebx+0x20	BAA7146A	UINT D	isabled		10							
Watch 11	[ebx+0x24]	38547014	UINT D	isabled	1	11							
Watch 12	[ebx+0x28]	38C35C13	UINT D1	isabled	1	12							
watch 13	[epx+ux5c]	BF180424		1sabled	1	13							
Iommand:													

With all of this set up, disable your breakpoint and load into a map with water. The map *Abbey* has a fountain near the top-left of the map. Make sure you are facing the water and can see the ground beneath it.



With all of this set up, re-enable your breakpoint at **0x52D2FD** and it should pop instantly. After observing the value of the watch panel, continue execution. After observing many iterations, you should start to notice some trends.

lame	Expression	Value	туре	Watchdog Mode
atch 2	[ebx]	00000000	UINT	Disabled
atch 3	eDX+4	000000D	UINT	Disabled
atch 4	[cbx+8]	00000078	UINT	Disabled
atch 5	[ebx+C]	00000000	UINT	Disabled
atch 6	[ebx+0x10]	00000000	UINT	Disabled
atch 7	[ebx+0x14]	00000000	UINT	Disabled
atch 8	[ebx+0x18]	00000000	UINT	Disabled
atch 9	[ebx+0x1c]	BF7FFDCA	UINT	Disabled
atch 10	[ebx+0x20]	BB25B2C4	UINT	Disabled
atch 11	[ebx+0x24]	3B9C493A	UINT	Disabled
atch 12	[ebx+0x28]	3BE0A705	UINT	Disabled
atch 13	[ebx+0x2C]	BF1AFADF	UINT	Disabled

Name	Expression	Value	Type	Watchdog	Mode
Watch 2	[ebx]	000000000	UINT	Disabled	
Watch 3	[e0x+4]	00000000	UINT	Disabled	
Watch 4	[ebx+8]	000000000	UINT	Disabled	
Watch 7	[ebx+0x14]	00000000	UINT	Disabled	
Watch 8	[ebx+0x16]	00000000	UINT	Disabled	
Watch 9	[ebx+0x1c]	8F7FFE58	UINT	Disabled	
Watch 10	[ebx+0x20]	8AA7146A	UINT	Disabled	
Watch 11	[ebx+0x24]	3B547D14	UINT	Disabled	
Watch 12	[ebx+0x28]	3BC35C13	UINT	Disabled	
Watch 13	[ebx+0x22]	8F180424	UINT	Disabled	

lame	Expression	Value	туре	Watchdog	Mode
latch 2	[ebx]	00000000	UINT	Disabled	
atch 3	ebx+4	00000082	UINT	Disabled	
atch 4	[ebx+8]	0000003D	UINT	Disabled	
atch S	[ebx+C]	C4048000	UINT	Disabled	
atch 6	[ebx+0x10]	43880000	UINT	Disabled	
atch 7	[ebx+0x14]	420138EF	UINT	Disabled	
Vatch 8	[ebx+0x1B]	00000000	UINT	Disabled	
atch 9	[ebx+0x1c]	3E1A26E7	UINT	Disabled	
atch 10	[ebx+0x20]	3E8234AC	UINT	Disabled	
latch 11	[ebx+0x24]	BF7490D9	UINT	Disabled	
atch 12	[ebx+0x28]	BF6FA30B	UINT	Disabled	
atch 13	[ebx+0x2C]	3EB1E58F	UINT	Disabled	

The value of **[ebx]** (red) always appears to be 0. The value of **[ebx+4]** (blue) appears to alternate between 0xD, 0x40, 0x82, and 0x83. The value of **[ebx+8]** (white) appears to increase consistently, from 0x79 to 0x80 to 0x81, and so on. The values highlighted in pink appear to alternate between seemingly random values and 0. Likewise, the values highlighted in yellow appear to be random, yet consistently tied to **[ebx+8]**.

All this data can be overwhelming, but we can make sense of it by eliminating values we do not care about. We know that we have at least three entities on the screen: our player model, our weapon, and the water. We can assume there are probably other entities, such as doors, as well. Since most of these entities share many similarities, we want to look for data that is relatively consistent between at least two entities. However, we also know that some of the entities should not share this value.

With this model, we can eliminate **[ebx]** (red), since it is always 0. We can also eliminate **[ebx+8]** (white), since it is unique for each entity. Both the values in pink and yellow appear unique for each object. This leaves us with **[ebx+4]** (blue), which alternates between 0xD, 0x40, 0x82, and 0x83. For now, we will guess that this is our rendering value and investigate each value.

5.2.8 Modifying Rendering Value

If we set the value of **[ebx+4]** for each entity, it will be overwritten the next time the draw entities function is called. It appears that the entity is being loaded into **ebx** from another location. Therefore, the easiest way for us to explore our assumed rendering value is by hooking the location 0x52D2FD and setting **[ebx+4]** for every entity. We could create this code cave in x64dbg, but to make it easier for us to test multiple values, we will create our hook in a DLL.

We will use the same hooking structure discussed in <u>Chapter 3.4</u>. Our hook will be at 0x52D2FD, since we know **ebx** will contain the correct value at that point. Our hook itself will be relatively simple: we will save the registers, set the value of **[ebx+4]**, restore the registers, and then execute the original **mov** instruction:

```
DWORD ret_address = 0x0052D303;
__declspec(naked) void codecave() {
   __asm {
     pushad
     mov dword ptr ds:[ebx+4], ???
     popad
     mov dword ptr ds:[0x102AE98], ebx
     jmp ret_address
   }
}
```

For our first value, let's start on the highest end and try 0x83:

mov dword ptr ds:[ebx+4], 0x83

Once the DLL is injected and you are back in the game, you will notice that nothing appears to change. Likewise, if you try 0x40, you might notice that some shadows seem different, but everything looks pretty similar. Next, let's try 0xD:

```
mov dword ptr ds:[ebx+4], 0xD
```

Immediately, you should notice that your character's model now appears see-through in front of the camera:



This is a good sign that depth testing may have been disabled. Next, switch to thirdperson mode (*cg_thirdperson*) and add some bots. As you move around, you should notice that you can now see all bots through walls:



With this, we have successfully set the rendering value for all entities to disable depth testing. We can see that other entities, such as guns and stairs, appear through walls as well.

One improvement is to re-enable depth testing for our player model so that firstperson mode is not corrupted. To do this, you will need to identify the player structure and your current player.

The full source code for this hack is available in <u>Appendix A</u> for comparison.

5.3 Wallhack (OpenGL) 5.3.1 Target

Our target for this chapter will be Urban Terror 4.3.4.

5.3.2 Overview

Most games make use of external graphics libraries for rendering. The two most popular graphics libraries are DirectX and OpenGL. Both of these libraries are loaded by games dynamically. Once they are loaded, games then invoke functions in these libraries. For example, with OpenGL, games can make use of the **glDrawElements** function to draw a series of elements from data stored in an array. Since these libraries are external, the game's developers do not need to implement the rendering logic themselves.

5.3.3 Identify

Our goal in this chapter is to create a wallhack by hooking the game's graphics library and modifying its logic to display entities through walls.

5.3.4 Understand

DirectX and OpenGL each have different functions for rendering that require different approaches to hook. Our first goal is to identify the library that the game is using. As each library has several functions to handle rendering and shading, we will then need to find a function that is used by the game for rendering. With the function identified, we can then hook it and disable depth testing through the use of a code cave. This will cause all entities to be rendered regardless of where they are in the 3D world.

5.3.5 Locating Drawing Library

Since graphics libraries are loaded dynamically, they must expose their functions to the main executable. Most debuggers allow you to view all the libraries loaded into an executable when attached. In x64dbg, this information is collected under the *Symbols* tab.

al co	niad-U	rT.cos - PC	2: 4055 - M	odule rtdl	ld - Three:	± 4864 (ovi	iched from	Main The	uch - sitt	d:g									
His	View	Debug	Trachy	Plught	Ferrer Lee	Oplians	Hab	OL 19203	ð (Skaða	u)									
•	ອ	•	* 1	• ±	A	* 4	1	*2		1	=	*	1	fx:	#	A	. 1	9)
	αu		log	🗊 NUto		Break-ok Is		Henry H	άψ	💼 ee	Slack	1	8 SBH		Su lot	2	Sector	6	Switz
Dealer 77 1488 77 1488	Correct (Correct) Correct Corret Correct Correct Corr	where pulses and pulses and pulses of pulses o	d11 d11 d11 - d11 - d11 - - - - - - - - - - - - -			Address Bissing Classing	7930 0 Kassen 0 Kassen <t< td=""><td>ordina 1234 × GP, X 9 101123141314718192027235573857385788941221193316578789412211933165788748442</td><td></td><td>ol sectionales Closestella Constellation Con</td><td>ellock af the with ack ack ack ack ack ack ack ack ack ack</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	ordina 1234 × GP, X 9 101123141314718192027235573857385788941221193316578789412211933165788748442		ol sectionales Closestella Constellation Con	ellock af the with ack ack ack ack ack ack ack ack ack ack								
40		_	_		- H	• 💻	_	_		_									
Service					Bas	a swete													
IDEA No A	pabola pabola	loaded f	ert velde extension: or: velde	m_10.411 905: d:\bm m_10.411	ad. Leftusbillas		of theme in	eno fe'ibul	ltd), rate	er en verege	(wdder)	et d'Ame	atmoda_	_10.041a	Stateana'			11.pdb	

As we can see in the highlighted elements, *opengl32.dll* is being loaded into the game's process. By selecting the OpenGL module, we can see that it exports many drawing-related functions. From this information, we can conclude that this game is using OpenGL to render its graphics.

5.3.6 Locating the Drawing Function

OpenGL has several rendering approaches, and different games will use different approaches. For example, older games may use **glBegin**, **glVertex**, and **glEnd**; some games may use **glDrawArrays**; and others may use **glDrawElements**. Some even use a combination of these approaches to render different aspects, such as **glDrawElements** for player models and **glBegin** for screen effects like blood.

Typically, modern games will not use **glBegin**, **glVertex**, and **glEnd**, as these functions are considered deprecated. For that reason, we won't be focusing on those functions right now. Instead, we will first investigate **glDrawElements**, as this is a commonly used function. Due to how OpenGL works, we will expect this function to be called constantly if it is used by the game.

By scrolling down to the **glDrawElements** export in the *Symbols* tab, we can see that OpenGL exports it to the process, though this is not a guarantee that it is being used:

	01B9C180	Export	62	glCopyTexSubImageLD
	6189C1E0	Export	63	glCopyTexSubImage2D
	61B990A0	Export	64	glCullFace
	618A6E00	Export	65	glDebugEntry
	61896BE0	Export	66	glDeleteLists
	6189C240	Export	67	glDeleteTextures
	6169AD70	Export	68	glDepthFunc
	61B9A330	Export	69	glDepthMask
	61896820	Export	70	glDepthRange
	61B9A420	Export	71	glDisable
	61B9C4B0	Export	72	glDisableClientState
	61B9C4E0	Export	73	glDrawArrays
	6189A020	Export	74	glDrawBuffer
	61B9C510	Export	75	g I DrawE Lements
	61898160	Export	76	glDrawPixels
	61B97480	Export	11	glEdgeFlag
	6189c550	Export	78	glEdgeFlagPointer
	61B9/4B0	Export	79	glEdgeFlagv
	61B9A450	Export	80	glEnable
	61B9C580	Export	81	glEnableClientState
	61в974г0	Export	82	gl⊏nd
Ξ.	61696640	Export	83	glEndList

By double-clicking on the export entry, x64dbg will display the function:

90 🕅		Log	Notes		Break	xvins		Memory Map	-	Call Stack	2	SEH	Ξ	Scrip
	- 1	6189c510	66:90			nop					g10rawE1	enents		
		61B9C512	55			cush e								
		61n9c513	880C			nev eb	p,csp							
		61e9c515	56			push e								
		6169.516	FF75 14			cush d	word p	tr ss:febo+1	41		Febp+141	: 16\.fE\o	03*	
		6169c519	64:8035	180000	00	nov es	i, dwor	d ptr 18:[18	1					
		61g9c520	FF75 10			push d	word p	tr ss:[ebp+1	.ĎJ					
		61B9C523	HE75 DC			cush d	word p	tr ss:[ebo+c	1					
		6189c526	8006 180	N0000		nev es	i, dwor	d ptr ds:[es	+ 1.8					
		61g9c52c	8BCE			nev ee	w.esi							
		6189057E	FF75_08			cush d	word a	tr ss:Eebp+8	1					
		6169c531	FF15 F0F	2c361		call o	word p	tr da:[61c3=	2F01					
		6169c537	FFD6			call e	si							
		61890539	50			pop es								
		6169C53A	50			rep et								
		6169c538	c2 1000			ret 10								
		6189053E	CC											
		6169C53F	00											
		E 1000ELA	00											

Next, we can start a game and set a breakpoint on **glDrawElements**. You will notice that it will immediately pop, and pop continuously every time the game is resumed. This is a good indication that this function is responsible for rendering entities. To verify that this is the case, we can replace the first instruction with the **ret** statement we see at the end of the function. The effect of this will be to immediately return to the calling code without executing any of the **glDrawElements** logic:

				-
•	61E9C510	c2 1000		glDrawElements
•	61E9C513	88EC	nov ebp.esp	
*	61E9C515	56	push esi	
	61E9C515	FF75 14	push dword ptr ss:[ebp+14]	
+	61c9c519	54:8835 18004000	nov esi, dword ptr [5:[18]	
•	61E9C520	FF75 10	push dword ptr ss: [ebp+10]	
	61E9C523	FE75 0c	push dword ptr ss:[ebp+C]	
•	61E9C525	3886 180A0000	nov esi, dword ptr ds:[esi+A18]	
	61E9C52C	38CE	nov ecx,esi	
•	61E9C52E	FF75 08	push dword ptr ss:[ebp+8]	
•	61E9C531	FF15 F0F2C361	call dword ptr ds:[61C3F2F0]	
	61E9C537	FEDG	call esi	
•	61E9C539	ĴΕ	pop esi	
-	6189C53A	šo	pop ebp	
•	61E9C538	c2 1000	ret 10	
	61E9C53E	CC		
	61E9C53F	cc		
•	61E9C54D	cc	int3	

If you then resume execution and attempt to play the game, you will notice that no new entities are being rendered to the screen:



This gives us strong proof that Urban Terror is using **glDrawElements** to display entities.

5.3.7 Hooking glDrawElements

Examining the **glDrawElements** function, we can see that it has very few instructions. Given the complexity of rendering entities to a screen, the majority of the code must be contained in the two calls near the end of the function:

90 🕅	🗋 Log	🎒 Notes 🛛 🕈 Break	qoints 🚥 Memory Map 🧃	Call Stack 🧏 SEH 🔟 Scrit
	 6189c510 	66:90	ncp	glDrawElements
	 6189L512 	55	cosh ebo	
	 61m9c513 	8BEC	nev dop, csp	
	 6189c515 	56	push esi	
	 6189C516 	FF75 14	cosh dword ptr as: [ebp+14]	[ebp+14]: "é\fé\x03"
	 6189c519 	64:8835 18000000	nev esi, dword ptr fs: [18]	
	 6189c520 	FF75 10	push dword ptr ss:[ebp+10]	
	61B9C523	FF75 0C	cush dword ptr ss:[ebp+u]	
	 6189c526 	8006 180A0000	nev esi, dword ptr ds:[esi+A18]	
	 6189c52c 	880E	nev eck,est	
	6189C57E	HE75 08	reader since a print or a (since 0)	
	 6189c531 	FF15 F0F2c361	<pre>call dword ptr da:[61C3F2F0]</pre>	
	 6189c537 	FFD6	call esi	
	61890539	3	rep eri	
	 6169C53A 	50	teb eps	
	 6189C538 	C2 1000	ret 10	
	 61896536 	23		
	 6189C53F 	00		
	 £1e0r516 		liet3	

Therefore, if we hook an instruction before these calls, we should be able to accomplish our goal of disabling depth testing. A good candidate instruction is the **mov** at 0x61B9C526.

Since OpenGL is loaded dynamically, our hooking approach will have to be slightly different. First, we will need to ensure that OpenGL is actually loaded. As we are injecting our DLL into the application when it is first started, this will not be the case. After we ensure that OpenGL is loaded, we need to figure out where it is loaded. Once we determine the base address of OpenGL, we can then determine where **glDrawEntities** is located inside the OpenGL module.

We will use a combination of techniques that we explored in previous chapters. To address the issue that OpenGL will not be loaded when our DLL is injected, we will create a thread to handle the hooking logic. This will allow us to create an infinite loop that waits until OpenGL is loaded, similar to the thread we saw in <u>Chapter 3.3</u>:

```
if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
    CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)injected_thread, NULL, 0,
NULL);
}
```

In our thread, we will create an infinite loop that will call <u>GetModuleHandle</u>. This API returns the module handle, or base address, for a loaded module. If the module is not loaded, it will return **NULL**:

```
HMODULE openGLHandle = NULL;
void injected_thread() {
   while (true) {
```

```
if (openGLHandle == NULL) {
    openGLHandle = GetModuleHandle(L"opengl32.dll");
}
...
Sleep(1);
```

When we have the base address of OpenGL, we can then find where **glDrawElements** is located. To do this, we will make use of the <u>GetProcAddress</u> API. When given a module and the name of a function, this API returns the address of the function:

```
unsigned char* hook_location;
...
if (openGLHandle != NULL) {
    hook_location = (unsigned char*)GetProcAddress(openGLHandle,
"glDrawElements");
```

This API will return the location of the first instruction in the function, in this case **nop**. Since we want to hook the **mov** instruction, we can subtract its distance from the first instruction and then add that difference to the result of **GetProcAddress**. The distance between these two instructions will always be the same, as they are part of the library's code and not loaded dynamically.



This offset can be added directly to the **hook_location** variable to get our location:

hook_location += 0x16;

Finally, we can hook the code as we have done in previous chapters:

```
VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 5, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
*hook_location = 0xE9;
*(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&codecave - ((DWORD)hook_location + 5);
*(hook_location + 5) = 0x90;
```

5.3.8 Function Pointers

With **glDrawElements** hooked, we can start working on the code cave. Our goal is to disable depth testing when an element is being drawn. To do this, we can use an OpenGL function called <u>glDepthFunc</u>. **glDepthFunc** allows you to set the function used for depth comparisons when OpenGL attempts to render the screen. This can be several values, but the ones we are interested in are **GL_LEQUAL** (draw if the element is in front of another element) and **GL_ALWAYS** (always draw).

For our wallhack, we will set the depth function to **GL_ALWAYS** right before any element is drawn. This will have the effect of making all elements always appear, regardless of where they actually are in the 3D space.

To start, we will need to locate **glDepthFunc**. We can use **GetProcAddress** in a similar manner to **glDrawElements**. However, instead of finding an address to hook, our goal with this call to **GetProcAddress** is to store the function's address in a way that we can then invoke in our code cave. The easiest way to do this is through a function pointer.

Just like pointers we have used in previous chapters, function pointers point to an address. However, unlike the pointers we have been using to modify data and code, we can also declare a pointer to point to a function. We can then call this function, or address, like we would call any other C++ function.

To declare a function pointer, we need to know the original function's definition. The definition of a function includes its return type and its parameters. We can get this information from the <u>Khronos Group</u> site:

void glDepthFunc(GLenum func);

Looking at the <u>gl.h header file</u>, we can find out what **GLenum** is:

typedef unsigned int GLenum;

So far, we can define our **glDepthFunc** function like so:

```
void glDepthFunc(unsigned int) = NULL;
```

Next, we will modify this declaration to have it act as a pointer to this function:

```
void (*glDepthFunc)(unsigned int) = NULL;
```

We can now assign this to the result of **GetProcAddress**:

```
glDepthFunc = GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDepthFunc");
```

However, if we try to build this, we will get the following error:

```
error C2440: '=': cannot convert from 'FARPROC' to 'void (__cdecl *)(unsigned
int)'
message : This conversion requires a reinterpret_cast, a C-style cast or
function-style cast
```

Like we have seen in previous chapters, we need to cast the result of **GetProcAddress** properly for the compiler to understand how to translate the result. We can use the error message to quickly figure out how we need to cast the result:

glDepthFunc = (void(__cdecl *)(unsigned int))(openGLHandle, "glDepthFunc");

5.3.9 glDrawElements Code Cave

Our code cave will be similar to code caves we have written previously. We will start with our skeleton and restore the original code:

```
DWORD ret_address = 0;
__declspec(naked) void codecave() {
    __asm {
        pushad
    }
    ...
    __asm {
```

```
popad
mov esi, dword ptr ds : [esi + 0xA18]
jmp ret_address
```

Unlike previous chapters, we do not have a static location to jump to. Instead, we will need to calculate our return location similarly to how to we calculated the hook location. In our thread, after we assign the hook location, we can also dynamically assign the return location:

```
ret_address = (DWORD)(hook_location + 0x6);
```

With our skeleton in place, we can now add in our call to **glDepthFunc**. First, we need to find the value for **GL_ALWAYS**. We can find this in the <u>gl.h header file</u>:

#define GL_ALWAYS 0x0207

}

Next, we can invoke **glDepthFunc** to disable depth testing. Since it is a function pointer, we need to dereference the pointer to invoke the function:

```
(*glDepthFunc)(0x207);
```

Our code looks like:

```
#include <Windows.h>
HMODULE openGLHandle = NULL;
void (*glDepthFunc)(unsigned int) = NULL;
unsigned char* hook_location;
DWORD ret_address = 0;
DWORD old_protect;
___declspec(naked) void codecave() {
    ___asm {
        pushad
    }
```

```
(*glDepthFunc)(0x207);
    __asm {
        popad
        mov esi, dword ptr ds:[esi+0xA18]
        jmp ret_address
    }
}
void injected_thread() {
    while (true) {
        if (openGLHandle == NULL) {
            openGLHandle = GetModuleHandle(L"opengl32.dll");
        }
        if (openGLHandle != NULL) {
            glDepthFunc = (void(__cdecl *)(unsigned
int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDepthFunc");
            hook_location = (unsigned char*)GetProcAddress(openGLHandle,
"glDrawElements");
            hook_location += 0x16;
            VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 5, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
            *hook_location = 0xE9;
            *(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&codecave -
((DWORD)hook_location + 5);
            *(hook_location + 5) = 0x90;
            ret_address = (DWORD)(hook_location + 0x6);
        }
        Sleep(1);
    }
}
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
    if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
        CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)injected_thread, NULL,
0, NULL);
    }
    return true;
```

}

We can now build this code and inject it into Urban Terror to see if it works.

5.3.10 Calling Conventions

When our DLL is injected, you will notice that the game will crash instantly when starting with the following error:

Microsoft	Visual C++ Runtime Library	\times
8	Debug Error!	
•	Program: C:\Users\/EUser\source\repos\Wallhack\Debug\Wallhack.dll Module: C:\Users\/EUser\source\repos\Wallhack\Debug\Wallhack.dll File:	
	Run-Time Check Failure #0 - The value of ESP was not properly saved across a function call. This is usually a result of calling a function declared with one calling convention with a function pointer declared with a different calling convention.	
	(Press Retry to debug the application)	
	Abort Retry Ignore	1

If we remove the call to **glDepthFunc** in our code cave, the game no longer crashes. It looks like our function pointer is not correct in some way. If we look at gl.h, we see that **glDepthFunc** is defined as:

GLAPI void APIENTRY	glDepthFunc (GLenum func);

In Microsoft's documentation on <u>data types</u>, we see that **APIENTRY** is a reference for **WINAPI**. If we look at the entry for **WINAPI**, we see that it is a reference for **__stdcall**. Let's try adding this prefix to our function pointer:

```
void (__stdcall *glDepthFunc)(unsigned int) = NULL;
```

Building this code results in a familiar error:

```
error C2440: '=': cannot convert from 'void (__cdecl *)(unsigned int)' to
'void (__stdcall *)(unsigned int)'
```

This can be fixed by changing the cast as we did before:

```
glDepthFunc = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle,
"glDepthFunc");
```

Calling conventions control how parameters are handled by functions when called. There are many different types, but for our purposes, we just need to know that Visual Studio uses **__cdecl** by default, whereas OpenGL defaults to **__stdcall**.

With this change, build the code and inject it again. You will notice that Urban Terror no longer crashes.

5.3.11 Checking Counts

If you join a game, you will notice that you are now able to see entities through walls. The only problem is that you can see too many things:



In our current hack, we are disabling depth testing for every element drawn on the screen, including walls and stairs. Ideally, we only want to draw players through walls. To accomplish this, we will have to filter out elements that we do not care about.

glDrawElements has the following definition:

void glDrawElements(GLenum mode, GLsizei count, GLenum type, const void * indices);

The **count** parameter specifies the amount of elements, or vertices, to be rendered. More detailed objects will have a higher amount of vertices. For example, a player model will have more detail (nose, hands, fingers, etc.) than a floor. By ensuring that the **count** parameter is a certain value, we can filter out elements that we do not want to display through walls. We know that this parameter will be on the stack when our hook is jumped to. To retrieve its exact location, we can inject our DLL and set a breakpoint on **glDrawElements**. As we step through the code, we can identify where it is on the stack at the time our code cave gets called.

One feature of x64dbg is the ability to view the current parameters on the stack in a similar manner to how they would be passed in C. This feature is under the panel showing the values of the registers:



x64dbg is not able to fill this in automatically, so you will need to set the calling conventions and the number of parameters. If we trigger our breakpoint on **glDrawElements** multiple times, we can see that **[esp+8]** is the only value that appears to change. We can assume that it holds the value for the count parameter at the start of the function:



If we look at the stack panel at the bottom right, we can see how this information is represented on the stack. By default, the top of the stack (**esp**) will always appear at the top of the window:

						_	•	
	012DF99C	C00535E08	ineturn to quake3-unt	00535ED8	from 1	777		
	012DF9A0	00000004						- 21
	0120E9A4	00000387						
•	01201 9A8	00001405						
	012DF9AC	010548C0	quakes-urt.010548C0					
	01201980	000007FD						
11	0120-904	30021610	"& Lichtman 11"					
	0120-900	E0050rc19	neturn to quakel unt	00505619	trom 3	222		
	0120196.0	00000051	recarn co quates are					
	012pr9c4	000004ED						
	0120F9C8	00001406						
	012DF9CC	BC01CCI 0						
	0120E900	3C01CCL0						- 🖷
	0120+904	00000000						
2	0120(.908	L3C07F6E0	"*lightmap13"					
r	012pr9pc	C00537583	return to quake3-unt	.00537583	from	quake3-urt.005	35 F 9 0	•
	01205001	I 3007E6E0	"*linhtman13"					
						Default		•

Continue stepping through the function and then step into the jump to our code cave. After the **pushad** instruction in our code cave, examine the stack again:



At this point, we can see that the **count** parameter is at **esp+0x10**. We can reference this value in our code cave to retrieve the current count value of the element being rendered. In the first **asm** block, after the **pushad** instruction, we can take the value of **esp+0x10** and store it in a local variable:

```
DWORD count = 0;
...
__asm {
    pushad
    mov eax, dword ptr ds : [esp + 0x10]
    mov count, eax
    popad
    pushad
}
```

We now have a local variable **count** that will hold the value of count passed to **glDrawElements**. We can then compare this value to a baseline and only disable depth testing if we exceed that baseline. If we don't exceed it, we will re-enable depth testing. The value for **GL_LEQUAL** (0x203) can be found in the same way that we found the value for **GL_ALWAYS**. For now, we will use 500 as a baseline value:

```
if (count > 500) {
    (*glDepthFunc)(0x207);
}
else {
    (*glDepthFunc)(0x203);
}
```

If we build and inject this, we can see that our view is much cleaner now, and only certain elements appear through walls:



5.3.12 Clipping Planes

Now we are filtering many elements, but we've encountered the problem that no player models are appearing. Instead, we can only see their weapons and blood effects through walls:



If we enable third-person view, our player model is also invisible. The only place our player model will appear is if we turn on no-clip and fly out-of-bounds. This is most likely due to our player model being drawn first, when the scene is being rendered, and then other elements of the level drawn on top of it. When we disable depth testing, these entities are all drawn on top of the player.

```
draw_player();
draw_guns();
draw_doors();
draw_level_walls();
```

To force players to be drawn above these elements, we can use the <u>glDepthRange</u> function. This function sets the near and far clipping planes for the scene. Clipping planes are planes that extend across the game scene and clip (or remove) any entities behind them. By setting these values to be equal to 0, the planes will intersect, causing all elements to be drawn on the same plane and "fight" for rendering space. This will result in some flickering, but the player models will appear through walls.

We can create a function pointer for this function identically to the approach we used for **glDepthFunc**. The only alterations we need to make are in the parameters:

```
void (__stdcall* glDepthRange)(double, double) = NULL;
...
glDepthRange = (void(__stdcall*)(double, double))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle,
"glDepthRange");
```

We can then call this function in the same location that we change the depth function. The default values for these planes are (0,1), which we will reset if the count is too low.

```
if (count > 500) {
    (*glDepthRange)(0.0, 0.0);
    (*glDepthFunc)(0x207);
}
else {
    (*glDepthRange)(0.0, 1.0);
    (*glDepthFunc)(0x203);
}
```

With this, player models will now appear through walls, indicating that our wallhack is successful:



The full code for this chapter is available in <u>Appendix A</u>.
5.4 Chams (OpenGL) 5.4.1 Target

Our target for this chapter will be Urban Terror 4.3.4.

5.4.2 Identify

Our goal in this chapter is to create a chams hack, which is a type of hack that colors all players a bright color. We can accomplish this by hooking the game's graphics library and modifying its code to make all player models render with a bright color instead of a texture.

5.4.3 Understand

When entities are rendered to the screen, they are just filled polygons. To make these entities have visuals (such as eyes, camouflage, or hair), textures have to be applied to the polygons. These textures are specially formatted images, which wrap around the entity when applied to it. For example, the oil barrel texture from Urban Terror looks like:



When this is applied to the circular barrel model, it wraps around it. This is how 2D textures are applied to 3D models.

To create a chams hack, we will modify this rendering flow. After the polygons have been rendered, we will disable textures in OpenGL. When textures are disabled, OpenGL will fall back to using the lighting (or color) array specified by the game. If we disable that as well, OpenGL will fall back to using whatever color was last specified by a call to **glColor**. If we set our own color and then render the entity, we can make the entity appear as a bright solid color, such as red.

5.4.4 Texture Function Pointers

To make our development easier, we will build off the OpenGL wallhack we created in the previous chapter. For that, we created function pointers for two functions related to depth testing: **glDepthFunc** and **glDepthRange**. To disable and enable textures, we will need to create function pointers to four additional functions:

- glEnable
- glDisable
- glEnableClientState
- glDisableClientState

We plan to use **glEnable** and **glDisable** to enable and disable **GL_COLOR_MATERIAL**. In addition, we will need to call **glEnableClientState** and **glDisableClientState** to enable and disable **GL_COLOR_ARRAY** and **GL_TEXTURE_COORD_ARRAY**. We will enable and disable all these elements to ensure that OpenGL falls back to a mode where we can set the color.

To set the color after we have done those steps, we will also need to create a function pointer to **glColor**. **glColor** has many forms that allow you to pass in different type of parameters. Any of these functions will work, but for our hack, we will use **glColor4f**, the version of **glColor** that takes 4 floats (values that allow decimals): one for red, green, blue, and alpha. The alpha float is responsible for controlling the opacity of the color.

We can declare these function pointers right below the pointers for **glDepthFunc** and **glDepthRange**:

```
void(__stdcall* glColor4f)(float, float, float, float) = NULL;
void(__stdcall* glEnable)(unsigned int) = NULL;
```

```
void(__stdcall* glDisable)(unsigned int) = NULL;
void(__stdcall* glEnableClientState)(unsigned int) = NULL;
void(__stdcall* glDisableClientState)(unsigned int) = NULL;
...
glColor4f = (void(__stdcall*)(float, float, float,
float))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glColor4f");
glEnable = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle,
"glEnable");
glDisable = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle,
"glDisable = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle,
"glDisable");
glEnableClientState = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned
int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glEnableClientState");
glDisableClientState = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned
int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDisableClientState");
```

5.4.5 glDrawElements Code Cave

In our code cave, we already have the logic built out to display models through walls if they have a count greater than 500. We will expand on this code to also color them. First, we will disable **GL_COLOR_ARRAY** and **GL_TEXTURE_COORD_ARRAY**. The game uses these client states to let OpenGL know that the game wants to map textures and color arrays (for lighting) to polygons. To apply a static color to a model, we need to tell OpenGL that we are not using these features. Since these are considered client states, we will use **glDisableClientState** to disable them. We can get their values from <u>gl.h:</u>

```
if (count > 500) {
    ...
    (*glDisableClientState)(0x8078);
    (*glDisableClientState)(0x8076);
```

Next, we will enable **GL_COLOR_MATERIAL** and set our color to red. **glColor4f** takes a value between 0 and 1 for all values. If we want a red color, we will set the red value to 1 and the alpha to 1. However, if we leave green and blue at 0, our ending red color will be dark and muted. To make it vibrant, we will set these values to 0.6. Adding an **f** on the end of a number in C++ will cause the number to be interpreted as a float:

```
(*glEnable)(0x0B57);
(*glColor4f)(1.0f, 0.6f, 0.6f, 1.0f);
```

Finally, just like with our wallhack, we will disable this coloring when the model's count is less than 500. To do this, we will enable **GL_COLOR_ARRAY** and **GL_TEXTURE_COORD_ARRAY** and then disable **GL_COLOR_MATERIAL**. Finally, we will make another call to **glColor**, this time setting the color to a pure white. This is not strictly necessary for Urban Terror, but for some games, this will prevent the colors of effects from getting corrupted if they use the previously set color:

```
(*glEnableClientState)(0x8078);
(*glEnableClientState)(0x8076);
(*glDisable)(0x0B57);
(*glColor4f)(1.0f, 1.0f, 1.0f, 1.0f);
```

With this done, you can inject the DLL into the game, and you will see all the models appearing through walls with a bright red color:



The full source code for this hack is available in <u>Appendix A</u>.

5.5 **Triggerbot** 5.5.1 Target

Our target for this chapter will be the game <u>Assault Cube 1.2.0.2</u>, since it has an easy way to create bots and disable their movement. However, this same technique will work on any FPS that displays a player's name when you hover over a player.

5.5.2 Identify

Our goal in this chapter is to create a triggerbot, a type of hack that automatically fires whenever we look at another player.

5.5.3 DLL Injection

While the following chapters can be done using the AppInit technique discussed in previous chapters, using a DLL injector will vastly speed up development time. From this point on, the rest of the book will assume that you are using an injector. Creating a DLL injector is discussed in <u>Chapter 7.1</u>. General-purpose DLL injectors can also be found online.

5.5.4 Understand

To write a triggerbot, we need to calculate where our player is looking and identify if we are looking at another player. Luckily for us, most games already have this functionality in their code to display a nametag when you hover over a player or change the crosshair to a different color. Assault Cube displays a nametag, as seen in the bottom left-hand corner:



If we locate the code responsible for displaying this text, we can hook it and write custom code to send a mouse press.

5.5.5 Locating Code

The method for locating the responsible code will depend on how the game reacts to hovering over a player. In general, games will react in two different ways:

- 1. The crosshair will change, either in size or color.
- 2. The player's name we are looking at will be displayed somewhere on the screen.

In games with the first reaction, we will have to search for one value while not looking at a player and then filter for a different value while looking at a player. After enough filtering, a value will remain that will generally be 0 when not looking at a player, and 1 (or a value linked to the player's location in the entity list) when looking at a player. You can then set a breakpoint on this memory address and see what code writes to it.

Other games, like Assault Cube, will display a string that represents the player's name. In these cases, we can locate a player's name in memory and then set a breakpoint on access on the name. When we hover over the player, this breakpoint should pop at the code responsible for determining if we are looking at a player.

First, make sure the nametags option is enabled in the HUD settings. Then, start a new single-player deathmatch game with 8 bots. When the game starts, hit the "~" key to open the console and run the command *idlebots* 1. This <u>command</u> will disable bots from moving and shooting, making it easier to search for the information we want. In games that do not have a way to disable bot movement, you can use Cheat Engine's *Enable Speedhack* feature to slow down the game and allow you to search easier:

🐔 Cheat Engine 7.1				_		ς
File Edit Table D3	D Holp					
🖾 📑 🗖		000029	A8-ac_client.exe		Ē	
ound:0						9
Address	Valus	Previous	First Scan Next Scan Value Hex Hex Scan Type Exact Value Value Type 4 Bytes Memory Scan Options Al Start 00000000000000000000000000000000000		o Scan Setti Ia formula ot nrandomizer nable Speedha	ry»
			Stop 00007FIFFFFFF Writable Executa CopyOrWrite Fast Scan 4 Alignment Last Digits Pause the game while scanning	II		
Memory View			0	Add A	ddiess Manua	ly
Active Description	Address	Туре	Value			^

With the game started, find a particular bot and note its name down. Search in Cheat Engine for this name, which should return about 10 results:

Value	Previous
Staropramen	
	Value Staropramen Staropramen Staropramen Staropramen Staropramen Staropramen

Next, look away from the bot so that its nametag is no longer displayed. For each address identified, use Cheat Engine's *Find out what accesses this address* option, which will attach a debugger to the process to determine what code is touching the memory:



For each address, look at the bot again so that the nametag displays. We are looking for an address which has a ton of accesses only when looking at the bot. After going through several of the addresses, you should find one that is always accessed only when looking at a bot:



With this code found, we can close Cheat Engine and start working on reversing the responsible code.

5.5.6 Locating Code Cave

Open up x64dbg and attach it to Assault Cube. In Assault Cube, make sure that the nametag is still displaying. Navigate to the address we found in Cheat Engine and place a breakpoint on the code. It should pop immediately:



You will notice that we are inside a loop that is loading the player's name into a buffer. We see that this loop is only entered if the **je** at **0x0040ADA6** does not jump. The condition for this jump is the **test edi**, **edi** instruction. Testing a register against itself compares its value to 0. From this, we can assume that the nametag is only displayed if **edi** is not 0. We can confirm this behavior by setting a breakpoint on the **test edi**, **edi** instruction. When looking at a player, **edi** will have a value:

1	0000A/17 0000A/16	##5c34 3c 44 (3000000	nev elecydeord ptr. sic(eso-IK) peb. IKI	Ine-K31**W*		stde FPU
-	0004/98 0004/97 0004/47	6710/ 64 1/1-01/00 88/78	GUT edi cut encotione.400%0 mv edi pera		i	10 20218 Ptr
		- 14 11 8:47 25020000 8A 18103000 2A40	test editedi p. ar., chieri, 43ear ha esc, deord ptr. d.: [edi+225] mv. edu, al., chieri, 50008	edi:"50%" eac:"60%", edi:225:"5tarsprasen" edi:"56%:facife(", 50%)%;"5tarsprasen" edi:"56%:facife(", eac:126%)%;	-1	Can be be an
•	00154/#15 00154/#17 00154/#44 00154/#88	林田 勝氏日 時代日 時代日	<pre>mv (1,byte ptr doi[eax] mv bets str doi[ed+eax1.c] to to (1,c) to climate stand to (1,c)</pre>	eau: "Alth" eau: "Alth"		CT ASS 00000000
	001A087 001A005 001A000 001A002	8330 04425000 00 058643 784473000 06954424 43 1798	CD deard ptr do:[34264].0 mv2x cax.byte ptr ho:[26576] cote byte ptr so:[sp+43] reg cat			Laifing Connection Connection
	00154004 00154004 0015408 0015408 0015408	10C0 -07 30cc4r00 8683 74000000 8648 0C 0/0611 08010000	the second second start are the second secon	nan 1939''' nan 1939''' nan 1939'', (dan 194): A'' AF'' dat 1930''fa-Cfritc''		S 201 5 202
	005A0F8 005A0F0 005A0F9 005A0F9	0295424 34 0350 20 8483 82000000 2915 42963000	some hyte ptr sst(sspilk) ad edu, deard ptr dt(asse(0) mv al, dyte ptr ds(dtass(0) cp deard ptr ds(dtass(0) cp deard ptr ds(dtas), edu			Celet (ntul) = = 5 a U
	00104102 00104102	#100 - 14 04	ter acuttert. House		. 7	3: (mput) 06322935 unldg1,04222935 4: (mput) 00060030 %A \u004

However, if we are not looking at a player, **edi** will hold the value 0:

÷	00434040	Opició de As presento	nov etc., deard ptr (act fecoedc) parks (int)	(monit).****	*	inte Ok
	08434080	e en la companya de la companya de la companya de la comp	call ac_riters.denvo eati ac_riters.denvo eav sti .etc			5 8899 Caluer
	CONSIGNA ON SCHOOL ON SCHOOL ON SCHOOL ON SCHOOL ON SCHOOL	8007 • 14 -0 x0x2 -21010000 u+ 300x5000 1400 6408	Interviewit weit weit in inductions of the second	1868), "Rumpnane"		HER BURNELS FAIres P HER BURNELS FAIres P HER BURNELS F HER BUR
	ONE Second ONE Second ONE Second ONE ACCEU ONE ACCEU ONE SECON ONE SECOND ONE ACCEU ONE ACCEU ONE ACCEU ONE ACCEU	ABOVE 48 ABOVE 515 ABOVE 516 ABOVE 04405 TANASCHO 04405 TANASCHO 1640 ABOVE 2400 ABOVE 0445 BO	<pre>interpre_pre_dot(pha.com/),i1 (RC 40) (red of phi (red start),interpretation (Phi/OMA),i0 (red start),i0 (red start),i0 (</pre>	[phys_174] (A* at * 1922 - * 1942 (A*)		11 71 71 19905, 3006 37535575428 2 00 1: 82
	CERTIFICATION CE	070742 (0.11000) 04054434 (0. 0301 20 2005 (0.0000) 0315 (0.0000) 041000 041000 040000 040000 040000 040000 040000 040000 040000 040000 040000 040000 040000 040000 040000 040000 040000 040000 040000 0400 04000 04000 04000 04000 04000000	mode with any first hit hit (and the) and the device of the first hit (and the and the device of the first hit (and the and the device of the (bold hit) and the device of the (bold hit) that a shift or a shift has dones			Evenal (storil) * * 5 * 1* (storid) (storid) (storid) *
	-				•	

Looking at the **call** above, we can see that **edi** gets its value from **eax**, which is the return value from the **call**:



Since this **call** is 5 bytes, we will overwrite this **call** with a code cave to our own code.

5.5.7 Writing Code Cave

The logic for our code cave will be simple. First, we will execute the call we hooked. Then, we will read the value of **eax** into a variable. After that, we will read the value of the variable. If we are looking at a player, we will use the <u>SendInput</u> API to send a left mouse down event to the game. Otherwise, we will send a left mouse up event to the game. We need to use this approach since **SendInput** sets a key's state permanently. If we do not send a left mouse up event, the mouse button will act as if it is held down.

Like we discussed above, we will hook the **call** at **0x0040AD9D**. We will do this in an identical manner to previous chapters:

```
unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x0040AD9D;
...
VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 5, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
*hook_location = 0xE9;
*(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&codecave - ((DWORD)hook_location + 5);
```

In our code cave, we will first start by calling the method that we overwrote and then moving its return value (**eax**) into a variable that we declare:

```
DWORD ori_call_address = 0x4607C0;
DWORD edi_value = 0;
__declspec(naked) void codecave() {
    __asm {
        call ori_call_address
        pushad
        mov edi_value, eax
    }
```

Next, we will check the value of our **edi_value** variable to determine if we should send a left mouse down or mouse up event:

```
if (edi_value != 0) {
    //looking at player
}
else {
    //not looking at player
}
```

SendInput takes an array of input events, which allows you to send multiple events. This can be useful if we want to do multiple actions at once, such as firing and then reloading. In this chapter, we will only send one input, which is the mouse down or mouse up event:

```
INPUT input = { 0 };
...
if (edi_value != 0) {
    input.type = INPUT_MOUSE;
    input.mi.dwFlags = MOUSEEVENTF_LEFTDOWN;
    SendInput(1, &input, sizeof(INPUT));
```

```
}
else {
    input.type = INPUT_MOUSE;
    input.mi.dwFlags = MOUSEEVENTF_LEFTUP;
    SendInput(1, &input, sizeof(INPUT));
}
```

Just like in previous chapters, we want to restore the registers and jump back to the original code:

```
DWORD ori_jump_address = 0x0040ADA2;
...
_asm {
    popad
    jmp ori_jump_address
}
```

If you are using the DLL injector from <u>Chapter 7.1</u>, we can make some small modifications to use it for this target:

```
const char *dll_path = "C:\\Users\\IEUser\\source\\repos\\triggerbot\\Debug\
\triggerbot.dll";
...
if (strcmp((const char*)pe32.szExeFile, (const char*)L"ac_client.exe") == 0)
{
```

With those changes, we can inject the DLL into Assault Cube and hover over a player. When we pass over a player, we will automatically fire.

The full code for this chapter is available in <u>Appendix A</u>.

5.6 Aimbot

5.6.1 Target

Our target for this chapter will be Assault Cube 1.2.0.2.

5.6.2 Identify

Our goal in this chapter is to create an aimbot, a type of hack that automatically aims at other players.

5.6.3 Understand

The core fundamentals of an aimbot rely on trigonometry. Take the following scene from our target game, Assault Cube:



Focusing on just our in-game player and the enemy, this scene can be mapped onto a 3D graph that looks like:



To simplify, we can convert this into a 2D graph by fixing our perspective and eliminating one of the axes. By choosing a top-down perspective, we can eliminate the Z axis. The resulting graph would look like:



Every first-person or third-person shooter allows the player to look left and right to aim. For example, in our first screenshot, our player is looking straight ahead. On our 2D graph, this would look like:



If we are looking at an enemy, like so:



Then our graph would change to look like:



Games represent this left and right value as an angle. They can represent this angle in multiple ways, such as a vector, a radian, or a degree. However, for our current example, we will assume the view angle is represented in degrees. To create an aimbot, we need to find a way to calculate this angle for an enemy. We can do this by first creating a right triangle using our player's position and the enemy's position:



If we knew the value of θ , we could use the tangent operation to determine the ratio between the opposite (7 above) and adjacent (5 above) sides. In our case, we have the

opposite and adjacent sides and want to determine θ . To do this, we can calculate the inverse tangent or arctangent. The arctangent will then represent the angle we need to set our player's aim to aim at an enemy.

However, this will only correctly aim to the left and right. To aim up and down, we will need to do a similar operation for the Y and Z axes.

Before we can do any of this, though, we will need to locate where the game stores enemies. Then, we will need to locate where the game stores our player. Finally, we will need to reverse the player structure to locate the X, Y, and Z members in the structure, as well as the view angle members.

5.6.4 Locating Enemies

To locate enemies in the game, first create a game with 8 bots and set them to idle. Typically, games will store enemies in a list and hold a static location to this list. In the previous chapter, we found the game code responsible for displaying a player's name when you hovered over that player. To do this, the game must have code inside that function that iterates over the enemies in the game and retrieves their names. This was the code we located in the last chapter:

		00404087	n91c24	<pre>[fsto_dword_atc_ss:feso].st(0)</pre>	
		00404038	FEDÓ	call esi	
		0040488	FE13 5CA24000	rall dword nor ds: [son]Ends]	
		00404092	865024 50	now ebs. dwind atr. ss:[espaid]	Testing 1111 INT
		DOMINANAN	65 F100000	nish DEL	testerate of
		DUMUADUR	EE D7	call addi	
		00404090	£8 1£540500	call ac_client.000700	
		00404042	8673	nov edi .cax	edi: "ATA", ener"ATA"
118		0040ApA4	8500	test edi.edi	edi: "Alh"
		0040ABA5	w 74 17	ie ac_client.40x08r	
		0040ADAB	6647 25020000	Tes ear dword atr. ds-fed8/2251	cas: "Ath", edi+225; "Non"
		D040ADAE	EA 381c5000	nov eds.ec.climit.501038	501c38; "Non"
		0040App3	2690	sub edk.eax	eax: "hin"
		0040ABB5	8408	new cl, byte ptr dut [eax]	eax: "him"
		0040app87	880CD2	now hyperpir dy: [edwaraz],c]	
		DO10ABEA	40	inc eac	eax: "AJN"
		0010A082	8409	test cl.cl	
	Lange a	CO40ADED	A 75 FB	gne acuellient.404085	
		0040A86F	8330 D4A25000 00	omp dword ptr ds:[50A204],0	
		0040ABC5	OF8605 78A25000	MOVER can , byte ptr ds: (\$0.276)	cax: "AJN"
		0040ABCD	06924454 43	setne byte ptr ss:[esp+43]	
		200A.0400	F703	DEG EAK	cax: "Ath"
		0040Apo4	10<0	sbb eax, eax	cax. "Alh"
		0040A005	A9 18FC4F00	test_eax_as_client.4FFC18	eax: "hin"
		0040A006	8##3 74030000	new eas, dward ptr ds: [ebs+374]	eax: "him", [ebx:a374]:4" mi"
		0040ADE1	88:48 DC	now ecc, dword ptr ds:[eac+t]	
		0010ABE1	068191 04010000	mousx edw word pt# ds:[eck4108]	
		0040ABEE	06.954424 3A	setne byte ptr ss:[esp+3a]	
		D040ABFD	0350 20	add edw,dword ptr_ds:[eax:20]	
		0040.Abr 3	SYER R500000	wow al,byte ptr ds:[cbx:82]	
		0040.Apr 9	1915 AC9E5000	cmp_dword_ptn_ds:[505EAC]_eex	0500EAC:"5x\d01"
		0040.ADFF	069001	set] c]	
		0040AE02	8460	test al.al	
		0040.AE04	▼ 74 08	ie ac_lient.404ECE	
		0040AE06	3c 04	unp al,4	
		DOIDAFOR	V 0F45 7F000000	jre a. client.404680	
		DO40AE0E	840.9	test cl,cl	
		0040AE1D	V 71 78	jne acuellent 40460	
		0040AE12	8330 18725000 00	omp_dword_ptn_ds:[50E218],0	
		D0404F13	W 14 18	The ac client, 408E/b	

When reversing this code, we determined that the **call** to **0x4607c0** at **0x40ad9d** was responsible for loading the current player looked at into **eax**. If we step into this **call**, we can see that a **call** at the end is responsible for getting this value:

	 604507c0 604507c1 604507c1 604507c1 604507c1 604507c4 604507c4<	36:00 745:65000 374:55000000 374:578 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37	<pre>mov cc.,dwerd atr ds:[500841] mov al.,byte ptr cc:[sc+483] sub exp,A cush cci test ol,a) js sc,client.4607a0 cop al.,2 jnt ac.client.4607b5 mov exp,dwerd ptr ds:[500404] resp,dwerd ptr ds:[500404] cop dwerd ptr ds:[500404] is ac.client.460700 bor exp,dwerd ptr sc:[sc+48] ptsh d les eds,dwerd ptr sc:[sc+48] ptsh d les eds,dwerd ptr sc:[sc+48] ptsh d les eds,dwerd ptr sc:[sc+48] ptsh d les eds,dwerd ptr sc:[sc+48] ptsh exp add ecc,4 ptsh exp add ecc,4 ptsh exp add ecc.(hert,50400 ptsh exp add ecc.(hert,50400 ptsh exp add ecc.(hert,50400 ptsh exp add ecc.(hert,50400 ptsh ecc add ecc.(hert,504000 ptsh ecc add ecc.(hert,504000 ptsh ecc add ecc.(hert,5040000 ptsh ecc add ecc.(hert,50400000 ptsh ecc add ecc.(hert,50400000000000000000000000000000000000</pre>	ecco ", NeCSO43", 00504074:8" "34" 0050e4e4:47" Jan" Despu80: "114" odoc67:01/vc19" ecco ", NicSO43" erct 1, NicSO43" erct 1, NicSO43" ecco ", NicSO43"
CDC -	00450302	CK MALCLULL	call ac_client.1606/0	
	00450807	8304-14	ade esp.,14	
	 00420308 00450306 00450306 00450306 00450314 00450314 00450310 00450310 00450320 00450323 00450324 00450324 00450324 00450325 	83.04 108 G a3.00 104 80 85 07666666 87.6224 108 GLFA 108 80000 80000 030000 030000 030000 030000 030000 030000 030000 030000 0300000000	edd eac.,6 ret int3 add eac.,4 puch eac.,4 puch eac.,60 inu1 dword ptr an:[anp+8] car edu.,4 nov ecc.,edu sle mu.,1r puch #6 cdc exc.,edu puch #6 cot eac.,edu	[espa6]:""1M" ods:6"0J\dJ" ocs:",NeCS00", ods:6"0J\s19" ecs:",NeCS01", ods:6"0J\s19" ecs:",NeCS01", ods:6"0J\s19"

Stepping into this **call**, we can see that it is rather long with many loops and conditionals. As we step through the code, you will notice the following line:

	D046087D	830C 14	sub asp,14	
	0.046/05/3	AL 01145000	mov cast, dward star ds: [50:4:4]	0050F4F4:4" 19"
	0.46/05/5	D005 00E34090	fid st(0), dword ptr ds:[(tt:399)]	
	00460571	51	push elia	ebu: ""38"
	00460571	NATE:	fstp_dword_pte_dc:[edi]_ct(0)	
	00460551	53	push abo	
	00460552	8e5c34 28	mov abp, dword pur sa:[esp+25]	Lana, 191, tak z 🔒 :
	00460555	56	puch coli	
	0.460587	£74424 25 00000000	nov dword ptr sstlesp+201,9	
		3.00 X	rup chp cau	
P	00463391	▼ 74 18	je sojalisot. (60602	
	00465595	8038 0200000 00	omp byte ptr dr:[en++02],0	
p=====	00460394	■ 75 36	jne #c_client.460500	
11 1	00460396	864034 28	nov ecc.dword pur satifear+281	Tanna (11) - Salar (11)
	004605AD	685424 24	nov obtidword stm sstfess4241	c.sp-24 : 'Y+C50dD'
	0.046/05A4	51	DIGH OCH	004:", N+C3068"
	00460545	52	push edu	edu & 00\.d.5*
	00460545	3300	war ehn ehn	chu: ""38"
	004605A8	EX 11FOFFFF	call ac_climit.480300	
11 1	00460550	88-0	nov wit, east	
	D04625AF	8304 08	add cap 3	
	00462582	6R 6	tet ei,ei	
		9 74 1c	ja sajaliansid600:2	
	00460085	A1 (F4F45D01	move ease, dward ptur ds: [SDF4F4]	0050#4#4 (8°° 19°
	00463088	694424 20	now dword ptr ss:[esp+20],ess	
	00460884	8300-04	add east 4	
	00460863	8o4o 04	Tes out doord our as : [ebs+4]	
	004605c5	L8 10CREATE	call ac_client,40cm.0	
	004605CA	1910	fsta dward ate dsi[edi].st(9)	
	DOMOTICS	B04424 1D	nov exc., dword ptr ss:[esp+10]	[espa10]:8"04\a19"
	00463360	871.00	nov doord ctr ducters Lexi	
	00460360	3300	XX7 04X,04X	
	00460304	3905 00#55000	up dward pur dis[50#500],eas	
-	0046280%	895424 4c	and should be a set for a of the set	
(1),	10.460.0000	• 01-80, 080000000	file_ac_client.4607.46	
	1014002081	5m0# 1-0+4 5080	mov ecx, dward ptr ds:[50:4:0]	ecolit, Michdent, 10508080: 1891
	DOM60398.	503451	nov nat dward our datieca ena "41	COMPANY AND AND ADD
	00460065	8504	test esi esi	
p====	00460367	u 0=34 x2000000	je ac.,e1 jent, 460797	
	00460345	85	up esi, ebu	
ակակ				
dward par dup in	cclient.0050	1+1001-8		
482=0				
. best: 00450604	ac.elient.ex	e:160504 #5FA04		

From this, we can determine two things. The first is that **[0x50f500]** will hold the current number of players in the game. We will need this value later when we are iterating through all the players to aim at them. The second is that **eax** is being compared to this value, with a **jmp** below that executes if **eax** is less than this value. This means that we are most likely in code responsible for looping through all the active players. A few lines below, you will notice the following code:

	UU40U0A0	3008	xor ebx,ebx	COX: 1N
	004606A8	E8 13FDFFFF	call ac client,460300	
	004606AD	8800	mov esi,eax	
	004606AI	83c1 08	add esp,8	
	00460682	85+6	test esi,esi	
»	00460684	🚽 74 lc.	je_ac_client.460602	
	00460666	AL F4F45000	mov_eax,dword_ptr_ds:[50F4F4]	0050+4+4:
	004606BB	894424_2C	mov_dword_ptr_ss:[esp(2c],eax	
	004606 B ⊢	83c0 04	add cax,4	
	004606c2	8n4n 04	lea_ecx,dword_ptr_ss:[ebp+4]	
	004606c5	E8 16C5FAFF	call ac client,40CBE0	
	004606CA	0911	<pre>tstp_dword_ptr_ds:[cdi],st(0)</pre>	
	004606cc	884424 30	mov_eax,dword_ptr_ss:[esp+30]	[Lesp130]:
	004606b0	8930	mov_dword_ptr_ds:[eax],esi	
\rightarrow	004606b2	33c0	xor eax,eax	
	00460604	3905 00r55000	cmp_dword_ptr_ds:[50r500],eax	
	004606bA	894424_0c	mov_dword_ptr_ss:lespiCl.eax	
»	004606DE	✓ 0F8F C8000000	jle_ac_client.4607MC	
•	004606E4	880D F8F45000	mov_ecx,dword_ptr_ds:[50F4F8]	00506468:
	004606FA	883481	mov_esi,dword_ptr_ds:[ecxieax^4]	
$\rightarrow \cdot$	004606ED	85+6	test esi,esi	
	004606EF	💛 0г84 A2000000 📕	je ne_elfent.450707	
	004606i 5	3BF5	cmp_esi.ebp	

This code is loading a static memory address into **ecx** and then retrieving a new address based on that address's value combined with an offset from **eax**. This new value is then loaded into **esi**. The first time this loop occurs, the value of **esi** is 0:

	004-0671	BACK M	not can among per an (10 mm)		
	004-0674	0105 10134000	fle still, desviptr dis [Nik190]		iw connon
	004-06/7		fase deard str 4:(ati],st(0)		25,225
	004-0683	BACH 28	nov etc, deered ptr au [ess+24]	teachter an Br	E 2000 PD
					1
	004-0684	BER IL PROVIDE	On the same		101 0000/375
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	004-0410	- in common on	\$1 and \$1000, \$80000 -\$71.6		10P 004060 ac.r3
provide a second	004-0084	· 21.04	jrs ac_(list,40002		10.445 00000000
	0000-000000	894624 28	NOT BOX, MARY ST. CO. [CO. 4	(ct=3); (d < 1);	
	00000000	1010101	help the period has be referenced		1 E 1 # 1 5 1
	004-0645	8	puth etc.	ence Wilcom	untireer 0000012 (198
		61 [3494747			INSTITUTION CONDICAL CARA
	COD-CRAE CODE-CRAE	8010	HO: 013,028		10 222 11 212
11 .		694			13 807 57 808
	000-0646	AL 14H 5000	nor nan, deard ptr. do: [50/4/4]	0000-041.011291	1717 405/1000000000
	(Allaholasa)	86431,22	ness daniel ater too femalel.east		ST SHOULDS
	004-06c7	849 0	he eco, deerd ptr so [closed]		E R REPORT
111 :	CONTRACTOR A	ET LOCH WE	fails detering the day fail 1 of the		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
	Parada and a re-	BAATA NO.	new new, desced party new [annual bit]		The second secon
LLL_s:	004-0601	100	No deard por do [con].est		
	004-0054	H05 00131000	in dere per di [303001,eau		
	000-0004	0.04 (0.000 (0.000)	The weight best stations		Testine (closed)
	COMPLEX N	8400 18445000	nor ecs, deard ptr dis [50/4/8]		
au i	0000000	845	Cent est yest		It (mp-8) 00stal20
I [COMPLEX F	 0.84 x2000000 	34.44C-411449,480797		I marginerrow and
	4				1 (mp-1) 0004483 *

However, if we continue and execute the loop again, **esi** holds a different value:



If we examine **esi**'s value in the dump, we can see that it is always near an address that holds a player's name:



This is most likely the enemy player's structure in memory, as one of the values that will be held in this structure is the player's name. For now, we have identified that the list of enemies is held at **[0x50f4f8]**, with each enemy being at **[[0x50f4f8] + 4,8,C...]**. Once we find our player's structure, we will reverse exactly how the player structure is laid out in memory.

5.6.5 Locating Our Player

Next, we need to locate where our own player is stored in memory. Since we can never look at ourselves, we need to find our player in a different manner. Many games have a way to print your current position and view angle to the screen. In Assault Cube, this can be done with *dbgpos 1*. When turned on with *showstats 1*, the output looks like:



If your target does not have this feature, you will instead have to search for unknown values and then filter while carefully moving your mouse or player in a single direction. In Assault Cube, it looks like our view angle is represented by *yaw* (left and right) and *pitch* (up and down), with both values in degrees. We will need to keep this model in mind for later. For now, we know that our player structure will have to contain these values. In Cheat Engine, we can search for our yaw in memory and then see what accesses the address:



The **fstp** instruction copies a floating point number into the address specified. In this case, that address is based on **ecx**. If we examine this instruction in x64dbg and then view several lines above, we can find where **ecx** is being set:

	0045686.9	8905 5001 51 00	fld_st(0), deard ptr_ds:[\$101%]	
	AND SERVER	NCTA CORE COMPANY	T PARTA APPEND	+ 1
	00456801	0905 60015100	The st(0), drond ptr es:[310160]	
818	00456287	0000 71900000	nor eck.dword.ptr ds:15098741	0.009674:67 38*
	00450,800	IMDD 00F64FD0	That should a second pre-ds:[er-edg]	<u>+-</u>
	00450863	3300	ADT BER, BER	
	00430.063	9C1 2/	Fld at (0) at (0)	
	00436067	edita.	find strong strong	
	00436869	POLA PC CC	find second second	
	COMPACTOR D	10715. 10715	mult side terms	
	0045c8cc	6241 40	field sh(0) shared at a dealacers(0)	
	0645-5#2	e955 40	inter setol tenore bet, estincestol	
	0045 4+5	3905 6001 5100	cm dward ntr ds: [31016C].ess	
	ODASCRED	059460	cone al	
	00456866	\$04400 EE	las eas, dword ptr det[eas+eas+1]	
	0045c.002	194424 10	nov dword ptr ssilesu+101.eau	
	0045c906	004424 10	fild st(0).dword ptr ss:[espei0]	
	00450904	DECA	fmlp_st(0).st(0)	
	00450900	DECA	fmulp st(2),st(0)	
	0045c90c	0009	fmulp st(1),st(0)	
4	0045c910	p369 44	fsubr st(0) dword ptr ds:[ecx+44]	
	0045(913	p959 44	Extp dword ptr dx: [ecx+44], st(0)	
	00450916	E8 35FREEFE	call_ac_client.45C150	
4	00450918	AL #4#45000	nov eax, dword ptr ds: [50#4#4]	0050F4F4:&" JN"
	0045c920	1808	сир еск, еак	
	0045c922	✓ 74 10	is ac_client.45C90F	
	00450924	#3%8_38030000_01	cmp dward ptr ds:[#ex+338],1	
(00450928	¥ 74 12	je ac	
	0045C92D	0911 10	The st(0) dword ptr esilecting	
	00450930	0950 40	Tstp dword ptr cs:[cex+40] st(0)	
	00450933	0791 49	The study dword ptr ds:Lecx+141	A1004 C 4 C 4 C 1 C 1 C 1 C 1 C 1 C 1 C 1 C
	100414 916	46U0 F4F43000	form distant and size formately and	OUTGEAFARA IN
	OB45CV3C	0739 64 \C	rstp aware ptr cs: [ecx+m], st(0)	
	00450031	43r4 10	and see 10	Carita Al
	0045-048	c3	and the state	
	00457-014			
	00450045	ũ		
	00150046	ec.		
	001000101			
eex=778c1cBc				
dword ptr ds; [0	0509874 &"	"3N" 1-00c3A220 ""3N"		
.text:0045c807	ac_client.	ame:SSCBD7 #SecD7		

If we examine the memory pointed to by **[0x509b74]**, we see a structure identical to what we observed with enemies, with our player's name appearing near this address:

- Control - Prof. 4000 5280 - Control - Prof. 4000 5280 - Control - Prof. 4000 5280 - Control - Prof. 4000 - Control - Prof. 400 - C	Section and Control and Contro	-rasi*'be*', 86566/81&1'pe*	Less 0000000 215 000000 255 000000 255 000000 255 000000 25 0000000 25 000000 25 0000000 25 000000 25 000000 25 000000 25 0000000 25 00000000 25 00000000 25 00000000 25 00000000 25 000000000000000000000000000000000000
deced ptr dr: [rt_1]time. 00401000;-31			
.text:005080 ar;11et.ex:51000 #9000			
	Output Martin Dates 2 Martin 00 312 22.5		20. ac., c 1997, 1997 (2001 1998 - 50. acl., 40.32556 (From sell) All 10. acl., 40.32556 (From 777 10. ac., c 1997, 1997) 10. ac., c 1997, 1997 (1997) 10. ac., c 1997, 1997 10. ac., c 1997 10.

This most likely represents our player's structure. Since we have more control over the values in this structure, we can begin reversing it.

5.6.6 Reversing Player Structure

We know that the game must store data about each player in memory. This data will generally be in a continuous section of memory. In C or C++, this would be represented as a structure or a class. For example, a game might define the **Player** structure like:

```
struct Player {
    float x;
    float y;
    float z;
    float yaw;
    float pitch;
    char model_texture_path[128];
    char name[128];
    bool alive;
}
```

When viewed in x64dbg, this structure will appear as a long section of memory since data has no concept of its type. To identify this data, we will need to reverse the structure. x64dbg allows you to modify the data representation in the dump. The default view is hex with ASCII representation. We will start by trying to find the values for our position, which is represented by three float values. We can right-click and choose *Float* to have the dump data displayed in this format:

		63		Watch DWORD																			
100 Dawn																			12.0			-	tates and a st
4442 12000	n i	_													- 11	ump ·	1		- 00	mpo		82	watch 1
	_			Alloc	ate I	Men	югу								-						_		
Address	lle																ASC	TT					
-00c (A220	9.8		•	- ·											- 0	-40	.JN	.ø‰	lèT.C	🛽			
00c 3A230	-0¢	-	•	GD b	0									•	- 0	00	· · · ·						
00c 3A240	00														- 0	00							
00c3A250	00		•	Have											- 0	C0		. Ø%o F	tèrr, c	A			
00c3A260	57		·	nex											- 0	80	W.;	B I A	.				
-00CBA270	00														- 0	-40		٨	11.7	20			
00c 3A280	00			Tead										•	0	01.		03333					
00c 3A290	01														0	00							
0003A2A0	00														0	00							
00C 3A2B0	00	- 42		Integ	ger									•	0	00							
000 BA200	00														_ 0	00	c	R			l		
00c 1A200	00			- 1																			
00c 3A2E0	00	•		1 10041										•		fland.	Πu	al (32-l	il) —				
00C3A2E0	00																						
00c3A300	ГГ			Add	1955												12-14	tata in .	a kanta				
00c 3A310	00		•														Dot	Die (o	+ DIC)				
00c 1A320	06	_																					
00C3A330	01			Disa	99.91	nbily											Lon	a doub	de (60	-biD			
00c3A340	00																	2		· · · · ·			
00c3A350	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	01	00	00	00	0A	00	uu	-00							
00c BA360	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00							
00c 3A370	13	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	l						
00c0A380	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	l						
00c3A390	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	110	00	00	110	00	00							
00c 3A3A0	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00							
00c 3A3B0	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00							
00c 1A3c0	01	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00							
00c 1A3p0	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	ΰū	00	00	00	00	00							
00034350	00	aa	an	00	dū.	ao.	00	00	ao	00	10	aa	00	00	aa	00							
0000010000	00	-00	-00		00	00	0.0	00		-00	-00	- 00	01	00	-00	0.0							

Upon doing so, several values should jump out immediately, which represent our X, Y, and Z:

Control on and the second is control of the second s			
Janet Christian an a There are Radian Annan	The local day of the		
🖷 Bayl 🖷 Dayl 🗰 Dayl 🗰 Dayl 🗰 Dayl 👹 Wei			
2010 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1.	5-5-1-5-1		STR
Inclusion Parameter Parame	CONTRACT OF	E. P. AND S.	STE
		- Level	AT P
			en la
statistici (statistic) (statistic) (statistic) (statistic) 1 0 0 statistici (statistic) 1 0 0 0 statistici (statistic) 1 0 0 0			
CONTRACTOR LANGE LANGE AND	- 100	a 19**	

Similarly, our yaw and pitch are easily observable as well:



5.6.7 Changing our View Angle

At this point, we have all the offsets we need to start creating our aimbot. The first step is making a DLL that will continuously spin our player in a circle. We want to start with this to ensure that we have correctly located our player and reversed the player structure correctly. Like we have done previously, we will start by creating a thread that will run inside the game's process:

```
#include <Windows.h>
void injected_thread() {
    while (true) {
        //aimbot code
        Sleep(1);
    }
}
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
    if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
        CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)injected_thread,
NULL, 0, NULL);
    }
    return true;
}
```

We have covered this code several times in previous chapters. Next, we need to define our **Player** structure above our **injected_thread** function:

struct Player {
}

From our work before, we know that our X, Y, and Z members are at the **base+4**, **base+8**, and **base+C**, respectively. We don't know what the first 4 bytes represent, but we luckily don't need to. Instead, we can create a placeholder member that is an array of characters. We choose characters since they are 1 byte long. We can then create float members for our X, Y, and Z values:

```
struct Player {
    char unknown1[4];
    float x;
    float y;
    float z;
}
```

Next, we need to add in our **yaw** and **pitch** members. If we look at the memory, we see that **Z** ends at 0xc3a230 and **yaw** begins at 0xc3a260. Like the placeholder above, we will use a **char** member to add 0x30 bytes of padding before adding our **yaw** and **pitch**:

```
struct Player {
    char unknown1[4];
    float x;
    float y;
    float z;
    char unknown2[0x30];
    float yaw;
    float pitch;
}
```

We will then create a pointer from this structure that we will use to map the game's memory into later:

Player *player = NULL

With our structure created, we can now map the game's memory of the player to our structure. First, we will create a pointer to 0x509b74 in our **while** loop, since this represents the base address of our player:

```
DWORD *player_offset = (DWORD*)(0x509B74);
```

Next, we will dereference this pointer to get the value of the player's base address. We will then map the dereferenced address to our **Player** structure pointer. This will store the values we observed in the dump into this structure so that we can reference them in our code.

```
player = (Player*)(*player_offset);
```

Finally, we will increase the **yaw** member in a loop to cause our player to spin in a circle:

player->yaw++;

From here, we can build and inject this DLL. Our player will now spin around in a circle, showing that we have correctly reversed the player structure.

5.6.8 Aiming Left and Right

With all of this in place, we can create the first version of our aimbot. This version will aim left and right at a single opponent. When testing this out, make sure to create a two-player game, with you and a single bot. This will let you nail down the math.

First, we will use the same approach as before to map the first enemy into a **Player** structure. When reversing the code, we identified that the first enemy was at **+4**:

```
DWORD* enemy_list = (DWORD*)(0x50F4F8);
DWORD* enemy_offset = (DWORD*)(*enemy_list + 4);
Player* enemy = (Player*)(*enemy_offset);
```

One issue with our previous code was that we would crash if we were not in a game. That's because we were accessing memory that wasn't valid. To prevent this, we will check to make sure both of our pointers are valid before continuing: if (player != NULL && enemy != NULL) {



At the beginning of this chapter, we had the following graph:

In this graph, we knew the opposite and adjacent distances based on the enemy's position. However, as we have seen when reversing, our position is never (0, 0). Instead, the graph would look more like:



If we attempt to use the enemy's position, our calculations will be incorrect. Instead, we need to determine these values by subtracting the enemy's position from the player's position. This will give us values that will act as if the player is always at (0, 0), or the absolute position (**abspos**) between our player and the enemy:

```
float abspos_x = enemy->x - player->x;
float abspos_y = enemy->y - player->y;
```

Next, we can calculate the arctangent using the **atan2f** function. We use this function as opposed to **atanf**, as it takes care of the case in which **abspos_y** is less than 0. Since the inverse tangent is an unsigned operation (i.e., it doesn't have a concept of positive or negative), our aimbot would aim in the opposite direction if the enemy was directly behind us. We could manually check for this by checking **abspos_y**, but **atan2f** takes care of this calculation for us:

```
#include <math.h>
    ...
float azimuth_xy = atan2f(abspos_y, abspos_x);
```

The **atan2f** function produces a radian value. When reversing, we saw that the game represents our yaw as a degree value. To convert the radian to a degree value, we can multiply the radian by $(180 / \pi)$:

```
#define M_PI 3.14159265358979323846
...
float yaw = (float)(azimuth_xy * (180.0 / M_PI));
```

Finally, we can set our player's **yaw** to this value:

```
player->yaw = yaw;
```

If you inject this code into the game, you will notice that you aim close to the player, but always a consistent amount of pixels to the left or right, depending on where you are standing. This is because in our graphing model, we assumed that 0° was facing straight ahead. However, if you join a game without the hack, you will notice your player's starting yaw is 90°. To compensate for this, we can simply add **90** to our calculated yaw:

player->yaw = yaw + 90;

With this change, we can run around the map and constantly stay locked on a player. However, if we jump up and down or go up an incline, we will be aiming above or below the enemy. Our next step is to set our pitch (or up and down) value correctly.

5.6.9 Aiming Up and Down

When we first approached this problem, we quickly set our perspective as top-down to eliminate the Z axis. To calculate our up and down angle, we will now fix our perspective as right-left (i.e., on the right of the player, looking directly at the player's right side). The most important thing to note in our new graph below is the different axis values:



We can use a similar approach to the left and right angle to calculate the up and down angle. First, we will get the absolute distance:

```
float abspos_z = enemy->z - player->z;
```

Then, like before, we will calculate the inverse tangent. Unlike the yaw, our initial pitch starts at 0, so we don't need to add any value to it:

```
float azimuth_z = atan2f(abspos_z, abspos_y);
player->pitch = (float)(azimuth_z * (180.0 / M_PI));
```

If you inject this code, it will appear to initially work. However, when you get within arm's distance of an enemy, your player will suddenly look straight up or straight down. This is due to the game having very limited Z values. For example, most maps in the game have Z values between 0 and 6. When the value of Y gets too small, the resulting equation ends up being skewed. Imagine the case where the difference in Z values was 3 but the Y value difference was 1, or arctan(3 / 1). This resolves to 75°, which is effectively straight up in the air when it comes to pitch.

To account for this behavior, we will look at the value of Y and ensure that it is reasonably large. If it's not, we will use X. This is not perfect, but it will help alleviate some of the issues. We will also ensure that the value is positive, regardless:

```
if (abspos_y < 0) {
    abspos_y *= -1;
}
if (abspos_y < 5) {
    if (abspos_x < 0) {
        abspos_x *= -1;
        }
        abspos_y = abspos_x;
}</pre>
```

Now you will notice that you can run up directly to the enemy and your aim will not jump in the air. Our aimbot is now working for a single enemy.

5.6.10 Multiple Enemies

With this foundation down, we can modify our aimbot to work with multiple enemies. To do this, we will change the code to iterate through the enemy list, pick an enemy to aim at, and set our yaw and pitch to aim at them. To pick the enemy, we will choose to always select the enemy closest to us. This will not always be the best case. For example, if one enemy is down a hall and one enemy is behind a wall next to us, our aimbot will always pick the enemy behind the wall. However, for the purpose of this chapter, this method is the easiest to implement.

To find the enemy closest to us, we will calculate the Euclidean distance between our player and the enemy. The lower the value, the closer the enemy is to us:

```
float euclidean_distance(float x, float y) {
    return sqrtf((x * x) + (y * y));
}
```

Since we need to iterate over a list of enemies, we will create a variable to hold the closest enemy distance, as well as their associated yaw and pitch values:

```
while (true) {
    DWORD* player_offset = (DWORD*)(0x509B74);
    player = (Player*)(*player_offset);
    ...
    float closest_player = -1.0f;
    float closest_yaw = 0.0f;
    float closest_pitch = 0.0f;
```

At the beginning of this chapter, we determined the address that held the current number of players in the game. We can finally use that value now:

int* current_players = (int*)(0x50F500);

We can now iterate over all the enemies in the game. Unlike before, where we always added 4, we will now add the current loop index multiplied by 4, identically to how the game did it:

```
for (int i = 0; i < *current_players; i++) {
    DWORD* enemy_list = (DWORD*)(0x50F4F8);
    DWORD* enemy_offset = (DWORD*)(*enemy_list + (i*4));
    Player* enemy = (Player*)(*enemy_offset);</pre>
```

We can then calculate the absolute positions like we did before. However, before calculating the yaw or pitch, we will calculate the distance from our player to the enemy and ensure that they are the closest enemy. If they are, we will then set the **closest_player** value to their distance for future checks:

```
float temp_distance = euclidean_distance(abspos_x, abspos_y);
if (closest_player == -1.0f || temp_distance < closest_player) {
    closest_player = temp_distance;</pre>
```

Next, instead of directly setting the player's yaw and pitch, we will store these in our variables. Once we have iterated over all the enemies, we will set the player's yaw and pitch. This ensures that we aren't constantly flickering through multiple enemies:

```
closest_yaw = yaw + 90;
...
closest_pitch = (float)(azimuth_z * (180.0 / M_PI));
...
player->yaw = closest_yaw;
player->pitch = closest_pitch;
Sleep(1);
```

We now have a working aimbot that will iterate through multiple enemies and aim at the closest one correctly in the X and Y axis.

Finally, we can add a check to see if the enemy is alive, to ensure that we instantly switch from a target when we shoot them. This value can be found by observing the player structure for values that change when you are alive or dead. After killing yourself several times, you will notice that one value is set to 0 when you are alive and 1 when you are dead:

CIT 000000000000000000000000000000000000		They can dee find the the first terms of the first terms of the first terms of the first terms of the first terms of the decard to attach at the decard to attach at the decard to at the decard to	The encourse of pure de (1900)(11) The first of pure de (1900)(11) (10) (10) (10) (10) (10) (10) (10) (10)		Amuttobe You suicided!	
🗐 Dunp s	🖷 teret	🕮 Dana 3	🖷 twist	🛤 Daro (Market C	
443 (2003) 400 001,34 (20) 00 00 002,24 (20) 00 00 004,24 (20)			No. No. <td>11 </td> <td></td> <td></td>	11 		

We can add this to our player structure, ensuring that we correctly offset it:

float yaw; float pitch; char unknown3[0x2f0]; int dead;

};

We can then check this value in our initial check to ensure that the player and enemy are valid:

```
if (player != NULL && enemy != NULL && !enemy->dead) {
```

The full code is available in <u>Appendix A</u> for comparison.
5.7 No Recoil

5.7.1 **Target**

Our target for this chapter will be Assault Cube 1.2.0.2.

5.7.2 Identify

Our goal in this chapter is to create a no recoil hack, a type of hack that eliminates recoil when firing. Recoil is defined as the automatic upward motion of your player's view when firing a weapon.

5.7.3 Understand

When firing a weapon in an FPS, different effects are applied by most games:

- Recoil (up and down movement)
- Spread (crosshair widening, random distribution of shots)
- Pushback (player pushed in the opposite direction they are firing)

Our focus in this chapter is to remove recoil only.

In most games, these effects are applied consecutively after each shot is fired. Recoil generally works by increasing the player's up and down view angle by adding a certain value to it. Because view angles are usually floating point numbers, this operation will typically take the following assembled form:

fld recoil_amount	; load recoil amount into st(0)
fadd st(0), players_y_view_angle	; add recoil_amount to view angle
fstp players_y_view_angle, st(0)	; store result in view angle

Unlike integers, float values must be pushed on a special register stack to be operated on known as the FPU stack. However, like normal instructions, if this code is **nop**'d out, recoil will not be applied to the player. When firing a weapon, games execute several functions, including playing a sound, displaying a firing animation, and decreasing the player's ammo. These functions are often located near the function that applies recoil to the player's view. We can use these functions to help locate the recoil code. We have multiple approaches that we can use to locate this code. In this chapter, we will use the code responsible for decreasing the player's ammo, as this value is easy to search for.

5.7.4 Locating Firing Function

Start a game of Assault Cube and use Cheat Engine to locate your current ammo count, using the same approach discussed in <u>Chapter 1.5</u>. Once that is identified, attach x64dbg to Assault Cube and set a hardware breakpoint on write on the identified address. When you go back to Assault Cube and fire, the breakpoint should pop at the following location:

	 Notes Notes 	Hellioly Help	2 July
0045 0045 0045 0045	3707 - 3846 00 370A - 0F8F38 0A010000 3761 - 3856 18 3764 - 390A	<pre>mov_eax.dword_ptr_ds:[esi+0] movsx_ecx.word_ptr_ds:[eax+10A] mov_edx.dword_ptr_ds:[esi+19] mov_dword_ptr_ds:[edx].ecx</pre>	eax:"assault"
0046	37E6 5876 14	<pre>mov es1.dword ptr _ds:[es1+14]</pre>	
• 0046	37L9 FF0L	dec dword ptr ds:[es1]	
0046	57 B 57 37 C 58 74 24 14	push edi nev edi.dword ptr cos[cop.14]	edi : L''s -win-fo
= 0046	3710 807424 28	lea est dword ptr ss:[esp+28]	
0046	37r4 c8 87c3rere	call ac_client.481580	
= 0046	37F9 5F	pap edi	edi:t"s-win-fo
= 0016	37FA 5E	pop esi	
= 0016	37F8 80 01	mov al,1	
= 0016	d/FD 36	pop eux	
0016	37FE 88E5	mov esp,eop	
0046	3800 30	pop eop	
0046	3801 C2 0400	ret 4	
0046	3504 OC	1022	
0046	0303 CC	CTRF C	

We can see that this code is responsible for decreasing the ammo count. If we step out of this code using execute until return/step, we see that the calling location is here:

U 📑 Log	Notes	Beakpoints	💷 Henory Hap 📑	Cell Sack	🐒 SEH	Scipt	Symbol
	Notes Obi64554 Obi64574 Obi64574 Obi64574 Obi64574 Obi64670 Obi64610 Obi64610 Obi64610 Obi64610 Obi64610 Obi64610 Obi64610 Obi64610 Obi64611 Obi64	Beakpoints 55 57 51 57 51 56 56 57 51 56 56 56 56 56 56 56 56 56 56	Menory Map	Call Sack ds: [eax+C] r ds: [es1+34 1610 r ds: [ec1] r ds: [es1] r ds: [es1] r ds: [es1] r ds: [eax+c] 131 r ds: [eax+c] 1410 1510	92 SDH 8]]	Scipt ecx δ [*] / ecx δ [*] / (es [*]):δ [*] ecx δ [*] / (es [*]):δ [*] ecx δ [*] / (es [*]):δ [*]	Symbol 3 ¹⁰ , ebx:2 ¹⁰ ()3 ¹⁰ , A ²⁰ ()3 ¹⁰ , A ²⁰ ()3 ¹⁰ , A ²⁰ ()3 ¹⁰ , ebx:3 ¹⁰ ()3 ¹⁰ , ebx:3 ¹⁰ ()4 ¹⁰ (x28 ¹⁰) ()4 ¹⁰ (x28 ¹⁰) () ¹⁰ , es1:1 ¹⁰ () ¹⁰ , es1:1 ¹⁰

Next, let's determine our context in the code. We want to determine if we are in the code responsible only for setting the ammo count or if we are in the general firing code. We can do this by setting a breakpoint on the **call edx** instruction. After that, we can see that this code is called constantly, whether we are firing or not. This means that we are too high-level and we will need to dig into this function.

If we step into the **call** after the breakpoint is triggered, we can see that the function has several branches:

N	and the second second		Laurah aka	
	COLOR S AN	22	push cop	
	50463901	38.80	nov espiesp	
	00465505	43E4 F8	and wap, FEFFFFB	
	00463505	asec 24	subjesp, 🕰	
	00163909	53	sush eba	cost 6 A.
	00463504	35	push eșt	1831:7 387
	00463505	45 F1	nov est, ecs	est: [] JN ecx: 6" AF"
	20163939	8800 AC985000	nov ecx, dword ptr ds:[S03EA0]	6CK16" AF"
	00463613	8856 18	nov_edg,dword_ptr_ds:[es1+]8]	edik: "Ukt [Kajt \$exch: \ r=2P"
	00463515	37	push edit	
	00463517	8570 08	[nov edi,dword p€r_ds:[esi+8]	spi+5: MPC0
	00463614	Jaci .	FOV 68X, CCK	east with ecxies we
	00463610	26.87 10020000	sub eax, dword ptr _ds:[ed]+2101	NAK: AF
	00463522	897424 10	nov dword ptr ss:[esp+10].esi	
	00463525	25:02	and eax, deproiper dat [eds]	eax:" AF", edx:"Uki∫äeji\$5Vkñr\mi2P"
	00463528 -	78 17	js_ac_client.463661	
	C0463626	1306	sor ebx ella	HOX: 6 AFT
	00463520	8950 20	now dword pin ds:[esi+20],ebx	ebx: S AF"
	0046352F	3914	row dword ptr ds:[ecx].ecx	edx:[U(1[#2]133V(h(\r-2P"], BDX:6" AF"
	\$0461511	48.56 Cd	nov edx, dvord per ds: [es1+3]	edx: "ucif#aji\$xvch()r-2P", esi+8:"ebi#"
	00463534	1850A 24020000	cmp byte ptr ds:[eds+274],b1	
	00463534	75 40	jne_ac_client.46366C	
	10103530	4956 1C	nov dword ptr ds:[es1+15].esx	60X10 0F
	C04616161F	1910 00015100	cub dword bir gr:[210100]'eox	NDX: 0, VE.
	00463545	(4 1A	je ac_criant.463661	A CRU REPORT AND A CRU REPORT AND A REPORT AND A REPORT
	00463547	3515 F4F45000	[cmp_edx_dword_ptr_ds:[507474]	[edx:"0/1]ae)135//m//m2P", 0050F4F4:8" 39"
	C0463640 *	19.12	JUN NC_CLINUT. 101001	
	C046354F	3146 14	row esc, dword per ds:[es1+14]	WAX: AF
	204655552	1018	cap dword per as (feax) test	Vax: AF, EDX:8 AF
	00465554	19,99	jne ac. client. 463661	A CONTRACTOR OF A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCR
	SIMILIANS CONTRACTOR	A	rov eox, avono per de: [es1]	least netlestration (n-set less less wine/ster.
	00103033	41.42 10		BAX: AF
	00463555	64 01	push 1	

If we step through the code, we can see that the **jmp** at **0x46363A** is not taken if we are not firing:

	\$016,3617	887E US	rov earlowern ptr ostlestial	ecution news, resultantion news
+	00463614	88.CL	nov eax.ecx	
*	00163610	28.87 10020000	sub eax dword ptr ds:[ed]+2101	[edi+210]:L_s-vin-font-fontgroups-11-
	90163622	897424 10	nov avora ptr ss:[esp+10]_est	[coberrol : 6 AF
÷	\$6163626	28/02	sus eax overn ptr ds:[emu]	feard re.iviue/ste
	20103028	- 78 17	12 9C_C116U2101001	
	00103029	3306 995- 70	ABE CDX (CFA	
	20403020	0536 20	and dword per ds. rest#201,000	Tardwith APP on PARty 1872
-	00463531	SH 56 04	now ody descripte do: [osd+3]	advintur fact 81 minut
	00463534	3808 24020000	and byte other day feely 12241, b1	eck: SH , [estroj: SH
	00463534	w. 75 30	ing as of jant, 46366C	
	0046353C	8950 lc	nov dword ptr_ds:[esi+10].ebx	
- L	- 15 6 8 6 8 F	3010 00015100		
(*************************************	00463645	v 74 1A	je_ac_client.483681	
	00463647	3815 04045000	enpledx.dyord_ptr_ds:[S0F4F4]	eck: 3N, 0050F4F4:5" 3N
1	00463640	× 35 12	jne_ac_client.483681	
	00463640	85.45 34	row eax dward ptr_ds:[esi+14]	
	00103052	3918	ctp dword ptr ds:[eax],ebx	
	00103039	M (2.98	Ine ac_client.453651	ashed front front and
	00463656	100.10 (m.4.) 10	nov edx, dvord ptr ds: [esh]	ecx: IN., Desil: VE.
	00103030	A. A1	nov eax, over a per de: [eos+ic]	
	contraine and 1	104 01	laneu a	

If we change this to a **jmp** and go back in the game, we will notice that our player now fires constantly, even if we are holding down the mouse button. This **jmp** appears to be

responsible for checking if the player is firing. If we follow this **jmp**, we can see that it jumps past a return statement and to the following instruction:

i 🚽 Lyre	- Notes	Creat painta	Homeny Hap 🚽 Call Glade 🌱 🔂 🔂 👘	Saript 🐴 Symbols 🕓 Source
	00403500	88.50 80905000	new adjudward atr ds:[SDIEIC]	lwdi: "" 0H"
	004415572	36 C7	uno est edi	adi: "DH"
	00106 28 15 U	76 62	il an aliant, tage 18	
	00463576	86.07	nov eat.edi	adi: "CON"
ي (ا	00463578	28 C3	sub echieux	
	0046357A	88 F9	mov adi,acx	wdi: "CON"
	0046357C	52	push eda	wdx: " 3N"
	00463570	850F	nov ebs.edi	edi:""JN"
	0046357F	D8 1CBEFFFF	call ac_client.45F3A0	
	00463584	88.46 14	<pre>mov ecu,dword pin ds:[esi+14]</pre>	
	00463537	3306	sor ets ,ets	
	00103689	8803-04	add esp.d	
	0010368C	3919	cmp_dword_ptr_ds:[ecx].ebx	
-	00103635	75 21	jne_ac_client.483701	
	00463690	KA. 18	push 10	
	00163692	NR 20194E00	push ac_client.4E182C	
	0046.8897	IA CB	push B	
	0046.8899	F& 12CEFBFF	call ac_client.420480	
	0046 KNE	NV FF	TIdz	
	0046.650	RICA DC	add_asp.c	
	00163683	53	push eba	
	00463644	51	push era	
	00/16/16/15	191624	TATE dword ptr ss:[esp],st(D)	
	00463648	GA 01	push 1	
	002953684	RD1121 IC	lea ess, avord pro sa: [esp+16]	
	00103636	RD1R IN	lea ecu, dward ptr dat [ecu+id]	- 44 - 112 30.0
	00103681	RE GREESLOD	NOV editac_client.Sices8	601: 1.18
	002003000	CTAILS IN DESCRIPTION	mov gword pri sk:[exp+20],eox	10000000 1000 20
	201020000	CANNER DO DODENECO	www.www.a.ptr ssilespilej.ac.clienc.hep-	LENEDA! ENT
	004635/2	50 46 15	CALL ACCONTRACTOR	and all for Direct T
	5516 15 L	6100 5400cnc0	add deerd rin, dr. Lawy1 Ed	COLLTRA A.I
	00463500	64.50 CB	more and depend and declared with	adv: 111141 - Fast 451 - 111141
	00100000	00.00 00	I HALL CHALMINE A DEL COLLEGE (40 (40)	lawu su i fasitali su
1	4			

When we set a breakpoint on this instruction, we see that this code is only called when we are actively firing.

5.7.5 Locating Recoil

We have now found the beginning of the weapon firing code. We could also see that one of the final instructions in the weapon firing code is responsible for decreasing the ammo. Therefore, somewhere between these two instructions is the code responsible for adding recoil.

While we could step through this code to identify the instruction, we can use a quicker approach. We know that the recoil instruction must modify the player's yaw value. After we hit our breakpoint on our weapon firing, if we then set a breakpoint on the yaw value, we can continue execution and wait for the breakpoint to pop. This prevents us from stepping through a large amount of code.

It's important that we only set the breakpoint on the yaw value after the firing code is started. Assault Cube, like many other games, constantly writes to the yaw value. If we just set a breakpoint on it without being in the firing code, we will end up in another section of code. We can locate the address of the yaw value using the same approach discussed in the previous chapter or by searching for it in Cheat Engine. After that, set a breakpoint on the start of the firing code at **0x46366C**. Then, fire a single shot so the breakpoint pops. When it does, set a breakpoint on write on the address of the yaw value. Continue execution and the write breakpoint should pop at the following code:



We can see that this code matches the pattern we expected. In this particular code, **dword ptr ds:[ebx+0x44]** is responsible for holding the player's yaw value. The recoil value is held on the top of the FPU stack, which is pointed to by **st0**.

The operation to calculate recoil appears to be composed of several instructions. While we could investigate the exact way in which the recoil is set, we can skip that process to make a no recoil hack and simply prevent the recoil value from being placed in the player's yaw value.

The **fstp** instruction is responsible for popping the top value off the FPU stack into the provided address. Since we do not want to corrupt the stack, we do not want to **nop** this instruction, as the stack would then have an extra value on it. Instead, we will just

pop the value off the top of the stack into **st0**. Since **st0** is then set in the next instruction, this will result in the value effectively disappearing:

+	0045BAA5	DEC9	fmulp_st(1),st(0)	
	001357077	0048 40	Thui still, award pir ds:[ebx+40]	[ebx+4C]:"Eñw\x03"
•	001580.00	D843 44	tacd st(D), dword ptr ds:[ebx+44]	
	00456AAD	C008	fstp_st(0),st(0)	
•	00456AAF	90		
	00458480	D905 80E44E00	Tid st(0), dword ptr ds:[4LE480]	
	DO A CD AD R	0.001	2444 Aug 1222 1 22710	
	00435456		faul at (D) due of ata des[abuad@]	Edward 21 (1923a) with 1
- T	00435858		first depend at a design del at (0)	Laboratel (PRXa) with
	00135650	0773 40 0905 20582500	fid at (0) damed at a des [475677]	[epartic] : particol .
	201552206	0200 70204200	From at (0) at (1)	
	00458ac8	DECO	firstswav	
	00458ACA	1604 41	Test ah 41	
	00458ACD	v 75 10	ing ac client 4584FF	
	00458ACE	0801	from $st(0)$, $st(1)$	
	00458AD1	DEED	fistsw ax	
	0045BAD3	0009	fstp_st(1).st(0)	
+	0015BAD5	FGC1 41	test ah.41	
	00155/08	# 75 27	ine_ac_client.458801	
	00458ADA	88.88 74030000	mov_ecs, dword_ptr_ds:[ebs+374]	
-	00456AD0	8651 GC	mov_edx_dword_ptr_ds:[ecx+C]	
•	00458AE3	OFBE82 24010000	movsx_eax,word_ptr_ds![edx+124]	
•	00458AEA	894424 30	moy dward ptr ss:[esp+30] eax	
+	0045BAEE	DB4424_3C	[fild st(0),dword ptr ss:[esp+3t]	
+	00458AF2	D30D B4E24E00	[fru] st(0),dword ptr ds:[4EE284]	
+	00458AF8	DEE9	fsubp_st(1).st(0)	- - - - - - - - - - -
+	0045BAFA	C958_4C	<pre>fstp dword ptr ds:[ebx+10].st(0)</pre>	[ebx+1C];"DAw\x03"
<u> </u>	00155AFD	* E6 C4	jrp_ac_client.456803	
	DOUSSBAFF	CODS	Terp sc(b), sr(c)	
	00956801	CODS	Terb sc(b) sc(c)	
	00455803	0350 40	1102 discourse of COX, discourd and a disc. False add 0.7	Preference dig 21 + 200 Revolute 2012 2
- 0	00458805	L 0358 4C	Tread stin) amount but as feasted	Fextx+ec1: new/arra

With this change made, you will notice that you no longer have any recoil in the game.

5.7.6 Changing Recoil

Finally, we can write a DLL to make this change automatically. Since this hack only requires us to change bytes at an instruction, we can use the same template we covered in <u>Chapter 4.2</u>. For this hack, we will change the code for editing the bytes at **0x45BAAD** to the identical values we observed in x64dbg:

```
#include <Windows.h>
unsigned char new_bytes[3] = { 0xDD, 0xD8, 0x90 };
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
    DWORD old_protect;
    unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x45BAAD;
    if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
        VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 3, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
        &old_protect);
        for (int i = 0; i < sizeof(new_bytes); i++) {</pre>
```

```
*(hook_location + i) = new_bytes[i];
        }
        return true;
}
```

The code for this hack is also available in <u>Appendix A</u>.

5.8 Radar Hack

5.8.1 Target

Our target for this chapter will be Assault Cube 1.2.0.2.

5.8.2 Identify

Our goal in this chapter is to create a radar hack, a type of hack that displays both enemies and friendly players on the radar.



5.8.3 Understand

Many FPS games have a radar that will display an icon for each player on top of a scaled-down version of the current map. When playing in a game with teams, these radars will only show the players on the same team as the active player. In <u>Chapter 5.6</u>, we discovered the location of the list of players in the game. The code for most games will iterate over this list when drawing a player's icon on the radar, in a similar manner to the following block:

```
void draw_radar() {
   for(int i = 0; i < max_players; i++) {
      if(player_list[i]->team == current_player->team) {
            //draw on radar
      }
   }
}
```

If we locate this code, we can change the if conditional to always draw the player on the radar regardless of the team. To locate the code, we will first need to identify the **team** member in our player structure. Then, we can set a breakpoint on access to identify where this member is accessed in code.

5.8.4 Locate Player's Team

We can use two approaches to locate the player's team in the player structure:

- 1. Use Cheat Engine and search for an *Unknown initial value*. Then, alternate between teams and search for *Changed value*.
- 2. Use x64dbg and locate the player's structure in a dump. Then, alternate between teams and search for a member that changes.

We have covered both of these approaches in past chapters. Using the techniques discussed previously, you should be able to identify a member that alternates between 0 and 1 depending on your team. This member is relatively close to the member we identified previously that held whether the player was alive or not.

5.8.5 Locate Radar Function

We know that the radar function must access the player's team. Therefore, we can place a breakpoint on access on the team member we just identified. Immediately, the breakpoint should pop. However, if you continue execution several times, you should see that the breakpoint pops in completely different sections of code. This is most likely because several sections of code access this member. Our next step is identifying the section of code responsible for drawing the radar.

We can assume a few things about the code we are looking for, based on the pseudo code we described above:

- 1. It will have a **cmp** (or **test**) instruction followed by a conditional jump (**je**, **jne**, **jg**, etc.).
- 2. It will either call a function or have a fair amount of code, due to the many operations involved.
- 3. It will most likely make use of the floating point operations (**fld**, **fstp**) to position the icon on the radar.

We can use these features to help figure out which location we care about in the code.

Because we are interrupting program execution, the breakpoints will not pop in a consistent manner. In this chapter, we will examine each piece of code in the order they were encountered when writing the chapter. In your environment, the order of pops will most likely be different.

The first pop occurs at the following code:

			······································	and the state of t
$\rightarrow -$	00415310	3897 ZC030000	<pre>cmp_edx,dword_ptr_ds:[edi+32C]</pre>	
	00415322 *	75 10	jne_ac_client.415334	
	00415324	88C7	mov eax,edi	edri : "AJN"
	00415326	E8 F5FCFEFF	call ac_client.405020	
	00415328	SE	pop est	
	00415320	50	pop ebp	
	00415320	58	pop ebx	ebx:"A108@:08"
	00415320	8304 58	add esp, 58	
	00415331	C3	ret	
	00415332	DOD8	fstp st(0).st(0)	
$\rightarrow \circ$	00415334	5E	pop esi	
	00415335	50	pop ebp	
	00415335	58	pop ebx	ebx:"Ái¢s@:ós"
	00415337	8364 58	add esp.58	
	0041533A	C3		
	00415338	cc	int3	

This initially looks like it checks off several of the conditions we care about. However, if we **nop** the **jne** instruction at **0x415322**, we notice that there is no change in the game. If you explore the **call** at **0x415326**, you should see the following code:

	00405020	8500	Test edx.eax	
S	004050E2	· 73 10	jne_ac_client,405100	
	004050±4	0968	f1d1	
	00405056	50	push eax	
	004050E7	51	push ecx	ecks* JN*
	00405018	091024	fstp dword ptr ss:[esp].st(0)	[esp]:&" AF"
	00405 GFR	50	push eas	
	004050EC	3208	kor b1.b1	
	004050EE	BS FS184E00	nov_eax,ac_client.471878	4E18E8: "packages/misc/com.png"
	00405053	ES 88939100	call ac_clfent.416480	
	00405078	83C4 CC	add esp.c	ч <u> </u>
	004050FR	A3 E0CE \$1.00	nov dword ptr ds:[S16560], eax	
	00405100	DE CS R7 E1 5000	#11d st(0) dynad ats ds [[001301]	

From this string constant, we can assume that this code has something to do with drawing the voice chat (or communication) symbols on the radar. Now we will continue on to the next location:



For our immediate reversing purpose, testing a register against itself is the same as comparing the register to 0. Here, we see that the code executes a branch if the player's team is set to 0, or the CLA team. The radar drawing operation should execute according to the value stored in the player's structure, not a static value. Now we can move on to the next location:



Examining this code, we see that it is doing an operation similar to the previous code. After loading in the value of the player's team to **ecx**, the code compares this value to 1, or the RSVF team with the **test cl, 1** instruction. The same logic applies here as it does in the paragraph above, so let's examine the next location:

	VOTO SEAL	ALA2 20070000	114 46751 141121 40245	
1	00409FA7	SBS7 20030000	mov_eax.dword_ptr_ds;[ed1+32t]	
	00409EAD	3986 2c030000	ctp_dword_ptr_ds:[es1+32c].eax	
\rightarrow	00409683	-0F85 4A010000	ine ac_client.40Al03	
	00409F89	85 c0	test eax.eax	
11	00409F88 +	74 09	ie ac client.409FCS	
	00409F6D	83F8 01	CTD CAX.1	
	00409FC0 +	OF85 30010000	ine ac client.40A103	
1 I	 00409FC5	5847 04	mpy eax.dword ptr ds:[ed1+4]	edi+4:"Alese:de"
11	00409FC9	5841 05	mov ecx_dword_ptr_ds:[ed1+8]	ed1+81"9166"
11	00409FCC	8857 OC	mov edy dword prr ds:[ed1+C]	
l i	00409ECE	891424 78	mov_dword_otr_ss:less+781.esx	
	00409ED3	091424 78	Fld st(0), dward ptr ss:[esp+78]	
	00409FD7	0866 04	fsub_st(0).dword_otr_ds:[esi+1]	
	00409FDA	894C24 7C	mov dword ptr ss:[espe/Cl.ecx	
	00409FDE	599424 80000000	mpy dword ptr ss:[esp+30].edu	
1.1	00409015	095424 78	fst dword orr ss: leso+781.st(0)	
11	00409(169	584424 78	mov eax dword orn ss:[esp+78]	
11	00409650	091424 7c	[]d st(0) dward ptr ss:[esp+7c]	
1 I	00409651	898424 84000000	mov dword ptr ss:[esp+341.eax	
11	00409658	0866 08	fsub_st(0).dword_otr_ds:[esi+8]	
	00409658	095424 7c	fst_dword_otr_ss:[esp+72].st(0)	
1 i	00409655	884r24 7c	nov ery dword ntr ss [esn+20]	
11	00404003	098424 80000000	fld st(0) dward ntr sst[esp+80]	
11	00404004	51	push ecx	
11	00404008	0855 OC	[sub_st(0).dword_ptr_ds:[esi+C]	
Τ!	0040400E	398c24 8c00000	mov dword ptr ss: [esp+30].ecx	
	0040A015	099424 84000000	fst dword otr ss: [eso+84].st(0)	

Like our first location, this looks like a promising candidate. The **cmp** instruction at the top compares our current player's team against **eax**, which appears to be loading the same team offset from another data structure, potentially another player. We also see several floating point operations that may be responsible for placing the icon on the radar. Let's see what happens if we **nop** out the **jne** instruction:

•	C0409FAD	3986 20030000	cmp dword ptr ds:[esi+32C],eax
	C0409FB3	90	nop
	C0409FB4		nop
	CO409F85		nop
	CO409FB5		nop
	00409гв7		nop
•	CO409FBB	90	nop
	CO409FB9	85C0	test eax,eax
, ©	C0409F88 🚽 🛩	74 09	je_ac_client.409FC5
	C0409F6D	83FB 01	CMD eax.1
e	C0409FC0 -	0F85 3D010000	ine ac client.40A103

If you go back into Assault Cube, you should notice that you can now see every player on the radar, including the ones that are not on your team. We have found our responsible radar code.

5.8.6 Changing the Code

Since this hack only requires us to write bytes to a memory address, we can use the same technique as discussed in <u>Chapter 5.7</u>:

#include <Windows.h>

```
unsigned char new_bytes[3] = { 0x90, 0x90, 0x90, 0x90, 0x90 };
```

```
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
    DWORD old_protect;
    unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x409FB3;
    if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
        VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 5, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
        for (int i = 0; i < sizeof(new_bytes); i++) {
            *(hook_location + i) = new_bytes[i];
            }
        return true;
}</pre>
```

5.9 ESP

5.9.1 **Target**

Our target for this chapter will be Assault Cube 1.2.0.2.

5.9.2 Identify

Our goal in this chapter is to create an ESP hack, a type of hack that displays player information above their heads. This information includes the player's health, name, or current weapon in use, and it is also displayed through walls.

5.9.3 Understand

In <u>Chapter 5.6</u>, we created an aimbot, which worked by calculating the angle between our player and an enemy and then setting our player's current view angle to that calculated angle. For games where a camera is always bound to our player's view, such as an FPS, we can use these same angles to create an ESP.

Instead of setting our player's view angle, we will use the difference in these angles to convert the enemy's 3D location in the world to a 2D position relative to our player's view. We will then draw text at this position.

The method discussed in this chapter has several drawbacks, but it demonstrates the basic concepts used in an ESP. A more accurate approach is to use the game's viewmatrix.

5.9.4 Viewports

Take the following scene from Assault Cube:



We know from the previous chapter that the enemy we see in the scene above has a 3D position in the world represented by X, Y, and Z coordinates. However, when we are playing Assault Cube, the game needs to display this enemy on a monitor, which is two-dimensional. To do this, the game will choose a static view of the world, called a viewport. In this case, the viewport is tied to the player model that we are controlling. The game will then use this viewport to determine where 3D objects in the world should be displayed.

A good way to visualize a viewport is to imagine a movie set. When filming a movie, the set has actors, sound fixtures, lighting fixtures, and people and fixtures responsible for practical effects. However, none of this extra information is shown when you watch the movie, as the only view of this 3D world (the set) that you can access is the camera filming a specific section. In this analogy, the camera is acting as your viewport into the movie set's 3D world.

By moving around in the world, we are adjusting our viewport's position. For example, by moving to the right of the position shown in the scene above, we have the following scene:



We can see that the enemy has not moved, but his model is now being displayed on the left side of our screen. This is because when we moved our player, we also moved our viewport into this world to a different position.

5.9.5 World to Screen

Like we did when developing our aimbot, we will simplify our ESP development by first isolating the X (or left and right) value. After we have figured out how to calculate this value, we can add our Y (up and down value). We will also develop our hack for a single enemy and then add support for multiple enemies.

In this chapter, we will assume that you are running Assault Cube in a window of 1024x768. This means that our window is 1024 pixels wide and 768 pixels high. Depending on where your viewport is in the world, the enemy will appear at certain pixel values when the scene is rendered. For example, take the following scene where we are looking at the enemy:



In this case, the enemy is in the middle of our screen, or 1024 / 2. This means that the enemy is at (roughly) the 512th pixel. When we move our player left, the enemy will now appear on the far right of our screen:



It is hard to identify the exact pixel that the enemy is at here, but we can assume it is roughly 1000. Likewise, if we move right, the enemy will appear on the far left of our screen:



Here the enemy starts at roughly 100 pixels.

We can represent these different scenarios in a series of equations. Since the default view has the middle of our viewport lining up to the middle of our screen, we want to find a value S such that all these equations below will be satisfied:

512 = 512 + S 100 = 512 + S 1000 = 512 + S

There is no constant value of S that will make all these equations true. We need a way for S to be both negative and positive and represent values from roughly -400 to 0 to 400. To achieve this, we can expand S out into a multiplication of two values, as shown below:

512 = 512 + (A * F)100 = 512 + (A * F)1000 = 512 + (A * F)

In these equations, A will be tied to how far the enemy is from our viewport's center, and F will be a static scaling value. If we are looking directly at the enemy, A will be 0, making our first equation true. If we are looking to the right of the enemy, (A * F) will produce a negative value to subtract from 512. Likewise, if we are looking to the left, (A * F) will produce a positive value to add to 512.

5.9.6 Scaling Values

Next, we need to determine the values of A and F. When writing our aimbot, we determined our current player's yaw as well as the yaw needed to aim at an enemy. In that case, we then set our current player's yaw to the latter yaw. However, for this hack, we can use the difference between these values as a value for A above. The larger the difference between these values is, the farther away the enemy is from the center of our screen.

We can use our aimbot code to determine what these values look like in the game. In our aimbot code, we calculated the yaw via:

```
float abspos_x = enemy->x - player->x;
float abspos_y = enemy->y - player->y;
```

```
float azimuth_xy = atan2f(abspos_y, abspos_x);
float yaw = (float)(azimuth_xy * (180.0 / M_PI));
yaw += 90;
```

Unlike in the aimbot, where we set **player->yaw = yaw**, we will instead calculate the difference between these yaws:

```
float yaw_dif = player->yaw - yaw;
```

We can use Visual Studio's built-in debugger to see what this value is. First, build your DLL as normal. Then, open up Assault Cube, create a two-player game just like we did in <u>Chapter 5.6</u>, and inject the DLL with a DLL injector. With our DLL injected, go into Visual Studio and choose *Debug -> Attach to Process*:

Project Build	Deb	oug	Test	Analyze	Tools	Extensions	Windo	w	Hel
▷ - 역 - Del		Win Gra	ndows phics) 	-	Auto
eq_thread() { rue) { RD* player_off ver = (Player* RD* enemy_list RD* enemy_offs		Star Star Perf Rela Atta Rea Oth	t Debug t Withou formance aunch Pe ach to Pr ttach to er Debu	iging ut Debuggir e Profiler erformance I ocess Process a Targets	ng Profiler	F5 Ctrl+F5 Alt+F2 Shift+Alt Ctrl+Alt+ Shift+Alt	:+F2 -P :+P		
ver* enemy = ([player != NUL float abspos_	÷٠ ۲۰	Ster Ster	o Into o Over	knoint		F11 F10			

dh to Process					?	
onnection type:	Default					
connection target	MSEDGE	WIN10		v	Find	
enne fra trea informat	ien.					
The default connection ((MSV5MON.EXE).	lets you se	dect processes on this computer or a	complexampler running th	e Vistaal Studio Remote Debuy	jgra	
mach to:	Automa	do: Native code			Select.	
vailable processes				Filter processes	£) -
Process	ID.	Title	type	User Name	Session	^
ac_client.exe	734	AssaultOube	¥86	MSEDGEWIN 10\/EUker	1	
ApplicationFrameHos	11960		x64	MSEDGEWIN10\/EUser	1	
conhost.exe	404		x64	MSEDGEWIN10VEUser	1	
conhostlexe	5188		×6-1	MSEDGEWIN10VEUser	1	
conhostexe	7112		×6-1	MSEDGEWIN10VEUser	1	
conhost.exe	3116		×64	MSEDGEWIN10\/EUser	1	
conhost.exe	3460		x64	MSEDGEWIN10/EUser	1	
conhostlexe	8204		x64	MSEDGEWIN10VEUser	1	
conhost.exe	8964		x64	MSEDGEWIN10VEUser 1	1	
conhostexe	9032		×64	MSEDGEWIN10VEUser	1	
conhost.exe	4304		x64	MSEDGEWIN10\/EUker_1	1	
conhost.exe	464		x64	MSEDGEWIN10/EUser	1	¥
Show processes from	al users				Refresh	
				Attach	Cancel	

Next, choose the Assault Cube process, *ac_client*:

With this done, you can set breakpoints on your DLL code in an identical manner to how we did previously for regular executable code. If you put a breakpoint on the line assigning **yaw_dif**, you can see its value in the *Autos* window at the bottom of Visual Studio:



With this set up, we can now get our **yaw_dif** values. Repeat the same scenarios that we discussed above (looking at, far left, and far right) and get the corresponding **yaw_dif** values for each:

Looking at enemy: yaw_dif -0.307769775 Enemy on far left of screen: yaw_dif 34.9015427 Enemy on far right of screen: yaw_dif -39.5185280

Depending on where you stand in the map, your values may be different. For the sake of this chapter, we will use the values above for our equations. Let's plug these values into our equations as the value for A:

```
Looking at enemy:

512 = 512 + (-0.307769775 * F)

Enemy on far left of screen:

<100 = 512 + (34.9015427 * F)

Enemy on far right of screen:

>950 = 512 + (-39.5185280 * F)
```

Since we are roughly estimating, we will round these values to the closest whole number:

```
Looking at enemy:

512 = 512 + (0 * F)

Enemy on far left of screen:

100 = 512 + (35 * F)

Enemy on far right of screen:

1000 = 512 + (-40 * F)
```

We can see that **yaw_dif** will satisfy our first equation regardless of the value we choose for F. Using some basic algebra, we can solve for F using the far left and far right equations:

```
Enemy on far left of screen:

F = -11.771428571

Enemy on far right of screen:

F = -12.2
```

Since these were approximations, we will take the loose average and choose -12 as our value for F. Our initial equation to convert an enemy's position to a 2D screen coordinate for the X dimension is:

```
screen_x = 512 + (yaw_dif * -12)
```

We will have to make adjustments to this equation, but it gives us a good starting point.

5.9.7 Locating Print Text

To continue testing our equation, we need to find a way to print text on the screen. We talked about how to find and hook a text printing function in <u>Chapter 3.5</u>. We will use a similar approach here.

We want to identify some text that looks like it can be easily displayed anywhere on the screen. After investigating some of the documentation, we can determine that the *showspeed* command text is a good candidate, as it displays in the exact middle of the screen:



Since this text is static, we can search for its pattern in x64dbg and find where it resides in memory. Attach x64dbg to Assault Cube, then navigate to the *Memory Map* tab and right-click. Choose *Find Pattern*:

· ** \$ **	I / =	4	* 🥐 🎌	#	•		
 Breakpoints 	E Memory Map	1	Call Stack	° <u>₹</u> SE	н 🧕	Script 🛛 👰	Symbo
	Content			Type	Protect is	on [Emitia]	
				VAF		-RM	
20000)				PKV PRV VAP VAP PKV PRV	-R -R -R	-KN -RN -R -KN -KN	
itack.				PRV PRV VAP MAP PRV MAP	-нш-с -R -R -R=	-RW -R -R -RW	
F0000)				PR.V PR.V	-RM	-RM	
.E0000)				PRV PRV	-84	-RM	
	Executable code Read-only init:	Ø	Follow in Disas	sembler		ERWC-	
	Initialized dar Resources Resources	10	Follow in Dum	Ρ		ERMC- ERMC-	
	HASE TELSES OF	2	Dump Memory	10 File		-RN	
100000)	Committee and		Comment		;	-RM CRMC-	
	Read-only init Initialized dat	, B	Find Pattern		Cul+8	ERVC- ERVC-	
Hiskvaliune1\windows\sy	Resources	-	Switch View			-R -R	

This will allow us to search all the active memory in the game for whatever pattern of bytes we specify. In this case, we will search for the start of this text, *Speed:* :

Die Die	r Debug	Finding B	ligina Pin	mujtes gpion	 BMg Jan 142021 ("Redingine) 	
			a .	+ 4 1		
III ou	1 10		teter 1	Designing	🖂 Manow Max 📕 Cal Stack 192 STM 📑 Strict 🗿 Symbols 🖉 Source 🗷 References	🐃 Tresde 🔒
Address	S'TH	Info			Contant Type Instanting Unitial	
00110000	000 0000				Prod Patient	
1002000	000655	Reserved	0002000			
000120000	01011300				Hex Seting	
000000000	00011300	Reserved				
00040000	00018300	Reserved 1	Net reads		ACI	
00140000	01014100				Ipoed:	
001-0000	01012300					
25233	88488	openal 12	.dit			
00120000	01014300	10010			R.(x 9.	
90LEB009	00012300	- rare			LTF-0	Codepage
+01/0001	01011300	Data mod			Jan et a	
10000000	01014300			an.		
004/0000	00001300	ar Then	F- #81	~~		
00401000	800,000	CIENTS				÷ .
004/FA000	01014300	- 5853				
000-60000	010:3000	(Der los)	na di lahi	v1ene1(pri rubo		
406 E 000	000000000	ana 411				
00651000	00045300	text				
100 2000	01012200					
20134000	88188	reloc				
00560000	0001100					
00580000	00004300	manned		43.		
10120001	91012109	The second		**		
005-00000	01011305			**		
00560000	01011303	Beserved	Consent	e0		
105-0001	01011300	Reserved	CREACTER	()		
00500000	00015000	RESErved				
10710000	01013000	Bear out	(10710-0	0		
10120001	01017200		(40.000	44		
-	01011100		0000 2000	**	Republica -	
007,9000	00007300	Received	(60/2000	0)	Intre Boci	OK DAVIE
and the second s						

The search should find a single pattern:



Double-click on it to show the address in the dump. Next, we want to see where this memory address is referenced in code. Select the first letter and right-click. Choose *Find references*:

	-	Breakpoint		۲		lea e	ecx, dword	utr ds:[esi		
	ø	Find Pattern	Ctri+B			push push	ECX 18 1401			
	61	Find References	Otri+R		00	push 4 [cal] dword ptr		ds:[≺õg]Co		
	ø	Sync with expression				push push	18 1406			
	₩	Allocate Memory			co	push call	2 dword ptr	ds : [≪âg]⊤e		
	#	Go to			pop ret int		oop est ret int3			
	÷	∐ex		۲		push push	esi edi			
ecx=0		Text		۲				•		
004E201c "s	82	Integer		۲						
.text:00408	۵	<u>F</u> loet		ŀ						
🕮 Dumo 1	2	address			Dump 4	100	Dump 5	😸 Watch 1		
Address He		Disassembly					ASCII			
004E201C 51 004E202C 54 004E203C 46 004E204C 68 004E204C 68	00 50 75 67 22	D3 D4 3A 2U 2/ 00 00 5B 43 4C 4. 00 00 50 6C 51 7. 64 64 69 67 69 7. 65 73 2F 6D 69 7. 65 6E 2F 20 6. 6.	2 2E 32 1 5D 00 9 65 72 4 73 00 3 63 2F E 67 00	00 20 00 73	00 47 48 00 58 52 25 73 00 00 70 61 74 61 72 00 05 53	4F 53 56 53 00 00 63 66 74 73 4F 00	Speed: %. T[CLA] F]Playe huddigits ages/misc creen_nc	2f.GHOS [RVS er %s pack pack		

This will return a single reference, or place where this address was referenced by the code of the game:



Double-click again on this reference to be brought to the code responsible for accessing this memory:



Quickly analyzing this code, we see that we move a text string into **ecx** (in this case, our *Speed:* string) and then push two values on the stack before calling 0x419880. We can see one value is 0x708, or 1800 decimal. If we set a breakpoint on the **call**, we can see the value of **eax**:

ung noons	 breakpoints 	Memoy Map 📑 Call Salok 🐴 Ser	South South Souther	Americanos
004/01/51 004/01/51 004/01/51 004/01/59 004/01/59 004/01/59 004/01/59 004/01/50 004/01/50 004/01/50 004/01/51 004/01/51 004/01/51 004/01/51 004/01/51 004/01/51 004/01/51 004/01/51	rr15 A0A34000 0947 14 0947 10 A1 74255000 99 0945 1945 0945 0945 0945 0945 0945 0945 0945 0	<pre>(all dward ptr ds:[-dg]bcalef- fid s:(0).dward ptr ds:[edi+i4] fid s:(0).dward ptr ds:[suff+i6] way ets dward ptr ds:[suff+i6] reg fid s:(0).st(1) sub ets.dw sar ets.i sar ets.i fadds st(1).st(0) faget fadds st(1).st(0) faget fatget pt(1).st(0) faget fatget pt(1).st(0) faget fatget pt(1).st(0) faget fatget pt(1).st(0) faget fatget pt(1).st(0) faget fatget pt(1).st(0) faget faget fatget pt(1).st(0) faget faget pt(1).st(0) push faget</pre>		Image: second
00408286 00408286 00408281 	83-62 10 FF15 K0A_XADOD FF15 FH29FFFF 83-72 X0A10000 80-724 X0A10000 81-72 X0A10000 81-72 X0A10000 81-74 X0A10000 81-74 X0A10000 91-74 X0A10000 91-74 X0A0000 93-75 X0A10000 93-75 X0A2000 93-75 X0A2000	add eip_10 Call Mord ptr ds:[dg]NopMat+1x>] Call AC_flint.40.830 Cmp dword ptr ds:[50f23:],0 Jime ac.client.40ar08 mov edx.dword ptr ds:[50f4f4] Cmp dword ptr ds:[50f4f4] Call Aword ptr ds:[40g].oadidentity:] fild aword ptr ds:[40g].oadidentity:] fild Stp aword ptr ds:[40g].oadidentity:]	0050F4F4:&"``3N''	CF 3 YF 1 1F 1 LastError 0000000 (JRM LastStatu: C000034 (JTA GS 3028 pS 0053 GS 3028 pS 0053 CS 3023 SS 0028 PAG 0000000 V Defait (stocil) 1: [esp] 0000083

0x4B0, or 1200, and 1800 seem like reasonable X and Y values. Combined with a text string in **ecx**, this function is most likely responsible for printing the *Speed:* text. We can verify this behavior by modifying the **push 0x708** to another value, like **push 0x100**:

	0040BE71	DEC1	faddp st(1).st(0)
	0040BE73	D9FA	fsqrt
	0040BE75	DD1C24	<pre>fstp qword ptr ss:[esp],st(0)</pre>
•	0040BE78	68 00010000	push 100
•	0040BE7D	50	push eax
•	00408E7E	E8 FDD90000	call ac_client.419880
	0040BE83	83c4 10	add esp,10
•	0040BE86	FF15 A0A24D00	call dword ptr ds:[<&g]PopMatrix>
	0040858C		call ac client 404830

Upon doing this, our *Speed:* text will appear near the top of the screen:



From this, we can see that the method responsible for printing text expects Y to be pushed first, followed by X.

5.9.8 Print Text Code Cave

To nail down our equation, we will use a code cave that will modify the *showspeed* print text call to draw our enemy text. We will hook at the first **push** so we can push our desired values on the stack:

```
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
    DWORD old_protect;
    unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x0040BE78;
    if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
        CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)injected_thread,
NULL, 0, NULL);
        VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 5, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
        *hook_location = 0xE9;
        *(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&codecave -
((DWORD)hook_location + 5);
        *(hook_location + 5) = 0x90;
        ...
```

Our code cave itself will push our currently assigned X and Y values on the stack, as well as move some generic **Enemy** text into **ecx**. After we do this, we will jump back to the original call to have it print out our text:

```
DWORD ret_address = 0x0040BE7E;
const char *text = "Enemy";
DWORD x = 0;
__declspec(naked) void codecave() {
    __asm {
        mov ecx, text
        push y
        push x
        jmp ret_address
    }
}
```

We can verify that this code is working by setting our X and Y to **0x100** in our thread, after we calculate the **yaw_dif**:

x = 0x100; y = 0x100;

If we go into a game and show the speed, you will see our text appearing in the upperleft corner of the screen:



For now, we can use this to nail down our ESP. We will come back later and adjust this approach so that we can write multiple text strings for multiple players.

5.9.9 Refining Equation

With a text function, we can now start working on the ESP. However, we first need to adjust our equations. When we initially modeled the screen, we assumed that center would be 512. However, from the speed function, we saw that center was **0x4B0**, or 1200. Games will often make use of a "virtual" screen that will always be an identical size regardless of the resolution. That way, developers only have to convert the resolution into the virtual screen size once, but they can use consistent coordinates in the rest of the code.

In this case, it looks like the game's virtual screen is 2400x1800. We can go back to our original equations and update them with these new numbers:

```
Looking at enemy:

1200 = 1200 + (0 * F)

Enemy on far left of screen:

100 = 1200 + (35 * F)

Enemy on far right of screen:

2400 = 1200 + (-40 * F)
```

Calculating with these new values, we will get a different value for F:

```
Enemy on far left of screen:

F = -31.428571429

Enemy on far right of screen:

F = -30
```

Since these are again approximations, we will choose a value of -30 as our value for F, making our new equation:

 $screen_x = 1200 + (yaw_dif * -30)$

We can implement this equation in our main thread like so:

float yaw_dif = player->yaw - yaw;

x = (DWORD)(1200 + (yaw_dif * -30)); y = 0x200;

If you go into a game, the *Enemy* text will appear on the same X axis as the enemy from certain angles, as we expect:



However, depending on what angle we are looking at, the text will appear far off to the side:



If we attach a debugger, we can see that when the text is not correct, the **yaw_dif** value is over 180:



Just as a contrast, we can see that correct text values always have a **yaw_dif** value under 180:



This situation appears to occur when our player's yaw and the calculated yaw for the enemy are between 275 and 360/0. When subtracting to get our difference, the equations produce artificially high values that do not work with our scaling factor. For example, if our yaw difference is 5, our text will be correctly displayed. Likewise, if our difference is -5, the text will be displayed correctly in the opposite direction. However, if our difference is -355, the text will be displayed incorrectly, as the equation's result will now be 11,850, causing the text to wrap over to the other side of the screen.

Regardless of the viewport we choose, our viewport can never show more than 180 degrees of the screen. Any more would result in us seeing behind our player.



To fix the case of -355 that we described above, we can subtract (or add, in the case of negative) 360:

if (yaw_dif > 180)
 yaw_dif = yaw_dif - 360;
if (yaw_dif < -180)
 yaw_dif = yaw_dif + 360;
x = (DWORD)(1200 + (yaw_dif * -30));</pre>

With this in place, our text will always correctly display, regardless of the angle.

5.9.10 Up and Down

To calculate the Y dimension for our aimbot, we had the following code:

We can use the same approach as above to calculate our Y dimension. We learned from the speed function that 0x708, or 1800, was the bottom of the virtual screen. We can perform the same series of equations as above to get the scaling factor for Y:

From these values, we will choose a value of 25 as our scaling factor:

```
float pitch_dif = player->pitch - pitch;
y = (DWORD)(900 + ((pitch_dif) * 25));
```

With this in place, text will now correctly display in the Y axis:


5.9.11 Final Adjustments

Right now, our text will always display, even if the enemy is behind us. To prevent this, we will add a check into our print text code cave. In this check, we will set our string to empty if the enemy is not visible in our viewport:

```
__declspec(naked) void codecave() {
    if (x > 2400 || x < 0 || y < 0 || y > 1800) {
        text = "";
    }
    else {
        text = "Enemy";
    }
```

We can also resolve the issue of text always appearing slightly to the left of the enemy. For this, we will simply always add 200 to whatever X value we calculated:

```
else {
    text = "Enemy";
}
x += 200;
```

Our text is now displaying correctly for a single enemy.



5.9.12 Enemy Name

With our coordinates nailed down, we can work on getting the enemy's name to display above their head. Like before, we can find the player's name in the game's Player structure and add it to our code's Player structure. Looking at the player structure in memory, we see the player's name a bit after the yaw element we identified before:

Address	Hex															ASCII
09028600	00.00	00	40	33	33	33	361	00	01	00	001	00	00	00	01	03332
090286E0	ni or	ňň	00	69	- 38	őő	00	on.	ŏā	žň	40	00	čč	ŏŏ	ňā	FX (4
090286E0	00 00	00	01	00	õõ	ŏŏ.	00	00	čč.	ñŏ	00	ññ	ŏŏ	00	00	
09026700	02 40	ŏž	ŏō	2E	ŏŏ	ŏŏ	ŏŏ	08	čč	ŏŏ	ŏŏ	AF	32	ŏŏ	ŏŏ	
09028710	00 00	16	47	02	40	02	00	26	ăă	ŏŏ	00	DB	ăā	ŏŏ	ŏŏ	B (I
09028720	AF 32	00	00	00	00	16	42	00	01	02	00	00	ăă	õõ	00	⁻²
09028730	28 00	ŏŏ	ŏŏ	90	F9	FF	FF	00	čč	C 8	42	õõ	õĭ	02	ŏŏ	(ùÿÿÈB
0902B740	00 00	ŏŏ	ŏŏ	28	00	00	00	90	F9	FF	FE	00	čā	C 8	12	(
09026750	EF BE	01	00	FF	RE	01	00	80	C3	89	02	80	н9	89	02	18.1% A.
09028760	EF C	01	00	00	4A	4E	00	64	CC	00	00	00	CO	00	00	ΪĂÐJN.d
0902B770	06 00	00	00	06	00	00	00	06	čč	00	00	01	Č1	00	00	
0902B780	01 00	00	00	32	ŬŬ.	00	00	00	άŭ	00	00	00	ŪŪ.	00	00	
09028790	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	28	CO	00	00	00	CO	00	00	
0902B7A0	00 00	00	00	64	00	00	00	01	CO	00	00	0A	CO	00	00	d
090287B0	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	
0902B7C0	OC 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	14	00	00	00	
0902B7D0	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	CO	00	00	00	CO	00	00	
0902B7E0	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	78	CO	00	00	00	00	00	00	
0902B7F0	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	
09028800	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	CC	00	00	00	CO	00	00	
09028810	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	CO	00	00	00	CO	00	00	
09028820	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	
09026830	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	CO	00	00	00	CO	00	00	
09028840	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	01	CC	00	00	01	CO	00	00	
09028850	00 00	00	00	01	00	00	00	F7	2в	00	00	00	co	00	00	•••••
09026860	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	aa	00	00	00	aa	00	00	
09025870	00 00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	co	00	00	00	co	00	00	
09028880	AF 32	00	00	12	01	00	00	00	co	00	00	00	CO	00	00	-2
0902B890	00 00	00	00	01	73	74	65	66	61	6E	68	65	6E	64	72	stefanhendr
090288A(59 60	73	00	00	01	00	00	D2	çç	00	00	01	01	00	00	1ks0
10000	ne nr	nn	~~	-ne	nn	nn	nn I	- 14	111	nn			nn	MA	na	

If we try to change our own player's name, we find that this can be a maximum of 16 characters. Subtracting the offset from our yaw value, we can create padding with an unknown element, like we did in <u>Chapter 5.6</u>. Our player structure with the name now looks like:

```
struct Player {
    char unknown1[4];
    float x;
    float y;
    float z;
    char unknown2[0x30];
    float yaw;
    float pitch;
    char unknown3[0x1DD];
    char name[16];
};
```

We can now modify our code to use this enemy name instead of the generic **Enemy** text. First, remove the **else** condition in the code cave which set the text to **Enemy**:

Next, after we calculate our X and Y, we want to set the text member to the enemy's name by assigning the pointer:

```
text = enemy->name;
```

With this change, enemy names will now appear above their head:



In this chapter, we will only display the enemy's name. A similar approach can be used to display the enemy's weapon, health, and other information.

5.9.13 Multiple Enemies

Now that we have a working ESP for a single enemy, we can expand it to include multiple enemies. Like we did when creating our aimbot, we can use the same code we nailed down above and include it in a loop.

First, instead of one X, Y, and name value, we will create an array. The maximum amount of players in an Assault Cube game is 32, so we will use this as the size of our array. For our loops, we will use the current number of players we identified previously, so any extra array elements will not cause an issue. Since we will need to use this current player element in both our calculation loop and draw loop, we will create a global variable for it as well:

#define MAX_PLAYERS 32

DWORD x_values[MAX_PLAYERS] = { 0 }; DWORD y_values[MAX_PLAYERS] = { 0 }; char* names[MAX_PLAYERS] = { NULL }; int* current_players;

Next, we will modify our thread to iterate over all enemies in an identical manner to the aimbot. When we calculate the X and Y values, we will store these values in an array instead of a single element:

```
current_players = (int*)(0x50F500);
for (int i = 1; i < *current_players; i++) {
    DWORD* enemy_list = (DWORD*)(0x50F4F8);
    DWORD* enemy_offset = (DWORD*)(*enemy_list + (i*4));
    ...
    x_values[i] = (DWORD)(1200 + (yaw_dif * -30));
    ...
    y_values[i] = (DWORD)(center_y + ((pitch_dif) * 25));
    ...
    names[i] = enemy->name;
```

Finally, we need to redo our text printing function so that we can print multiple enemy names. We will use the same location, but instead of replacing the pushed parameters, we will hook the call itself. In our code cave, we will replace the call with empty text, and then create a loop to call the print text function several times.

First, we will change our hook location to hook the call:

```
unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x0040BE7E;
if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
    CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)injected_thread, NULL, 0,
NULL);
    VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 5, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
    *hook_location = 0xE9;
    *(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&codecave - ((DWORD)hook_location +
5);
}
```

We can then delete our previous code cave and create a new one. In it, we will first replace **ecx** with empty text, then call the print text function, and then save and restore everything as we have done before:

```
DWORD ret_address = 0x0040BE83;
DWORD text_address = 0x419880;
const char* empty_text = "";
__declspec(naked) void codecave() {
    __asm {
        mov ecx, empty_text
        call text_address
        pushad
    }
    //loop
    __asm {
        popad
        jmp ret_address
```

} }

To call the print text function by ourselves, we need to figure out how to fix the stack. Remember the code we found:

0040BE61	D9C1	fld st(0).st(1)	
0040BE63	83EC 08	sub_esp.8	
0040BE66	DECA	fmulp_st(2),st(0)	
00408E68	28 C2	sub eax,edx	
00408E6A	D1F8	sar eax, L	
0040BE6C	B9 1C204E00	<pre>mov_ecx.ac_client.4E201C</pre>	4620
0040BE71	DEC1	faddp st(1),st(0)	
0040BE73	D9 FA	fsqrt	
0040BE75	DD1C24	<pre>fstp gword ptr ss:[esp],st(0)</pre>	
0040BE78	68 08070000	push 708	
0040BE7D	50	push eax	
0040BE7E	E8 FDD90000	call ac_client.419880	
0040BE83	83c4 10	add esp.10	
00405E86	FF15 A0A24D00	<pre>call dword ptr_ds:[<&p]PopMatrix>]</pre>	
00405E8C	E8 9FE9FEFF	call ac client, 40A830	

When you see **add esp** or **sub esp** after a call, it means the called code expects you to balance the stack. The easiest way to determine how to balance the stack is to find the smallest value of **esp** being modified and use that call as a basis. This can be done by entering the print text call and finding the references:

32	CPU		Log	1	Notes		Breakpoints
×	Rang	je: 004	19880-00	419885	i (Region a	ac_clier	nt.exe)
Addr	ess	Disas	ssembly				
0040	AA22	call	ac_cli	ent.41	19880		
0040	66DO	call	ac_cli	ent.41	19880		
0040	BBED	call	ac_cli	ent.41	19880		
0040	BC01	call	ac_cli	ent.41	19880		
0040	BC1F	call	ac_cli	ent.41	19880		
0040	BCA6	call	ac_cli	ent.41	19880		
0040	BCD9	call	ac_cli	ent.41	19880		
0040	BDDO	call	ac_cii	ent.4	19880		
0040	RDEO	call	ac_cii	ent.4	19880		
0040		call	ac_cii	ent.4.	19660		
0040		call	ac_crr	ent.41	19990		
0040	C200	call.	ac_cli	ent 41	19880		
0040	C24C	call	ac cli	ont 41	9880		
0045	C286	call	ac cli	ant 41	9880		
0046	1AFC	call	ac cli	ent 4°	9880		
0047	7FB2	call	ac cli	ent 41	19880		

After going through several of these references, you should find the following reference, which shows that **add esp, 8** is the lowest required value to balance the stack:



With this information, we can invoke the print text call ourselves. First, we will create a loop that will iterate over all the current players in the game:

```
current_players = (int*)(0x50F500);
for (int i = 1; i < *current_players; i++) {</pre>
```

To make our array of values easy to use inside the **asm** block, we will copy the current value into temporary variables:

```
const char* text = "";
DWORD x = 0;
DWORD y = 0;
...
for ...
    x = x_values[i];
    y = y_values[i];
    text = names[i];
```

Like before, we will then check the values to make sure that they can be displayed on screen:

```
if (x > 2400 || x < 0 || y < 0 || y > 1800) {
    text = "";
}
```

Finally, we will move the enemy's name into **ecx**, push our X and Y values, and call the print text function. After that, we will balance the stack:

```
__asm {
```

```
mov ecx, text
push y
push x
call text_address
add esp, 8
```

}

With this in place, we now have all the parts we need to handle multiple enemies. If you build and inject the DLL into Assault Cube, you will see multiple enemy names appearing above their heads:



The full code is available for reference in <u>Appendix A</u>.

5.10 Multihack

5.10.1 **Target**

Our target for this chapter will be Assault Cube 1.2.0.2.

5.10.2 Identify

In the previous chapters, we created several hacks for Assault Cube, including a triggerbot, an aimbot, and ESP. In this chapter, we will create a multihack that combines these hacks together along with a wallhack. Then, we will add an interactive menu that will allow us to toggle all the hacks we have created at once.

5.10.3 Understand

We have written code in the previous chapters for a wallhack, triggerbot, aimbot, and ESP. However, if we try to combine all this code together, it will quickly become overwhelming to add new features. To create our multihack, we will use a software development technique known as refactoring.

When refactoring code, you take existing code and alter its structure without changing its behavior. There can be many goals when refactoring, but in our case, our goal will be to encapsulate certain functionality into classes so that the code can be separated out into logical sections. This will clean up the code and make it easier to maintain. Once this is done, we will build off this refactored code to add our menu.

This chapter will involve working with a lot of code. Each separate stage of the code will be available in <u>Appendix A</u> for this chapter. The final code will be in the "Finished" section.

5.10.4 Wallhack

In <u>Chapter 5.3</u>, we covered an approach for making a wallhack for games that used OpenGL. We can use the same technique for Assault Cube with some small modifications.

In the original target game (Urban Terror), we needed to check for counts and reenable depth testing if the model's count was not large enough. If we did not do this, every item would have depth testing disabled. However, in Assault Cube, the rendering logic works differently, and this check is not required. Additionally, Assault Cube does not require us to worry about clipping planes. As a result, our **glDrawElements** code cave can be simplified:

```
__declspec(naked) void opengl_codecave() {
    __asm {
        pushad
    }
    (*glDepthFunc)(0x207);
    // Finally, restore the original instruction and jump back
    __asm {
        popad
        mov esi, dword ptr ds : [esi + 0xA18]
            jmp opengl_ret_address
    }
}
```

By using the same hooking technique described in <u>Chapter 5.3</u>, we now have a working wallhack for Assault Cube.

5.10.5 Combining

This combined code we are covering in this section is available in the "Combined" section in <u>Appendix A</u>.

Our first task is to combine all of our code from the previous chapters into one DLL. Our multihack will contain the following hacks:

- OpenGL Wallhack
- Triggerbot
- Aimbot
- ESP

We can combine this code by copying it all into a single main file and changing any conflicting variable or function names (like all the versions of **injected_thread**). The result of this can be seen in <u>Appendix A</u>.

Looking over this code, the first thing that should jump out is that it is over 300 lines long with 20 global variables. In addition, we can see that we have two threads being created (one for hooking OpenGL and one for our aimbot) and multiple code caves.

With our combined code, we can make two small changes to slightly improve the size of the code. First, we can combine together the aimbot and ESP code, since they use a majority of the same logic. Second, we can modify the thread for OpenGL to **break** out of its **while** loop once it hooks **glDrawElements**:

```
if (openGLHandle != NULL && glDepthFunc == NULL) {
    glDepthFunc = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned
int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDepthFunc");
    ...
    // Since OpenGL is loaded dynamically, we need to dynamically calculate
the return address
    opengl_ret_address = (DWORD)(opengl_hook_location + 0x6);
}
else {
    break;
}
```

This will effectively exit the thread once we hook OpenGL, to prevent our hack from having so many open threads.

In its current form, this code could be built and used as a multihack; however, it is almost impossible to maintain. If we want to add a menu and a method to toggle functionality, we would need to thoroughly examine all 300+ lines of code and make sure our toggles do not introduce any unexpected behavior across the many threads. Furthermore, we do not currently have a good way to print text outside of our ESP.

5.10.6 First Refactor

The source code we are covering in this section is available in the "First Refactor" section in <u>Appendix A</u>.

There are multiple approaches that can be used to simplify our code. For our purposes, we will encapsulate major functionality inside classes. Our end goal is to create classes that can be easily reused in other FPS games. We will then call those classes from the main file.

Classes in C++ commonly have two components: the header, which describes what the class contains and is included by the caller, and the source, which contains all the class's code. Therefore, we will split our multihack's code into *Header* and *Source* folders for all the following refactoring.

A good place to start is the triggerbot. In its most basic form, our triggerbot sends a mouse down event whenever we are looking at a player. To make this code reusable, we will structure the triggerbot class to require the main hack to provide information on if we are looking at a player.

Let's start with the current triggerbot code:

```
__declspec(naked) void triggerbot_codecave() {
      __asm {
            call triggerbot_ori_call_address
            pushad
            mov edi_value, eax
      }
      if (edi_value != 0) {
            input.type = INPUT_MOUSE;
            input.mi.dwFlags = MOUSEEVENTF_LEFTDOWN;
            SendInput(1, &input, sizeof(INPUT));
      }
      else {
            input.type = INPUT_MOUSE;
            input.mi.dwFlags = MOUSEEVENTF_LEFTUP;
            SendInput(1, &input, sizeof(INPUT));
      }
      _asm {
            popad
            jmp triggerbot_ori_jump_address
      }
}
```

In Assault Cube, the **edi** register holds whether a player is being looked at. However, in other games, this will be different. Therefore, it makes sense to only abstract out the code between the **__asm** blocks. We can replace this code with a call to our triggerbot class:

```
__declspec(naked) void triggerbot_codecave() {
    __asm {
```

```
call triggerbot_ori_call_address
pushad
mov edi_value, eax
}
triggerbot->execute(edi_value);
_asm {
    popad
    jmp triggerbot_ori_jump_address
}
```

Now that we know how the calling code will look, we can create the class. First, we can create a header that will contain the definition of our triggerbot class:

```
#pragma once
#include <Windows.h>
class Triggerbot {
    private:
        INPUT input = { 0 };
    public:
        Triggerbot();
        void execute(int isLookingAtEnemy);
};
```

Classes have both private and public members. Public members can be accessed by other code. For example, we can see that the **execute** method will be called directly by our main file. However, the main file will not have access to the **input** variable.

To implement the code for our triggerbot class, we will create the source file next. This file will include the header we defined above, but will contain the actual code of the class:

```
#include <Windows.h>
#include "Triggerbot.h"
Triggerbot::Triggerbot() {
    input = { 0 };
```

```
}
void Triggerbot::execute(int isLookingAtEnemy) {
    if (isLookingAtEnemy != 0) {
        input.type = INPUT_MOUSE;
        input.mi.dwFlags = MOUSEEVENTF_LEFTDOWN;
        SendInput(1, &input, sizeof(INPUT));
    }
    else {
        input.type = INPUT_MOUSE;
        input.mi.dwFlags = MOUSEEVENTF_LEFTUP;
        SendInput(1, &input, sizeof(INPUT));
    }
}
```

This is the same as the original triggerbot code, except now encapsulated into this one class. We could add this class to a hack for another game and it would work, assuming that the main source file in that hack provided the correct value for **isLookingAtEnemy**.

To use this class in our main code, we will need to include the header and create an instance of it:

```
#include "Triggerbot.h"
...
Triggerbot *triggerbot;
...
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
    if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
        triggerbot = new Triggerbot();
    }
    else if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_DETACH) {
        delete triggerbot;
    }
}
```

By structuring the code this way, our triggerbot code is now simplified and can be easily modified. For example, to toggle the triggerbot on and off, we could simply add a single conditional, like:

```
if(triggerbot_enabled) {
    triggerbot->execute(edi_value);
```

}

We can also use this opportunity to remove the **input** global variable from the main source file.

5.10.7 Finish Refactor

The code for this section is in the "Refactor Finished" section in Appendix A.

Another major component we would like to separate out is the code responsible for the aimbot and ESP. Looking at the code, we see that it is responsible for setting the following values:

```
x_values[i] = (DWORD)(1200 + (yaw_dif * -30));
y_values[i] = (DWORD)(900 + ((pitch_dif) * 25));
names[i] = enemy->name;
player->yaw = closest_yaw;
player->pitch = closest_pitch;
```

The X, Y, and name values are used for the ESP whereas the player's yaw and pitch are used for the aimbot. To calculate these values, our aimbot and ESP require the player's base address, the enemy list's base address, and the current number of players in the game.

To encapsulate this behavior in a class, we will separate the functionality into two functions. The first function will be responsible for calculating all the X, Y, and name values for the ESP, as well as the closest yaw and pitch. The second function will be responsible for setting the player's view to the calculated location. Separating these functions will allow us to easily toggle both the ESP and aimbot.

Since this class is responsible for player geometry and the player's relation to the world, we will call it **PlayerGeometry**. Like we did with the triggerbot, we can change our aimbot thread to:

```
void aimbot_thread() {
    while (true) {
        playerGeometry->update();
        playerGeometry->set_player_view();
    }
```

}

Since this code is now easily maintainable, we can combine the two threads in the main file:

Our **PlayerGeometry** class will contain all player-relevant functions. To handle printing the ESP in our main file, the class will expose the array of X, Y, and name values:

```
class PlayerGeometry {
private:
    DWORD player_offset_address;
    DWORD enemy_list_address;
    DWORD current_players_address;
    float closest_yaw;
    float closest_pitch;
    Player* player;
    float euclidean_distance(float, float);
public:
    DWORD x_values[MAX_PLAYERS] = { 0 };
    DWORD y_values[MAX_PLAYERS] = { 0 };
    char* names[MAX_PLAYERS] = { 0 };
    int* current_players;
    PlayerGeometry(DWORD, DWORD, DWORD);
```

```
void update();
void set_player_view();
```

};

Unlike the triggerbot class, which just needed a parameter, this class requires the player's base address, the enemy list's base address, and the current number of players in the game. We will pass these in the constructor of the class, which is a special function that executes when the class is created:

```
PlayerGeometry::PlayerGeometry(DWORD p_address, DWORD e_address, DWORD cp_address) {
    player_offset_address = p_address;
    enemy_list_address = e_address;
    current_players_address = cp_address;
}
```

We can then use these values in the class's code:

```
void PlayerGeometry::update() {
    DWORD* player_offset = (DWORD*)(player_offset_address);
    player = (Player*)(*player_offset);
    ... rest of aimbot and ESP code ...
}
void PlayerGeometry::set_player_view() {
    player->yaw = closest_yaw;
    player->pitch = closest_pitch;
}
```

When we create this class in our main file, we will pass these values. In this way, we can reuse the aimbot code in any game that has a similar memory layout:

playerGeometry = new PlayerGeometry(0x509B74, 0x50F4F8, 0x50F500);

We will also need to adjust the ESP code to use the values from this class:

```
for (int i = 1; i < *playerGeometry->current_players; i++) {
    x = playerGeometry->x_values[i];
    y = playerGeometry->y_values[i];
    text = playerGeometry->names[i];
```

Finally, we can move some variables that never change to a constants header, just to separate the variables out from the main file.

5.10.8 Adding a Menu

The code for the rest of this chapter is in the "Finished" section in <u>Appendix A</u>.

With our code refactored, we can add a menu. First, we will extract out the text printing functionality to its own function:

```
void print_text(DWORD x, DWORD y, const char* text) {
    if (x > 2400 || x < 0 || y < 0 || y > 1800) {
        text = "";
    }
    x += 200;
    __asm {
        mov ecx, text
        push y
        push x
        call text_address
        add esp, 8
    }
}
```

Like we have done with our refactoring, we will place our menu functionality in its own class. Our menu needs to handle two things:

- Toggling items on and off
- Displaying a cursor and set of menu items

We will focus on displaying the menu first. To make the job of displaying the menu easier, we will create two arrays in our menu class definition: one that contains item display texts, and one that contains item states:

```
#define MAX_ITEMS 4
public:
const char* items[MAX_ITEMS] = { "Wallhack", "ESP", "Aimbot", "Triggerbot" };
```

```
bool item_enabled[MAX_ITEMS] = { false };
```

We will also need a way to return a string of **On** or **Off** depending on the item's state:

```
const char* Menu::get_state(int item) {
    return item_enabled[item] ? "On" : "Off";
}
```

With these pieces in place, we can now add a loop in the text code cave to display all the menu items:

```
for (int i = 0; i < MAX_ITEMS; i++) {
    print_text(50, 250 + (100 * i), menu->items[i]);
    print_text(500, 250 + (100 * i), menu->get_state(i));
}
```

With our items printed, we can move on to adding a cursor. Our cursor will need to have a character and a position, so we will add these in the class definition. We also need to create an external function to handle all input for our menu:

```
public:
int cursor_position;
const char* cursor = ">";
const char* get_state(int);
```

To handle our input, we will use **GetAsyncKeyState**, similar to what we did in previous chapters. First, we will handle up and down:

```
void Menu::handle_input() {
    if (GetAsyncKeyState(VK_DOWN) & 1) {
        cursor_position++;
    }
    else if (GetAsyncKeyState(VK_UP) & 1) {
        cursor_position--;
    }
```

The **&1** has the effect of only registering the key press a single time for a short period of time instead of spamming it. The <u>API documentation</u> discusses this behavior.

If we press left and right, we want to enable or disable an item. Since all the item states are either true or false, we can simply switch their current value with the not (!) operator:

```
else if ((GetAsyncKeyState(VK_LEFT) & 1) || (GetAsyncKeyState(VK_RIGHT) & 1))
{
    item_enabled[cursor_position] = !item_enabled[cursor_position];
}
```

If we navigate past the boundaries of our menu, we want the cursor to appear at the other end. We can do that by adding a few checks:

```
if (cursor_position < 0) {
    cursor_position = 3;
}
else if (cursor_position > 3) {
    cursor_position = 0;
}
```

We can now add our menu to our main file. First, we need the text code cave to also print the cursor. We will make it look like it's moving by offsetting the current position with a multiple of 100:

print_text(10, 250 + (100 * menu->cursor_position), menu->cursor);

In our thread, we also need to pass input to the menu to check for key presses:

```
menu->handle_input();
```

playerGeometry->update();

5.10.9 Toggling Features

Finally, we need to toggle features based on their menu state. We already created an array of all the item states. To determine the current value of one of the features, we can query this array via:

if (menu->item_enabled[0])

To make these entries more readable, we can create constants in our menu header that reference the positions for each item:

#define WALLHACK 0
#define ESP 1
#define AIMBOT 2
#define TRIGGERBOT 3

We can implement checks in our code by using these values. For example, to toggle the wallhack, we can change the code to:

```
if (menu->item_enabled[WALLHACK]) {
    (*glDepthFunc)(0x207);
}
```

This builds off of our refactoring efforts from before. To toggle our aimbot, we can easily do the following in the thread:

```
if (menu->item_enabled[AIMBOT]) {
    playerGeometry->set_player_view();
}
```

Similar checks can be done for the triggerbot and ESP.

5.10.10 Adding Colors

Just for some visual flair, we can add colors to the menu items to make them easier to read. By issuing votes in game, we can see that some text in the game already has

color, like the *Press F1 to vote* text. If we examine this string in x64dbg, we see that it has the following data:

	00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 00408000 004080000 004080000 004080000000000	8304 0C 8084 20010000 00 75 14 68 38093000 64 28 89 80184600 88 80184600 8304 03 8304 03 8304 03 8408 74 07 F8 068A0500 L8 25 807024 54 807024 54 807025 80705	<pre>idd esp.C ctp byte ptr ds:[edx+120],0 ine wc_client.403CC7 push 308 push 28 ine exp.seclient.dEIFE0 call ac_client.419800 add exp.8 jpp ac_lient.419800 add exp.8 jpp ac_lient.400000 tast bi.bl ie ac_client.400000 call ac_client.400000 trp byte ptr ss:[esp+34] ie ac_client.400000 trp byte ptr ss:[esp+34] ies ex.,decd ptr ds:[esp+34] ies ex.,decd ptr ds:[esp+</pre>	BEIFSO: T\fSprees F1/F2 to
cx=0 304r1ma0 "\ESpress text:0040scu4 ac_	F1/F2 to vot p1fent.exe:\$8	e yes on no" cu4 #8004	4 🖼 Duran G 🎒 Watch I 🖂 Locado	2 5775 000
Addin as Hex 0044 [rob 0c 33 70 0045 [rob 0c 33 70 0045 [rob 0c 34 76 0045 [rob 0c 34 76 0045 [rob 0c 34 76 0045 [rob 0c 34 76 0045 [rob 0c 36 74 0045 [rob 0c 35 44 76 0045 [rob 58 44 76 0045 [rob 58 44 76 0045 [rob 58 44 76]	22 65 73 73 24 0.5 20 79 24 0.5 20 79 26 20 65 73 64 20 65 73 66 20 65 73 52 63 20 32 56 52 25 21 32 56 52 25 21 32 56 52 74 65 72 20 52 79 65 72 20 74 74 53 65 72 20 74 53 26 73 32	20 46 31 27 46 32 27 65 7.1 20 6F 7.2 20 67 20 4.6 32 9.7 20 6F 7.2 20 67 24 7.3 9.0 9.0 9.4 4.7 4.8 9.7 5.5 5.6 6.1 6.9 6.0 5.5 7.6 6.5 6.1 6.9 6.0 5.5 7.6 6.7 6.0 7.6 6.7 6.0 7.6 6.7 6.0 5.0 7.6 6.7 6.0 5.0 7.6 6.7 6.0 5.0 7.6 6.7 6.0 7.6 6.7 6.0 7.6 6.0 7.0 6.0 7.6 6.0 7.6 6.0 7.6 6.0 7.6 6.0 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6	ASCII 0 74 Sr Joness r /r2 to 5 6F 00 vote ves or no. 0 0 10 45Status 0 65 67 E to change view 0 65 68Status to ch 0 65 69 ange player.spee 0 60 00 d: %.2f.Guosi 5 64 64 Player %shudd 7 65 73 igitspackages 2 65 67 /igitspackages 2 65 67 /igitspackages	001 ▲ 001 001 001 001 001 001 001 001

It looks like strings prefixed with 0x0C 33 are given a color. If we look for other strings, we see that 0x0C is always there, but occasionally the value of 0x33 will be different. Let's incorporate these bytes into our on/off strings:

```
class Menu {
private:
    const char on_text[5] = { 0xc, 0x33, '0', 'N', 0 };
    const char off_text[6] = { 0xc, 0x33, '0', 'F', 'F', 0 };
```

If you go into the game, you will see both our strings are now red. If you play around with the 0x33 and try different values (0x31, 0x38, etc.), you will eventually see that 0x30 is green. Now we can modify our code to change the **On** text to green:

```
const char on_text[5] = { 0xc, 0x30, '0', 'N', 0 };
```

With this, our multihack is complete.

Part 6 Multiplayer

6.1 Multiplayer Fundamentals

6.1.1 Peer-2-Peer

Imagine that two neighbors want to play a game of chess. One approach may be to have Neighbor A set up a chess board in his house and give Neighbor B the house keys. At any point during the day, Neighbor A could make a move. However, if Neighbor B wants to make a move, he has to walk over to Neighbor A's house. Additionally, if Neighbor B wanted to think on his move, he would need to take a picture or somehow record the copy of the chess board before he went back over to his own house.

This is an example of a Peer-2-Peer (P2P) model. In a P2P model, one player acts as the host and all other players act as guests. This is the model many console games use to handle multiplayer functionality. Its major downside is that the host will have an advantage in terms of response time. This is because all other players must connect to the host to retrieve and send updates, while the host can update his local copy.

6.1.2 Client-Server

Imagine now that Neighbor A and B want to play chess, while another neighbor (C) wants to observe the chess game. This time, each neighbor has their own chess board and all players agree that an additional neighbor (D) will be the judge. The judge is the most trusted party of all involved and his roles are making sure no illegal moves happen and maintaining the "correct" version of the chess board.

To make a move, Neighbor A would write his move on an envelope and place the envelope in Neighbor D's mailbox. Neighbor D would then ensure that the move is legal, update his board, and then place letters in Neighbor B and C's mailboxes containing the move. Neighbors A, B, and C are all responsible for updating their boards to match the board of Neighbor D. If Neighbor A delivers a move that is impossible, Neighbor D will warn him that it appears his board is not up-to-date and he cannot make that move.



This is an example of a client-server model, which we briefly discussed in Chapter 1.2.

In a client-server model, the server is a trusted entity that all clients connect to. When playing a multiplayer game, the server will not directly participate in the game, but it is responsible for keeping a trusted copy of the game's state. Each client will send updates to the server, and the server will distribute those updates to other clients. If a player sends too many updates that are not legal, the server will warn the client that it is desynchronized before kicking the client off.

6.1.3 Packets

In the client-server chess example, each neighbor placed an envelope with their move inside Neighbor D's mailbox. In networking, these envelopes are known as packets. Just like envelopes, packets contain who the packet is from, who the packet is going to, and the data itself. For example, if a player sends a chat message of **hello** in a multiplayer game like Wesnoth, the packet might contain the following information:

source: player		
destination: server		
data: hello		

The larger the packet, the more time it will take to transmit from the client to the server. The more time it takes, the more lag is present in the client and server communication. To ensure that lag is at a minimum, packets contain the minimum amount of information possible. For example, if a client wants to say they fired a single shot from their weapon, the packet might look like: source: player destination: server data: f1

In this example, both the client and server agree that **f** means fire and **1** means 1 round.

6.1.4 Network Protocols

If you want to tell someone, "I like this restaurant," you need to ensure that you are speaking the same language as the other person. Depending on their language, the syntax or structure of this sentence may differ, or certain words may be conjugated differently. This same logic applies when sending packets over a network. These communication rules are called protocols. These protocols determine how both the source and destination will communicate and how individual packets will look. The two main protocols you will encounter when looking at game network traffic are UDP and TCP.

Imagine you want to send a letter to the neighbor across the street, reminding him to water his plants. You do not expect a response to this letter, so you give it to your dog to take over to him. You would like this letter to get to him, but you will not be particularly upset if it does not. This is an example of UDP, in which packets are sent without any method to determine that they have arrived.

Now imagine you want to exchange multiple letters with your neighbor. Since you will be responding directly to what your neighbor says, you want to ensure that all letters are delivered. You and your neighbor agree to light your respective porch lights when you have received a letter. This is an example of TCP, in which an upfront connection is established and packets are acknowledged as delivered.

The data contained within TCP and UDP packets can be identical, but the packets will be different. This is because each protocol has a different header that is used by both the source and the destination to understand the data in the packet.

6.1.5 Sockets

Both TCP and UDP packets use the Internet Protocol (IP) to handle the process of routing the packet from the source to the destination. Each network device has an IP address that represents that device's "location". To differentiate between types of

traffic (such as web browsing, email, or video chat), packets also have a port number. For example, to browse a website over HTTP, you could visit 123.45.67.89 on port 80. While browsing, you could also connect to this machine using SSH, another service, on port 22. Both of these requests could be handled simultaneously as they are being handled by different programs listening on different ports.

An IP:Port pair is sometimes referred to as a socket. Sockets represent endpoints that can be communicated with. Windows has an API known as WinSock to enable programmers to quickly write programs that communicate to different destinations over TCP or UDP.

6.2 Packet Analysis

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

6.2.2 Identify

Like many games, Wesnoth has a multiplayer mode that allows multiple players to join a lobby, chat with each other, and play games against each other over a network. Our goal in this chapter is to analyze the packets used for connecting to the lobby and create a client that will connect to a lobby.

SUsersURDe1zoureIrepol/ChatSarde1Debug//DatSerde	- D	× –		
s Sent: 1 s received: 43 s Sent: 51 s received: 40 s Sent: 62 s received: 43 s received: 338			Log O Create Game	ut Preferences
s received: 349			kin	Obsanua
			Normal Replays	~
Summand Prompt - wesnotiful.eve	- 0	×	Selected Came	0
3227 10:13:32 1mfu server: 127.0.0.1	slayer joined using accepted version 1.14.9	ng Line in	Telby	121
3127 10:17:04 info server: 5161NF caught,	exiting without cleanup immediately.		A IEllor	
Program Files (x16)'Battle for Wessoth 1.14	.gs			
rugram Files (xH6)'Battle for Wesnuth 1,14	.9 mesnuthd. exe		 FFFAAAAKKKE 	EE.
3481 R8:55:57 info server: 127.8.0.1	alayer joined using accepted version 1.14.9: telling them to 1	ng tau	Other Garres	101
3403 00:55:52 info server: 127.0.0.1	EDUser has lagged on		GUILT GUILES	
3403 08:58:14 error server: 127.9.0.1	Ar existing connection was forcibly closed by the remote host			
3403 00:50:14 info server: 127.0.0.1	EBUsen was logged off			
9403 09.09.22 Info server: Statistics:	number_of_panes = 0 = number_of_users = 0			
3681 89:82:55 1mfn server: 127.8.8.1	player joined using accepted version 1.14.9: telling them to 1	ng tau		
3403 07:02:55 1476 server: 127:0.9.1	Trivialities represented and developed by the structure back			
(340) 07:05:00 error server: 127:0.1	AF EXITING CONNECTION WAS FORLIDLY CLOSED BY THE PERFOR POST			
and even at info perver: institution:	Sumber of sames is a sumber of users is a			
3401 00:10:22 info server: Statistics:	sumber of games = 0 sumber of users = 0			
5401 09.14.24 info server: 127.0.4.1	player joined using accepted version 1.14.9. telling them to b	on the second		
3481 89:14:26 error canfig: ERROR: "failed	to uncompress			
3403 09:11:26 error server: 127.3.0.1	simple smillerror in received data: failed to uncompress			
aves evisites info server: statistics:	number_of_games = 0 = sumber_of_users = 0			
3483 09:11:39 info server: 127.0.0.1	player joined using accepted version 1.34.9: telling them to 1	ng im.		
3403 09.13.39 info server: 127.0.4.1	PPEMADREE has logged an			
3481 09:11:19 into server: 127.0.0.1	tometion closed			
3403 09:11:139 info server: 127.0.0.1	TTAADKIDE was logged off			
3403 0V115120 10TO Server: 127.0.0.1	player joined using accepted version 1.14.9: telling them to 1	10.10		
1401 09 11 12 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	alarge tolerd when accorded excelor 1 10 ht			
3451 05-15-48 1ato server: 127.0.0.1	Tillion has cound on	18 LE 1		
AND DESCRIPTION AND ADDRESS 127-10.0.1	CENTER OF A COMPACT OF A COMPAC			

6.2.3 Understand

For multiple players to communicate over a network, all of the clients (in this case, the Wesnoth game executable) must agree on a network model and protocol. They also must agree on the data each packet will contain. If there is a server, the server must also agree with all of these components.

Since this data is structured, we can first identify the network model and protocol used by the game. Then, we can observe the packets being sent and reverse the data to determine what each packet is doing. We can then use the data in these packets to create our own client using the Windows' Socket API.

6.2.4 Local Server

If you start Wesnoth and click *Multiplayer*, you will see the following screen:



These entries indicate that Wesnoth is using a client-server model. If we explore the Wesnoth game folder in C:\Program Files (x86)\Battle for Wesnoth 1.14.9, you will find a program called wesnothd.exe. Reading the documentation on the developer's website, we know that this is a server daemon that allows you to host a server. It can be run by invoking it from the command prompt:

Command Prompt - wesnothd.exe

C:\Program Files (x86)\Battle for Wesnoth 1.14.9>wesnothd.exe

With the server running, we can now connect to it from Wesnoth. In the previous chapter, we discussed how clients need to know two pieces of information to connect to another host: the IP address and the port. In this case, the server is running on our local machine. There are several reserved IP address ranges that will never be used for normal network assignments. One of these is the range from 127.0.0.0 to 127.255.255.255, which is reserved for loopback addresses on the local machine. The loopback component indicates that the external network will not be able to access these IP ranges.

On all operating systems, 127.0.0.1 will always direct to your current host. In addition, localhost is a hostname that directs to 127.0.0.1. Therefore, we know that the IP for this server is 127.0.0.1 or localhost. From the documentation, we know that the server runs by default on port 15000. With these two pieces of information, we can connect to the server.

Choose Connect to Server and then enter in localhost:15000:

Connect to Server						
You will now connect to the multiplayer server.						
Server:	localhost:15000					
		View List				
	Connect	Cancel				

When you hit *Connect*, your client will join a multiplayer lobby. If you observe the server running in the command prompt, you should see that it has printed out the connection event:

C:\Program Files ((x86)\Battle for Wesnoth	1.14.9>
C:\Program Files ((x86)\Battle for Mesnoth	1.14.9>wesnothd.exe
28218483 88:55:52	info server: 127.8.8.1	player joined using accepted version 1.14.9: telling them:
28218483 88:55:52	info server: 127.8.8.1	TEUser has logged on
28218483 88:58:14	error server: 127.0.0.1	An existing connection was forcibly closed by the remote host
20210403 08:58:14	info server: 127.0.0.1	IEUser was logged off

6.2.5 Observing Packets

With the server running, we can close the Wesnoth client and start the process of observing packets. There are many tools that can be used, but for these chapters, we will use Wireshark. This can be installed via:

choco install wireshark

The first time you use Wireshark, you will also need to install the WinPcap driver as instructed by the program.

With Wireshark and the driver installed, you can pick a network interface to observe on:

Capture	
using this filter: 📙 Enter a capture filter	
Local Area Connection* 8	
Local Area Connection* 7	
Local Area Connection* 6	_
Ethernet0	<u>ا</u>
Adapter for loopback traffic capture	

Each listed network interface represents a piece of software or hardware that connects to a public or private network. For example, the *Ethernet0* interface listed is the default

network card used to communicate over the Internet for this particular VM. Depending on your VM and computer, these interfaces may be different.

In this case, we know all of the traffic for our game will be flowing on the loopback interface, so select Adapter for loopback traffic capture. Upon selecting this, Wireshark will start monitoring for packets. Open up Wesnoth and connect to the local server. When connecting, you should see Wireshark log multiple packets:

4 6.560365	111	111	FCP	64 15000 - 50562 [RST, ACK] Seq-1 Ack-1 Win-0 Len-0
5 1.18073R			ECP.	75 [YP Retrarsmission] \$6663 + 15888 [\$94] Sepi8 Wini65935 Le.
6 1.182855			TCP	64 15000 + 50562 [RST, ACK] Seq=1 Ack+1 Win+0 Len+0
- 7 1.193681	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	55 50563 + 15000 [SYN] Seq+0 V1n+65535 Le1+0 MSS+65495 WS+256 _
8 1,194230	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	56 19000 + 50563 [SYN, ACK] Seq+0 Ack+L WLn+65535 Len+0 MSS+65.
9 3, 194651	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	44 5456) = 15000 [ACK] Sey=1 ALM=1 #Lm=2619648 Len=0
10 1.194655	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	40 \$056) - 15000 [PSH, ACK] Seq=1 Ack=1 WLn=1619640 Len=4
11 1.194698	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	44 19000 → 50563 [ACK] Seg=1 Ack+5 #in=2619648 Len+0
12 1.195884	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	48 15000 → 50563 [PSH, ACK] Seq=1 Ack=5 Win=1619648 Len=4
13 1.195920	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	44 5956) → 15000 [ACK] Seq=5 Ack=5 #in=2619648 Len=0

Initially, this can appear overwhelming, so let's break down what exactly we are seeing here and identify what we care about. In the protocol column, we can see that Wesnoth is using *TCP*:

4 6,500365	111	111	TCP 64 19800 + 58562 [RST, ACK] Seq-1 Ack-1 Win+0 Len+4
5 1.18073R			TCP 75 [TCP Retrarsmission] 56662 + 15888 [SVII] SepiR Wini65535 Le.
6 1.182855	111	111	TCP 64 19800 + 58562 [RST, ACK] Seq=1 Ack=1 Win=0 Len=0
- 7 1.193601	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP 56 50563 + 15000 [SYN] Seq=0 WIR+65535 Let=0 MSS=65495 WS=256
8 1, 194230	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP 56 1900 + 50563 [SYN, 4CK] Seq+0 Ack+1 WLn+65535 Len+0 MSS+65.
9 1,194651	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	FCP 44 5456) = 15000 [ACK] Seq=1 Ack=1 #Lm=26L9648 Lemm0
10 1.194655	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP 41 \$456) - 15000 [PSH, ACK] Seq=1 Ack+L WLn=1619648 Len=4
11 1.194698	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP 44 15000 + 50563 [ACK] Secv1 Ack+5 #in+2619648 Len+0
12 1.195884	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP 48 15000 - 50563 [PSH, MCK] Seq=1 Ack=5 Win=1619648 Len=4
13 1.195920	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP 44 5056) → 15000 [ACK] Seq+5 Ack+5 #in+2619648 Len+0

We know from the previous chapter that TCP initiates an upfront connection and acknowledges when packets have been received. This initial negotiation is known as a three-way handshake, and has three parts:

- 1. One side sends a packet with a SYN flag.
- 2. The other side responds with SYN and ACK flags.
- 3. The first side sends an ACK flag.

We can see this behavior in the first few packets highlighted below:

4 6,500365	111	111	TOP	64 19800 + 58562 [RST, ACK] Seq-1 Ack-1 Win+0 Len+0
5 1.18073R			TCP	75 [TCP Retrarenission] 58662 + 15888 [SVI] Sepi8 Vini65535 Le.
6 1.182855			TCP	64 19800 + 58562 [RST, ACK] Seq=1 Ack+1 Win+0 Len+0
- 7 1.193600	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	FCP	55 54563 + 15000 [SYN] Seq+0 Win+65535 Len+0 MSS+65455 WS+256
8 1.194230	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	56 1900 + 50963 [SYN, 4CK] Seq+0 Ack+L WLn+65535 Ler+0 MSS+65.
9 1.194651	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	FCP	44 5936) = 15000 [ACK] Segri Ack-1 #in=2619648 Lenn0
10 1.194655	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	48 \$4\$6) - 1\$000 [PSH, ACK] \$eq=1 Ack=1 WLn=1619648 Len=4
11 1.194698	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	44 19000 - 50563 [ACK] Seq=1 Ack=5 #1m=2619648 Len=0
12 1.195884	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	48 15000 → 50563 [PSH, ACK] Seq=1 Ack=5 Win=1619648 Len=4
13 1.195920	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	44 5056) → 15000 [ACK] Seq=5 Ack=5 #in=2619648 Len=0

Since we know 15000 is the server's port, we can determine that 50563 is our client's port. However, this number will probably not match the number you are seeing. If we close Wesnoth and start it again, we will also see that this number changes:

No.	Time	Source	Destination	Protocol	Length	Info
10	1.008314	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	48	50776 → 15000
12	1.009436	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	48	$15000 \div 50776$
14	1.010652	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	81	15000 → 50776
16	1.013925	127.0.9.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	95	50776 → 15000
18	1.020996	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	84	15000 → 50776
20	1.023579	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	195	50776 → 15000
22	1.024201	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	85	15000 → 50776
24	1.044758	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	174	$15000 \rightarrow 50776$

This is an example of an ephemeral, or short-lived, port. Since the Wesnoth client does not need to be discoverable by other users, it can choose a "random" available port each time it starts up. When the client is closed, it will free this port. This is in contrast to the server, which always needs to be discoverable on port 15000 by clients.

None of the packets we have examined so far contain any data. We can determine this by looking at the *len* member:

4 6,560365	111	::1	TCP	64 15000 - 50562 [RST, ACR] Seg-1 Ack-1 Hin-0 Len-0
5 1.182738			TCP	75 [TCP Retrarsmission] 56662 ± 15888 [SVI] Segul Vinu65535 Le.
6 1.182855			TCP	64 19800 + 58562 [RST, ACK] Seg-1 Ack+1 Win+0 Len+0
- 7 1.193600	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	55 54563 + 15000 [SYN] Seq+0 V1n+65535 Le1+0 MSS+65495 WS+256 _
8 1.194230	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	55 19000 - 50563 [SYN, ACK] Seq=0 Ack+1 WLn=65535 Len=0 MSS=65.
9 3.194651	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	44 5456) = 15000 [ACK] Segri ALM=1 #1r=2619648 Lenn®
10 1.194655	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	49 (\$456) - 15000 [PSH, ACK] Seq-1 Ack-L WLn-1618648 Len-4
11 1.194698	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	44 19000 - 50563 [AOK] Seg-1 Ack+5 #in=2619648 Len=0
12 1.195884	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	48 15000 - 50563 [PSH, ACK] Seg=1 Ack=5 Win=1619648 Len=4
13 1.195920	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	44 5956) → 15000 [AOC] Seq=5 Ack=5 #in=2619648 Len=0

Looking at all the packets, we can see that the only packets with data have the *PSH* flag. This flag tells the TCP connection to immediately send whatever data is inside the packet to the associated application instead of placing it in a buffer. We can filter for this flag in Wireshark to only see the packets that we care about via *tcp.flags.push* == 1:

	₩.£	8 🔋 🗋 🎗	🖸 🍳 🔶 😤 Ŧ	1 🗖 🔳 🎗 🤇 🔍	12			
	🕴 top.fags.push == 1							
No.		Time	Souce	Destination	Protocol	ol Length Ivfo		
	10	1.194656	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	48 50565 + 1x000 [P58, ACK] 5eq=1 ACK+1 WLN=2%19648 Len=4		
	12	1.195884	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	48 15000 + 50563 [PS#, ACK] Seq=1 Ack=5 Win=2619648 Len=4		
	14	1.197818	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	81 15000 + 50563 [PSH, ACK] Seq=5 Ack+5 WLn=2619648 Len=33		
	16	1.289894	127.0.0.1	123.0.0.1	TOP	95 99563 a 15888 [PSE, ACK] Seq=5 Ark=d3 Win=3619648 ien=91	(
	18	1.213497	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	84 15000 - 50563 [PS#, ACK] Seq=42 Ack=56 Win=2619648 Len=4	0	
	20	1.214018	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	98 50563 = 11000 [P38, AKK] 3ey=55 Ack=82 Win=2611048 Len=5	4	
	22	1.216046	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	85 15000 → 50563 [PS#, ACK] Seq=82 Ack=110 Wis=2619648 Ler=	41	
	24	1.221719	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	369 35000 → 50563 [PSH, ACK] Seq=123 A:k=110 W:n=2619648 Len	=125	

6.2.6 Packet Structure

When you select a packet in Wireshark, it displays the full packet broken down in different segments. For example, if we select the first packet of *len* 4, we will see the following view:



--:-Sbu

Z-P-1- PQ-----



component, the following section is highlighted:

7f 00 00 01 7f 00 00 01 c5 83 38 98 c5 53 62 75

0020 b6 d5 5a c1 58 18 27 f9 58 51 68 88 98 68 88 68

9619

```
> Null/Loopback
> Internet Protocol Version 4, Src: 127.8.0.1, Dst: 127.8.0.1
> Transmission Control Protocol, Src Port: 58563, Dst Port: 15080, Seq: 1, Ack: 1, Len: 4
> Data (4 bytes)
        Data: 88688866
        [Length: 4]
```



For the purposes of this chapter, we can ignore the IP and TCP components and focus on the data component for all the packets:



Given that data in packets is often compressed, it is difficult to determine the purpose of a single packet in isolation. Instead, it is easier to look at the overall flow of network traffic and determine the role of each packet. In our case, the flow of network traffic for connecting looks like:

	≡ 2	8 🔋 🗋 🎘	😧 🍳 🔶 😤 😨	1 🗖 🔳 🍳 🍳					
	🛙 top.lags.outh == 1								
No.		Time	Souce	Destination	Protocol	Length	1Mo		
	10	1.194656	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	48	50563 + 11000 [PS#, ACK] Seq=1 ACK+1 WLN=2%19648 Let=4		
	12	1.195884	127.0.0.1	123.0.0.1	TCP	48	15000 + 50563 [PS#, ACK] Seq=1 Ack+5 WLn=2419648 Len=4		
	14	1.197818	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	81	15000 + 50563 [PS#, ACK] Seq=5 Ack+5 WLn=2619648 Len=33		
	16	1.201894	127.0.0.1	121.0.0.1	TCP	95	58563 ± 15888 [PSE, ACE] Seq=5 Ark=42 Win=361964R Len=51		
	18	1.213497	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	84	15000 + 50563 [PS#, ACK] Seq=42 Act=56 Win=2619648 Len=40		
	20	1.214018	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	98	50563 = 11000 [P3#, AKK] Sey=58 Acl=82 Min=2611648 Len=34		
	22	1.216046	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	85	15000 → 50563 [PS#, ACK] Seq=82 Act=119 W1#=2619648 Ler=41		
	24	1.221719	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	369	15000 + 50563 [PSH, ACK] Seq=123 A:k=110 W:n=2019648 Len=125		

We know that packets from $50563 \rightarrow 15000$ represent communication sent from our client to the server, and $15000 \rightarrow 50563$ represent communication sent from the server to our client. As such, the network traffic looks like:

- 1. Client -> Server Packet 1
- 2. Server -> Client
- 3. Client -> Server Packet 2
- 4. Server -> Client
- 5. Client -> Server Packet 3

Since we are writing a client, we will only need to reverse the three packets being sent from the client to the server.
6.2.7 Sockets

Each OS will have its own set of API's that allows you to interact with the networking stack. In Windows, this API is known as Winsock. Microsoft has comprehensive documentation available on how to use this API, including the process to establish a socket. This is available <u>here.</u>

Microsoft also provides a complete example using these API's <u>here</u>. This example will create a TCP connection to a provided IP on port 27015 and send a single packet containing the data **this is a test**. It will then continuously wait for packets from the server. We will base our code on this example.

A good starting place is to see how the server responds when we simply use the code as is. Since we are targeting a specific IP, we will remove the following code from the example:

```
if (argc != 2) {
    printf("usage: %s server-name\n", argv[0]);
    return 1;
}
```

Next, we can modify the **getaddrinfo** function to use the values for our server:

iResult = getaddrinfo("127.0.0.1", "15000", &hints, &result);

With these changes, compile the code and run the executable. If you have Wireshark still logging, you should notice your host sending a packet with the data **this is a test** to the server. If you look at the server process, you will see the following message:

```
20210403 09:34:08 error server: 127.0.0.1 incorrect handshake
```

6.2.8 Reversing Packets

This message indicates that the first packets sent by our client must initiate some sort of handshake. Let's compare the first message logged by the server for a valid connection: 127.0.0.1player joined using accepted version 1.14.9:telling them to log in127.0.0.1IEUser has logged on

Going back to our Wireshark capture, we can see that the first packet sent by the client contains 00 00 00 00. The server then responds with data. From this, we can assume that the data 00 00 00 00 is interpreted by the Wesnoth server as the start of a handshake.

We can modify our socket example to perform this behavior. First, remove the following code since we will be writing our own sending code:

```
// Send an initial buffer
iResult = send( ConnectSocket, sendbuf, (int)strlen(sendbuf), 0 );
if (iResult == SOCKET_ERROR) {
   printf("send failed with error: %d\n", WSAGetLastError());
   closesocket(ConnectSocket);
   WSACleanup();
   return 1;
7
printf("Bytes Sent: %ld\n", iResult);
// shutdown the connection since no more data will be sent
iResult = shutdown(ConnectSocket, SD_SEND);
if (iResult == SOCKET_ERROR) {
   printf("shutdown failed with error: %d\n", WSAGetLastError());
   closesocket(ConnectSocket);
   WSACleanup();
   return 1;
}
```

Next, create a buffer that will hold our 00 00 00 data:

Finally, add the following code to send this data and receive a single packet back:

```
iResult = send(ConnectSocket, (const char*)buff_handshake_p1,
(int)sizeof(buff_handshake_p1), 0);
printf("Bytes Sent: %ld\n", iResult);
```

```
iResult = recv(ConnectSocket, recvbuf, recvbuflen, 0);
printf("Bytes received: %d\n", iResult);
```

If you run this program, you will receive 41 bytes back. This is equal to the two responses sent by the server in Wireshark, indicating that the first packet sent by the client initiates the handshake:

	≡ 2	0 1 0 2	8 🚳 🤹 🗢 🕾 😨	1 🗖 🔳 🔍 🔍 🔍	<u>11</u>		
	tcp.fags	push == 1					a 🗆
No.		Time	Souce	Destination	Protocol	Length	14o
	10	1.194656	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	48 :	50565 + 11000 [PS#, ACK] 500+1 ACK+1 WLN+2919648 Len+4
	12	1.195884	127.0.0.1	123.0.0.1	TCP	48	15000 + 50563 [P58, ACK] Seq=1 Ack=5 WLn=2x19648 Len=4
	14	1.197818	127.0.0.1	123.0.0.1	TCP	81 :	15000 + 50563 [PS#, ACK] Seq=5 Ack=5 WLn=2019648 Len=33
	16	1.289894	127.0.0.1	123.0.0.1	TCP	95	\$8563 = 15888 [P58, ACK] Seq=5 Ark=43 Win=361964R len=51
	18	1.213497	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	84 :	15000 - 50563 [PS#, ACK] Seq=42 Ack=56 Win=2619648 Len=40
	20	1.214018	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	98	50563 = 11000 [P58, ACK] 3eq=55 Acl=82 Wir=2611648 Lem=34
	22	1.216846	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	85	15000 → 50563 [P5#, ACK] Seq=82 Act=119 W1#=2619648 Ler=41
	24	1.221719	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	369	15000 → 50563 [PSH, ACK] Seq=123 A:k=110 W:n=2019648 Len=125

From the server messages, we can see that the next packet the client is responsible for is sending their current version. An example of this packet's data is shown below:

0x00,	0x00,	0x00,	0x2f,	0x1f,	0x8b,	0x08,	0x00,	0x00,	0x00,
0x00,	0x00,	0x00,	0xff,	0x8b,	0x2e,	0x4b,	0x2d,	0x2a,	Øxce,
Øxcc,	0xcf,	0x8b,	0xe5,	0xe2,	0x84,	0xb2,	0x6c,	0x95,	0x0c,
0xf5,	0x0c,	0x4d,	0xf4,	0x2c,	0x95,	0xb8,	0xa2,	0xf5,	0xe1,
0x92,	0x5c,	0x00,	0xc0,	0x38,	0xd3,	0xd7,	0x28,	0x00,	0x00,
0x00									

Even when converted into ASCII, our game version (1.14.9) does not appear in this data. This is because, like most games, Wesnoth compresses all data by default. In future chapters, we will examine the compression scheme used so that we can create packets with custom data. However, in this chapter, we will not need to do this since this data does not change. You can verify that by joining the same server multiple times with Wireshark running.

Let's add this packet to our program to send as well:

```
0x00
};
iResult = send(ConnectSocket, (const char*)buff_handshake_p2,
(int)sizeof(buff_handshake_p2), 0);
printf("Bytes Sent: %ld\n", iResult);
iResult = recv(ConnectSocket, recvbuf, recvbuflen, 0);
printf("Bytes received: %d\n", iResult);
```

With this additional packet, the Wesnoth server will now think that a client is sending them a game's version before closing the connection:

info server: 127.8.8.1	player joined using accepted version 1.14.9:	telling them to log in.
info server: 127.0.0.1	connection closed	

Finally, we can add in the name that our client will send. Since we have control over this field, we can use it to observe the compression scheme in use. With Wireshark running, connect to a server with two usernames, one short and one long. In the long username, make sure multiple characters repeat in a row. This will allow us to detect patterns. In this chapter, we will use the examples of *FFFAAAKKKEEE* and *IEUser*. Their related packets look like:

34 1.0005	2 127.3.3.1	\$27.9.0.1	TCP-	81 154	14 1.187939	117.0.0.1	117.0.0.1	109	85 E5000 → E0560
36 1.40392	5 127.0.0.1	327.0.0.1	TOP	95 141	16 1.105054	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	102	SS 50560 → 85000
38 1.02099	6 127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	IN 151	18 1.213457	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	109	84 LS000 × 50563
38 E.#2357	9 127.3.3.1	327.0.0.1	TOP	386 181	OF 1. PARTS	111.0.0.0.1	112.0.0.1	н¥	AR ADAX IS SAME
23 1.40/28	1 127.9.9.1	327.0.0.1	307	85 154	22 3. 194646	117.0.0.1	117.0.0.1	109	95 E0000 → 50000
24 1.04/25	0 127.0.0.1	327.0.0.1	TOP	374 154	\$4 8.022799	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	102	105 ES440 - 58540
 Interes 201 128 Null/Leoplack Britsmert Prob Transmission Transmission Transmission 	Aptes on wore (NAS at Scel Werslow 4, Src: 1 Destrol Protocol, Src 1 D	is), 320 kyles chotae 17.6.0.1, but: 127.0 Part: 50776, Ent. Part	ed (848 bits) e.1 bi 19800. Sec: bitshahtrutkeet	on Laters 2 55. Ark: 2	 Frame and not bytel Nutl/Loopback Internet fratecol Transmission Conto Internet (Sa System) Date: 0000000000 	Con wire (lass mir Versian 4, Smir B við Protessið, Smir Heratessannan	 NA Dytes captured NA Dytes captured NA Dytes 2010 12710 / Na Dytes 2010 12710 //// 	(.08 mirt) or 2.3 23000, 3mi	- Interface (Javier) 96. Ack: 82. Lev: 94 Holicetiane
(Longthe 6)	0				[Longth: [1]				
2000 42 40 30 4 001 5 7 94 44 44 002 5 4 67 5 7 003 17 60 55 005 17 60 55 005 70 74 74 005 70 74 74	84 45 30 86 45 55 56 56 1 34 86 89 16 56 56 7 56 18 27 56 87 66 8 60 19 86 90 00 76 1 31 88 56 26 88 25 75 1 31 88 56 26 98 37 1 30 18 28 99 00 96 1 30 18 28 90 00 96 1 30 18 28 90 00 96 1 30 18 28 90 00 96	14 000 00 00 00 00 00 00 14 000 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 14 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 14 0 00 00 00 00 00 00 12 00 00 00 00 00 00 12 00 00 00 00 00 00 12 00 00 00 00 00 12 00 00 00 00 00 12 00 00 00 00 12 00 00 00 00 12 00 00 00 12 00 00 00 12 00 00 12 00 00 12 00 00 12 00 00 12 0	E f jeg i age i i n - g-te E d-te tt es el		101101 07 00 100 00 01 102101 77 00 00 00 01 00 01 10 00 01 17 00 00 01 10 00 00 01 10 00 00 00 00 10 00 00 00 00 004 00 10 00 00 00 00 004 00 004 00	100 00 04 55 25 00 00 04 15 35 15 17 13 30 15 00 06 46 00 17 46 31 15 55 35 46 31 30 15 56 30	20 UER NO BA UER OF 10 UER NO BA UER OF 10		
A 24 . Terration	and a large				0 X and the set of	A Contractor of			

The highlighted areas most likely represent the compressed name of the user. Let's try sending the data from the *FFFAAAKKKEEE* request, but slightly modifying the bytes for the name:

If we observe the server, we see the following error:

info server: 127.0.0.1 player joined using accepted version 1.14.9: telling them error config: ERROR: 'failed to uncompress' error server: 127.0.0.1 simple_wml error in received data: failed to uncompress

This verifies that the packet is being compressed, and even indicates the compression scheme (*simple_wml*). We can use this information in future chapters when we want to create our own packet. For this chapter, we can just modify **buff_send_name** to contain the original data:

With this change, our client will now connect to the server using the name *FFFAAAKKKEEE*. If you join the lobby with a legitimate client, you will notice that our client is also connected.



The full code for this client is available in <u>Appendix A</u>.

6.3 Reversing Packets

6.3.1 **Target**

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

6.3.2 Identify

In the previous chapter, we identified the packets used for connecting to a Wesnoth server. We then wrote a client that would replay these packets. In this chapter, we will identify the packets used for sending chat messages and reverse their structure. This will allow us to create our own legitimate packets instead of only replaying packets.

6.3.3 Understand

For clients and servers to communicate over a network, both sides must agree on how to structure the data in each packet. Since this structure must be reversible for each side, we can also reverse it. Once the data is reversed, we can modify the data and do the opposite of the reversing process to create a new packet.

6.3.4 Chat Packets

Similar to reversing an executable, it is helpful to have a context when reversing packets. With executables, this context is often a string that we have observed inside the executable. When it comes to packets, this context is some type of data we can control in the packet.

Typically, you control several pieces of data in a packet. For example, most games allow you to set your name. Other games will allow you to connect with multiple versions or certain mods. Both of these pieces would allow you to associate certain data with certain packets. However, one of the easiest pieces of data to control is a game's chat messages. Since Wesnoth allows players to send chat messages, this is the context we will use for this chapter.

Start Wesnoth and connect to your local server with a user named *FFFAAAKKKEEE*, identically to the last chapter. Once connected, start Wireshark to log packets. To help reverse the game's packets, we want to answer a few questions:

- 1. Is there any randomness or time element encoded in the packets?
- 2. Can we observe patterns of letters in the packets?
- 3. Can we observe any human-readable characters in the packets?

To answer these questions, we can send the following four chat messages:

- a
- a
- aaaaa
- hello123

Games showing 0 out of 0	A	14 M I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	S	T 🗖 🗐 🖉 🖉 🖉	• M	
Comes supergrammere	I top	fags.pish=+ 1				
	Here.	Ting	Sec. 1	Oresidentillees	Protocol	Length Info
	F	1 0.000000	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	126 49863 + 19000 [PS8, ACK] Seq=1 Ack=1
		3 0.663847	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	126 49863 + 15000 [PS8, ACK] Sec=83 Ack<1
		5 2.941554	117.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	138 49863 - 19000 [PSH, ACK] Sec-161 Ack-
		7 5.724753	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	133 49843 = 15000 [F58, ACK] Seq=149 Auke
	2 FT	ine 1: 126 bytes	on ware (lees cits), :	Lie bytes capturec ((1008 6115)	on incertace \DeviceVWHF_Loopback, id 0
	> NU3	11/Locptack				
	> Int	senset Protocol V	ertion 4, 1rc: 137.83	0.1, Dut: 137.0.0.1		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
2 기업 전에 관계 전 전 전 전 전 전 전 전 전 전 전 전 전 전 전 전 전 전	2 100	ASALISION CONTROL	: retees, see forti	19963, Die Peril 15	and, see	a, Aeni a, Leni 62
	< 100	a (aa ignes)				
Indun	0.004	01 00 00 00 AL		20 07 00 10 T		
IO DDY	0000	74 00 00 00 45	00 00 78 50 10 40 00 10 10 01 72 77 34 10	30 06 00 P0 ····E		
Koom 'lobby'' jained	9536	FI 2b 28 5d 54	18 27 f8 66 be 60 80	00 00 00 te + 1P	· · · · · · ·	- N
FFFAAAEIQCEEE: 0	9636	11 85 88 60 06	60 80 60 60 ff 8b ce	4d 2d 2e 4e ·····	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	.N
SEEAA MYNOCEEE - 3	0044	4c df Rd e5 e2 i	14 b2 6c 95 12 95 b8	38 85 62 63 10		* <u>2</u>
CITAA MURATET, and a	0656	7: 60 95 72 11 1 SF 25 17 17 17	13 92 28 EL DC EZ 04	57 57 25 av 19773	NGS probably	
PHYANAGEEE: 64840	8878	65 71 NR 66 24	NA UN 77 30 14 48 NA	69 66 1) -F.	our polices	
FFFAAAKKOGEEE: hello 123						

The first two messages are identical and will help us determine if identical messages result in identical packets. The third message repeats *a* several times, allowing us to observe any type of data patterns. Finally, the last message will immediately tell us if it appears readable in a packet.

6.3.5 Test Cases

Examining the data of the first two packets (*a* and *a*), we can see that their data is identical. This means that the packets do not contain a timestamp or any other uniqueness factor:

-	1 0.000000	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	126 49863 → 15000	[PSH, ACK] Seq=1 Ack=1	, k
	3 0.663847	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	$126 49863 \rightarrow 15080$	[PSH, ACK] Seq=83 Ack=	1
	5 2,961554	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	$128 49863 \rightarrow 15989$	[PSH, ACX] Seq=165 Ack	=)
	7 5.714755	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	$133 \ 49863 \rightarrow 15000$	[PSH, ACK] Seq=249 Ack	-

> Fra	ie 3: 1	26 bytes	on wire	(1008 bits),	126 bytes captured	(1008 bits) on	interface	\Device\NPF_Loopback	, id Ø
-------	---------	----------	---------	--------------	--------------------	----------------	-----------	----------------------	--------

> Null/Loopback

c

- > Internet Protocol Version 4, Src: 127.0.0.1, Ost: 127.0.0.1
- > Transmission Control Protocol, Src Port: 49863, Dst Port: 15008, Seq: 83, Ack: 1, Len: 82 > Data (82 bytes)

Data: 6000004c148b088600000000000048bcc4d2d2c4c4c4f8dc5c284b26c951255b8388bf2f8.
[Length: 82]

9999	62	86	86	66	45	66	86	7a	5d	20	46	80	86	66	80	66	Ez] #
8818	7f	88	86	61	7f	66	88	81	<2	c7	3a	98	83	d5	fa	62	
8828	ff	2Ь	28	54	50	18	27	fß	66	lc	ee.	26	96	66	66	40	-+]P-'- flN
8838	14	8b	88	68	60	66	89	80	60	Ŧf	86	ce	44	2d	2c	4e	er er en en er er er Melun
8848	4c.	4F	84	e5	ρ2	84	b2	6C.	95	12	95	b8	38	sb	F2	£3	101
6626	73	6d	95	72	f2	93	92	Za -	81	be	e2	¢4	Ъε	94	d4	22	sm
8868	Sb	25	37	37	37	47	47	47	-6f	6F	6f	57	57	57	25	ae	[%777666 gooMMM-
8878	69	76	bü	66	20	66	Sb	77	78	14	44	80	99	88			h}-fw.p-H

Next, examining the data of the third packet (aaaaa), we see a pattern toward the end:

8008	82	80	00	80	45	80	00	7c	5d	85	40	60	80	66	60	60	····E··]-@····
8018	7f	80	90	81	7f	80	90	81	c3	41	За	98	6Ь	bc	c6	34	····· A: k··4
8028	fb	с1	cd	e2	50	18	27	f8	ØЬ	63	60	60	90	60	60	50	· · · · P · ' · · · c · · <mark>· · · P</mark>
8038	1f	8b	88	80	90	80	00	80	-00	ff	8b	ce	1d	2d	2e	-1e	M N
2042	4c	4f	Bd	e5	e2	84	b2	6c	95	12	41	40	89	86	Ь3	28	LO1Ag(
8058	Зf	Зf	d7	56	29	27	Зf	29	a٩	12	c 8	2h	40	cd	4h	49	<pre>>>·V)'?) ···+N·KT</pre>
8968	2d	b2	-55	72	73	73	73	74	-74	f4	fG	f6	76	75	75	55	Urssst tvuuU
8078	e2	8a	d6	87	16	c0	05	90	0a	80	55	c8	4c	60	90	60	· · · · · · · · · · · · U · L · · ·

This pattern is too long for *aaaaa*, and its structure of 3-3-3-3 is closest to our player's name (*FFFAAAKKKEEE*). We can see that this pattern also occurs in all of our messages, indicating that one element of this packet must contain our player's name.

Finally, examining the data of the last packet, we cannot observe anything that would resemble *hello123*.

Next, let's observe the difference between the packets for the message a and a new message b to help determine how single characters are handled:



Comparing these two packets side by side, we find that the single-character modification resulted in 2 of the bytes being changed in the middle of the packet, and several bytes being changed at the end:

0000	02	60	80	60	45	60	20	7a	5d	26	40	00	80	06	00	60	••••E••z]&@•••••
0010	7f	00	60	01	7f	60	60	61	c2	c7	3a	98	83	d5	fb	b1	
0020	ff	2b	20	5d	50	18	27	f8	bf	57	00	60	00	90	66	4e	-+]P·'W·- <mark>···N</mark>
0030	17	8b	08	00	60	00	80	00	00	ff	8b	ce	4 d	2đ	20	40	MN
0040	4c	4f	8d	e5	e2	84	b2	6c	95	92	94	b 8	38	8b	f2	f3	L0····1 ····8···
0050	73	6d	95	72	f2	93	92	2a	81	bc	e2	d4	bc	94	d4	22	sm+r++++++++*
0060	5b	25	37	37	37	47	47	47	65	6 1	6+	57	57	57	25	ae	[%777GGG 000WWW%-
0070	68	7d	b8	66	2e	00	Вc	73	25	ae	48	66	00	99			h}·f.··s %-H-··
6666	62	99	60	60	45	60	20	7a	5d	20	40	66	80	86	60	60	····F···z 1 @·····
6616	74	66	66	61	7.5	66	80	61	62	c7	la	98	83	d5	fa	h2	
6626	44	26	20	54	50	18	27	48	66	60	00	66	00	99	00	40	
6030	1.5	8b	68	60	0.0	60	20	00		ff	8h	. C A	44	24	26	10	
6616	40	44	Rd	-5	= 7	84	62	60	95	12	95	h8	3.8	86	£2	+3	1018
6656	73	64	65	72	£2	63	02	2a		hc	87	d4	he	94	da	22	500.00.00
6656	5h	25	37	37	37	47	47	47	6.5	6.F	6.F	57	57	57	25	80	E%777666
9979	6.8	74	hR	66	20	66	- Th	77	70	14	4.8	66	66	99	20	00	h) f. w h.H.
0070	00	7.4			20		50	~		1.4				00			all and the ball of

This demonstrates that our text is not being mapped one-to-one into a packet, and additional processing is taking place. With this information, we can close Wesnoth and stop logging packets in Wireshark. However, make sure to keep Wireshark running so we can grab packet data as we analyze it further.

6.3.6 Packet Modification

Now, let's see how the server responds if we modify a packet. In the last chapter, we wrote a client that would connect to the server with the username *FFFAAAKKKEEE*. We can expand on this code to send a chat message *a* after we connect.

In Wireshark, click on the first or second packet (the *a* messages) and select the data. Right-click and choose *Show Packet Bytes*:

	1 0.600008 3 0.663847 5 2.961554 7 5.714755 15 183.026721	127.0.0.1 127.0.0.1 127.0.0.1 127.0.0.1 127.0.0.1 127.0.0.1	Conversation Filter Colorize with Filter Follow Copy	• • •	26 49863 → 26 49863 → 28 49863 → 33 49863 → 26 49863 →
			Show Packet Bytes Export Packet Bytes	Ctrl+Shift=O Ctrl+Shift=X	
<	Frame 3: 126 bytes	on wire (1	Wiki Protocol Page Filter Field Reference Protocol Preferences	,	interface \
>	Internet Protocol V Transmission Contro	/ersion 4,	Decode As Go to Linked Packet	Ctrl+Shift+U	Ack: 1. Ler
¥	Data (82 bytes) Data: 0000004e1f	80080000000	Show Linked Packet in New W 99981180cc4d2d2c4c4c4t8d	/indow 050284026095129508	388bf2f3
	[Length: 82]				

In the window that appears, choose *C* Array in the Show As section. This will format the packet's data into an array that can be dropped directly into your code.

Wireshark - Data (data.data) - Adapter for loopback traffic capture	-	o ×
<pre>char packet_bytes[] = { Ex00, 0x00, 0x00, 0x40, 0x17, 0x30, 0x00, 0x0</pre>		
Rever I, Onio Statulitati, 20 Aero Decode es None · Show as C Array ·	Start 0	0 End 62 0
Find:		Find Next
Print Copy Save as	Close	Help

After we have sent the handshake, version, and username packets, we can add the following code to send the chat message:

```
const unsigned char packet_bytes[] = {
    0x00, 0x00, 0x00, 0x4e, 0x1f, 0x8b, 0x08, 0x00,
    0x00, 0x00, 0x00, 0x00, 0x00, 0xff, 0x8b, 0xce,
    0x4d, 0x2d, 0x2e, 0x4e, 0x4c, 0x4f, 0x8d, 0xe5,
    0xe2, 0x84, 0xb2, 0x6c, 0x95, 0x12, 0x95, 0xb8,
    0x38, 0x8b, 0xf2, 0xf3, 0x73, 0x6d, 0x95, 0x72,
    0xf2, 0x93, 0x92, 0x2a, 0x81, 0xbc, 0xe2, 0xd4,
    0xbc, 0x94, 0xd4, 0x22, 0x5b, 0x25, 0x37, 0x37,
    0x37, 0x47, 0x47, 0x47, 0x6f, 0x6f, 0x6f, 0x57,
    0x57, 0x57, 0x25, 0xae, 0x68, 0x7d, 0xb8, 0x66,
    0x2e, 0x00, 0x9b, 0x77, 0x70, 0x14, 0x48, 0x00,
    0x00, 0x00
};
iResult = send(ConnectSocket, (const char*)packet_bytes,
(int)sizeof(packet_bytes), 0);
printf("Bytes Sent: %ld\n", iResult);
```

Executing this code will send a chat message just as if we were connected:

C:\Program Files (x85)\Battle for Meanoth 1.1	4.95 wearothd.exe
20210411 16:29:03 info server: 127.0.0.1	player joined using accepted version 1.14.9: telling them to log in.
20218411 16:29:03 info server: 127.0.0.1	FFFAAW KKEEE has logged on
20210411 16:29:17 info server: 127.0.0.1	<pppaaagkkeees #<="" td=""></pppaaagkkeees>
28218411 16:29:18 into server: 127.8.8.1	<fffaaakkneee> a</fffaaakkneee>
20210411 16:29:20 into server: 127.0.0.1	<pre><fffaaakkkeee> aaaaa</fffaaakkkeee></pre>
20210411 16:29:23 info server: 127.0.0.1	<ppfaaagkkeee> hellp129</ppfaaagkkeee>
28218411 16:32:28 info server: 127.8.8.1	<fffaaakkneee> b</fffaaakkneee>
20218411 16:33:23 error server: 127.8.8.1	An existing connection was forcibly closed by the remote host
20218411 16:33:23 info server: 127.0.0.1	FFFAA4KIKEEE was logged off
20210411 16:33:32 info server: Statistics:	number of games = 0 number of users = 0
20210411 16:35:14 info server: 127.0.0.1	player joined using accepted version 1.14.9: telling them to log in.
20218411 16:35:14 info server: 127.0.0.1	FFFAAAK KEEE has logged on
28218411 16:35:14 info server: 127.8.8.1	<fffaaakkkeee> a</fffaaakkkeee>
28218411 16:35:16 error server: 127.8.8.1	An existing connection was forcibly closed by the remote host
20210411 16:35:16 info server: 127.0.0.1	FFFAAMKKKEEE was logged off

In the section above, we saw that the difference between the *a* and *b* chat messages was a change of 2 bytes. Let's change only the 2 bytes above and see how the server responds:

```
0x38, 0x8b, 0xf2, 0xf3, 0x73, 0x6d, 0x95, 0x72,
0xf2, 0x93, 0x92, 0x2a, 0x81, 0xbc, 0xe2, 0xd4,
0xbc, 0x94, 0xd4, 0x22, 0x5b, 0x25, 0x37, 0x37,
0x37, 0x47, 0x47, 0x47, 0x6f, 0x6f, 0x6f, 0x57,
0x57, 0x57, 0x25, 0xae, 0x68, 0x7d, 0xb8, 0x66,
0x2e, 0x00, 0x9b, 0x77, 0x70, 0x14, 0x48, 0x00,
0x00, 0x00
```

Executing the code with this packet will result in the following error from the server:

20210411	10:04:04	THEA Server:	147.0.0.1	brahau lotues astus	accepter version 1914-26	cerning ru
20210411	16:37:57	info server:	127.0.0.1	PPPAAAKKKEEE has	s logged on	
20210411	16:37:57	error config:	ERROR: 'failed	to uncompress'		
20210411	16:37:57	error server:	127.8.0.1	simple_wnl error in	received data: failed to	unconpress
20210411	16:37:57	info server:	127.0.0.1	FFFAAAKKKEEE was	s logged off	

This error message, plus how a single letter change results in multiple modifications to the bytes in the packet, indicates that at least some part of the packet is compressed.

6.3.7 Compression

Compression is the process of taking input data and reducing its size. One of the most simplistic compression techniques is combining repeating data. For example, the string AAAAAAAAA could become 10A. When decompressed, the decompressor would know to expand 10A back to AAAAAAAAA. There are multiple ways to compress data, with some popular formats being ZIP and RAR. Just like executables are always distinct from other data (like pictures), different compression formats are distinct from each other.

Wesnoth is a multi-platform game that supports Windows and Linux. Therefore, we know that whatever format being used must run on both OS's. On Linux-based systems, two of the most popular compression formats are gzip and bzip2. We will start our investigation with these formats.

Windows' default command prompt does not have good support for data operations. To help us investigate, we will use another terminal emulator called Cmder. We will also install the gzip package. Both of these can be installed using Chocolatey in Powershell:

```
choco install cmder -y
choco install gzip -y
```

To test out the two compression techniques, create a text file named test.txt. In this file, add a single line of text. Next, open up Cmder (*C*:*Tools**Cmder.exe*) and navigate to the directory with this text file. Run the following command to create a gzip'd version of the file:

gzip test.txt

By default, gzip will remove the original file. Recreate test.txt in the same way so that you can then create a bzip'd version:

bzip2 test.txt

You should now have two files: test.txt.gz and test.txt.bz2. We next want to examine what the bytes of these files look like. To do this, we can use a tool called **xxd**:

xxd test.txt.gz
xxd test.txt.bz2

Your results should look similar to the following:

```
C:\tools\Cmder

λ xxd test.txt.gz

00000000: 1f8b 0808 e288 7360 000b 7465 7374 2e74 .....s`..test.t

00000010: 7874 0053 ca48 cdc9 c957 52e0 e502 00d2 xt.S.H...WR.....

00000020: 89dd 980a 0000 00 .....

C:\tools\Cmder

λ xxd test.txt.bz2

00000000: 425a 6839 3141 5926 5359 c1ca 68a1 0090 BZh91AY&SY..h...

00000010: 0251 0000 1250 0002 44a0 0021 91a6 210c .Q...P..D..!..!

00000020: 08cd 57a2 9478 bb92 29c2 8486 0e53 4598 ..W..x..)....SE.
```

Comparing these against one of the packets, you should immediately notice that the beginning bytes (0x1f8b) jump out in the packet:

0000	02	00	00	00	45	90	00	7a	5đ	20	40	00	80	66	00	66	••••E••z]@•••••
0010	7f	00	00	01	7f	90	90	01	c2	c7	3a	98	83	d5	fa	b2	·····
0020	ff	2b	20	5d	50	18	27	f8	66	6c	00	60	60	60	90	4c	·+]P·'· fl··
0030	1f	8b	08	00	60	90	90	00	00	ff	8b	ce	4d	2d	2e	4e	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • M N
0040	46	4Ť	ou	e5	e2	84	b2	6c	95	12	95	b8	38	8b	f2	f3	L018
0050	73	6d	95	72	f2	93	92	2a	81	bc	e2	d4	bc	94	d4	22	sm•r•••*
0060	5b	25	37	37	37	47	47	47	6f	6f	6f	57	57	57	25	ae	[%777GGG ocoWWW%·
0070	63	7d	b8	66	2e	90	9b	77	70	14	48	66	00	66			h}.fw p.H

This indicates that part of the packet may be compressed with gzip. We can validate this by attempting to decompress an actual packet. In Wireshark, select a packet, right-click on the data, and choose *Copy* -> *Value*:

7 5.714755	127.0.0.1	127.0.8.	Follow	•	H, ACK] Seq=249
15 183.026721	127.0.0.1	127.0.8.	Сору	•	All Visible Items
24 356.620223	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.	Show Packet Bytes	Otd+Shift+O	All Visible Select
26 356.621422	127.0.0.1	127.0.8.	Export Packet Sytes	Otd+Shift+X	Field Name
28 356.760914	127.0.0.1	127.0.8.	Wiki Protocol Page		Value
Frame 1: 126 bytes Bull/Loopback	; on wire (1808 b;	ts), 125 bytes	Riter Field Reference Protocol Preferences		As Filter
Internet Protocol Transmission Contr Data (82 bytes) Data: 0000004e1	Version 4, Src: 1 fol Protocol, Src fab90000020000000	127.0.8.1, Dst: Port: 49863, D	Decode As Go to Linked Packet Show Linked Packet in New Window	Ctrl-Shift-U	Copy Bytes as Hi as Hex Dump as Printable Ter as a Hex Sinear
filler and a second					

We can use xxd again to turn this data into a gzip'd file. To do this, we will first print the data to the terminal using the command *echo*. However, instead of only printing, we will pass this printed text to **xxd** via the pipe operator (**)**. We can then use the **-r** switch to tell xxd to reverse the operation (or create a file from the hex), and the **-p** switch to tell xxd to read from whatever is typed in, in this case the echo command. Finally, we use the redirection operator (**>**) to save this to a compressed file:

echo "1f8b08....." | xxd -r -p - > file.gz

We can then decompress this file using gzip:

gzip -d file.gz

This will produce a text file named *file*. Viewing this file, we can see structured data representing our chat message:



6.3.8 Packet Structure

We now know that the majority of the packet contains compressed data, but there is still one piece of the packet we have not reversed yet. Looking at the packet again, we can see that the data 0x00 00 00 4e comes before the compressed section:

1	- 1 0.00000	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	126 49863 -> 15080 [PSH, ACK] Seq=1 Ack=1 &
	3 0.663847	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	126 49863 → 15000 [PSN, ACK] Seq=83 Ack=1
	5 2.961554	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	128 49863 → 15000 [PSH, ACK] Seq=165 Ack=;
	7 5.714755	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	133 49863 + 15000 [PSH, ACK] Seq=249 Ack=:

> Frame 3: 126 bytes on wire (1868 bits), 126 bytes captured (1888 bits) on interface \Device\NPF_Loopback, id \emptyset > Null/Loopback

> Internet Protocol Version 4, Src: 127.0.0.1, Dst: 127.0.0.1

```
> Transmission Control Protocol, Src Port: 40863, Dst Port: 15000, Seq: 83, Ack: 1, Len: 82
```

♥ Data (82 bytes)

Data: 6000004c148b08860000006666600+f8bcc4d2d2c4c4c4f8dc5c284b26c951255b8888b+2+8.. [Length: 82]

6666	62	66	86	66	45	66	86	7a	5d	20	46	80	86	66	80	66	Ez] #
8818	-7f	ee	86	61	7f	66	ee	81	<2	c7	34	98	83	d5	fa	62	
8828	ff	2b	28	54	50	18	27	fß	66	lc	ee.	26	96	60	66	40	-+]P-'- fl)
8838	14	Зb	88	68	68	66	89	80	60	Ŧf			44	2d	2e	40	er e
8848	4c	4F	84	65	62	84	b2	6C	- 95	12	95	b8	38	ab	Ŧ۶	-f3	101
6626	73	6d	95	72	f2	93	92	Za	-81	be	e2	¢4	bc.	94	04	22	smer en et en en en en e
8868	Sb	25	37	37	37	47	47	47	-6f	6F	6f	57	57	57		ae	[2777666_oocMMX+
8878	68	76	bö	66	2e	88	Sb	77	78	14	44	80	99	88			h}-fw p-h

If we convert this **0x4E** into decimal, we get the value 78. Examining the length of the data section of the packet, we see that it is 82. From this we can deduce that the first 4 bytes of the packet are responsible for holding the size of the compressed data. With this, we have all the information we need to create our own packet.

6.3.9 Creating a Packet

Now that we have reversed a packet, we can use the opposite steps to create our own. In this case, let's create a chat message that says z from our chat message that said a. Take the file produced from our steps above, and change the message to z:



Next, we are going to gzip this file. We can then use xxd to print out its byte representation. By using the **-i** flag, xxd will display this data in a format that we can use in our code:

C:\tools\Cnder % cat file [message] message="z" room="lobby" sender="PFTAAAKKKEEE"	Contraction for the supplices Contraction Contraction
[/wessage] Britishers	
Cr\tuols\Onder λ gzip file	
C:\tools\Onder A xxd file.gz	2 5.714753 127.8.8. 15 183.025731 127.8.8. 22 355.019.4.1. 127.8.8.
88999989; 1780 0808 1084 7368 8980 0809 0409 88899810; 0444 2424 444 4584 5842 6495 8889832; 5838 3542 f373 6495 72f1 9392 2481 88898939; 6455 9444 2255 2537 3737 4747 476f 888989349; 5757 5725 4458 7458 5528 68f5 4044 88898850; 6066 66	0000Sfile aa94 .MNLG bee2 .8sm.r° 6f6f"[\$777665000 7c48 .ww%.h].fg. H
C:\tools\Ender λ xxd -i file.gz unsigned chan file cp[] = δ	
<pre>8x1f, 0x8b, 0x08, 0x08, 0x15, 0x8a, 0x73, 0 8x6c, 0x65, 0x08, 0x8b, 0xce, 0x2d, 0x2d, 0 8xe5, 0xe2, 0x84, 0xb2, 0x6c, 0x72, 0x72, 0x73, 0 8xfs, 0x75, 0x6d, 0x95, 0x72, 0x72, 0x93, 0 8xd4, 0xbc, 0x64, 0xd4, 0x22, 0x5b, 0x25, 0 8x47, 0x6f, 0x6f, 0x5f, 0x57, 0x57, 0x57, 0 8x66, 0x2e, 0x00, 0xf3, 0x08, 0xde, 0x7c, 0 }; unsigned int file_gz_len = 03;</pre>	2x60, 0x20, 0x90, 0x65, 0x60, 0x2e, 0x4e, 0x4c, 0x4f, 0x8d, 0x94, 0x58, 0x38, 0x80, 0x12, 0x92, 0x2a, 0x81, 0x1c, 0xe2, 0x37, 0x37, 0x37, 0x47, 0x47, 0x25, 0xae, 0x58, 0x7d, 0x58, 0x48, 0x28, 0x08, 0x00

We can place this data into our code like before:

cons	st unsi	igned o	char po	acket_ł	oytes[] = {						
	0x1f,	0x8b,	0x08,	0x08,	0x16,	0x8a,	0x73,	0x60,	0x00,	0x0b,	0x66,	0x69,
	0x6c,	0x65,	0x00,	0x8b,	Øxce,	0x4d,	0x2d,	0x2e,	0x4e,	0x4c,	0x4f,	0x8d,
	0xe5,	0xe2,	0x84,	0xb2,	0x6c,	0x95,	0xaa,	0x94,	0xb8,	0x38,	0x8b,	0xf2,
	0xf3,	0x73,	0x6d,	0x95,	0x72,	0xf2,	0x93,	0x92,	0x2a,	0x81,	Øxbc,	0xe2,
	0xd4,	0xbc,	0x94,	0xd4,	0x22,	0x5b,	0x25,	0x37,	0x37,	0x37,	0x47,	0x47,
	0x47,	0x6f,	0x6f,	0x6f,	0x57,	0x57,	0x57,	0x25,	0xae,	0x68,	0x7d,	0xb8,
	0x66,	0x2e,	0x00,	0xf3,	0x40,	0xda,	0x7c,	0x48,	0x00,	0x00,	0x00	
};												

If you examine the chat messages so far and our newly generated message, you may notice that there is a difference:

0000	02	66	00	99	45	00	60	7a	5d	20	40	60	80	96	60	00	····E··z] @·····
9010	7f	66	00	91	7f	00	60	01	c2	c7	3a	98	83	d5	fa	b2	
0020	ff	2h	20	54	50	18	27	f8	65	66	aa	60	99	60	99	4e	·+]P.'. flN
0030	1f	8b	08	99	00	00	00	00	-09	ff	8b	ce	4d	2d	2e	4e	••••••MN
0040	4c	4†	80	85	ez	84	٥z	ьс	95	12	95	b8	38	8b	F2	÷3	LO·····1 ····8····
0050	73	6d	95	72	f2	93	92	2a	81	bc	e2	d4	bc	94	d4	22	sm+r+++* +++++**
0060	5b	25	37	37	37	47	47	47	6f	6f	6f	57	57	57	25	ae	[%777GGG 000WWW%·
0070	68	7d	b8	55	2e	00	96	77	70	14	48	00	00	00			h}•f.••w p•H•••

All the other chat messages used by the game have 0x00...ff in between 0x08 and 0x8b. By contrast, our message has what appears to be random data. To fix this, we can simply replace these bytes with values that we know work from the game:



This also has the effect of shortening the data. Finally, we need to add the length to the front of the packet. Since it is a single letter, we know that it will be **0x4e**:

cons	st unsi	igned o	char po	acket_k	oytes[] = {						
	0x00,	0x00,	0x00,	0x4e,	0x1f,	0x8b,	0x08,	0x00,	0x00,	0x00,	0x00,	0x00,
	0x00,	0xff,	0x8b,	Øxce,	0x4d,	0x2d,	0x2e,	0x4e,	0x4c,	0x4f,	0x8d,	0xe5,
	0xe2,	0x84,	0xb2,	0x6c,	0x95,	0xaa,	0x94,	0xb8,	0x38,	0x8b,	0xf2,	0xf3,
	0x73,	0x6d,	0x95,	0x72,	0xf2,	0x93,	0x92,	0x2a,	0x81,	Øxbc,	0xe2,	0xd4,
	0xbc,	0x94,	0xd4,	0x22,	0x5b,	0x25,	0x37,	0x37,	0x37,	0x47,	0x47,	0x47,
	0x6f,	0x6f,	0x6f,	0x57,	0x57,	0x57,	0x25,	0xae,	0x68,	0x7d,	0xb8,	0x66,
	0x2e,	0x00,	0xf3,	0x40,	0xda,	0x7c,	0x48,	0x00,	0x00,	0x00		
};												

With these changes, we can build and execute the code. The resulting program will connect to the server and send the chat message *z*, proving that we now know the structure and can create our own packets:

3ytes	Sent: 4									
lytes	received:	-41								
Bytes	Sent: 51									
lytes	necetived:	-18	Comma	nd Prompt -	wesneth	dere				
lytes	Sent: 62			-						
Bytes	Sent: 82		C. VRABARA	n Filer (ouchte	stella 6	an Magnath 1, 14	Usuaraatka aya		
lytes	necetived:	171	Depted 1	16:10:03	Anto a	accie n	17 A A 1	of aver defined a	uctor	accepted vension 1-14
			20210411	16.29.63	info a	HI WHILE	127.0.011	PERSONAL JULIAN	has	longed on
			20210411	16:10:17	data a		17 0 0 1	ACCERT WARKS KEELE		THESE OF
			20210411	16 (29) 17	info s	creens		VEFFAMAX REFER		
			20210411	14 - 10 - 10	info a		113 0 4 1	JEEEA AAR RREEES		
			20210411	16:29:20	into s	envens :	17 8 8 1	VEEEAAAZ KZESEN	hello	122
			26210411	16-29-26	info a		127.0.0.1	VEEEAAAA KKEEED	la la	12.5
			20210411	16-33-33	ATTY P	017010	107.0.0.1	An existing or	anact1	on was foodbly closed
			20210411	16-98-99	info o	perfection 1	127 0 0 1	FEEAAAEX FEEE		located off
			20210411	16-13-33	data a		C+a+de#dees	number of game	e - 0	number of users in
			20210411	16-35-14	into s	CIVELS -		number_or_gane	uster.	accepted vepsion 1.14
			28218411	16-95-14	info o	or soon	127 8 4 1	EFEAAAEX FEEE	leas	logand on
			20210411	10-10-14	Anto a		17 0 0 1	ACCEANAZ KZESEN		TOPSON ON
			20210411	16:35:14	THILD 2	envens . convens	197 9 9 1	An existing on	a maeti	an was foorible closed
			20210411	16-15-16	defe a	and the second	117 0 0 1	SEEVEVENEED CO	LINE	lenged off
			20210411	16:37:57	into s	orvers .		algues defeed a	uctor.	accepted warsing 1 14
			28218411	16-97-57	info o	or soon	197 8 8 1	PERFORMENT TOTAL	kas	logged on
			36210411	16-17-57	ACCOR.	confilm	CDDOD: 'fat lad	to uncompress'		TOPSON ON
			28218411	16-37-57	oppop	contrage.	127 8 8 1	simple unl erro	or in	received data: failed
			20210411	16-17-57	info a	arotano -	17 0 0 1	ECENANKA KEES	Line.	langed off
			26218411	16:38:33	info s	orword 1	Statistics	number of game	a = 0	number of users at
			28218411	16-43-33	info o	or soon	Statistics	number of same		number of users at
			26218411	16:47:18	info_s	ervers	127.8.8.1	player_totped	ustne	accepted version 1.14
			28218411	16:47:18	info s	oreans	127.8.9.1	CEPPANAL STREET	inter-	logged on
			26218411	16:47:18	info_s	ervers	127.8.8.1	CEEEGAAAK KKEEE	7	
				10141110	20110 2				-	

6.4 Creating an External Client

6.4.1 Target

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

6.4.2 Identify

In the previous chapter, we reversed the structure of a Wesnoth chat packet and identified the steps needed to reverse and create chat packets for the game. In this chapter, we will expand on this work to create a chat bot, a type of bot that will wait for and respond to certain commands.

6.4.3 Understand

In the previous chapter, we determined that the process to reverse a packet went like this:

- 1. Retrieve the packet's data.
- 2. Split the data into two sections: size and compressed content.
- 3. Decompress the second section.

We used that technique on a chat packet and retrieved structured data that looked like:

```
[message]
    message="a"
    room="lobby"
    sender="FFFAAAKKKEEE"
[/message]
```

Once we retrieved this data, we could make modifications and use a similar process to create a new packet:

- 1. Compress the data section.
- 2. Add the section's length to the front of the data section.
- 3. Send the packet with the new data.

Since we can write both of the above processes out as a series of concrete steps, we can create a program to automatically perform them for us. In the retrieval process, we can analyze the content of each retrieved packet and look for certain characters. If we identify these characters, we can act on them.

6.4.4 ZLib Installation

The data in the packets was compressed using gzip. While we could write our own functions to manage gzip'd data, there are external libraries that already provide functionality to compress and decompress gzip'd data in C++. External libraries generally contain two parts: header files to include in your code, and library files that contain the actual code. For this chapter, we will use a library called <u>ZLib</u>. Most of these libraries require additional installation steps to fully work, including ZLib.

To set up ZLib, first download the *Complete package* installer from <u>their site</u> under the *zlib for Windows 9x/NT* entry. Once installed, it should create a directory at *C:\Program Files (x86)\GnuWin32*.

This installation placed several header and library files in this directory. To use these, we need to include them in our Visual Studio project. Open up Visual Studio and create a project. Once created, right-click on the project file and choose *Properties*:



First, we will make sure that our project can find the ZLib include files. In the properties dialog, choose C/C++ -> Additional Include Directories -> Edit:



In the dialog box that appears, choose the New folder icon and browse to C:\Program Files (x86)\GnuWin32\include:

Additional Include Directories		?	×
	[* ×	↓ ↑
C:\Program Files %28x86%29\GnuWin32\in	clude		~
4			~
Evaluated value:			
C:\Program Files (x86)\GnuWin32\include %(AdditionalIncludeDirectories)			Ŷ
<			>
Inherited values:			
			^
			~
☑ Inherit from parent or project defaults		Mad	ros>>
	ОК	Ca	ancel

We can now include *zlib.h* inside our code, and the build process will be able to locate the file. However, as we have seen in previous chapters, header files generally only contain function definitions and do not contain the majority of code. In ZLib, this code is stored in library files. We will include these library files in a similar manner.

Select Linker -> General and then select Additional Library Directories -> Edit:

? ×

ChatBot Property Pages

numbersment inconscince adt	· Platform: N	cowelaunazh		starting an add in Marting at a
 Configuration Properties General Advenced Debugging VC++ Directories C/C++ Turker General Input Manifest File Debugging System Optimization Embedded IDL Windows Metadoto Advanced All Options Command Line Manifest Tool XML Document Generator Enorese Information Build Events Custom Build Step Code Analysis Code Analysis	Output File Show Progress Version Enable Incremental Linking Suppress Startup Banner Ignora Import Library Register Output Recuter Redirection Additional Library Directories Link Library Dependencies Use Library Dependencies Use Library Dependencies Use Library Dependencies Dise Library Dependencies Dise Library Dependencies Fravent DI Binding Treat Linker Warning As Errors Force File Output Create Hot Patchable Image	\$(OutDir)\$(TargetName(\$(TargetExt) Not Set Yes (/INCREMENTAL) Yes (/INCREMENTAL) Yes (/INCLOGO) No No No No No Contemportation (Contemportation (Contemportatio		
	Additional Library Directories Allows the user to override the environmental library path. (/UBPATH:folder)			

Like we just did, choose the *New folder* icon. This time, supply the path to the library folder at *C*:*Program Files* (x86)*GnuWin32**lib*:



Now that we have loaded the library folder, we need to include the actual .lib file. In *Linker -> Input*, select *Additional Dependencies* and add *zlib.lib* in the dialog that appears:

anfiguration	Active(Debug)	~ Platform Ar	tive(Min32) 🗠 🗠	Configuration Manager.
Configuration General Advanced Debugging VC++ Direc PC/C++ * Linker General Input Manifest Debuggin System Optimizal Embedde Windows Advancer All Option Comman P Manifest Tr P Manifest Tr	n Properties ctories File Ng tion ed IDL Metadata d ns d Line col ment Generator	Additional Dependencies Ignore All Cofeelt Libraries Module Definition File Add Module to Assembly Embed Managed Resource File Force Symbol References Delay Loaded Olls Assembly Link Resource	zlib.lib;%(AdditionalDependencies)	
Build Event Custom Bu D-Code Analy	ts ild Step ysis	Additional Dependencies Specifies additional items to add to	the link command line. [i.e. kernel32.ib]	

With all this setup done, we can now include ZLib in our code like a regular header:

#include <zlib.h>

However, if we try to build this code, we will get the following build error:



If we double-click on this error, we are directed to the following code block:

```
#if 1  /* HAVE_UNISTD_H -- this line is updated by ./configure */
# include <sys/types.h> /* for off_t */
# include <unistd.h> /* for SEEK_* and off_t */
# ifdef VMS
```

unistd.h is a Unix specific file. To fix this error, we can change the **#if 1** to **#if HAVE_UNISTD_H**, like so:



With these changes, our program will now build. However, if you run the program, you will encounter a missing DLL error. To fix this, copy over the *zlib1.dll* file to the running directory of your application:



We can now build and run programs that contain ZLib functionality.

6.4.5 Sending Data

Now that we can compress data in our code, we can create a function to send a Wesnoth-structured packet with whatever data we would like. To create the packet, this function will need our data and the length of this data. To send the packet, we will need a socket. With these requirements, we can create our function definition:

```
void send_data(const unsigned char *data, size_t len, SOCKET s) {
```

Based on the <u>documentation</u>, the easiest way to use ZLib to produce gzip'd data is to create a file with the compressed data. We can do this using the **gzopen**, **gzwrite**, and **gzclose** functions. These are similar to the regular file functions **fopen**, **fwrite**, and **fclose**. In our case, we will create a single compressed file, **packet.gz**, and write whatever data is passed into this file:

```
gzFile temp_data = gzopen("packet.gz", "wb");
gzwrite(temp_data, data, len);
gzclose(temp_data);
```

We can test our current implementation via:

const unsigned char version[] = "[test]hello[/test]"; send_data(version, sizeof(version), ConnectSocket);

Running this code will produce a packet.gz file in the same directory that you ran the program from. If you use gzip to decompress the packet.gz file, you will find that it contains **[test]hello[/test]**, showing that our code works so far.

Our packet needs to contain the byte representation of this file. To retrieve this, we can read the file as a binary file:

```
#define DEFAULT_BUFLEN 512
...
FILE* temp_file = NULL;
fopen_s(&temp_file, "packet.gz", "rb");
```

```
if (temp_file) {
    size_t compress_len = 0;
    unsigned char buffer[DEFAULT_BUFLEN] = { 0 };
    compress_len = fread(buffer, 1, sizeof(buffer), temp_file);
    fclose(temp_file);
```

If you run this code and set a breakpoint after **fclose**, you will see that the buffer now contains the byte representation of the compressed file. We can use this to build our packet. We know that the first 4 bytes (a **DWORD**) of the packet represent the packet's size. Since all of the chat packets are small, we only need to write the size to the last byte of this **DWORD**. Since buffers start at 0 in C, we reference this position with **+3**. We will write the buffer containing the compressed data after that:

```
unsigned char buff_packet[DEFAULT_BUFLEN] = { 0 };
memcpy(buff_packet + 3, &compress_len, sizeof(compress_len));
memcpy(buff_packet + 4, buffer, compress_len);
```

Next, we will use the code we have seen before to send a packet containing this data:

int iResult = send(s, (const char*)buff_packet, compress_len + 4, 0);
printf("Bytes Sent: %ld\n", iResult);

To verify that this method works, we will build off the code we wrote in the previous chapter. In this code, we sent three packets to connect to the server: an initial negotiation packet that contained 0's, a packet containing our client's version, and a packet containing our username.

We can use the same technique that we used to decode chat messages to decode these packets. For example, the packet containing our version looks like this after decoding:

```
[version]
    version="1.14.9"
[/version]
```

Instead of sending the packet's bytes like we were doing, we can use our new function:

const unsigned char version[] = "[version]\nversion=\"1.14.9\"\n[/version]"; send_data(version, sizeof(version), ConnectSocket); If you build and run this code, you will see that our bot will connect in the same way, verifying that our function works. We can build on this approach to send a custom username:

const unsigned char name[] = "[login]\nusername=\"ChatBot\"\n[/login]"; send_data(name, sizeof(name), ConnectSocket);

Finally, we can use the same method to send an initial chat message when we connect:

```
const unsigned char first_message[] = "[message]\nmessage=\"ChatBot
connected\"\nroom=\"lobby\"\nsender=\"ChatBot\"\n[/message]";
send_data(first_message, sizeof(first_message), ConnectSocket);
```

This is the same chat message structure that we observed in the previous chapter.

6.4.6 Retrieving Data

We can now send chat messages. For our chatbot to work, we also need to retrieve messages from the server and parse them for certain text. For this chapter, we will have our bot respond to any message that contains **\wave** with a chat message that says **hello** back.

At the bottom of the code from Microsoft is a loop that continuously checks for new packets. We can modify this to send retrieved packets to our own function, and, depending on the contents, send a chat message:

```
do {
    iResult = recv(ConnectSocket, (char*)recvbuf, recvbuflen, 0);
    if (iResult > 0)
        printf("Bytes received: %d\n", iResult);
    else if (iResult == 0)
        printf("Connection closed\n");
    else
        printf("recv failed with error: %d\n", WSAGetLastError());
    if (parse_data(recvbuf, iResult)) {
        const unsigned char message[] = "[message]\nmessage=\"Hello!
\"\nroom=\"lobby\"\nsender=\"ChatBot\"\n[/message]";
        send_data(message, sizeof(message), ConnectSocket);
    }
} while (iResult > 0);
```

Our **parse_data** function will take a data buffer and its length, and return true if **\wave** is found.

```
bool parse_data(unsigned char *buff, int buff_len) {
```

Like we described above, this function will do the same steps as the **send_data** function, but in the opposite order. First, we will extract the compressed data from the packet and write it to a file:

```
unsigned char data[DEFAULT_BUFLEN] = { 0 };
memcpy(data, buff + 4, buff_len - 4);
FILE* temp_file = NULL;
fopen_s(&temp_file, "packet_recv.gz", "wb");
if (temp_file) {
   fwrite(data, 1, sizeof(data), temp_file);
   fclose(temp_file);
}
```

With the compressed data saved, we can use the **gzopen** and **gzread** to read the decompressed data into a variable. We will then write this variable to the terminal using **fwrite**:

```
gzFile temp_data_in = gzopen("packet_recv.gz", "rb");
unsigned char decompressed_data[DEFAULT_BUFLEN] = { 0 };
gzread(temp_data_in, decompressed_data, DEFAULT_BUFLEN);
fwrite(decompressed_data, 1, DEFAULT_BUFLEN, stdout);
gzclose(temp_data_in);
```

Finally, we will check if the data contains the text **\wave** using **strstr**. This function returns a positive value if the second parameter is included in the first parameter. It returns 0 if not. Because of this, we can return the value of the search and use that to signify to our calling code that the text was found:

```
return strstr((const char*)decompressed_data, (const char*)"\\wave");
```

The full source code for this chapter is available in <u>Appendix A</u> for comparison.

6.5 Proxying TCP Traffic

6.5.1 Target

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

6.5.2 Overview

In the previous chapter, we created an external client that would connect to a Wesnoth server and listen for and respond to specific chat messages. A major downside to this approach is that we had to reverse the entire authentication process so that our client could connect to the server. Our goal in this chapter is to create a proxy. This will allow us to use a regular game client and only intercept and modify the traffic we care about from the client.

6.5.3 Reason for Proxying

The best way to understand our purpose for creating a proxy is to observe the network traffic when connecting to a server with two clients on the same host. On your lab machine, start a Wesnoth server and connect to it with a legitimate copy of the game. Next, modify the client that we wrote in the previous chapter and remove all the authentication. Instead, have it simply send a chat message:

```
...
freeaddrinfo(result);

if (ConnectSocket == INVALID_SOCKET) {
    printf("Unable to connect to server!\n");
    WSACleanup();
    return 1;
}
```

```
const unsigned char first_message[] = "[message]\nmessage=\"ChatBot
connected\"\nroom=\"lobby\"\nsender=\"ChatBot\"\n[/message]";
send_data(first_message, sizeof(first_message), ConnectSocket);
...
```

Finally, open up Wireshark and start monitoring for traffic on the local adapter, as we have discussed in previous chapters. When you start the modified external client, you should see the following error on the server:



We are familiar with this error from our initial analysis, so we know that it occurs when we do not provide a valid handshake. Even though both our game and external client are running on the same machine, they have different sockets and are treated as completely separate connections by the server:



If we examine the Wireshark traffic from the game client and our external client, we can observe this behavior. While the game is busy sending traffic on port 51120, we can see the TCP handshake of our external client on port 51123:

	23 1.137771	127.0.0.1	127.0.4.1	TCP	4 3120 - 13000 (ACK) Seq-110 ArX-223 Min-361948 Len-0
	24 1.140730	127.0.0.1	127.0.4.1	TCP	302 15000 - \$1120 (PSH, ACC) Seq-113 Ark-410 Min-3019048 Len-125
	25 1.140773	127.0.0.1	127.0.4.1	TCP	4 3328 - 1960 (AC) Sectio A(k-28) (4)-36(1982 Len-0)
	26 8.903425	127.0.0.1	127.0.4.1	TCP	50 1112) - 13000 [29N] 5eg-0 HL1-05003 Lei-0 (83-05495 HL-250 SACK FURS-1
	27 8,900133	127.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TCP	50 15000 - 51323 [29N, ACK] Seg-0 Acc-1 xLo-65333 Len-0 703-65495 x3-255 ACC.FEW-1
Г	28 8 9993157	137.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	44 1112) → 15000 (AOC) SEDIC ACCI1 #Eni2519648 Letin0
	29 8.997357	1.17.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TOP	125 (1122) → 15000 (FSH, ACK) 562H; ACK1 4L012519048 L6TH15
Г	30.0.997450	137.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TEP	(6) 15209 → 51123 (ACK) SAGEL ACKING NUMBERSHIP DATES
ι.,	31.0.955538	132.0.0.1	127.0.0.1	TEP	ee 1500e → 61126 (EST, ACK) Segl: Accide street Lenie
	32 16.899154	192.168.22.128	192.101.27.255	NING	B2 PARM CLIMPY NO INSTRUMENTED
2	frame 29: 129 bytes Mull/Loopheck	a on wire [1632 bits	, 129 Bytes centured	(1302 611)	a) on Enterface 'Device/Wf_Loopback, 14 @
5	Internet Protocol V	Aradan 4, Sect 127.0	4.1, 0st: 127.0.0.1		
5	Transmission Dentro	al Protocol, Src Part	: 51120, Bot Port: 15	000, Seq: 5	3, Ack: 1, Lan: 65
	Data (#5 brites)				

If we want to intercept and modify a game's client traffic, we will need to use a different approach.

6.5.4 Proxying Traffic

When using TCP, we know that a connection is established between a client and server after completing a handshake. To intercept and inject our own traffic into this connection, the easiest approach is to be a man-in-the-middle (MitM) of this connection.

At this position, we can modify requests from the client before they are sent to the server, as well as responses from the server before they are sent to the client. This is commonly known as a proxy, or an agent that simply relays traffic from a source to a destination. A visualization of this model is shown below:



The key to this model is that our proxy is acting as the server to the client and the client to the server. This means that the server completes a handshake with our proxy, allowing us to inject whatever traffic we want. Since we are forwarding legitimate traffic from the client, we do not need to reverse traffic (such as the authentication mechanism) because the client will handle that for us. A proxy consists of three main sections of code:

- 1. A socket to listen for client traffic
- 2. A socket to send traffic to the server
- 3. Logic to relay traffic from the client to the server and the server to the client

To simplify this chapter, we will create a proxy that will respond to the \wave event, identical to the external client we wrote in the previous chapter. For these operations, the Wesnoth client must send data to the server for the server to respond. When using a proxy for other operations, additional logic will need to be added in to pass server traffic to the client.

The full code for this chapter is available in <u>Appendix A</u>.

6.5.5 Listening for Client Traffic

To listen for client traffic, we will create a listen socket. Once we receive a connection, we will establish a connection with the client. To do this, we can build off the <u>Microsoft</u> <u>server example</u>:

```
#define DEFAULT_PORT "27015"
WSADATA wsaData;
int iResult;
SOCKET ListenSocket = INVALID_SOCKET;
SOCKET ClientSocket = INVALID_SOCKET;
struct addrinfo* result = NULL,
    hints:
iResult = WSAStartup(MAKEWORD(2, 2), &wsaData);
ZeroMemory(&hints, sizeof(hints));
hints.ai_family = AF_INET;
hints.ai_socktype = SOCK_STREAM;
hints.ai_protocol = IPPROTO_TCP;
hints.ai_flags = AI_PASSIVE;
iResult = getaddrinfo(NULL, DEFAULT_PORT, &hints, &result);
ListenSocket = socket(result->ai_family, result->ai_socktype, result-
>ai_protocol);
```
```
iResult = bind(ListenSocket, result->ai_addr, (int)result->ai_addrlen);
freeaddrinfo(result);
iResult = listen(ListenSocket, SOMAXCONN);
ClientSocket = accept(ListenSocket, NULL, NULL);
closesocket(ListenSocket);
```

This will create a socket on port 27015 that will accept a single connection.

6.5.6 Sending Traffic to Server

For sending traffic to the server, we can build off the code that we already discussed in the previous chapter:

```
SOCKET ServerSocket = INVALID_SOCKET;
ZeroMemory(&hints, sizeof(hints));
hints.ai_family = AF_INET;
hints.ai_socktype = SOCK_STREAM;
hints.ai_protocol = IPPROTO_TCP;
iResult = getaddrinfo("127.0.0.1", "15000", &hints, &result);
ServerSocket = socket(result->ai_family, result->ai_socktype, result-
>ai_protocol);
iResult = connect(ServerSocket, result->ai_addr, (int)result->ai_addrlen);
freeaddrinfo(result);
```

Like we discussed above, our proxy will forward client packets to the server and server packets to the client. However, not all client packets will require a response from the server. For example, in Wesnoth, sending a chat message does not require a response back. To ensure that our proxy does not get stuck waiting for a server response, we need to set a timeout on the server socket. This timeout will cause any **recv** calls to fail after a set amount of time:

```
DWORD timeout = 1000;
setsockopt(ServerSocket, SOL_SOCKET, SO_RCVTIMEO, (char*)&timeout,
sizeof(timeout));
```

6.5.7 Relaying Traffic

With both of our sockets created, we can now focus on relaying the traffic between the client and server. Since Wesnoth does not send out server responses unless a client sends a request, our proxy can be simplified to the following events:

- 1. Wait for a request from the client.
- 2. Send that request to the server.
- 3. Wait for a response from the server.
- 4. If a response comes back, send to the client. Otherwise, start waiting for the next client request.

After each event, our program will sleep for a short period to ensure that the traffic between the client and server does not get desynchronized. First, we will wait for a request from the client:

```
#define DEFAULT_BUFLEN 512
int iSendResult;
unsigned char recvbuf[DEFAULT_BUFLEN];
int recvbuflen = DEFAULT_BUFLEN;
do {
    iResult = recv(ClientSocket, (char*)recvbuf, recvbuflen, 0);
    Sleep(100);
```

If we retrieve a request, we pass this data to the server:

```
if (iResult > 0) {
    printf("Bytes received: %d\n", iResult);
    iSendResult = send(ServerSocket, (char*)recvbuf, iResult, 0);
    Sleep(100);
    printf("Bytes sent: %d\n", iSendResult);
```

Next, we wait for a response from the server. If a response actually comes back, we forward this on to the client:

iResult = recv(ServerSocket, (char*)recvbuf, recvbuflen, 0); Sleep(100);

```
if (iResult != SOCKET_ERROR) {
    iSendResult = send(ClientSocket, (char*)recvbuf, iResult, 0);
    Sleep(100);
}
```

Finally, we continue the loop while we have a result, or if we have a timeout from the server:

```
} while (iResult > 0 || WSAGetLastError() == WSAETIMEDOUT);
```

At this point, our proxy will properly pass traffic from a client to a server. We can verify this by running the proxy, connecting to it in Wesnoth by setting the server to localhost:27015, and confirming that we can connect to the actual server running on localhost:15000.

As a proof-of-concept, we can now add in logic to intercept and modify traffic. First, we can import our **parse_data** and **send_data** functions from our last chapter. Next, we will modify our main loop to check any client requests and see if they contain the chat message **\wave**. If so, we will send an additional packet with a **Hello!** message:

```
if (iResult > 0) {
    printf("Bytes received: %d\n", iResult);
    if (parse_data(recvbuf, iResult)) {
        const unsigned char message[] = "[message]\nmessage=\"Hello!
\"\nroom=\"lobby\"\nsender=\"ChatBot\"\n[/message]";
        send_data(message, sizeof(message), ServerSocket);
        Sleep(100);
    }
```

If you connect to the proxy now and send the chat message **\wave**, you will see that an additional message appears on the server, indicating that we successfully injected traffic into the connection:



Part 7 Tool Development

7.1 DLL Injector

When writing a DLL injector, it is helpful to have an already working DLL for a particular target. For this chapter, we will use the memory wallhack we produced in <u>Chapter 5.2</u>. While our injector will be built for the game Urban Terror, we will be able to easily modify it for other targets in the future.

7.1.2 Overview

In previous chapters, we used Windows' AppInit functionality to inject DLL's into game executables. While this approach works well for testing, it has several drawbacks:

- AppInit_DLLs needs to be updated for each new DLL.
- AppInit_DLLs are injected into every started process.
- Secure Boot has to be disabled.
- AppInit_DLLs will only be injected into processes that load user32.dll.
- DLL's are loaded into the process at a set time, outside of our control.

To get around these drawbacks, we will write an injector, which will manually load our DLL into the game executable.

7.1.3 Concepts

To load static and dynamic libraries, Windows executables can use the <u>LoadLibraryA</u> API function. This function takes a single argument, which is a full path to the library to load.

HMODULE LoadLibraryA(
 LPCSTR lpLibFileName
);

If we call **LoadLibraryA** in our injector's code, the DLL will be loaded into our injector's memory. Instead, we want our injector to force the game to call **LoadLibraryA**. To do

this, we will use the <u>CreateRemoteThread</u> API to create a new thread in the game. This thread will then execute **LoadLibraryA** inside the game's running process.

However, since the thread is running inside the game's memory, **LoadLibraryA** will not be able to find the path of our DLL specified in our injector. To get around this, we have to write our DLL's path into the game's memory. To ensure that we do not corrupt any other memory, we will also need to allocate additional memory inside the game using <u>VirtualAllocEx</u>. The full breakdown of this interaction looks like:



As we know from previous chapters, we will need a process handle to interact with an external process. For example, in <u>Chapter 3.2</u>, we used **FindWindow** and **GetWindowThreadProcessId** to retrieve a process identifier. This approach has many drawbacks and is not recommended beyond quick testing. Instead, we will use **CreateToolhelp32Snapshot**.

7.1.4 Process Identifier

To use **WriteProcessMemory**, we will need a handle to the Urban Terror process. Instead of using **FindWindow** like we did previously, we will use <u>CreateToolhelp32Snapshot</u>. This API takes a snapshot of all the currently running processes on the machine. Each process in this snapshot can then be examined using <u>Process32First</u> and <u>Process32Next</u>. Microsoft provides a good example of how to do this <u>here</u>.

While Microsoft's example iterates all processes and dumps their loaded modules, we are only interested in finding a single process and retrieving its process identifier. Therefore, we can simplify their example code:

```
#include <windows.h>
#include <tlhelp32.h>
int main(int argc, char** argv) {
    HANDLE snapshot = 0;
    PROCESSENTRY32 pe32 = { 0 };
    pe32.dwSize = sizeof(PROCESSENTRY32);
    snapshot = CreateToolhelp32Snapshot(TH32CS_SNAPPROCESS, 0);
    Process32First(snapshot, &pe32);
    do {
        } while (Process32Next(snapshot, &pe32));
        return 0;
}
```

Each <u>process entry</u> contains two fields that we care about: **szExeFile** and **th32ProcessID**. The former contains the name of the process, like svchost.exe or notepad.exe. The latter contains the process identifier of the process that we can pass to **OpenProcess**.

The process name of Urban Terror is **Quake3-UrT.exe**. This can be identified by viewing the process list in Task Manager while Urban Terror is running. To compare this value to the value in **szExeFile**, we can use the function **strcmp**. This function takes two strings and returns 0 if they match:

```
do {
    if (wcscmp(pe32.szExeFile, L"Quake3-UrT.exe") == 0) {
    }
}
```

7.1.5 Process Handle

When these strings match, we know that **pe32.th32ProcessID** must contain the process identifier for the running instance of Urban Terror. We can pass this value to **OpenProcess** just like we did in previous chapters:

HANDLE process = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true, pe32.th32ProcessID);

7.1.6 Allocating Memory

Next, we need to allocate memory inside of Urban Terror to store the full path of our DLL. To do this, we will use **VirtualAllocEx**, which is defined as:

```
LPVOID VirtualAllocEx(
  HANDLE hProcess,
  LPVOID lpAddress,
  SIZE_T dwSize,
  DWORD flAllocationType,
  DWORD flProtect
);
```

Going through the arguments, **hProcess** will be the process handle we obtained from **OpenProcess**. **IpAddress** will be **NULL**, since we do not care where the address is allocated. **dwSize** will be the length of the path to our DLL. Since we want to allocate memory and have it be usable, we will choose **MEM_COMMIT** as the allocation type. Finally, since we want to write to the allocated memory, we will specify the protection as **PAGE_READWRITE**.

VirtualAllocEx will return a **void** pointer containing the address that our memory is allocated at. Since we will need this value for our next call to **WriteProcessMemory**, we will have to create a variable for it. We will also need to create a variable for the full path of our DLL. Due to how C++ interprets backslashes, we need to use two \'s for each single backslash. With all these parameters worked out, we can add the following code:

```
const char *dll_path = "C:\\Users\\IEUser\\source\\repos\\wallhack\\Debug\
\wallhack.dll";
...
```

```
void *lpBaseAddress = VirtualAllocEx(process, NULL, strlen(dll_path) + 1,
MEM_COMMIT, PAGE_READWRITE);
```

7.1.7 Writing the DLL Name

With our memory now allocated, we can write our DLL name into Urban Terror's memory using **WriteProcessMemory**. The base address for writing will be the address that we retrieved from **VirtualAllocEx**:

```
WriteProcessMemory(process, lpBaseAddress, dll_path, strlen(dll_path) + 1,
NULL);
```

7.1.8 Creating the Thread

With our DLL's path written into the game's memory, we can create a thread to execute **LoadLibraryA** to load the DLL into the game. We will use **CreateRemoteThread** to create the thread, but first, we need to obtain the address of **LoadLibraryA**.

LoadLibraryA exists inside kernel32.dll. Windows takes care of loading this DLL into all processes that need any API contained inside kernel32.dll. To obtain the address of **LoadLibraryA**, we can use <u>GetProcAddress</u>. This API requires a handle to the DLL that contains the function, in this case kernel32.dll. We can get this handle using <u>GetModuleHandle</u>:

```
HMODULE kernel32base = GetModuleHandle(L"kernel32.dll");
```

Now we can use **CreateRemoteThread** to load our DLL. <u>CreateRemoteThread's</u> definition looks like:

```
HANDLE CreateRemoteThread(
HANDLE hProcess,
LPSECURITY_ATTRIBUTES lpThreadAttributes,
SIZE_T dwStackSize,
LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE lpStartAddress,
LPVOID lpParameter,
DWORD dwCreationFlags,
LPDWORD lpThreadId
);
```

Let's step through each parameter required. The process will be the process handle for Urban Terror, identical to **WriteProcessMemory**. The next two parameters we do not need, so we can pass **NULL** and **0** for them. Our start address will be the address of **LoadLibraryA** that we retrieve through **GetProcAddress**. Finally, we need to pass a single parameter to **LoadLibraryA**, our DLL path, which we know from our call to **VirtualAllocEx**. For the purpose of our injector, we can ignore the last two parameters as well. With all of this down, our call ends up looking like:

HANDLE thread = CreateRemoteThread(process, NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)GetProcAddress(kernel32base, "LoadLibraryA"), lpBaseAddress, 0, NULL);

We have some additional operations we need to do with our thread, so we will save a handle to the thread. Before exiting, we want our injector to wait until the thread has been created and finished executing. We can do this via <u>WaitForSingleObject</u> and <u>GetExitCodeThread</u>:

```
WaitForSingleObject(thread, INFINITE);
GetExitCodeThread(thread, &exitCode);
```

7.1.9 Clean Up

Finally, we can free up the memory we allocated and close the open handles we have after our DLL has been injected:

```
VirtualFreeEx(process, lpBaseAddress, 0, MEM_RELEASE);
CloseHandle(thread);
CloseHandle(process);
break;
```

The final **break** exits the loop that we created to scan through each process.

With all of this done, we can start Urban Terror, enter a game, and then run our injector. If everything went successfully, players will start appearing through walls, indicating that our DLL was injected. If it fails, make sure to run the injector with administrator permissions.

The full code for the injector is available in <u>Appendix A</u>.

7.2 Pattern Scanner

Our targets in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9 and Wesnoth 1.14.12.

7.2.2 Overview

In <u>Chapter 2.3</u>, we located the **sub** instruction responsible for subtracting gold from our player when we recruited a unit. In the 1.14.9 version of the game, we located this instruction at **0x7CCD9E**:

	00/ccna1	0108	AGG_EAX,EDX	
	007ccp93	89c2	mov edx.eax	
	007ocp95	8985 78FCFFFF	mov dword ptr ss:[ebp-388].eax	
	007CCD98	8B45 18	mov eax.dword ptr ss:[ebp+18]	
	CO7CCD9E	2942 04	sub dword ptr ds:[edx+4].eax	
	007CCDA1	8080 48FCFFFF 00	cmp byte ptr ss:[ebp-3s5].0	
,	007CCDA5	✓ 74 23	je wesnoch.7ccpcp	
	007CCDAA	8085 08F0FFFF	lea eax, dword ptr ss:[ebp-208]	[ebp-2F8]:"
	007CCDB0	BA 01000000	nov edx,1	
	00700085	894424 04	mov dword ptr ss:[esp+4].eax	
	0070CD89	8085 18FDFFFF	lea eax_dword_ptr [ss:[ebp-2E8]	[ebp-268]:"
	007CCDBF	890424	mov dword ptr ss:[esp].eax	
	007CCDC2	8995 88FCFFFF	mov dword ptr ss:[ebp-378].edx	
	007CCDC5	E8 936AF9FF	call wesnoth.763860	
	0.0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0	000 C Jacanana	and any drawed and any false 3041	

If a game's code is not loaded dynamically, addresses for instructions will not change. As such, we can consistently use them when programming. We used this behavior across several targets to build code caves, such as in <u>Chapter 3.4</u>.

However, newer versions of Wesnoth have been released, like 1.14.12. This version can be installed using Chocolatey in the same way we installed version 1.14.9:

```
choco install wesnoth --version=1.14.12 -y
```

Most games will continually release additional versions and require updates to continue playing on multiplayer servers. If we examine **0x7CCD9E** in Wesnoth 1.14.12, we see that the **sub** instruction is no longer there:

				_
i i i	007CCD80	C70424 02000000	nov dword ptr ss:[esp],2	
	007ccp87	888D 40FCFFFF	nov ecx, dword ptr ss:[ebp-3c0]	
	007CCD5D	898D 48FCFFFF	mov dword ptr ss:[ebp-368].edi	
	007CCD93	E8 B804FAFF	call wesnoth.760250	
	007ccb98	8885 F8F8FFFF	nov eax, dword ptr ss:[ebp-403]	
	007CCD9E	83EC 08	sub esp.8	
•	007CCDA1	8885 ICFCFFFF	mov_es1,dword_ptr_ss:[ebp-3E4]	[e
	007CCDA7	8D8D A8FEFFFF	<pre>lea ecx,dword ptr_ ss:[ebp-158]</pre>	
	00/CCDAD	C500 01	mov byte ptr_ds:[eax],1	
	007CCD80	8885 38FCFFFF	mov_eax,dword_ptr_ss:[ebp-3C8]	
	007CCD86	C740 30 C0000000	nov dword ptr ds:[esx+30],0	
	007CCDED	C746_30_FFFFFFFF	mov_dword_ptr_ds:[esi+30],FFFFFFFF	
	007ccbc4	E8 37544200	call wesnoth.BF2200	
	007CCDC9	3109	xor ecx.ecx	
	007CCDCB	88 03000000	nov ebx.3	
	007CCDD0	894C24 04	[mov_dword_ptr_ss:[esp+4],ecx_	

When developers introduce new features or fix bugs in each release, they modify the game's code. They then compile these changes to produce a new executable for the game. Since this new executable has different code, the location of all code in the game will change. This is why the **sub** instruction is no longer present at 0x7CCD9E in version 1.14.12.

7.2.3 Opcodes

If we wanted to find the new address of the **sub** instruction, one approach is to repeat the exact same method we used in <u>Chapter 2.3</u>. If we do this, we can identify that the sub instruction in 1.14.12 is located at **0**x7D177E:

_	00001000	and a set of the set o
•	0070175C	E8 9F73FAFF call wesnoth.778800
•	00701761	6985 58FCFFFF 700200(1mul eax,dword ptr ss:[ebp-3A8],270
•	007D176B	889D 4CFCFFFF mov ebx,dword ptr ss:[ebp-384]
•	007D1771	01D8 add eax,ebx
•	007D1773	89C2 mov edx.eax
•	007D1775	§985 78FCFFFF mov_dword_ptr_ss:[ebp_388].eax
	0070177B	
	007D177E	2942 04 sub dword ptr ds:[edx+4].eax
	00761781	80an descesse 00 loss byte ntr ss [ebo=335] 0
	00701788	74 23 je wesnoch. 701740
	0070178A	8D85_08FDFFFFF lea_eax_dword_ptr_ss:[ebp-2F8]

However, if we wanted to then upgrade our hack to a newer version, like 1.14.15, we would have to repeat this process again. This is a time-intensive process, especially for more complex tasks, like locating a player's base pointer.

Back in <u>Chapter 1.1</u>, we covered operation codes, or opcodes. Each opcode represents an instruction to execute. x64dbg displays the opcode for each instruction in the column to the left of the instruction:

	00/00191	0108	LACC PAN PDN	
	00700007	00.00		
	00700095		HOV YOX, YAX	
	0070CD95	FORE VECCECCE	HOL GRAND BUT COSTORE STATE	
	007ccd98	8845 18	mov eax, dword ptr ss:[ebp+18]	
	007CCD9E	2942 04	sub dword ptr ds:[edx+1].eax	
	00700001	8080 18FCFFFF 00	- ong-byte-ptr-co:[obg-3x5],0	
,	007CCDA5	- 74 23	1e wesnoth.7ccpcp	
	007CCDAA	8085 08FDFFFF	lea eax, dword ptr ss:[ebp-208]	[ebp-2F8]:"
	007ccbb0	BA 01000000	nov edx.1	
	00700065	894424 04	mov dword ptr ss:[esp+4].eax	
	00700089	8085 18F0FFFF	lea eax, dword ptr [ss:[ebp-2E8]	[ebp-268]:"
	007CCDBF	890424	mov dword ptr ss:[esp].eax	
	007CCDC2	8995 88FCFFFF	mov dword ptr ss:[ebp-378].edx	
	007CCDC5	E8 936AF9FF	call wesnoth.763860	
	0.07 2 2 2 2 2 2 2		and the second second provide the second sec	

For example, the opcode for the sub instruction we identified is 0x2942 04.

Executables do not store their code as assembly instructions. Rather, they store it as opcodes. The disassembly observed in x64dbg is reconstructed from these opcodes. We can verify this by opening up wesnoth.exe in a hex editor, a type of program that displays the hexadecimal bytes of a chosen file. In this chapter, we will use HxD:

choco install hxd

After opening wesnoth.exe, we can search for the opcode identified above via *Search* -> *Find*:

🔝 File	Edit	Search View Analysis Tools Window Help															
A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	- 6	P	Find				Ctrl+F					(ANS	SI)	✓ hex			
I west	noth e	<u>р</u> Афр	Repla	ce				Ct	rl+R								
NO VICE	iounc	Find again F3															
Offse	≥t (h)		Find a	igain	(rev	ersec	i)	Shift	t+F3		09	0A	0B	0C	0D	0E	
0000	0000		Go to					Ct	rl+G		00	00	00	FF	FF	00	
0000	0010									_	00	00	00	00	00	00	
0000	0020	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	
0000	0030	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	80	00	00	
0000	0040	OE	1F	BA	0E	00	Β4	09	CD	21	B8	01	4C	CD	21	54	
0000	0050	69	73	20	70	72	6F	67	72	61	6D	20	63	61	6E	6E	
0000	0060	74	20	62	65	20	72	75	6E	20	69	6E	20	44	4F	53	
0000	0070	CT.	0.00	64	65	0E	OD	op	0.7	2.4	0.0	00	0.0	00	00	00	

FIXD - [C.\PTOGIAITI FILES (XOO)\battle for Weshout 1.14.12\weshout.exej

In the dialog that appears, we want to search for the hex value of our opcode: $\overbrace{}$

ring				~
Text-string	Hex-values	Integer number	Floating poin	nt number
Search for:	294204	4		~
			Searce All Ba	ch direction II orward ackward
		OK S	earch all	Cancel

Searching should highlight the opcode value:

003D0B50	10	89	04	24	31	C0	89	85	88	FC	FF	FF	E8	9F	73	FA	.h.\$1Åh.^üÿÿèYsú
003D0B60	FF	69	85	58	FC	FF	FF	70	02	00	00	8B	9D	4C	FC	FF	9iXüçγp∢.Lüş
003D0B70	FF	01	DB	89	C2	89	85	78	FC	FF	ΕE	θB	45	18	29	42	ÿ.ØħÅħ_xüÿÿ <e.)d< td=""></e.)d<>
003D0B80	04	80	BD	4B	FC	FF	FF	00	74	23	8D	85	08	FD	FF	$\mathbf{F}\mathbf{F}$.€%Küÿÿ.t≇ýÿÿ
003D0B90	BA	01	00	00	00	89	44	24	04	8D	BS	18	FD	FF	\mathbf{FF}	89	•ÿÿÿħ
003D0BA0	04	24	89	95	88	FC	\mathbf{FF}	FF	E8	13	62	E9	FF	8B	85	7C	.\$⊾•*üÿÿè.bùÿ<]

Looking at the values near the highlighted value, we can see that they represent the other opcodes near the sub instruction.

7.2.4 Scanning

If we compare the opcodes for the **sub** instruction between 1.14.9 and 1.14.12, we can see that they are identical. This is because the opcodes for a particular instruction will always be the same. Since these opcodes do not change, we can scan for these bytes to locate the instruction we care about. This is known as pattern scanning.

Due to how Windows loads PE files into virtual memory, the address for the instruction differs between the hex editor and x64dbg. Since we want to locate and alter the running code, we are interested in identifying the latter address.

To accomplish this, we need to read the memory from a running instance of Wesnoth and then search that memory for a series of bytes. In this chapter, we will write an external program to demonstrate the concept, but this same behavior can be used inside a DLL to automatically update offsets.

Since we want to locate a running process and retrieve a process handle, we can start with the base that we already discussed in <u>Chapter 7.1</u>:

```
#include <windows.h>
#include <tlhelp32.h>
#include <stdio.h>
int main(int argc, char** argv) {
      HANDLE snapshot = 0;
      PROCESSENTRY32 pe32 = { 0 };
      pe32.dwSize = sizeof(PROCESSENTRY32);
      snapshot = CreateToolhelp32Snapshot(TH32CS_SNAPPROCESS, 0);
      Process32First(snapshot, &pe32);
      do {
        if (wcscmp(pe32.szExeFile, L"wesnoth.exe") == 0) {
            HANDLE process = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true,
pe32.th32ProcessID);
            CloseHandle(process);
                  break;
        }
      } while (Process32Next(snapshot, &pe32));
    return 0;
}
```

With the process handle to Wesnoth, our next goal is to read the process's memory into a buffer that we can scan. However, processes are made up of many modules, or sections of code. For example, the Wesnoth process has modules for the main game code (wesnoth.exe), compression code (zlib1.dll), and graphics code (sdl.dll). We can observe all the modules loaded into the process using x64dbg's *Symbol* tab:

Base	Nodule	Party	Path
00400000	wesnoth.exe	User	C:\Program F
01040000	libpixman-1-0.dll	User	C:\Program F
01FE00000	libvorbis-0.dll	User	C:\Program F
04080000	uxtheme.dll	System	C:\Windows\S
04FD0000	icm32.dll	System	C:\Windows\S
61CC0000	libintl-8.dll	user	C:\Program F
62480000	pthreadgc2.dll	User	C:\Program F
62E80000	zlib1,dll	User	C:\Program F
63A40000	libgobject-2.0-0.dll	User	C:\Program F
63CC0000	liblzna-5.dll	User	C:\Program F
64740000	11bpng15-15.d11	User	C:\Program F
64F80000	libtontconfig 1.dl	User	C:\Program F
65580000	11ppango-1.0-0.011	user	C:\Program F
66000000	11b1conv-2.dl	User	C: \Program F
67480000	sdlz_nixer.dli	User	C: \Program F
67E10000	nscms.dll	system	C: \Windows \s
67EB0000	liberypto-1_1.dll	User	C:\Program F
68440000		user	C:\Program F
68500000		user	C: VProgram F
68710000		user	C: YProgram r
68500000	110Ca1F0-2.01	User	C: \Program F
60000000	nocin-s.dii	User	C. VProgram P
695 00000	libace s sili-1 dll	Uson	C:\Windows\s
69400000	libinge_0_dll	USEL	CI\Program F
64740000		Suctam	C:\Windows\S
64580000	corenessading dil	SVSTON	C:\windows\s
64910000	tavtinnutframework dll	SVETAM	C:\windows\s
64480000	sdl2 image dll	liser	C:\Program k
6B280000	libpangowin32-1.0-0.dll	liser	C Program F
68500000	libvorbisfile=3.dll	User	C:\Program E
68740000	libffi-5.dll	User	C:\Program E
6C580000	libfreetype-6.dll	User	C:\Program E
6C940000	sd12.d11	User	C:\Program F
6D4C0000	libpangocairo-1.0-0.dll	User	C:\Program F
6D700000	libpargoft2-1.0-0.dll	User	C:\Program F
6DD00000	1ibgnodu1e-2.0-0.d11	User	C:\Program F
6E960000	coloradapterclient.dll	System	C:\Windows\S
6F570000	dwmapi.dll	System	C:\Windows\S
70050000	rsaenh.dll	System	C:\Windows\s
70210000	wsock32.d11	System	C:\windows\s
70580000	11bogg-0.d]1	User	C:\Program F
70A40000	userenv.dll	System	C:\Windows\\$
70F40000	1ibxn12-2.d11	User	C:\Program F
71200000	sdl2_ttf.dll	User	C:\Program F

Since our **sub** instruction is in the wesnoth.exe module, we only want to scan this memory. To do this, we want to identify the base address of the module and its size. The **CreateToolhelp32Snapshot** API also allows us to iterate over a process's modules using **Module32First** and **Module32Next**:

```
if (wcscmp(pe32.szExeFile, L"wesnoth.exe") == 0) {
    HANDLE process = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true,
    pe32.th32ProcessID);
    HANDLE module_snapshot = 0;
```

```
MODULEENTRY32 me32;
me32.dwSize = sizeof(MODULEENTRY32);
module_snapshot = CreateToolhelp32Snapshot(TH32CS_SNAPMODULE,
pe32.th32ProcessID);
Module32First(module_snapshot, &me32);
do {
    if (wcscmp(me32.szModule, L"wesnoth.exe") == 0) {
        break;
    }
} while (Module32Next(module_snapshot, &me32));
CloseHandle(process);
break;
}
```

At this point, the **me32** structure will hold a few members that we care about: **modBaseAddr**, the base address of the module, and **modBaseSize**, the size of the module. We will use these two members to allocate a buffer and read the module's memory into the buffer:

```
unsigned char *buffer = (unsigned char*)calloc(1, me32.modBaseSize);
DWORD bytes_read = 0;
```

```
ReadProcessMemory(process, (void*)me32.modBaseAddr, buffer, me32.modBaseSize,
&bytes_read);
```

//scanning code

free(buffer);

At this point, our buffer contains the content of the memory from the wesnoth.exe module base to the end of the module. This memory contains the opcodes for the game's code. We can now scan over this memory to look for our pattern of bytes.

For each byte in the buffer, we will see if the pattern exists starting at the byte. If not, we will continue on to the next byte. If all the bytes match, we will print the offset in the buffer combined with the wesnoth.exe module base:

unsigned char bytes[] = { 0x29, 0x42, 0x04 };

```
for (unsigned int i = 0; i < me32.modBaseSize - sizeof(bytes); i++) {
    for (int j = 0; j < sizeof(bytes); j++) {
        if (bytes[j] != buffer[i + j]) {
            break;
        }
        if (j + 1 == sizeof(bytes)) {
            printf("%x\n", i + (DWORD)me32.modBaseAddr);
        }
    }
}</pre>
```

If we start Wesnoth 1.14.12 and then run our scanner, it will correctly print out the location of the **sub** instruction:



We can use this on any version of Wesnoth to locate the **sub** instruction we care about.

The full code for this chapter is available in <u>Appendix A</u> for comparison.

7.3 Memory Scanner 7.3.1 Target

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

7.3.2 Overview

In previous chapters, we used Cheat Engine to search for memory addresses and change their values. Cheat Engine is a type of program known as a memory scanner. Memory scanners allow you to search for and edit memory inside a process.

Our goal in this chapter is to create a memory scanner that will operate on DWORD values for the game Wesnoth.



7.3.3 Understand

Memory scanners have three main operations:

- 1. Search all memory for a certain value.
- 2. Filter previously identified addresses against a new value.
- 3. Set a memory address to a certain value.

In the previous chapter, we created a pattern scanner that would search the main Wesnoth module for a series of bytes. We can use the same technique to search memory for a value. However, in this case, we will scan all memory from 0x00000000 to 0x7FFFFFF. This range of addresses represents all the <u>virtual address space</u> that a 32bit Windows executable has access to. When scanning, we will save any address that is set to a certain value.

To filter these addresses, we will perform the same scan operation described above with one major difference: instead of scanning from 0x00000000 to 0x7FFFFFFF, we will only scan saved addresses identified from the previous scan step. Any addresses that still match a provided value will again be saved. In this way, we can continue to filter down the list of valid addresses.

Finally, to write to an address, we can use the same **WriteProcessMemory** technique identified in <u>Chapter 3.2</u>.

7.3.4 Program Structure

Before we write our program, we need to determine how we will handle the multiple operations and passing data from one operation to another.

Since we have three distinct operations for our memory scanner to perform, we need to determine how to handle these cases. One approach is to create a separate program for each operation and then transfer data between the three programs. However, this approach would require us to duplicate logic between multiple programs, such as the logic to open a process handle.

For this chapter, we will use command-line arguments to designate which operation we want to perform. For example, if we want to search for the value 50, we will call our program like:

MemoryScanner.exe search 50

Since we need to call our scanner multiple times, we need a way to pass results from one operation to the next. The easiest way to accomplish this is to use a file. For example, if we search for a value, the file will be filled with all addresses that match this value. When we filter, addresses will be read from this file, and then new addresses are placed in the file if they still match.

7.3.5 Process Handle

To read and write memory from Wesnoth, we need a process handle. We will use the same approach we used in the previous chapter to accomplish this:

```
#include <windows.h>
#include <tlhelp32.h>
#include <stdio.h>
int main(int argc, char** argv) {
      HANDLE process_snapshot = 0;
      PROCESSENTRY32 pe32 = \{ 0 \};
      pe32.dwSize = sizeof(PROCESSENTRY32);
      process_snapshot = CreateToolhelp32Snapshot(TH32CS_SNAPPROCESS, 0);
      Process32First(process_snapshot, &pe32);
      do {
            if (wcscmp(pe32.szExeFile, L"wesnoth.exe") == 0) {
                  HANDLE process = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true,
pe32.th32ProcessID);
            // handle operations
                  CloseHandle(process);
                  break;
            }
      } while (Process32Next(process_snapshot, &pe32));
      return 0;
}
```

We will pass this process handle to all of our operations.

7.3.6 Operations

Next, we can add in our operations. To access command-line arguments passed to our program, we can use the **argv** argument. **argv[0]** will always hold our program's name on the command-line (**MemoryScanner.exe**), with **argv[1]** representing the first argument.

All arguments are passed in as strings. We want our program to search for **DWORD** values. To convert from a string to a value that we can use to search for **DWORD**'s, we will use **strtol**, or (str)ing (to) (l)ong:

```
// handle operations
char* p;
long value = strtol(argv[2], &p, 10);
if(strcmp(argv[1], "search") == 0) {
    search(process, value);
}
else if(strcmp(argv[1], "filter") == 0) {
    filter(process, value);
}
else if (strcmp(argv[1], "write") == 0) {
    write(process, value);
}
```

With the base in place, we can now write each of these functions.

7.3.7 Search

We will start with our search function:

```
void search(const HANDLE process, const int passed_val) {
```

Like we discussed in the previous section, we will store the results of the search in a text file. Like we did back in <u>Chapter 6.4</u>, we will use **fopen_s** to create a text file we can write to:

```
FILE* temp_file = NULL;
fopen_s(&temp_file, "res.txt", "w");
```

As we know, memory does not have a particular structure. For example, the memory from 0x12345678 to 0x1234567C could hold the values 0x44 0x45 0x41 0x45. If read as a DWORD, this memory would hold the value 1145389381. However, if each byte is read as a char, this memory would hold the value DEAD. In memory scanners like Cheat Engine, you can select the type of data to scan for. In this chapter, we will scan all memory as if it was a DWORD. This will allow us to search for values that are numbers, such as gold.

Our search operation will scan all memory from 0x00000000 to 0x7FFFFFFF and compare each 4 bytes to the value passed in the second argument. Previously, we used **ReadProcessMemory** to read a single 4-byte **DWORD**. However, **ReadProcessMemory** allows us to read any size of memory into any type of allocated buffer.

While Wesnoth can use all memory from 0x00000000 to 0x7FFFFFFF, it first needs to request access via several API's, like **VirtualAlloc**. If Wesnoth has not requested access to a certain piece of memory, it will not be able to read or write data to it. We are using Wesnoth's handle to read memory, so we will need to account for this behavior.

If we try to read all memory from 0x0000000 to 0x7FFFFFFF with one **ReadProcessMemory** call, the call will fail. This is because **ReadProcessMemory**'s behavior is to immediately fail and place a **NULL** value in our buffer if we encounter a section of memory we do not have access to. As a result, we will need to split our read requests up into blocks. That way, if we attempt to scan a block that Wesnoth has not allocated, only that block's read will fail.

We can choose any value for our block size, but there is a trade-off between speed and accuracy. The larger each block is, the faster the scan process will take, but more areas of memory may not be read successfully due to part of the block being inaccessible. For this chapter, we will choose a block size of 2056, or **0x808**:

#define size 0x00000808

We will then allocate a buffer that can hold a block-size worth of data:

```
unsigned char* buffer = (unsigned char*)calloc(1, size);
```

Next, we will loop through each block of memory from **0x00000000** to **0x7FFFFFF** and read that block into the buffer:

```
DWORD bytes_read = 0;
```

```
for (DWORD i = 0x00000000; i < 0x7FFFFFF; i += size) {
    ReadProcessMemory(process, (void*)i, buffer, size, &bytes_read);</pre>
```

Finally, we will cast each 4 bytes of our buffer as a **DWORD** and determine if its value equals the argument passed. If so, we will write its location to our results file:

```
for (int j = 0; j < size - 4; j += 4) {
    DWORD val = 0;
    memcpy(&val, &buffer[j], 4);
    if (val == passed_val) {
        fprintf(temp_file, "%x\n", i + j);
    }
}</pre>
```

If a read fails, our buffer will contain nothing but 0's and this final step will find nothing. After we finish with our **ReadProcessMemory** loop, we will close the file and free the buffer's memory:

fclose(temp_file);
free(buffer);

Our search function is now finished. If you build this code and search for a gold value inside Wesnoth, you will see that **res.txt** now contains a several addresses:

MemoryScanner.exe search 75

7.3.8 Filtering

The next operation we will focus on is filtering. The filtering operation will take a list of addresses produced by the search operation and check to see if those addresses equal a new value. If the address does equal the value, it will be saved. If it does not, it will be deleted:

```
void filter(const HANDLE process, const int passed_val) {
```

We will conduct the filtering operation in two parts:

- 1. Read each memory address from **res.txt** and if it matches the new value, save it to **res_fil.txt**.
- 2. Copy res_fil.txt to res.txt and delete res_fil.txt.

The end result will be a new **res.txt** file that contains only the filtered addresses. This model will allow us to filter multiple times. First, we will open **res.txt** for reading (**r**) and **res_fil.txt** for writing (**w**):

```
FILE* temp_file = NULL;
FILE* temp_file_filter = NULL;
fopen_s(&temp_file, "res.txt", "r");
fopen_s(&temp_file_filter, "res_fil.txt", "w");
```

We will then read each address from **res.txt** line by line and read Wesnoth's memory at that address. If the value matches our argument, we will write the address to **res_fil.txt**:

```
DWORD address = 0;
while (fscanf_s(temp_file, "%x\n", &address) != EOF) {
   DWORD val = 0;
   DWORD bytes_read = 0;
   ReadProcessMemory(process, (void*)address, &val, 4, &bytes_read);
   if (val == passed_val) {
     fprintf(temp_file_filter, "%x\n", address);
   }
}
```

With all the filtered addresses in **res_fil.txt**, we will then close both **res.txt** and **res_fil.txt**. Then, we will open up these files in the opposite order from above, with **res.txt** for writing and **res_fil.txt** for reading:

```
fclose(temp_file);
fclose(temp_file_filter);
fopen_s(&temp_file, "res.txt", "w");
fopen_s(&temp_file_filter, "res_fil.txt", "r");
```

Next, we will loop through each address in **res_fil.txt** and copy it to **res.txt**:

```
while (fscanf_s(temp_file_filter, "%x\n", &address) != EOF) {
    fprintf(temp_file, "%x\n", address);
}
```

With **res.txt** now containing our addresses, we will close each file and delete **res_fil.txt**:

```
fclose(temp_file);
fclose(temp_file_filter);
```

remove("res_fil.txt");

We can now search for and filter addresses. If you search for your gold in Wesnoth, buy a unit, and then filter your gold value, you should be left with a single value. If you open up Cheat Engine and repeat these steps, you can verify that the address you identified and the address from Cheat Engine match. This shows that our scanner is properly finding memory addresses.

MemoryScanner.exe filter 54

7.3.9 Writing

The final main operation of a memory scanner is writing values to identified memory addresses:

```
void write(const HANDLE process, const int passed_val) {
```

This operation is identical to the approach we used in <u>Chapter 3.2</u>. For each address in **res.txt**, we will use **WriteProcessMemory** to write the provided argument value to the address:

```
FILE* temp_file = NULL;
fopen_s(&temp_file, "res.txt", "r");
DWORD address = 0;
while (fscanf_s(temp_file, "%x\n", &address) != EOF) {
    DWORD bytes_written = 0;
```

```
WriteProcessMemory(process, (void*)address, &passed_val, 4,
&bytes_written);
}
fclose(temp_file);
```

With this code, we can now write whatever value we want to the previously searched for and filtered addresses:

MemoryScanner.exe write 555

The full code for this chapter is available in <u>Appendix A</u> for comparison.

7.4 Disassembler

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

7.4.2 **Overview**

In previous chapters, we used x64dbg to debug and reverse games. When viewing these games in x64dbg, we are able to see the instructions that the games are executing. For example, we saw that the following instructions were responsible for decreasing a player's gold when recruiting a unit in Wesnoth:



From <u>Chapter 7.2</u>, we know that these instructions are all stored as opcodes, which are byte values. The process of converting these opcodes to instructions is known as disassembly. In this chapter, we will cover how to create a limited disassembler.

The full source code discussed in this chapter is available in Appendix A.

7.4.3 Disclaimer

Writing a disassembler is a complex task that takes a large amount of time. Even supporting a single instruction set in an efficient way takes many weeks of reading specifications and implementation. The approach covered here should be used as a starting point, but with the caveat that the approach will not scale. The main goal for this chapter is to explain how these concepts work. For an example of a feature-complete disassembler, check out the <u>Capstone Engine</u>.

7.4.4 Instructions

For a CPU to understand and execute each opcode encountered, these opcodes must have a consistent format. Each opcode must be assigned a specific instruction. For example, we have seen from previous chapters that the opcode **0xE8** always represents a **call** instruction. This mapping of opcodes to instructions is known as a processor's instruction set.

Each CPU can implement a unique instruction set. However, most Windows-based games are compiled with the expectation that they will be running on 32-bit, Intelbased processors. These processors typically implement a version of the x86 instruction set. For Intel processors specifically, this is referred to as IA-32.

The x86 instruction set is complex and has many different operations. These operations can also be a different length. For example, in the screenshot on the page above, we see that the **mov** instruction on the second line (0x7ccd93) is 2 bytes (0x89C2), whereas the **mov** instruction on the third line is 6 bytes (0x8985 78FCFFFF). For the CPU to understand the length of the instruction, this data must be encoded in the bytes in some way.

7.4.5 Instruction Set Reference

Imagine you want to create a compiler that will take the following C++ code and produce a binary that can run on an x86-compatible processor:

int x = 2;

This code could be converted into assembly in multiple ways, such as:

mov [x], 2

or

mov eax, 2 mov [x], eax

We have seen that there are multiple forms of the **mov** instruction, with different lengths. As the compiler developer, we need to know which form to use to produce our binary code.

To solve this problem, companies like Intel release instruction set references. These contain a full listing of all public instructions and their associated opcodes, along with other architectural information, such as how to encode the length of the instruction. The IA-32 reference is available <u>here</u>.

As we build our disassembler, we will use that reference to understand instructions. In addition, we will use another reference (<u>here</u>) to help figure out unknown opcodes and which instruction they are associated with.

7.4.6 Dumping a Process's Opcodes

Like in <u>Chapter 7.2</u>, our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth. We will use the same code from that chapter to locate, attach, and read the game's opcodes into a buffer:

```
int main(int argc, char** argv) {
    HANDLE process_snapshot = 0;
    HANDLE module_snapshot = 0;
    PROCESSENTRY32 pe32 = { 0 };
    MODULEENTRY32 me32;
    DWORD exitCode = 0;
    pe32.dwSize = sizeof(PROCESSENTRY32);
    me32.dwSize = sizeof(MODULEENTRY32);
    process_snapshot = CreateToolhelp32Snapshot(TH32CS_SNAPPROCESS, 0);
    Process32First(process_snapshot, &pe32);
    do {
```

```
if (wcscmp(pe32.szExeFile, L"wesnoth.exe") == 0) {
                  module_snapshot =
CreateToolhelp32Snapshot(TH32CS_SNAPMODULE, pe32.th32ProcessID);
                  HANDLE process = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true,
pe32.th32ProcessID);
                  Module32First(module_snapshot, &me32);
                  do {
                        if (wcscmp(me32.szModule, L"wesnoth.exe") == 0) {
                              unsigned char* buffer = (unsigned
char*)calloc(1, me32.modBaseSize);
                              DWORD bytes_read = 0;
                              ReadProcessMemory(process,
(void*)me32.modBaseAddr, buffer, me32.modBaseSize, &bytes_read);
                    // buffer contains the game's opcodes
                              free(buffer);
                              break;
                        }
                  } while (Module32Next(module_snapshot, &me32));
                  CloseHandle(process);
                  break;
            }
      } while (Process32Next(process_snapshot, &pe32));
      return 0;
}
```

We will validate our disassembler on the same instruction set seen in Section 7.4.2 (starting at the address 0x7ccd91). We will also only disassemble 0x50 bytes' worth of instructions. First, we will simply dump all the opcodes:

```
#define START_ADDRESS 0x7ccd91
...
unsigned int i = START_ADDRESS - (DWORD)me32.modBaseAddr;
while (i < START_ADDRESS + 0x50 - (DWORD)me32.modBaseAddr) {
    printf("%x", buffer[i]);
        i++;</pre>
```

```
printf("\n");
```

}

Our code above needs to offset **i** in this manner due to how the opcodes are read into our buffer. Like we saw in <u>Chapter 7.2</u>, the game's main module is loaded at address **0x400000**. However, this instruction is stored at position 0 in our buffer. To gain access to the opcodes starting at **0x7ccd91**, we need to determine the distance from **0x7ccd91** to **0x400000** and use that position in our buffer.

When executed, this code will produce the following result:



We can see that these opcodes line up with the values observed in x64dbg.

7.4.7 The add Instruction

Starting at the very top, we see that the first opcode is 0x01. Looking at our reference site <u>here</u>, we see that this is an **add** instruction:

pf	<u>0</u> F	<u>po</u>	50	<u>0</u>	proc	<u>st</u>	m	<u>r1</u>	×	mnemonic	op1	op2	
		00		r					L	ADD	r/m8	r8	
		01		r					L	ADD	r/m16/32/64	r16/32/64	
		02		r						ADD	r8	r/m8	
		02		-						200	-16/22/61	r/m16/22/64	

If we look in section 3.2 of the reference, we can see that this instruction adds a 32-bit register to a 32-bit register:

ur <i>n</i>	AUU 171110, 110	אוריו	Vallu	Vallu	Muu 110 tu 170110.
01 <i>Ir</i>	ADD r/m32, r32	MR	Valid	Valid	Add r32 to r/m32.
REY W + 01 Ir	ADD c/m64_/64	MP	Valid	NE	Add (64 to c/m64

We still need to figure out how these registers are encoded, but for now, we can modify our main loop to print out an **add** instruction whenever we encounter **0x01**. Since we know that this instruction is 2 bytes, we will increment past the next opcode when we encounter it as well. We can also add code to print out the current address of the instruction:

```
while (i < START_ADDRESS + 0x50 - (DWORD)me32.modBaseAddr) {
    printf("%x:\t", i + (DWORD)me32.modBaseAddr);
    switch (buffer[i]) {
        case 0x1:
            printf("ADD ");
            i++;
            break;
        default:
            printf("%x", buffer[i]);
            i++;
            break;
    }
    printf("\n");
}</pre>
```

When running this code, we will now see that the first **add** instruction is correctly disassembled:

7ccd91:	ADD
7ccd93:	89
7ccd94:	c2
7ccd95:	89
7ccd96:	85
7ccd97:	78
7ccd98:	fc
7ccd99:	ff
7ccd9a:	ff
7ccd9b:	8b
7ccd9c:	45
7ccd9d:	18

7.4.8 Decoding Operands

After 0x01, the next opcode is 0xD8. We know that this 0xD8 is somehow responsible for encoding the value of **eax, ebx**. Just like with opcodes, the exact method to decode this value must exist somewhere in this manual. If we look at the reference manual's section 2.1, we see that directly following the opcode is a *ModR/M* value that is 1 byte long:



r8(/r) r15(/r) r32(/r) mm(/r) xmm(/r) (In decimal) /digit (Opcode) (In binary) REG =			AL AX EAX MMO XMMO O OOO	CL CX ECX MM1 XMM1 1 001	DL DX EDX MM2 XMM2 2 010	BL BX EBX MMB XMMB 3 011	AH SP ESP MM4 XMM4 4 100	CH BP EBP MMS XMM5 S 101	DH SI MM6 XMM6 6 110	BH DI EDI MM7 XMM7 7 111
Effective Address	Mod	R/M		1	alue of M	lodR/M B	yte (in He	xadecima	վ	
(EAX) (ECX) (EDX) (EBX), (-1() ¹ dsp32 ² (ESI) (EDI)	00	000 001 010 011 100 101 110 111	00 01 03 05 05 06 07	09948000 094800 0000 0000	10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17	18 19 1A 1B 1C 1D 1E 1F	20 2122345567	28 29 28 20 20 20 20 20 20	30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37	899A80085
[EAX]+disp8 ³ [ECX]+disp8 [EDX]+disp8 [EDX]+disp8 [-][-]+disp8 [EBP]+disp8 [ESI]+disp8 [ED]+disp8	01	000 001 010 011 100 101 110 111	40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47	48 49 4A 4B 4C 4D 4E 4F	50 51 52 53 54 55 56 57	58 59 5A 5B 5C 5D 5E 5F	60 61 62 63 64 65 65 66 67	68 69 6A 6B 6C 6D 6E 6F	70 71 72 73 74 75 76 77	78 79 7A 7B 7C 7D 7E 7F
[6AX]+disp32 [6CX]+disp32 [6DX]+disp32 [6BX]+disp32 [-][-]+disp32 [6BP]+disp32 [6SI]+disp32 [6DI]+disp32	10	000 001 010 011 100 101 110 111	80 81 82 83 84 85 86 87	89 89 89 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80	90 91 92 93 94 95 95 96 97	98 99 98 98 90 90 95 95	A0 A1 A2 A3 A4 A5 A5 A7	AS AS AB AC AC AF	80 81 82 83 84 85 86 87	88 89 88 88 80 80 86 86 86
EAX/AX/AL/MM0/XMM0 ECX/CX/CL/MM/XMM1 EDX/DX/DL/MM2/XMM2 EBX/BX/BL/MM9/XMM3 ESP/SP/AH/MM4/XMM4 EBP/SP/CH/MM5/XMM5 ESI/SI/DH/MM5/XMM5 EDI/DI/BH/MM7/XMM7	11	000 001 010 011 100 101 110 111	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	(8) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2	00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07	03 09 08 00 00 00 00 00	60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67	EB EA EB EC ED EF	F0 F1 F2 F3 F4 F5 F5 F5 F7	F8 F9 FA FB FC FD FE FF

If we scroll down to table 2-2, we can see how this value is laid out:

```
Table 2-2. 32-Bit Addressing Forms with the ModR/M Byte
```

Finding the value of 0xD8, we see that it is in the **eax** row and **ebx** column. Since this value is stored in a consistent manner, we can write a function to retrieve it:

```
int decode_operand(unsigned char* buffer, int location) {
    return 1;
}
```

So far, we have seen that operands are 1 byte long, so we will return a value of 1 to correctly increment the loop. We can call this function from our main loop:

```
case 0x1:
    printf("ADD ");
    i++;
```
```
i += decode_operand(buffer, i);
break;
```

Going back to the table, we can see that we have 8 possible values: **eax**, **ecx**, **edx**, **ebx**, **esp**, **ebp**, **esi**, and **edi**. We can lay these out in an array of character arrays to reference in our function:

```
const char modrm_value[8][4] = {
    "eax",
    "ecx",
    "edx",
    "ebx",
    "esp",
    "ebp",
    "esi",
    "edi"
};
```

If we look at the table, we can see that **eax** will be the first operand whenever the byte value ends in 0 or 8:

EAX/AX/AL/MMO/XMMD	11	000	CD	CB	DD	08	EO	E8	FO	FS
ECX/CX/CL/MM/XMM1		001	CI	69	01	09	E	69	FI	F9
EDX/DX/DL/MMZ/XMMZ		010	CZ C2	CA	DZ DO	DA	62	EA	62	FA CO
EBA/BA/BU/HHS/AMHS ESP/SP/AH/MM4/XMM4		100	C4	CP .	D4	00	E5 E4	EC	F5 E4	FO
EBP/BP/CH/MM5/XMM5		101	čš	õ	D5	DD	Ē5	έõ	F5	FĎ
ESI/SI/DH/MM6/XMM6		110	CB	CE	D6	DE	66	EE	F6	FE
EDI/DI/BH/MM7/XMM7		111	C7	CF	D7	DF	E7	EF	F7	FF

This pattern continues for the other registers as well. For example, **ecx** always ends in 1 or 9, and **edx** in 2 or A. We can see that these values line up with the remainder when we divide the operand value by 8. Therefore, we can use the modulo operator to retrieve our first operand from the *ModR/M* value:

```
modrm_value[buffer[location] % 8]
```

To retrieve the second operand, we can use a similar operation. If we look at the *ModR/M* structure, we can see that the first value is stored at bits 0, 1, and 2:



For example, when converted to binary, **0xD8** is represented as:

1101 1000

For our first operand, we see that the three 000 bits are associated with the **eax** row. If we then shift these bits to the right, we get the following value:

0001 1011

If we look at the columns on the top of the table, 011 is associated with the **ebx** column, in the same way as the first operand. As such, we can use the same approach once we shift the bits to retrieve the second operand via the modulo operator:

```
modrm_value[(buffer[location] >> 3) % 8]
```

With these two pieces, we can implement our function:

```
if (buffer[location] >= 0xC0 && buffer[location] <= 0xFF) {
    printf("%s, %s", modrm_value[buffer[location] % 8],
    modrm_value[(buffer[location] >> 3) % 8]);
    return 1;
}
```

Running this code will correctly print the operands for the **add** operation:



7.4.9 Other Instructions

Now that we can disassemble the **add** instruction, we can begin working on other instructions. First, let's implement the **mov** instruction at **0x7ccd93**:

```
case 0x89:
    printf("MOV ");
    i++;
    i += decode_operand(buffer, i);
    break;
```

Running this, we can verify that our operand decoding is working correctly, as 0xC2 (the operand associated with the second move) correctly decodes to **edx, eax**:

7ccd91: ADD eax, ebx 7ccd93: MOV edx, eax

However, the next **mov** instruction does not decode correctly. Despite being the same opcode (0x89), it has an operand that we have not seen before, 0x85. If we look at the table, we see that this is associated with **[ebp] + displacement**, or an offset. If we look at the x64dbg version, we can see that this offset is -0x388. We know that this value must be encoded somewhere in the instruction. Since 0x89 85 are already accounted for, this value must be in the 0x78fcffff bytes.

In previous chapters, we talked about endianness, or the order of bytes. We identified that bytes are stored in a little-endian format. As a result, we need to reverse these bytes:

FF FF FC 78

This value does not match **0x388**. This is due to the signed nature of the value. Since this is a negative value, we need to subtract the maximum value of an integer (**0xFF** FF FF) to get the correct value:

FF FF FF FF -FF FF FC 78 = 387

We then need to add 1 to account for the sign change, resulting in the correct value of -0x388.

Since we now understand how this is working, we can add this to our decode operation:

```
else if (buffer[location] >= 0x80 && buffer[location] <= 0xBF) {
    DWORD displacement = buffer[location + 1] | (buffer[location + 2] << 8) |
    (buffer[location + 3] << 16) | (buffer[location + 4] << 24);
    printf("[%s+%x], %s", modrm_value[buffer[location] % 8], displacement,
modrm_value[(buffer[location] >> 3) % 8]);
    return 5;
}
```

Like we saw with the first decoding operation, we can use bit shifting to retrieve each of the bytes in the displacement. With this included, the third operation now correctly decodes:

7ccd91: ADD eax, ebx 7ccd93: MOV edx, eax 7ccd95: MOV [ebp+fffffc78], eax

7.4.10 Calls and Jumps

In previous chapters, we covered how the opcode for a **call** or **jmp** used the following formula:

E8/E9 (new_location - original_location + 5)

We can reverse this operation to retrieve the address of a **call** from an opcode:

```
case 0xE8:
    printf("CALL ");
    i++;
    loc = buffer[i] | (buffer[i+1] << 8) | (buffer[i+2] << 16) | (buffer[i+3]
    << 24);
    printf("%x", loc + (i + (DWORD)me32.modBaseAddr) + 4);
    i += 4;
    break;
```

We add 4 instead of 5 to account for the fact that our parser is past the 0xE8 byte.

We also have a short relative jump if equal (**je**) instruction in our selected example. In this case, we can observe that the second byte of the opcode contains the amount to offset by:

```
7ccda8 74 23 je 7ccdcd
7ccda8 + 23 = 7ccdcd
```

We can add this logic to our main loop as well:

```
case 0x74:
    printf("JE ");
    printf("%x", i + (DWORD)me32.modBaseAddr + 2 + buffer[i + 1]);
    i += 2;
    break;
```

7.4.11 Final Result

As stated in the disclaimer, this was not a comprehensive disassembler. In the source shown in <u>Appendix A</u>, the following opcodes are implemented:

- ADD (0x01)
- MOV (0x89, 0x8B)
- SUB (0x29)
- JE (0x74)
- **CALL** (0xE8)
- CMP (0x80)
- LEA (0x8D)

With these instructions, we retrieve back the following result:



7.5 Debugger

Our target for this chapter will be Assault Cube 1.2.0.2.

7.5.2 **Overview**

In previous chapters, we used x64dbg to debug and reverse games. After attaching x64dbg to these games, we were able to set breakpoints on game instructions. When the game executed these instructions, our breakpoints would pop and program execution would pause. We could then observe the values of all the registers and step through individual instructions.

In this chapter, we will explore how to create a debugger for Windows utilizing the Windows API. We will confirm that this debugger is working by using Assault Cube as an example. In <u>Chapter 5.7</u>, we identified that the **mov** instruction at **0x0046366C** was only executed when the player was firing. After we create our debugger, we will place a breakpoint on this instruction and verify that it is only hit when we fire.

7.5.3 Windows Debugger API's

Windows has a collection of API's that allow for a process to attach to and debug another process. These are detailed in several short articles available on <u>MSDN</u>. For our purposes, we mainly care about the following API's:

- **DebugActiveProcess**, which is used to attach to a target process
- WaitForDebugEvent, which is used to wait for debugging events, as described in <u>this</u> MSDN article
- **ContinueDebugEvent**, which is used to continue execution after a debug event is triggered

When using these API's, we are attaching to a process and waiting for it to trigger one of several <u>debug events</u>, such as creating a thread or encountering an exception. However, when debugging a target we do not have the source code to, this will limit us to only breaking on thread and process creation events. To be able to trigger a breakpoint on an address, we will need to use an **interrupt** instruction. Interrupt instructions are a special set of software instructions that invoke a special interrupt handler on the CPU. One of these instructions, **int 3**, will trigger a breakpoint when executed. Its opcode is **0xCC**.

We can utilize this behavior to set a breakpoint on any instruction. Before we attach a debugger to a process, we will use **WriteProcessMemory** to write 0xCC to the instruction we wish to break on. We will then listen for debug events like normal. When we get a breakpoint event, we will restore the instruction to its original form and continue execution. By doing this, we can set breakpoints on any instruction in targets that we do not have the source control to.

The full source code for the debugger discussed in this chapter is available in <u>Appendix A</u>.

7.5.4 Writing the Int 3 Instruction

To write our **int 3** instruction into the target, we will use an approach covered in previous chapters. First, we will iterate over all processes in the system using **CreateToolhelp32Snapshot** and locate the Assault Cube process (**ac_client.exe**). Then, we will open a handle to the process, and use that handle to write 0xCC (the opcode for **int 3**) over the instruction at 0x0046366C:

```
HANDLE process_snapshot = NULL;
HANDLE process_handle = NULL;
DWORD pid;
DWORD bytes_written = 0;
BYTE instruction_break = 0xcc;
PROCESSENTRY32 pe32 = { 0 };
pe32.dwSize = sizeof(PROCESSENTRY32);
process_snapshot = CreateToolhelp32Snapshot(TH32CS_SNAPPROCESS, 0);
Process32First(process_snapshot, &pe32);
do {
    if (wcscmp(pe32.szExeFile, L"ac_client.exe") == 0) {
        pid = pe32.th32ProcessID;
```

```
process_handle = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true,
pe32.th32ProcessID);
    WriteProcessMemory(process_handle, (void*)0x0046366C,
&instruction_break, 1, &bytes_written);
    }
} while (Process32Next(process_snapshot, &pe32));
```

Since we will need the process identifier (or pid) of Assault Cube for the **DebugActiveProcess** API, we also store the **pid** for later use.

7.5.5 Main Debugger Loop

Next, we can use an identical model discussed on <u>MSDN</u> to attach to the target and handle debugger events. The code provided on MSDN enters a permanent loop that checks for debugging events and then continues execution when encountering an event.

```
DEBUG_EVENT debugEvent = \{ 0 \};
DWORD continueStatus = DBG_CONTINUE;
DebugActiveProcess(pid);
for (;;) {
    continueStatus = DBG_CONTINUE;
    if (!WaitForDebugEvent(&debugEvent, INFINITE))
        return 0;
    switch (debugEvent.dwDebugEventCode) {
    case EXCEPTION_DEBUG_EVENT:
        switch (debugEvent.u.Exception.ExceptionRecord.ExceptionCode)
        ł
        case EXCEPTION_BREAKPOINT:
            continueStatus = DBG_CONTINUE;
            break;
        default:
            continueStatus = DBG_EXCEPTION_NOT_HANDLED;
            break;
        break;
    default:
```

```
continueStatus = DBG_EXCEPTION_NOT_HANDLED;
    break;
}
ContinueDebugEvent(debugEvent.dwProcessId, debugEvent.dwThreadId,
continueStatus);
}
```

CloseHandle(process_handle);

7.5.6 Handling the Breakpoint

With this structure setup, we can now begin handling debugger events. First, let's verify that our **int 3** breakpoint actually worked with a print statement:

```
case EXCEPTION_BREAKPOINT:
    printf("Breakpoint hit");
    continueStatus = DBG_CONTINUE;
    break;
```

Make sure Assault Cube is running and run the debugger we have built so far. It should immediately print out **Breakpoint hit**. If you then fire, it will print out **Breakpoint hit** again before the game crashes. This indicates that our breakpoint was set successfully.

However, crashing the target is not ideal. To fix this, we will need to adjust two things:

- 1. Only trigger our breakpoint when the instruction is executed and not when we first run our program.
- 2. Restore the original instruction after our breakpoint is executed.

When we first attach to a process, a breakpoint exception is triggered. Since we only want to handle our breakpoint on the instruction, we will ignore this first exception:

```
bool first_break_has_occurred = false;
case EXCEPTION_BREAKPOINT:
    if (first_break_has_occurred) {
        //only handle breakpoint events after the first exception
    }
```

first_break_has_occurred = true;

Next, we can handle the crash that occurs after our breakpoint is triggered. This crash occurs because we have replaced the original **mov** opcode (0x8b) with our interrupt. After executing our interrupt and our handling of the debug event, the game tries to execute the next opcode, which is not valid. To resolve this, we need to restore the **mov** instruction after handling our debug event.

The **EIP** (extended instruction pointer) register is used to track the current instruction executing. Each time an instruction is executed, it is changed to reflect the next instruction address to execute. When we execute our **int 3** instruction, it is increased by 1. To restore the **mov** instruction, we need to first decrease it.

We can do this by opening the thread responsible for triggering the breakpoint and retrieving the context (registers) of the thread. We can then decrease the **EIP** register and set the thread's context to our new values:

```
HANDLE thread_handle = NULL;
CONTEXT context = { 0 };
thread_handle = OpenThread(THREAD_ALL_ACCESS, true, debugEvent.dwThreadId);
if (thread_handle != NULL) {
    context.ContextFlags = CONTEXT_ALL;
    GetThreadContext(thread_handle, &context);
    context.Eip--;
    SetThreadContext(thread_handle, &context);
    CloseHandle(thread_handle);
```

EIP will now point to the original **mov** instruction address again (0x0046366C). However, the instruction at this location will still be **int 3**. To fix this, we can use **WriteProcessMemory** to write the original opcode back to the address:

WriteProcessMemory(process_handle, (void*)0x0046366C, &instruction_normal, 1, &bytes_written);

With this change, Assault Cube will no longer crash when our breakpoint is triggered. In addition, we can set a breakpoint on the **context.Eip--** line of code and verify that we can view the contents of all registers when our breakpoint is triggered:



The same approach used to modify **EIP** can be used to modify other registers as well.

7.6 Call Logger

Our target in this chapter will be Wesnoth 1.14.9.

7.6.2 **Overview**

When reversing complex applications like video games, one of the most difficult steps is establishing a context inside the application. While there are many techniques to establish a context, one approach is to create a modified debugger that logs all **call** instructions executed by the application. Actions can then be executed in the game, such as clicking a button, and all the related calls can be observed. The logged calls can then be used to establish a context and begin reversing the target.

Our goal in this chapter is to modify the debugger we created in the previous chapter to log all **call** instructions made by the target. The full code for this chapter is available in <u>Appendix A</u>.

7.6.3 Locating the Main Module

In the previous chapter, we wrote a break instruction to a single location inside Assault Cube. Our target for this chapter will be Wesnoth. Therefore, we will modify the code responsible for locating the process's pid to find the Wesnoth process and remove the code responsible for writing the single breakpoint:

```
do {
    if (wcscmp(pe32.szExeFile, L"wesnoth.exe") == 0) {
        pid = pe32.th32ProcessID;
        process_handle = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true,
        pe32.th32ProcessID);
        }
} while (Process32Next(process_snapshot, &pe32));
```

For this tool, we will only log calls in the main game module and not in external DLL's, such as user32.dll. To determine the beginning and end address of the main module, we will first use the <u>EnumProcessModules</u> API to retrieve a list of all loaded modules. Then, we will use the <u>GetModuleInformation</u> API to retrieve the address space of the first module, which always represents the main game module. We will execute this code in the first debug event that occurs in the target (when we attach our debugger to the process):

```
HMODULE modules[128] = { 0 };
MODULEINFO module_info = { 0 };
DWORD bytes_read = 0;
if (!first_break_has_occurred) {
    EnumProcessModules(process_handle, modules, sizeof(modules),
&bytes_read);
    GetModuleInformation(process_handle, modules[0], &module_info,
sizeof(module_info));
```

The **GetModuleInformation** API will fill **module_info.SizeOfImage** with the size of the main module, and **module_info.IpBaseOfDII** with the base address of the main module. With this range, we can begin searching for **call** instructions.

Like we have done previously, we will use **ReadProcessMemory** to read the instructions into a buffer. While we would like to read the entire memory of the whole process, this approach will not work. This is because different memory sections of the process have different memory protections. If the section does not allow reading, the call to **ReadProcessMemory** will fail. If we try to read the entire memory of the process in one call, we will encounter a section that fails, and then the entire read will fail.

To deal with this, we will instead read the memory in sections. These sections are called memory pages, and the default memory page size in Windows is 4096 bytes. As such, we will create a loop to read 4096 bytes of instructions at a time. We will use the **bytes_read** parameter to determine how many bytes of the page were actually read:

```
#define READ_PAGE_SIZE 4096
unsigned char instructions[READ_PAGE_SIZE] = { 0 };
for (DWORD i = 0; i < module_info.SizeOfImage; i += READ_PAGE_SIZE) {
    ReadProcessMemory(process_handle, (LPVOID)((DWORD)module_info.lpBaseOfDll
+ i), &instructions, READ_PAGE_SIZE, &bytes_read);</pre>
```

```
for (DWORD c = 0; c < bytes_read; c++) {
}</pre>
```

7.6.4 Locating Calls

}

Next, we will locate the **call** instructions in each page of memory. We know that the opcode for the **call** instruction is **0xe8**. While iterating over each instruction, we will check to see if it is **0xe8**:

```
BYTE instruction_call = 0xe8;
...
for (DWORD c = 0; c < bytes_read; c++) {
    if (instructions[c] == instruction_call) {
    }
}
```

However, not all 0xe8's represent **call** instructions. For example, the opcode for the **add eax, ebp** instruction is 0x01 e8. We need to ensure that we do not identify these random 0xe8's as calls. The easiest way to do that is to read the 4 bytes after the **call**.

As we know from <u>Chapter 2.6</u>, these 4 bytes encode the location of the **call**. By retrieving this location, we can check if the calculated location of these bytes is valid. If not, we can assume that the **0xe8** is not a **call** and use the **continue** instruction to escape this check:

```
DWORD offset = 0;
DWORD call_location = 0;
DWORD call_location_bytes_read = 0;
...
if (instructions[c] == instruction_call) {
    offset = (DWORD)module_info.lpBaseOfDll + i + c;
    ReadProcessMemory(process_handle, (LPVOID)(offset + 1), &call_location,
4, &call_location_bytes_read);
    call_location += offset + 5;
    if (call_location < (DWORD)module_info.lpBaseOfDll || call_location
>(DWORD)module_info.lpBaseOfDll + module_info.SizeOfImage)
```

continue;

Finally, we will write a break instruction (**0xcc**) to the location. In addition to **WriteProcessMemory**, we will use the <u>FlushInstructionCache</u> API to make sure our changes are done immediately to the target:

```
BYTE instruction_break = 0xcc;
...
WriteProcessMemory(process_handle, (void*)offset, &instruction_break, 1,
&bytes_written);
FlushInstructionCache(process_handle, (LPV0ID)offset, 1);
```

Writing thousands of break instructions to a process can cause the program to crash. To avoid this, we will only write 2000 breakpoints:

```
int breakpoints_set = 0;
...
if (breakpoints_set < 2000) {
    WriteProcessMemory...
    breakpoints_set++;
}
```

7.6.5 Handling Breakpoints

Now that we have written breakpoints to all the calls, we need to handle the breakpoint events. We will start with the same approach that we used in the previous chapter:

```
else {
    thread_handle = OpenThread(THREAD_ALL_ACCESS, true,
    debugEvent.dwThreadId);
    if (thread_handle != NULL) {
        context.ContextFlags = CONTEXT_ALL;
        GetThreadContext(thread_handle, &context);
        context.Eip--;
        SetThreadContext(thread_handle, &context);
        CloseHandle(thread_handle);
```

```
WriteProcessMemory(process_handle, (void*)context.Eip,
&instruction_call, 1, &bytes_written);
     FlushInstructionCache(process_handle, (LPVOID)context.Eip, 1);
  }
}
```

Like we saw before, this code will decrease **EIP** and restore the original **call** instruction. Then, execution will resume at the **call** and the program will continue execution normally. The downside with this approach is that each breakpoint is only hit once. For our call logger, we want to log each time a **call** is executed. To achieve this behavior, we will use single-step mode.

Single-stepping is a special type of debug event that executes a single instruction before triggering an exception again. To enable single-step mode, we modify the **EFlags** of the current thread like so:

context.Eip--;
context.EFlags |= 0x100;

Next, we need to handle the single-step event. We will introduce another case for this:

case EXCEPTION_SINGLE_STEP:

When we receive our exception here, it means that the **call** has finished executing. Ultimately, our goal in this event is to restore the break instruction. We can do this via **WriteProcessMemory** in an identical way to restoring the **call** instruction:

```
thread_handle = OpenThread(THREAD_ALL_ACCESS, true, debugEvent.dwThreadId);
if (thread_handle != NULL) {
    context.ContextFlags = CONTEXT_ALL;
    GetThreadContext(thread_handle, &context);
    CloseHandle(thread_handle);
    WriteProcessMemory(process_handle, (void*)last_call_location,
&instruction_break, 1, &bytes_written);
    FlushInstructionCache(process_handle, (LPVOID)last_call_location, 1);
}
```

With this code in place, our breakpoints will be restored after being triggered.

7.6.6 Adding Logging

Finally, we will add logging to this code so that we can see the triggered breakpoints. In our debug event, we will store the current location of **EIP**:

```
DWORD last_call_location = 0;
...
last_call_location = context.Eip;
```

Next, in the single-step event, we will add the logging code. We know at this point that we have executed the **call** and we are at the **call**'s location. Now we can use the following print statement to print the **call**'s address and the location called:

```
printf("0x%08x: call 0x%08x\n", last_call_location, context.Eip);
last_call_location = 0;
```

In this chapter, we are only logging the calls as they happen. However, it is possible to modify this code to also hook **ret** instructions. This would allow you to build out a graph showing all calls made by the process and which calls call other calls.

Appendix A

A.1 Lab VM Setup Script

Referenced in Chapter 1.4.

Set-WindowsExplorerOptions -EnableShowHiddenFilesFoldersDrives -EnableShowProtectedOSFiles -EnableShowFileExtensions Enable-RemoteDesktop

cinst cheatengine
cinst x64dbg.portable

A.2 Wesnoth External Gold Hack

Referenced in Chapter 3.2.

An external memory hack for Wesnoth 1.14.9 that modifies the player's gold.

This code will create a console application that sets the player's gold in Wesnoth 1.14.9 to the value of 555 when run. It makes use of **ReadProcessMemory** and **WriteProcessMemory** to achieve this. The address **0x017EED18** represents the player's base pointer in Wesnoth.

This program must be run as an administrator.

```
// FindWindow, GetWindowThreadProcessId, OpenProcess, ReadProcessMemory, and
WriteProcessMemory are all contained inside windows.h
#include <Windows.h>
```

```
int main(int argc, char** argv) {
```

/* To use ReadProcessMemory and WriteProcessMemory, we require a handle to the Wesnoth process. To get this handle, we require a process id. The quickest way to get a process id for a particular process is to use GetWindowThreadProcessId. GetWindowThreadProcessId requires a window handle (different than a process handle). To get this window handle, we use FindWindow. */ // Find our Wesnoth window. Depending on your language settings, this might be different. HWND wesnoth_window = FindWindow(NULL, L"The Battle for Wesnoth -1.14.9"); // Get the process id for the Wesnoth process. GetWindowThreadProcessId does not return a process id, but // rather fills a provided variable with its value, hence the &. DWORD process_id = 0; GetWindowThreadProcessId(wesnoth_window, &process_id); // Open our Wesnoth process. PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS means we can both read and write to the process. However, // it also means that this program must be executed as an administrator to work. HANDLE wesnoth_process = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true, process_id); // Read the value at $0 \times 017 EED18$ and place its value into the variable gold_value. DWORD gold_value = 0; DWORD bytes_read = 0; ReadProcessMemory(wesnoth_process, (void*)0x017EED18, &gold_value, 4, &bytes_read); // Add 0xA90 to the value read from the last step and then read the value at that new address. These // offsets are covered in https://gamehacking.academy/lesson/13 $gold_value += 0xA90;$ ReadProcessMemory(wesnoth_process, (void*)gold_value, &gold_value, 4, &bytes_read);

```
// Add 4 to the gold_value, which will then be pointing at the player's
current gold address.
    // Write the value of new_gold_value (555) into this address
    gold_value += 4;
    DWORD new_gold_value = 555;
    DWORD bytes_written = 0;
    WriteProcessMemory(wesnoth_process, (void*)gold_value, &new_gold_value,
4, &bytes_written);
    return 0;
}
```

A.3 Wesnoth Internal Gold Hack

Referenced in Chapter 3.3.

An internal memory hack for Wesnoth 1.14.9 that modifies the player's gold.

This is an example of a DLL that needs to be injected into Wesnoth. Once injected, it creates a thread within the game. This thread waits for a player to hit the "M" key and then uses a series of pointers to directly set the player's gold value to 999.

This must be injected into the Wesnoth process to work. One way to do this is to use a DLL injector. Another way is to enable AppInit_DLLs in the registry.

```
// CreateThread and GetAsyncKeyState are defined within windows.h
#include <Windows.h>
// Our injected thread. Since we want to monitor for the user's key presses,
// we use a while loop to ensure that this thread never exits. Inside the
thread, we
// check if the "M" key is being held down. If so, we directly access the
game's memory
// through the use of pointers. We use these pointers to set our player's
gold value.
void injected_thread() {
```

```
while (true) {
            if (GetAsyncKeyState('M')) {
                  DWORD* player_base = (DWORD*)0x017EED18;
                  DWORD* game_base = (DWORD*)(*player_base + 0xA90);
                  DWORD* gold = (DWORD*)(*game_base + 4);
                  *aold = 999:
            }
            // So our thread doesn't constantly run, we have it pause
execution for a millisecond.
            // This allows the processor to schedule other tasks.
            Sleep(1);
      }
}
// When injected, the parent process looks for the DLL's DllMain, similar to
the main function in regular executables.
// There are several events that can occur, the most important one for us
being DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH. This occurs when the
// DLL is fully loaded into the process' memory.
11
// Once loaded, we create a thread. This thread will run in the background of
the game as long as the process remains open.
// The code that this thread will execute is shown above.
BOOL WINAPI DllMain( HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID
lpvReserved ) {
      if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
            CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)injected_thread,
NULL, 0, NULL);
      }
      return true;
}
```

A.4 Wesnoth Code Cave DLL

Referenced in Chapter 3.4.

A DLL that redirects the *Terrain Description* function in Wesnoth 1.14.9 to a custom function that sets the player's gold to 888.

This custom function then recreates the *Terrain Description* function and returns execution to the program.

This is done through the use of a code cave. When injected, the DLL modifies the function that displays the terrain description and changes the code to jump to the code cave function defined in the DLL. The code cave function then saves the registers, sets the gold to 888, and restores the original modified instructions before returning to the original calling code.

This must be injected into the Wesnoth process to work. One way to do this is to use a DLL injector. Another way is to enable AppInit_DLLs in the registry.

```
#include <Windows.h>
DWORD* player_base;
DWORD* game_base;
DWORD* gold;
DWORD ret_address = 0xCCAF90;
// Our code cave that program execution will jump to. The declapec naked
attribute tells the compiler to not add any function
// headers around the assembled code
__declspec(naked) void codecave() {
      // Asm blocks allow you to write pure assembly
     // In this case, we use it to save all the registers
      __asm {
            pushad
      }
      // Set the player's gold in the same method discussed in https://
gamehacking.academy/lesson/16
      player_base = (DWORD*)0x017EED18;
      game_base = (DWORD*)(*player_base + 0xA90);
      gold = (DWORD*)(*game_base + 4);
      *gold = 888;
     // Restore the registers and then recreate the original instructions
that we overwrote
     // After those, jump back to the instruction after the one we overwrote
      _asm {
            popad
```

```
mov eax, dword ptr ds:[ecx]
            lea esi,dword ptr ds:[esi]
            jmp ret_address
      }
}
// When our DLL is attached, unprotect the memory at the code we wish to
write at
// Then set the first opcode to E9, or jump
// Caculate the location using the formula: new_location -
original_location+5
// Finally, since the original instructions totalled 6 bytes, NOP out the
last remaining byte
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
      DWORD old_protect;
      unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x00CCAF8A;
      if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
            VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 6, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
            *hook_location = 0xE9;
            *(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&codecave -
((DWORD)hook_location + 5);
            *(hook_location + 5) = 0 \times 90;
      }
      return true;
}
```

A.5 Wesnoth Stathack

Referenced in <u>Chapter 4.1</u>.

A stathack for Wesnoth 1.14.9 that displays the second player's gold whenever the *Terrain Description* box is shown.

This is done through the use of a code cave. When injected, the DLL modifies the function that displays the terrain description and changes the code to jump to the code cave function defined in the DLL. The code cave function then saves the registers, gets the second player's gold, and writes the value into the buffer used by the game to display the *Terrain Description* text. It then jumps back to the *Terrain Description* method and displays the original description with the gold prepended to it.

This must be injected into the Wesnoth process to work. One way to do this is to use a DLL injector. Another way is to enable AppInit_DLLs in the registry.

```
#include <Windows.h>
#include <stdio.h>
DWORD* player_base;
DWORD* game_base;
DWORD* gold;
// Original address called by the game
DWORD ori_call_address = 0x5E9630;
DWORD ret_address = 0x5ED12E;
// Buffer to hold the second player's gold value
char gold_byte_array[4] = \{ 0 \};
// Our code cave that program execution will jump to. The declspec naked
attribute tells the compiler to not add any function
// headers around the assembled code
__declspec(naked) void codecave() {
      // Asm blocks allow you to write pure assembly
      // In this case, we use it to save all the registers
      __asm {
            pushad
      }
      // Get the second player's gold value based off the base pointer
      player_base = (DWORD*)0x017EED18;
      game_base = (DWORD*)(*player_base + 0xA90);
      gold = (DWORD^*)(*game_base + 0x274);
      // Convert the gold value to its ASCII representation
      sprintf_s(gold_byte_array, 4, "%d", *gold);
      // Restore the registers corrupted by sprintf and save them again
```

```
// Then, load the buffer from edx, and place each byte of the second
player's gold
      // value into the buffer
      __asm {
            popad
            pushad
            mov eax, dword ptr ds:[edx]
            mov bl, gold_byte_array[0]
            mov byte ptr ds:[eax], bl
            mov bl, gold_byte_array[1]
            mov byte ptr ds:[eax + 1], bl
            mov bl, gold_byte_array[2]
            mov byte ptr ds: [eax + 2], bl
      }
      // Restore the registers and then recreate the original instructions
that we overwrote
      // After those, jump back to the instruction after the one we overwrote
      _asm {
            popad
            call ori_call_address
            jmp ret_address
      }
}
// When our DLL is attached, unprotect the memory at the code we wish to
write at
// Then set the first opcode to E9, or jump
// Calculate the location using the formula: new_location - original_location
+ 5
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
      DWORD old_protect;
      unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x5ED129;
      if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
            VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 5, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
            *hook_location = 0xE9;
            *(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&codecave -
((DWORD)hook_location + 5);
      }
      return true;
}
```

A.6 Wesnoth Map Hack

Referenced in Chapter 4.2.

A map hack for Wesnoth 1.14.9 that reveals the entire map by removing in-game fogof-war.

This is done by modifying the game's code responsible for re-setting all tiles to a hidden state at the start of a player's turn. This code is modified to set all tiles to a visible state (-1, or 0xFFFFFFF in Wesnoth). To fit in the space of the previous instructions, this is done through the use of an **or dword ptr ds:[esi],0xFFFFFFF** instruction (opcode 0x830EFF), along with several **nop**'s (**0x90**).

This must be injected into the Wesnoth process to work. One way to do this is to use a DLL injector. Another way is to enable AppInit_DLLs in the registry.

```
#include <Windows.h>
// The new opcodes to write into the game's code
unsigned char new_bytes[8] = { 0x90, 0x90, 0x90, 0x83, 0x0E, 0xFF, 0x90, 0x90
};
// When our DLL is attached, first unprotect the memory responsible for
resetting the tiles in the game
// Then, write our new opcodes into that memory location
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
      DWORD old_protect;
      unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x6CD519;
      if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
            VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 8, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
            for (int i = 0; i < sizeof(new_bytes); i++) {</pre>
                  *(hook_location + i) = new_bytes[i];
            }
      }
```

}

A.7 Wyrmsun Macrobot

Referenced in Chapter 4.3.

A hack for Wyrmsun version 5.0.1 that will automatically create worker units out of the currently selected structure when a player's gold is over 3000.

It accomplishes this by filling the current unit buffer with worker data and then calling the create unit function in the game.

After injecting this hack, go in game and recruit a worker. Then select a structure as you collect gold. You will notice workers being queued automatically. Due to the way Wyrmsun handles recruitment, it is possible to create units out of whatever is selected, including other units.

This must be injected into the Wyrmsun process to work. One way to do this is to use a DLL injector. Another way is to enable AppInit_DLLs in the registry.

#include <Windows.h>

```
HANDLE wyrmsun_base;
DWORD* base;
DWORD* unitbase;
DWORD recruit_unit_ret_address;
DWORD recruit_unit_call_address;
unsigned char unitdata[0x110];
bool init = false;
DWORD gameloop_ret_address;
DWORD gameloop_call_address;
DWORD gameloop_call_address;
```

```
// The recruit unit code cave hooks the game's recruit unit function
// It's main job is to copy a valid buffer of data for a worker unit
// instead of having to reverse the structure
__declspec(naked) void recruit_unit_codecave() {
    __asm {
        pushad
        mov base, ecx
    }
    unitbase = (DWORD*)(*base);
    memcpy(unitdata, unitbase, 0x110);
    init = true;
    _asm {
        popad
        push ecx
        mov ecx, esi
        call recruit_unit_call_address
        jmp recruit_unit_ret_address
    }
}
// In the main game loop, our code cave will check the current player's gold
// If it is over 3000, and we have a valid worker buffer, call the recruit
unit function
// with worker data.
__declspec(naked) void gameloop_codecave() {
    __asm {
        pushad
    }
    gold_base = (DWORD*)((DWORD)wyrmsun_base + 0x0061A504);
    gold = (DWORD^*)(*gold_base + 0x78);
    gold = (DWORD^*)(*gold + 4);
    gold = (DWORD^*)(*gold + 8);
    gold = (DWORD^*)(*gold + 4);
    gold = (DWORD*)(*gold);
    gold = (DWORD^*)(*gold + 0x14);
    if (init && *gold > 3000) {
        memcpy(unitbase, unitdata, 0x110);
        __asm {
            mov ecx, base
            push ecx
```

```
call recruit_unit_call_address
        }
    }
    __asm {
        popad
        call gameloop_call_address
        jmp gameloop_ret_address
    }
}
// When our DLL is attached, unprotect the memory at the code we wish to
write at
// Then set the first opcode to E9, or jump
// Caculate the location using the formula: new_location -
original_location+5
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
      DWORD old_protect;
      if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
            // Since Wyrmsun loads code dynamically, we need to calculate
offsets based of the base address of the main module
            wyrmsun_base = GetModuleHandle(L"wyrmsun.exe");
            unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)
((DWORD)wyrmsun_base + 0x223471);
            recruit_unit_ret_address = (DWORD)hook_location + 8;
            recruit_unit_call_address = (DWORD)wyrmsun_base + 0x2CF7;
            VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 8, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
            *hook_location = 0xE9;
            *(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&recruit_unit_codecave -
((DWORD)hook_location + 5);
            *(hook_location + 5) = 0 \times 90;
            *(hook_location + 6) = 0x90;
            *(hook_location + 7) = 0x90;
            hook_location = (unsigned char*)((DWORD)wyrmsun_base + 0x385D34);
            gameloop_ret_address = (DWORD)hook_location + 5;
            gameloop_call_address = (DWORD)wyrmsun_base + 0xDBCA;
```

```
VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 5, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
            *hook_location = 0xE9;
            *(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&gameloop_codecave -
((DWORD)hook_location + 5);
      }
      return true;
}
```

A.8 Urban Terror Memory Wallhack

Referenced in Chapter 5.2.

A wallhack for Urban Terror 4.3.4 that reveals entities through walls by disabling depth testing.

This is done by modifying each entity's render flag, which is responsible for determining how the entity should be rendered. By setting this value to the in-game value for disabled depth testing (0xD), entities will be drawn whether or not they should be visible. The code hooked is a **mov** instruction, which occurs after **ebx** is loaded with a valid entity structure.

This must be injected into the Urban Terror process to work. One way to do this is to use a DLL injector. Another way is to enable AppInit_DLLs in the registry.

```
#include <Windows.h>
DWORD ret_address = 0x0052D303;
// Our code cave that program execution will jump to. The declspec naked
attribute tells the compiler to not add any function
// headers around the assembled code
__declspec(naked) void codecave() {
    // Asm blocks allow you to write pure assembly
    // In this case, we use it to save all the registers
```

```
// Then set the entity's render value at [ebx+4] to disabled depth
testing (0xD)
      // Then we restore the registers, recreate the original instruction,
and jump back to the program code
      __asm {
            pushad
            mov dword ptr ds:[ebx+4], 0xD
            popad
            mov dword ptr ds:[0x102AE98], ebx
            jmp ret_address
      }
}
// When our DLL is attached, unprotect the memory at the code we wish to
write at
// Then set the first opcode to E9, or jump
// Caculate the location using the formula: new_location -
original_location+5
// Finally, since the original instructions totalled 6 bytes, NOP out the
last remaining byte
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
      DWORD old_protect;
      unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x0052D2FD;
      if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
            VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 5, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
            *hook_location = 0xE9;
            *(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&codecave -
((DWORD)hook_location + 5);
            *(hook_location + 5) = 0x90;
      }
      return true;
}
```

A.9 Urban Terror OpenGL Wallhack

Referenced in Chapter 5.3.

A wallhack for Urban Terror 4.3.4 that reveals entities through walls by hooking the game's OpenGL function **glDrawElements** and disabling depth testing for OpenGL.

This is done by locating the **glDrawElements** function inside the OpenGL library and creating a code cave at the start of the function. In the code cave, we check the number of vertices associated with the element. If it is over 500, we call **glDepthRange** to clear the depth clipping plane and **glDepthFunc** to disable depth testing. Otherwise, we call these same functions to re-enable the depth clipping plane and re-enable depth testing.

This DLL must be injected into the Urban Terror process to work. One way to do this is to use a DLL injector. Another way is to enable AppInit_DLLs in the registry.

```
#include <Windows.h>
HMODULE openGLHandle = NULL;
// Function pointers for two OpenGL functions that we will dynamically
populate
// after injecting our DLL
void (__stdcall *glDepthFunc)(unsigned int) = NULL;
void (__stdcall* glDepthRange)(double, double) = NULL;
unsigned char* hook_location;
DWORD ret_address = 0;
DWORD old_protect;
DWORD count = 0;
// Code cave that runs before glDrawElements is called
__declspec(naked) void codecave() {
    // First, we retrieve the count parameter from the original call.
```

```
// Then, we retrieve the value of the count parameter, which specifies
the amount
      // of indicies to be rendered
      __asm {
            pushad
            mov eax, dword ptr ds : [esp + 0x10]
            mov count, eax
            popad
            pushad
      }
      // If the count is over 500, we clear the depth clipping plane and then
      // set the depth function to GL_ALWAYS
      if (count > 500) {
            (*glDepthRange)(0.0, 0.0);
            (*glDepthFunc)(0x207);
      }
      else {
            // Otherwise, restore the depth clipping plane to the game's
default value and then
            // set the depth function to GL_LEQUAL
            (*glDepthRange)(0.0, 1.0);
            (*glDepthFunc)(0x203);
      }
      // Finally, restore the original instruction and jump back
      __asm {
            popad
            mov esi, dword ptr ds : [esi + 0xA18]
            jmp ret_address
      }
}
// The injected thread responsible for creating our hooks
void injected_thread() {
      while (true) {
            // Since OpenGL will be loaded dynamically into the process, our
thread needs to wait
            // until it sees that the OpenGL module has been loaded.
            if (openGLHandle == NULL) {
                  openGLHandle = GetModuleHandle(L"opengl32.dll");
            }
            // Once loaded, we first find the location of the two depth
functions we are using in our
```

```
// code caves above
            if (openGLHandle != NULL && glDepthFunc == NULL) {
                  glDepthFunc = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned
int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDepthFunc");
                  glDepthRange = (void(__stdcall*)(double,
double))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDepthRange");
                  // Then we find the location of glDrawElements and offset
to an instruction that is easy to hook
                  hook_location = (unsigned
char*)GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDrawElements");
                  hook_location += 0x16;
                  // For the hook, we unprotect the memory at the code we
wish to write at
                  // Then set the first opcode to E9, or jump
                  // Caculate the location using the formula: new_location -
original_location+5
                  // And finally, since the first original instructions
totalled 6 bytes, NOP out the last remaining byte
                  VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 5,
PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE, &old_protect);
                  *hook_location = 0xE9;
                  *(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&codecave -
((DWORD)hook_location + 5);
                  *(hook_location + 5) = 0x90;
                  // Since OpenGL is loaded dynamically, we need to
dynamically calculate the return address
                  ret_address = (DWORD)(hook_location + 0x6);
            }
            // So our thread doesn't constantly run, we have it pause
execution for a millisecond.
            // This allows the processor to schedule other tasks.
            Sleep(1);
      }
}
// When our DLL is loaded, create a thread in the process to create the hook
// We need to do this as our DLL might be loaded before OpenGL is loaded by
the process
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
      if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
```
```
CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)injected_thread,
NULL, 0, NULL);
}
return true;
}
```

A.10 Urban Terror OpenGL Chams

Referenced in Chapter 5.4.

A chams hack for Urban Terror 4.3.4 that both reveals entities through walls and changes these models to a bright red color. It works by hooking the game's OpenGL function **glDrawElements** and disabling depth testing and textures for OpenGL.

This is done by locating the **glDrawElements** function inside the OpenGL library and creating a code cave at the start of the function. In the code cave, we check the number of vertices associated with the element. If it is over 500, we call **glDepthRange** to clear the depth clipping plane and **glDepthFunc** to disable depth testing. We then disable texture and color arrays and enable color material before setting the color to red with **glColor**.

Otherwise, we call these same functions to re-enable the depth clipping plane, reenable depth testing, and re-enable textures.

This DLL must be injected into the Urban Terror process to work. One way to do this is to use a DLL injector. Another way is to enable AppInit_DLLs in the registry.

```
#include <Windows.h>
#include <vector>
HMODULE openGLHandle = NULL;
// Function pointers for two OpenGL functions that we will dynamically
populate
```

```
// after injecting our DLL
void(__stdcall* glDepthFunc)(unsigned int) = NULL;
void(__stdcall* glDepthRange)(double, double) = NULL;
void(__stdcall* glColor4f)(float, float, float, float) = NULL;
void(__stdcall* glEnable)(unsigned int) = NULL;
void(__stdcall* glDisable)(unsigned int) = NULL;
void(__stdcall* glEnableClientState)(unsigned int) = NULL;
void(__stdcall* glDisableClientState)(unsigned int) = NULL;
unsigned char* hook_location;
DWORD ret_address = 0;
DWORD old_protect;
DWORD count = 0;
// Code cave that runs before glDrawElements is called
__declspec(naked) void codecave() {
      // First, we retrieve the count parameter from the original call.
     // Then, we retrieve the value of the count parameter, which specifies
the amount
      // of indicies to be rendered
      __asm {
            pushad
            mov eax, dword ptr ds : [esp + 0x10]
            mov count, eax
            popad
            pushad
      }
     // If the count is over 500, we clear the depth clipping plane and then
     // set the depth function to GL_ALWAYS
      // We then disable color and texture arrays and enable color materials
before setting
     // the color to red
      if (count > 500) {
            (*alDepthRange)(0.0, 0.0);
            (*glDepthFunc)(0x207);
            (*glDisableClientState)(0x8078);
            (*glDisableClientState)(0x8076);
            (*glEnable)(0x0B57);
            (*glColor4f)(1.0f, 0.6f, 0.6f, 1.0f);
      }
      else {
```

```
// Otherwise, restore the depth clipping plane to the game's
default value and then
            // set the depth function to GL_LEQUAL and restore textures
            (*glDepthRange)(0.0, 1.0);
            (*glDepthFunc)(0x203);
            (*glEnableClientState)(0x8078);
            (*glEnableClientState)(0x8076);
            (*glDisable)(0x0B57);
            (*glColor4f)(1.0f, 1.0f, 1.0f, 1.0f);
      }
      // Finally, restore the original instruction and jump back
      __asm {
            popad
            mov esi, dword ptr ds : [esi + 0xA18]
            jmp ret_address
      }
}
// The injected thread responsible for creating our hooks
void injected_thread() {
      while (true) {
            // Since OpenGL will be loaded dynamically into the process, our
thread needs to wait
            // until it sees that the OpenGL module has been loaded.
            if (openGLHandle == NULL) {
                  openGLHandle = GetModuleHandle(L"opengl32.dll");
            }
            // Once loaded, we first find the location of the functions we
are using in our
            // code caves above
            if (openGLHandle != NULL && glDepthFunc == NULL) {
                  glDepthFunc = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned
int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDepthFunc");
                  glDepthRange = (void(__stdcall*)(double,
double))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDepthRange");
                  glColor4f = (void(__stdcall*)(float, float, float,
float))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glColor4f");
                  glEnable = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned
int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glEnable");
                  glDisable = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned
int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDisable");
```

```
glEnableClientState = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned
int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glEnableClientState");
                  glDisableClientState = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned
int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDisableClientState");
                  // Then we find the location of glDrawElements and offset
to an instruction that is easy to hook
                  hook_location = (unsigned
char*)GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDrawElements");
                  hook_location += 0x16;
                  // For the hook, we unprotect the memory at the code we
wish to write at
                  // Then set the first opcode to E9, or jump
                  // Caculate the location using the formula: new_location -
original_location+5
                  // And finally, since the first original instructions
totalled 6 bytes, NOP out the last remaining byte
                  VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 5,
PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE, &old_protect);
                  *hook_location = 0xE9;
                  *(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&codecave -
((DWORD)hook_location + 5);
                  *(hook_location + 5) = 0x90;
                  // Since OpenGL is loaded dynamically, we need to
dynamically calculate the return address
                  ret_address = (DWORD)(hook_location + 0x6);
            }
            // So our thread doesn't constantly run, we have it pause
execution for a millisecond.
            // This allows the processor to schedule other tasks.
            Sleep(1);
      }
}
// When our DLL is loaded, create a thread in the process to create the hook
// We need to do this as our DLL might be loaded before OpenGL is loaded by
the process
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
      if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
            CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)injected_thread,
NULL, 0, NULL);
```

}

}

A.11 Assault Cube Triggerbot

Referenced in Chapter 5.5.

A triggerbot for Assault Cube 1.2.0.2 that fires the player's weapon whenever the crosshair goes over another player.

This works by hooking the game's feature that displays nametags when you hover over a player. Whenever a player is hovered over, our code cave will send a mouse down event to the game. Otherwise, it will send a mouse up event to stop firing.

This must be injected into the Assault Cube process to work. One way to do this is to use a DLL injector. Another way is to enable AppInit_DLLs in the registry.

```
#include <Windows.h>
DWORD ori_call_address = 0x4607C0;
DWORD ori_jump_address = 0x0040ADA2;
INPUT input = { 0 };
DWORD edi_value = 0;
// Our code cave that program execution will jump to. The declspec naked
attribute tells the compiler to not add any function
// headers around the assembled code
___declspec(naked) void codecave() {
    // Asm blocks allow you to write pure assembly
    // In this case, we use it to call the function we hooked and save all
the registers
```

```
// After we make the call, we move its return value in eax into a
variable
      __asm {
            call ori_call_address
            pushad
            mov edi_value, eax
      }
      // If the result of the call is not zero, then we are looking at a
player
      // Create a mouse event to simulate the left mouse button being pressed
down and send it to the game
      // Otherwise, raise the mouse button up so we stop firing
      if (edi_value != 0) {
            input.type = INPUT_MOUSE;
            input.mi.dwFlags = MOUSEEVENTF_LEFTDOWN;
            SendInput(1, &input, sizeof(INPUT));
      }
      else {
            input.type = INPUT_MOUSE;
            input.mi.dwFlags = MOUSEEVENTF_LEFTUP;
            SendInput(1, &input, sizeof(INPUT));
      }
      // Restore the registers and jump back to original code
      _asm {
            popad
            jmp ori_jump_address
      }
}
// When our DLL is attached, unprotect the memory at the code we wish to
write at
// Then set the first opcode to E9, or jump
// Caculate the location using the formula: new_location -
original_location+5
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
      DWORD old_protect;
      unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x0040AD9D;
      if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
            VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 5, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
            *hook_location = 0xE9;
```

```
*(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&codecave -
((DWORD)hook_location + 5);
}
return true;
}
```

A.12 Assault Cube Aimbot

Referenced in Chapter 5.6.

An aimbot for Assault Cube 1.2.0.2 that automatically aims at enemy players.

It works by iterating over the enemy list and picking the closest enemy through Euclidean distance. The yaw and pitch required to aim at that enemy are then calculated using arctangents.

This must be injected into the Assault Cube process to work. One way to do this is to use a DLL injector. Another way is to enable AppInit_DLLs in the registry.

```
#include <Windows.h>
#include <math.h>
// The atan2f function produces a radian. To convert it to degrees, we need
the value of pi
#define M_PI 3.14159265358979323846
// The player structure for every player in the game
struct Player {
    char unknown1[4];
    float x;
    float y;
    float z;
    char unknown2[0x30];
    float yaw;
    float pitch;
```

```
char unknown3[0x2f0];
      int dead;
};
// Our player
Player *player = NULL;
// Function to calculate the euclidean distance between two points
float euclidean_distance(float x, float y) {
      return sqrtf((x * x) + (y * y));
}
// This thread contains all of our aimbot code
void injected_thread() {
      while (true) {
            // First, grab the current position and view angles of our player
            DWORD* player_offset = (DWORD*)(0x509B74);
            player = (Player*)(*player_offset);
            // Then, get the current number of players in the game
            int* current_players = (int*)(0x50F500);
            // These variables will be used to hold the closest enemy to us
            float closest_player = -1.0f;
            float closest_yaw = 0.0f;
            float closest_pitch = 0.0f;
            // Iterate through all active enemies
            for (int i = 0; i < *current_players; i++) {</pre>
                  DWORD* enemy_list = (DWORD*)(0x50F4F8);
                  DWORD* enemy_offset = (DWORD*)(*enemy_list + (i*4));
                  Player* enemy = (Player*)(*enemy_offset);
                  // Make sure the enemy is valid and alive
                  if (player != NULL && enemy != NULL && !enemy->dead) {
                        // Calculate the absolute position of the enemy away
from us to ensure that our future calculations are correct and based
                        // around the origin
                        float abspos_x = enemy -> x - player -> x;
                        float abspos_y = enemy->y - player->y;
                        float abspos_z = enemy -> z - player -> z;
                        // Calculate our distance from the enemy
```

```
float temp_distance = euclidean_distance(abspos_x,
abspos_y);
                        // If this is the closest enemy so far, calculate the
yaw and pitch to aim at them
                        if (closest_player == -1.0f || temp_distance <
closest_player) {
                              closest_player = temp_distance;
                              // Calculate the yaw
                              float azimuth_xy = atan2f(abspos_y, abspos_x);
                              // Convert to degrees
                              float yaw = (float)(azimuth_xy * (180.0 /
M_PI));
                              // Add 90 since the game assumes direct north
is 90 degrees
                              closest_yaw = yaw + 90;
                              // Calculate the pitch
                              // Since Z values are so limited, pick the
larger between x and y to ensure that we
                              // don't look straight at the air when close to
an enemy
                              if (abspos_y < 0) {
                                    abspos_y *= -1;
                              }
                              if (abspos_y < 5) {
                                    if (abspos_x < 0) {
                                          abspos_x *= -1;
                                    }
                                    abspos_y = abspos_x;
                              }
                              float azimuth_z = atan2f(abspos_z, abspos_y);
                              // Covert the value to degrees
                              closest_pitch = (float)(azimuth_z * (180.0 /
M_PI));
                        }
                  }
            }
            // When our loop ends, set our yaw and pitch to the closst values
            player -> yaw = closest_yaw;
            player->pitch = closest_pitch;
            // So our thread doesn't constantly run, we have it pause
execution for a millisecond.
```

```
// This allows the processor to schedule other tasks.
Sleep(1);
}
// When our DLL is loaded, create a thread in the process that will handle
the aimbot code
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
    if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
        CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)injected_thread,
NULL, 0, NULL);
    }
    return true;
}
```

A.13 Assault Cube No Recoil

Referenced in Chapter 5.7.

A hack for Assault Cube 1.2.0.2 that removes all recoil when firing a weapon.

This is done by modifying the game's code responsible for setting the player's recoil. By changing the final instruction, which changes the value of the player's yaw, to instead pop a value that is ignored, the player's yaw is never modified.

This must be injected into the Assault Cube process to work. One way to do this is to use a DLL injector. Another way is to enable AppInit_DLLs in the registry.

#include <Windows.h>

// The new opcodes to write into the game's code
unsigned char new_bytes[3] = { 0xDD, 0xD8, 0x90 };

```
// When our DLL is attached, first unprotect the memory responsible for
adding recoil in the game
// Then, write our new opcodes into that memory location
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
ł
      DWORD old_protect;
      unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x45BAAD;
      if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
            VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 3, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
            for (int i = 0; i < sizeof(new_bytes); i++) {</pre>
                  *(hook_location + i) = new_bytes[i];
            }
      }
      return true;
}
```

A.14 Assault Cube ESP

Referenced in Chapter 5.9.

An ESP for Assault Cube 1.2.0.2 that displays information about enemy players above their heads.

It works by iterating over the enemy list and calculating the yaw and pitch required to aim at that enemy using arctangents. This part of the code is taken from the aimbot code.

The difference between the calculated yaw and pitch and our player's yaw and pitch is then used to derive the screen coordinates of the enemy. This is done by adding the difference multiplied by a scaling factor to the middle of the screen. This must be injected into the Assault Cube process to work. One way to do this is to use a DLL injector. Another way is to enable AppInit_DLLs in the registry.

```
#include <Windows.h>
#include <math.h>
// The atan2f function produces a radian. To convert it to degrees, we need
the value of pi
#define M_PI 3.14159265358979323846
// The maximum amount of players in an Assault Cube
#define MAX_PLAYERS 32
// The player structure for every player in the game
struct Player {
      char unknown1[4];
      float x;
      float y;
      float z:
      char unknown2[0x30];
      float yaw;
      float pitch;
      char unknown3[0x1DD];
      char name[16];
};
// Our player
Player* player = NULL;
DWORD ret_address = 0x0040BE83;
DWORD text_address = 0x419880;
// Our temporary variables for our print text code cave
const char* text = "";
const char* empty_text = "";
DWORD x = 0;
DWORD y = 0;
// List of calculated ESP values
DWORD x_values[MAX_PLAYERS] = { 0 };
DWORD y_values[MAX_PLAYERS] = { 0 };
char* names[MAX_PLAYERS] = { NULL };
int* current_players;
```

```
// Our code cave responsible for printing text
__declspec(naked) void codecave() {
      current_players = (int*)(0x50F500);
      // First, recreate the original function we hooked but set the text to
empty
      __asm {
            mov ecx, empty_text
            call text_address
            pushad
      }
      // Next, loop through all the current players in the game
      for (int i = 1; i < *current_players; i++) {</pre>
            // Store the calculated screen positions in temporary variables
            x = x_values[i];
            y = y_values[i];
            text = names[i];
            // Make sure our text is on screen
            if (x > 2400 || x < 0 || y < 0 || y > 1800) {
                  text = "";
            }
            x += 200;
            // Invoke the print text function to display the text
            __asm {
                  mov ecx, text
                  push y
                  push x
                  call text_address
                  add esp, 8
            }
      }
      // Restore the registers and jump back to the original code
      __asm {
            popad
            jmp ret_address
      }
}
// This thread contains all of the code for calculating our ESP screen
positions
```

```
void injected_thread() {
      while (true) {
            // First, grab the current position and view angles of our player
            DWORD* player_offset = (DWORD*)(0x509B74);
            player = (Player*)(*player_offset);
            // Then, get the current number of players in the game
            current_players = (int*)(0x50F500);
            // Iterate through all active enemies
            for (int i = 1; i < *current_players; i++) {</pre>
                  DWORD* enemy_list = (DWORD*)(0x50F4F8);
                  DWORD* enemy_offset = (DWORD*)(*enemy_list + (i*4));
                  Player* enemy = (Player*)(*enemy_offset);
                  // Make sure the enemy is valid
                  if (player != NULL && enemy != NULL) {
                        // Calculate the absolute position of the enemy away
from us to ensure that our future calculations are correct and based
                        // around the origin
                        float abspos_x = enemy ->x - player ->x;
                        float abspos_y = enemy->y - player->y;
                        float abspos_z = enemy -> z - player -> z;
                        // Calculate the yaw
                        float azimuth_xy = atan2f(abspos_y, abspos_x);
                        // Convert to degrees
                        float yaw = (float)(azimuth_xy * (180.0 / M_PI));
                        // Add 90 since the game assumes direct north is 90
degrees
                        yaw += 90;
                        // Calculate the difference between our current yaw
and the calculated yaw to the enemy
                        float yaw_dif = player->yaw - yaw;
                        // If we are near the 275 angle boundary, our yaw_dif
will be too large, causing our text to appear incorrectly
                        // To compensate for that, subtract the yaw_dif from
360 if it is over 180, since our viewport can never show 180 degrees
                        if (yaw_dif > 180) {
                              yaw_dif = yaw_dif - 360;
                        }
                        if (yaw_dif < -180) {
```

```
yaw_dif = yaw_dif + 360;
                        }
                        // Calculate our X value by adding the yaw_dif times
a scaling factor to the center of the screen horizontally (1200)
                        x_values[i] = (DWORD)(1200 + (yaw_dif * -30));
                        // Calculate the pitch
                        // Since Z values are so limited, pick the larger
between x and y to ensure that we
                        // don't look straight at the air when close to an
enemy
                        if (abspos_y < 0) {
                              abspos_y *= -1;
                        }
                        if (abspos_y < 5) {
                              if (abspos_x < 0) {
                                    abspos_x *= -1;
                              }
                              abspos_y = abspos_x;
                        }
                        float azimuth_z = atan2f(abspos_z, abspos_y);
                        // Covert the value to degrees
                        float pitch = (float)(azimuth_z * (180.0 / M_PI));
                        // Same as above but for pitch
                        float pitch_dif = player->pitch - pitch;
                        // Calculate our Y value by adding the pitch_dif
times a scaling factor to the center of the screen vertically (900)
                        y_values[i] = (DWORD)(900 + ((pitch_dif) * 25));
                        // Set the name to the enemy name
                        names[i] = enemy->name;
                  }
            }
            // So our thread doesn't constantly run, we have it pause
execution for a millisecond.
            // This allows the processor to schedule other tasks.
            Sleep(1);
      }
}
```

```
// When our DLL is loaded, create a thread in the process that will handle
the aimbot code
// Then, create a code cave for our print text function
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
      DWORD old_protect;
      unsigned char* hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x0040BE7E;
      if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
            CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)injected_thread,
NULL, 0, NULL);
            VirtualProtect((void*)hook_location, 5, PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE,
&old_protect);
            *hook_location = 0xE9;
            *(DWORD*)(hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&codecave -
((DWORD)hook_location + 5);
      }
      return true;
}
```

A.15 Assault Cube Multihack

Referenced in Chapter 5.10.

Combined

The initial starting point of the multihack code, in which we combine all the various source code we had from the previous lessons into one massive file.

```
#include <Windows.h>
#include <math.h>
```

```
#define M_PI 3.14159265358979323846
#define MAX_PLAYERS 32
HMODULE openGLHandle = NULL;
void(__stdcall* glDepthFunc)(unsigned int) = NULL;
unsigned char* opengl_hook_location;
DWORD opengl_ret_address = 0;
DWORD triggerbot_ori_call_address = 0x4607C0;
DWORD triggerbot_ori_jump_address = 0x0040ADA2;
INPUT input = \{0\};
DWORD edi_value = 0;
// The player structure for every player in the game
struct Player {
      char unknown1[4];
      float x;
      float y;
      float z:
      char unknown2[0x30];
      float yaw;
      float pitch;
      char unknown3[0x1DD];
      char name [16];
      char unknown4[0x103];
      int dead;
};
// Our player
Player* player = NULL;
DWORD esp_ret_address = 0x0040BE83;
DWORD text_address = 0x419880;
// Our temporary variables for our print text code cave
const char* text = "";
const char* empty_text = "";
DWORD x = 0;
DWORD y = 0;
// List of calculated ESP values
DWORD x_values[MAX_PLAYERS] = { 0 };
DWORD y_values[MAX_PLAYERS] = { 0 };
char* names[MAX_PLAYERS] = { NULL };
```

```
int* current_players;
DWORD old_protect;
// Function to calculate the euclidean distance between two points
float euclidean_distance(float x, float y) {
      return sqrtf((x * x) + (y * y));
}
// Code cave responsible for disabling depth testing on models
__declspec(naked) void opengl_codecave() {
      __asm {
            pushad
      }
      (*glDepthFunc)(0x207);
      // Restore the original instruction and jump back
      __asm {
            popad
            mov esi, dword ptr ds : [esi + 0xA18]
            jmp openal_ret_address
      }
}
// The injected thread responsible for creating our hooks for OpenGL
void opengl_thread() {
      while (true) {
            // Since OpenGL will be loaded dynamically into the process, our
thread needs to wait
            // until it sees that the OpenGL module has been loaded.
            if (openGLHandle == NULL) {
                  openGLHandle = GetModuleHandle(L"opengl32.dll");
            }
            if (openGLHandle != NULL && glDepthFunc == NULL) {
                  glDepthFunc = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned
int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDepthFunc");
                  // Then we find the location of glDrawElements and offset
to an instruction that is easy to hook
                  opengl_hook_location = (unsigned
char*)GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDrawElements");
                  opengl_hook_location += 0x16;
```

```
// For the hook, we unprotect the memory at the code we
wish to write at
                  // Then set the first opcode to E9, or jump
                  // Caculate the location using the formula: new_location -
original_location+5
                  // And finally, since the first original instructions
totalled 6 bytes, NOP out the last remaining byte
                  VirtualProtect((void*)opengl_hook_location, 5,
PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE, &old_protect);
                  *opengl_hook_location = 0xE9;
                  *(DWORD*)(opengl_hook_location + 1) =
(DWORD)&opengl_codecave - ((DWORD)opengl_hook_location + 5);
                  *(opengl_hook_location + 5) = 0x90;
                  // Since OpenGL is loaded dynamically, we need to
dynamically calculate the return address
                  opengl_ret_address = (DWORD)(opengl_hook_location + 0x6);
            }
            else {
                  break;
            }
            // So our thread doesn't constantly run, we have it pause
execution for a millisecond.
            // This allows the processor to schedule other tasks.
            Sleep(1);
      }
}
// Our triggerbot code cave
__declspec(naked) void triggerbot_codecave() {
      // Asm blocks allow you to write pure assembly
      // In this case, we use it to call the function we hooked and save all
the registers
      // After we make the call, we move its return value in eax into a
variable
      __asm {
            call triggerbot_ori_call_address
            pushad
            mov edi_value, eax
      }
      // If the result of the call is not zero, then we are looking at a
player
```

```
// Create a mouse event to simulate the left mouse button being pressed
down and send it to the game
      // Otherwise, raise the mouse button up so we stop firing
      if (edi_value != 0) {
            input.type = INPUT_MOUSE;
            input.mi.dwFlags = MOUSEEVENTF_LEFTDOWN;
            SendInput(1, &input, sizeof(INPUT));
      }
      else {
            input.type = INPUT_MOUSE;
            input.mi.dwFlags = MOUSEEVENTF_LEFTUP;
            SendInput(1, &input, sizeof(INPUT));
      }
      // Restore the registers and jump back to original code
      _asm {
            popad
            jmp triggerbot_ori_jump_address
      }
}
// Our code cave responsible for printing text
__declspec(naked) void esp_codecave() {
      current_players = (int^*)(0x50F500);
      // First, recreate the original function we hooked but set the text to
empty
      __asm {
            mov ecx, empty_text
            call text_address
            pushad
      }
      // Next, loop through all the current players in the game
      for (int i = 1; i < *current_players; i++) {</pre>
            // Store the calculated screen positions in temporary variables
            x = x_values[i];
            y = y_values[i];
            text = names[i];
            // Make sure our text is on screen
            if (x > 2400 || x < 0 || y < 0 || y > 1800) {
                  text = "";
            }
```

```
// Invoke the print text function to display the text
            __asm {
                  mov ecx, text
                  push y
                  push x
                  call text address
                  add esp, 8
            }
      }
      // Restore the registers and jump back to the original code
      __asm {
            popad
            jmp esp_ret_address
      }
}
// This thread contains all of our aimbot and ESP code
void aimbot_thread() {
      while (true) {
            // First, grab the current position and view angles of our player
            DWORD* player_offset = (DWORD*)(0x509B74);
            player = (Player*)(*player_offset);
            // Then, get the current number of players in the game
            int* current_players = (int*)(0x50F500);
            // These variables will be used to hold the closest enemy to us
            float closest_player = -1.0f;
            float closest_yaw = 0.0f;
            float closest_pitch = 0.0f;
            // Iterate through all active enemies
            for (int i = 0; i < *current_players; i++) {</pre>
                  DWORD* enemy_list = (DWORD*)(0x50F4F8);
                  DWORD* enemy_offset = (DWORD*)(*enemy_list + (i * 4));
                  Player* enemy = (Player*)(*enemy_offset);
                  // Make sure the enemy is valid and alive
                  if (player != NULL && enemy != NULL) {
                        // Calculate the absolute position of the enemy away
from us to ensure that our future calculations are correct and based
                        // around the origin
```

```
float abspos_x = enemy ->x - player ->x;
                        float abspos_y = enemy->y - player->y;
                        float abspos_z = enemy -> z - player -> z;
                        // Calculate our distance from the enemy
                        float temp_distance = euclidean_distance(abspos_x,
abspos_y);
                        // If this is the closest enemy so far, calculate the
yaw and pitch to aim at them
                        float azimuth_xy = atan2f(abspos_y, abspos_x);
                        float yaw = (float)(azimuth_xy * (180.0 / M_PI));
                        yaw += 90;
                        // Calculate the difference between our current yaw
and the calculated yaw to the enemy
                        float yaw_dif = player->yaw - yaw;
                        // If we are near the 275 angle boundary, our yaw_dif
will be too large, causing our text to appear incorrectly
                        // To compensate for that, subtract the yaw_dif from
360 if it is over 180, since our viewport can never show 180 degrees
                        if (yaw_dif > 180) {
                              yaw_dif = yaw_dif - 360;
                        }
                        if (yaw_dif < -180) {
                              yaw_dif = yaw_dif + 360;
                        }
                        // Calculate our X value by adding the yaw_dif times
a scaling factor to the center of the screen horizontally (1200)
                        x_values[i] = (DWORD)(1200 + (yaw_dif * -30));
                        // Calculate the pitch
                        // Since Z values are so limited, pick the larger
between x and y to ensure that we
                        // don't look straight at the air when close to an
enemy
                        if (abspos_y < 0) {
                              abspos_y *= -1;
                        if (abspos_y < 5) {
                              if (abspos_x < 0) {
                                    abspos_x *= -1;
```

} abspos_y = abspos_x; } float azimuth_z = atan2f(abspos_z, abspos_y); float pitch = (float)(azimuth_z * (180.0 / M_PI)); // Same as above but for pitch float pitch_dif = player->pitch - pitch; // Calculate our Y value by adding the pitch_dif times a scaling factor to the center of the screen vertically (900) y_values[i] = (DWORD)(900 + ((pitch_dif) * 25)); // Set the name to the enemy name names[i] = enemy->name; if ((closest_player == -1.0f || temp_distance < closest_player) && !enemy->dead) { closest_player = temp_distance; $closest_yaw = yaw;$ closest_pitch = pitch; } } } // When our loop ends, set our yaw and pitch to the closst values $player -> yaw = closest_yaw;$ player->pitch = closest_pitch; // So our thread doesn't constantly run, we have it pause execution for a millisecond. // This allows the processor to schedule other tasks. Sleep(1); } } // When our DLL is loaded, create a thread in the process to create the hook // We need to do this as our DLL might be loaded before OpenGL is loaded by the process // Also create the aimbot and ESP thread and hook the locations for the triggerbot and printing text BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved) { unsigned char* triggerbot_hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x0040AD9D; unsigned char* esp_hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x0040BE7E;

```
if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
            CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)opengl_thread,
NULL, 0, NULL);
            CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)aimbot_thread,
NULL, 0, NULL);
            VirtualProtect((void*)triggerbot_hook_location, 5,
PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE, &old_protect);
            *triggerbot_hook_location = 0xE9;
            *(DWORD*)(triggerbot_hook_location + 1) =
(DWORD)&triggerbot_codecave - ((DWORD)triggerbot_hook_location + 5);
            VirtualProtect((void*)esp_hook_location, 5,
PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE, &old_protect);
            esp_hook_location = 0xE9;
            *(DWORD*)(esp_hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&esp_codecave -
((DWORD)esp_hook_location + 5);
      }
      return true;
}
```

First Refactor

Our first refactor of the multihack code, in which we break out the triggerbot functionality to its own class.

Header/Triggerbot.h

```
#pragma once
#include <Windows.h>
class Triggerbot {
    private:
        INPUT input = { 0 };
    public:
        Triggerbot();
        void execute(int isLookingAtEnemy);
};
```

Source/Triggerbot.cpp

```
#include <Windows.h>
#include "Triggerbot.h"
Triggerbot::Triggerbot() {
      input = \{0\};
}
// If isLookingAtEnemy is not zero, then we are looking at a player
// Create a mouse event to simulate the left mouse button being pressed down
and send it to the game
// Otherwise, raise the mouse button up so we stop firing
void Triggerbot::execute(int isLookingAtEnemy) {
      if (isLookingAtEnemy != 0) {
            input.type = INPUT_MOUSE;
            input.mi.dwFlags = MOUSEEVENTF_LEFTDOWN;
            SendInput(1, &input, sizeof(INPUT));
      }
      else {
            input.type = INPUT_MOUSE;
            input.mi.dwFlags = MOUSEEVENTF_LEFTUP;
            SendInput(1, &input, sizeof(INPUT));
      }
}
```

Source/main.cpp

```
#include <Windows.h>
#include <math.h>
#include "Triggerbot.h"
#define M_PI 3.14159265358979323846
#define MAX_PLAYERS 32
// Our triggerbot class
Triggerbot *triggerbot;
HMODULE openGLHandle = NULL;
void(__stdcall* glDepthFunc)(unsigned int) = NULL;
unsigned char* opengl_hook_location;
DWORD opengl_ret_address = 0;
DWORD triggerbot_ori_call_address = 0x4607C0;
```

```
DWORD triggerbot_ori_jump_address = 0x0040ADA2;
DWORD edi_value = 0;
// The player structure for every player in the game
struct Player {
      char unknown1[4];
      float x;
      float y;
      float z;
      char unknown2[0x30];
      float yaw;
      float pitch;
      char unknown3[0x1DD];
      char name[16];
      char unknown4[0x103];
      int dead;
};
// Our player
Player* player = NULL;
DWORD esp_ret_address = 0x0040BE83;
DWORD text_address = 0x419880;
// Our temporary variables for our print text code cave
const char* text = "";
const char* empty_text = "";
DWORD x = 0;
DWORD y = 0;
// List of calculated ESP values
DWORD x_values[MAX_PLAYERS] = \{ 0 \};
DWORD y_values[MAX_PLAYERS] = { 0 };
char* names[MAX_PLAYERS] = { NULL };
int* current_players;
DWORD old_protect;
// Function to calculate the euclidean distance between two points
float euclidean_distance(float x, float y) {
      return sqrtf((x * x) + (y * y));
}
```

```
// Our glDrawElements code cave responsible for our wallhack
__declspec(naked) void openal_codecave() {
      __asm {
            pushad
      }
      (*glDepthFunc)(0x207);
      // Finally, restore the original instruction and jump back
      __asm {
            popad
            mov esi, dword ptr ds : [esi + 0xA18]
            jmp opengl_ret_address
      }
}
// The injected thread responsible for creating our OpenGL hooks
void opengl_thread() {
     while (true) {
            // Since OpenGL will be loaded dynamically into the process, our
thread needs to wait
            // until it sees that the OpenGL module has been loaded.
            if (openGLHandle == NULL) {
                  openGLHandle = GetModuleHandle(L"opengl32.dll");
            }
            if (openGLHandle != NULL && glDepthFunc == NULL) {
                  glDepthFunc = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned
int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDepthFunc");
                  // Then we find the location of glDrawElements and offset
to an instruction that is easy to hook
                  opengl_hook_location = (unsigned
char*)GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDrawElements");
                  opengl_hook_location += 0x16;
                  // For the hook, we unprotect the memory at the code we
wish to write at
                  // Then set the first opcode to E9, or jump
                  // Caculate the location using the formula: new_location -
original_location+5
                  // And finally, since the first original instructions
totalled 6 bytes, NOP out the last remaining byte
                  VirtualProtect((void*)opengl_hook_location, 5,
PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE, &old_protect);
```

```
*opengl_hook_location = 0xE9;
                  *(DWORD*)(opengl_hook_location + 1) =
(DWORD)&opengl_codecave - ((DWORD)opengl_hook_location + 5);
                  *(opengl_hook_location + 5) = 0x90;
                  // Since OpenGL is loaded dynamically, we need to
dynamically calculate the return address
                  opengl_ret_address = (DWORD)(opengl_hook_location + 0x6);
            }
            else {
                  break;
            }
            // So our thread doesn't constantly run, we have it pause
execution for a millisecond.
            // This allows the processor to schedule other tasks.
            Sleep(1);
      }
}
// Our triggerbot code cave
__declspec(naked) void triggerbot_codecave() {
      // Restore the original call and get the value of edi, which holds
whether we are looking at a player
      __asm {
            call triggerbot_ori_call_address
            pushad
            mov edi_value, eax
      }
      // Pass this information off to the triggerbot instance to determine
what to do
      triggerbot->execute(edi_value);
      // Restore the registers and jump back to original code
      _asm {
            popad
            jmp triggerbot_ori_jump_address
      }
}
// Our code cave responsible for printing text
__declspec(naked) void esp_codecave() {
      current_players = (int*)(0x50F500);
```

```
// First, recreate the original function we hooked but set the text to
empty
      __asm {
            mov ecx, empty_text
            call text_address
            pushad
      }
      // Next, loop through all the current players in the game
      for (int i = 1; i < *current_players; i++) {</pre>
            // Store the calculated screen positions in temporary variables
            x = x_values[i];
            y = y_values[i];
            text = names[i];
            // Make sure our text is on screen
            if (x > 2400 || x < 0 || y < 0 || y > 1800) {
                  text = "";
            }
            // Invoke the print text function to display the text
            __asm {
                  mov ecx, text
                  push y
                  push x
                  call text_address
                  add esp, 8
            }
      }
      // Restore the registers and jump back to the original code
      __asm {
            popad
            jmp esp_ret_address
      }
}
// This thread contains all of our aimbot and ESP code
void aimbot_thread() {
      while (true) {
            // First, grab the current position and view angles of our player
            DWORD* player_offset = (DWORD*)(0x509B74);
            player = (Player*)(*player_offset);
```

```
// Then, get the current number of players in the game
            int* current_players = (int*)(0x50F500);
            // These variables will be used to hold the closest enemy to us
            float closest_player = -1.0f;
            float closest_yaw = 0.0f;
            float closest_pitch = 0.0f;
            // Iterate through all active enemies
            for (int i = 0; i < *current_players; i++) {
                  DWORD* enemy_list = (DWORD*)(0x50F4F8);
                  DWORD* enemy_offset = (DWORD*)(*enemy_list + (i * 4));
                  Player* enemy = (Player*)(*enemy_offset);
                  // Make sure the enemy is valid and alive
                  if (player != NULL && enemy != NULL) {
                        // Calculate the absolute position of the enemy away
from us to ensure that our future calculations are correct and based
                        // around the origin
                        float abspos_x = enemy ->x - player ->x;
                        float abspos_y = enemy->y - player->y;
                        float abspos_z = enemy -> z - player -> z;
                        // Calculate our distance from the enemy
                        float temp_distance = euclidean_distance(abspos_x,
abspos_y);
                        // If this is the closest enemy so far, calculate the
yaw and pitch to aim at them
                        float azimuth_xy = atan2f(abspos_y, abspos_x);
                        float yaw = (float)(azimuth_xy * (180.0 / M_PI));
                        yaw += 90;
                        // Calculate the difference between our current yaw
and the calculated yaw to the enemy
                        float yaw_dif = player->yaw - yaw;
                        // If we are near the 275 angle boundary, our yaw_dif
will be too large, causing our text to appear incorrectly
                        // To compensate for that, subtract the yaw_dif from
360 if it is over 180, since our viewport can never show 180 degrees
                        if (yaw_dif > 180) {
                              yaw_dif = yaw_dif - 360;
                        }
```

```
if (yaw_dif < -180) {
                              yaw_dif = yaw_dif + 360;
                        }
                        // Calculate our X value by adding the yaw_dif times
a scaling factor to the center of the screen horizontally (1200)
                        x_values[i] = (DWORD)(1200 + (yaw_dif * -30));
                        // Calculate the pitch
                        // Since Z values are so limited, pick the larger
between x and y to ensure that we
                        // don't look straight at the air when close to an
enemy
                        if (abspos_y < 0) {
                              abspos_y *= -1;
                        if (abspos_y < 5) {
                              if (abspos_x < 0) {
                                    abspos_x *= -1;
                              }
                              abspos_y = abspos_x;
                        }
                        float azimuth_z = atan2f(abspos_z, abspos_y);
                        float pitch = (float)(azimuth_z * (180.0 / M_PI));
                        // Same as above but for pitch
                        float pitch_dif = player->pitch - pitch;
                        // Calculate our Y value by adding the pitch_dif
times a scaling factor to the center of the screen vertically (900)
                        y_values[i] = (DWORD)(900 + ((pitch_dif) * 25));
                        // Set the name to the enemy name
                        names[i] = enemy->name;
                        if ((closest_player == -1.0f || temp_distance <
closest_player) && !enemy->dead) {
                              closest_player = temp_distance;
                              closest_yaw = yaw;
                              closest_pitch = pitch;
                        }
                  }
            }
            // When our loop ends, set our yaw and pitch to the closst values
```

```
player->yaw = closest_yaw;
            player->pitch = closest_pitch;
            // So our thread doesn't constantly run, we have it pause
execution for a millisecond.
            // This allows the processor to schedule other tasks.
            Sleep(1);
      }
}
// When our DLL is loaded, create a thread in the process to create the hook
// We need to do this as our DLL might be loaded before OpenGL is loaded by
the process
// Also create the aimbot and ESP thread and hook the locations for the
triggerbot and printing text
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
      unsigned char* triggerbot_hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x0040AD9D;
      unsigned char* esp_hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x0040BE7E;
      if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
            // Create our triggerbot
            triggerbot = new Triggerbot();
            CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)opengl_thread,
NULL, 0, NULL);
            CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)aimbot_thread,
NULL, 0, NULL);
            VirtualProtect((void*)triggerbot_hook_location, 5,
PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE, &old_protect);
            *triggerbot_hook_location = 0xE9;
            *(DWORD*)(triggerbot_hook_location + 1) =
(DWORD)&triggerbot_codecave - ((DWORD)triggerbot_hook_location + 5);
            VirtualProtect((void*)esp_hook_location, 5,
PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE, &old_protect);
            esp_hook_location = 0xE9;
            (DWORD^{*})(esp_hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&esp_codecave -
((DWORD)esp_hook_location + 5);
      }
      else if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_DETACH) {
            delete triggerbot;
      }
```

}

Refactor Finished

The complete code for the multihack after the refactor is finished.

Header/Triggerbot.h - Unchanged from First Refactor

Header/constants.h

```
#pragma once
#include <Windows.h>
DWORD triggerbot_ori_call_address = 0x4607C0;
DWORD triggerbot_ori_jump_address = 0x0040ADA2;
DWORD esp_ret_address = 0x0040BE83;
DWORD text_address = 0x419880;
const char* empty_text = "";
```

Header/PlayerGeometry.h

```
#pragma once
#include <Windows.h>
#define M_PI 3.14159265358979323846
#define MAX_PLAYERS 32
// The player structure for every player in the game
struct Player {
    char unknown1[4];
    float x;
    float y;
    float z;
    char unknown2[0x30];
    float yaw;
    float pitch;
    char unknown3[0x1DD];
```

```
char name[16];
      char unknown4[0x103];
      int dead;
};
class PlayerGeometry {
private:
      DWORD player_offset_address;
      DWORD enemy_list_address;
      DWORD current_players_address;
      float closest_yaw;
      float closest_pitch;
      Player* player;
      float euclidean_distance(float, float);
public:
      DWORD x_values[MAX_PLAYERS] = { 0 };
      DWORD y_values[MAX_PLAYERS] = { 0 };
      char* names[MAX_PLAYERS] = { NULL };
      int* current_players;
      PlayerGeometry(DWORD, DWORD, DWORD);
      void update();
      void set_player_view();
};
```

Source/Triggerbot.cpp - Unchanged from First Refactor

Source/PlayerGeometry.cpp

```
#include <Windows.h>
#include <math.h>
#include "PlayerGeometry.h"
PlayerGeometry::PlayerGeometry(DWORD p_address, DWORD e_address, DWORD
cp_address) {
    player_offset_address = p_address;
    enemy_list_address = e_address;
    current_players_address = cp_address;
}
```

```
// Function to calculate the euclidean distance between two points
float PlayerGeometry::euclidean_distance(float x, float y) {
      return sqrtf((x * x) + (y * y));
}
void PlayerGeometry::update() {
      // First, grab the current position and view angles of our player
      DWORD* player_offset = (DWORD*)(player_offset_address);
      player = (Player*)(*player_offset);
      // Then, get the current number of players in the game
      current_players = (int*)(0x50F500);
      float closest_player = -1.0f;
      closest_yaw = 0.0f;
      closest_pitch = 0.0f;
      // Iterate through all active enemies
      for (int i = 0; i < *current_players; i++) {</pre>
            DWORD* enemy_list = (DWORD*)(0x50F4F8);
            DWORD* enemy_offset = (DWORD*)(*enemy_list + (i * 4));
            Player* enemy = (Player*)(*enemy_offset);
            // Make sure the enemy is valid and alive
            if (player != NULL && enemy != NULL) {
                  // Calculate the absolute position of the enemy away from
us to ensure that our future calculations are correct and based
                  // around the origin
                  float abspos_x = enemy -> x - player -> x;
                  float abspos_y = enemy->y - player->y;
                  float abspos_z = enemy -> z - player -> z;
                  // Calculate our distance from the enemy
                  float temp_distance = euclidean_distance(abspos_x,
abspos_y);
                  // If this is the closest enemy so far, calculate the yaw
and pitch to aim at them
                  float azimuth_xy = atan2f(abspos_y, abspos_x);
                  float yaw = (float)(azimuth_xy * (180.0 / M_PI));
                  yaw += 90;
                  // Calculate the difference between our current yaw and the
calculated yaw to the enemy
```

```
float yaw_dif = player->yaw - yaw;
                  // If we are near the 275 angle boundary, our yaw_dif will
be too large, causing our text to appear incorrectly
                  // To compensate for that, subtract the yaw_dif from 360 if
it is over 180, since our viewport can never show 180 degrees
                  if (yaw_dif > 180) {
                        yaw_dif = yaw_dif - 360;
                  }
                  if (yaw_dif < -180) {
                        yaw_dif = yaw_dif + 360;
                  }
                  // Calculate our X value by adding the yaw_dif times a
scaling factor to the center of the screen horizontally (1200)
                  x_values[i] = (DWORD)(1200 + (yaw_dif * -30));
                  // Calculate the pitch
                  // Since Z values are so limited, pick the larger between x
and y to ensure that we
                  // don't look straight at the air when close to an enemy
                  if (abspos_y < 0) {
                        abspos_y *= -1;
                  }
                  if (abspos_y < 5) {
                        if (abspos_x < 0) {
                              abspos_x *= -1;
                        }
                        abspos_y = abspos_x;
                  }
                  float azimuth_z = atan2f(abspos_z, abspos_y);
                  float pitch = (float)(azimuth_z * (180.0 / M_PI));
                  // Same as above but for pitch
                  float pitch_dif = player->pitch - pitch;
                  // Calculate our Y value by adding the pitch_dif times a
scaling factor to the center of the screen vertically (900)
                  y_values[i] = (DWORD)(900 + ((pitch_dif) * 25));
                  // Set the name to the enemy name
                  names[i] = enemy->name;
                  if ((closest_player == -1.0f || temp_distance <
closest_player) && !enemy->dead) {
```
Source/main.cpp

```
#include <Windows.h>
#include "constants.h"
#include "Triggerbot.h"
#include "PlayerGeometry.h"
Triggerbot *triggerbot;
PlayerGeometry *playerGeometry;
HMODULE openGLHandle = NULL;
void(__stdcall* glDepthFunc)(unsigned int) = NULL;
DWORD opengl_ret_address = 0;
DWORD edi_value = 0;
// Our temporary variables for our print text code cave
const char* text = "";
DWORD x;
DWORD y;
DWORD old_protect;
// Code cave responsible for disabling depth testing on models
__declspec(naked) void opengl_codecave() {
      __asm {
            pushad
      }
```

```
(*glDepthFunc)(0x207);
      // Finally, restore the original instruction and jump back
      __asm {
            popad
            mov esi, dword ptr ds : [esi + 0xA18]
            jmp opengl_ret_address
      }
}
// Code cave responsible for our triggerbot
__declspec(naked) void triggerbot_codecave() {
      // Asm blocks allow you to write pure assembly
      // In this case, we use it to call the function we hooked and save all
the registers
      // After we make the call, we move its return value in eax into a
variable
      __asm {
            call triggerbot_ori_call_address
            pushad
            mov edi_value, eax
      }
      triggerbot->execute(edi_value);
      // Restore the registers and jump back to original code
      _asm {
            popad
            jmp triggerbot_ori_jump_address
      }
}
// Our code cave responsible for printing text
__declspec(naked) void text_codecave() {
      // First, recreate the original function we hooked but set the text to
empty
      __asm {
            mov ecx, empty_text
            call text address
            pushad
      }
      // Next, loop through all the current players in the game
      for (int i = 1; i < *playerGeometry->current_players; i++) {
            // Store the calculated screen positions in temporary variables
```

```
x = playerGeometry->x_values[i];
            y = playerGeometry->y_values[i];
            text = playerGeometry->names[i];
            // Make sure our text is on screen
            if (x > 2400 || x < 0 || y < 0 || y > 1800) {
                  text = "";
            }
            // Invoke the print text function to display the text
            __asm {
                  mov ecx, text
                  push y
                  push x
                  call text address
                  add esp, 8
            }
      }
      // Restore the registers and jump back to the original code
      __asm {
            popad
            jmp esp_ret_address
      }
}
// This thread contains all of our aimbot, ESP, and OpenGL hooking code
void injected_thread() {
      while (true) {
            if (openGLHandle == NULL) {
                  openGLHandle = GetModuleHandle(L"opengl32.dll");
            }
            if (openGLHandle != NULL && glDepthFunc == NULL) {
                  glDepthFunc = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned
int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDepthFunc");
                  // Then we find the location of glDrawElements and offset
to an instruction that is easy to hook
                  unsigned char *opengl_hook_location = (unsigned
char*)GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDrawElements");
                  opengl_hook_location += 0x16;
```

```
// For the hook, we unprotect the memory at the code we
wish to write at
                  // Then set the first opcode to E9, or jump
                  // Caculate the location using the formula: new_location -
original_location+5
                  // And finally, since the first original instructions
totalled 6 bytes, NOP out the last remaining byte
                  VirtualProtect((void*)openal_hook_location, 5,
PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE, &old_protect);
                  *opengl_hook_location = 0xE9;
                  *(DWORD*)(opengl_hook_location + 1) =
(DWORD)&opengl_codecave - ((DWORD)opengl_hook_location + 5);
                  (opengl_hook_location + 5) = 0x90;
                  // Since OpenGL is loaded dynamically, we need to
dynamically calculate the return address
                  opengl_ret_address = (DWORD)(opengl_hook_location + 0x6);
            }
            playerGeometry->update();
            playerGeometry->set_player_view();
            // So our thread doesn't constantly run, we have it pause
execution for a millisecond.
            // This allows the processor to schedule other tasks.
            Sleep(1);
      }
}
// When our DLL is loaded, create a thread in the process to create the hook
// We need to do this as our DLL might be loaded before OpenGL is loaded by
the process
// Also create the aimbot and ESP thread and hook the locations for the
triggerbot and printing text
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
      unsigned char* triggerbot_hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x0040AD9D;
      unsigned char* text_hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x0040BE7E;
      if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
            triggerbot = new Triggerbot();
            playerGeometry = new PlayerGeometry(0x509B74, 0x50F4F8,
0x50F500);
```

CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)injected_thread, NULL, 0, NULL);

```
VirtualProtect((void*)triggerbot_hook_location, 5,
PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE, &old_protect);
            *triggerbot_hook_location = 0xE9;
            *(DWORD*)(triggerbot_hook_location + 1) =
(DWORD)&triggerbot_codecave - ((DWORD)triggerbot_hook_location + 5);
            VirtualProtect((void*)text_hook_location, 5,
PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE, &old_protect);
            *text_hook_location = 0xE9;
            *(DWORD*)(text_hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&text_codecave -
((DWORD)text_hook_location + 5);
      }
      else if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_DETACH) {
            delete triggerbot;
            delete playerGeometry;
      }
      return true;
}
```

Finished

A multihack for Assault Cube 1.2.0.2 that contains the following features:

- Wallhack
- ESP
- Aimbot
- Triggerbot

It also has an interactive menu that allows these features to be toggled on and off. Use the up and down arrows to change the selection, and the left and right arrows to toggle the features.

This must be injected into the Assault Cube process to work. One way to do this is to use a DLL injector. Another way is to enable AppInit_DLLs in the registry.

Header/PlayerGeometry.h - Unchanged from "Refactor Finished"

Header/Triggerbot.h - Unchanged from "Refactor Finished"

Header/constants.h - Unchanged from "Refactor Finished"

Header/Menu.h

```
#pragma once
#define WALLHACK 0
#define ESP 1
#define AIMBOT 2
#define TRIGGERBOT 3
#define MAX_ITEMS 4
class Menu {
private:
      const char on_text[5] = { 0xc, 0x30, '0', 'N', 0 };
      const char off_text[6] = { 0xc, 0x33, '0', 'F', 'F', 0 };
public:
      int cursor_position;
      const char* items[MAX_ITEMS] = { "Wallhack", "ESP", "Aimbot",
"Triggerbot" };
      bool item_enabled[MAX_ITEMS] = { false };
      const char* cursor = ">";
      Menu();
      void handle_input();
      const char* get_state(int);
};
```

Source/Triggerbot.cpp - Unchanged from "Refactor Finished"

Source/PlayerGeometry.cpp - Unchanged from "Refactor Finished"

Source/Menu.cpp

```
#include <Windows.h>
#include "Menu.h"
Menu::Menu() {
    cursor_position = 0;
}
```

```
void Menu::handle_input() {
      if (GetAsyncKeyState(VK_DOWN) & 1) {
            cursor_position++;
      }
      else if (GetAsyncKeyState(VK_UP) & 1) {
            cursor_position--;
      }
      else if ((GetAsyncKeyState(VK_LEFT) & 1) || (GetAsyncKeyState(VK_RIGHT)
& 1)) {
            item_enabled[cursor_position] = !item_enabled[cursor_position];
      }
      if (cursor_position < 0) {</pre>
            cursor_position = 3;
      }
      else if (cursor_position > 3) {
            cursor_position = 0;
      }
}
const char* Menu::get_state(int item) {
      return item_enabled[item] ? on_text : off_text;
}
```

Source/main.cpp

```
#include <Windows.h>
#include "constants.h"
#include "Triggerbot.h"
#include "PlayerGeometry.h"
#include "Menu.h"
Triggerbot *triggerbot;
PlayerGeometry *playerGeometry;
Menu *menu;
HMODULE openGLHandle = NULL;
void(__stdcall* glDepthFunc)(unsigned int) = NULL;
DWORD opengl_ret_address = 0;
DWORD edi_value = 0;
```

```
DWORD old_protect;
// Code cave responsible for disabling depth testing on models
__declspec(naked) void opengl_codecave() {
      __asm {
            pushad
      }
      if (menu->item_enabled[WALLHACK]) {
            (*glDepthFunc)(0x207);
      }
      // Finally, restore the original instruction and jump back
      __asm {
            popad
            mov esi, dword ptr ds : [esi + 0xA18]
            jmp opengl_ret_address
      }
}
// Our triggerbot code cave
__declspec(naked) void triggerbot_codecave() {
      // Asm blocks allow you to write pure assembly
      // In this case, we use it to call the function we hooked and save all
the registers
      // After we make the call, we move its return value in eax into a
variable
      __asm {
            call triggerbot_ori_call_address
            pushad
            mov edi_value, eax
      }
      if (menu->item_enabled[TRIGGERBOT]) {
            triggerbot->execute(edi_value);
      }
      // Restore the registers and jump back to original code
      _asm {
            popad
            jmp triggerbot_ori_jump_address
      }
}
```

```
// A helper function for printing text
void print_text(DWORD x, DWORD y, const char* text) {
      if (x > 2400 || x < 0 || y < 0 || y > 1800) {
            text = "";
      }
      x += 200;
      __asm {
            mov ecx, text
            push y
            push x
            call text_address
            add esp, 8
      }
}
// Our code cave responsible for printing text
__declspec(naked) void text_codecave() {
      // First, recreate the original function we hooked but set the text to
empty
      __asm {
            mov ecx, empty_text
            call text address
            pushad
      }
      for (int i = 0; i < MAX_ITEMS; i++) {
            print_text(50, 250 + (100 * i), menu->items[i]);
            print_text(500, 250 + (100 * i), menu->get_state(i));
      }
      print_text(10, 250 + (100 * menu->cursor_position), menu->cursor);
      if (menu->item_enabled[ESP]) {
            // Next, loop through all the current players in the game
            for (int i = 1; i < *playerGeometry->current_players; i++) {
                  print_text(playerGeometry->x_values[i], playerGeometry-
>y_values[i], playerGeometry->names[i]);
            }
      }
      // Restore the registers and jump back to the original code
      __asm {
            popad
            jmp esp_ret_address
```

```
}
}
// This thread contains all of our aimbot, ESP, and OpenGL hooking code
void injected_thread() {
      while (true) {
            if (openGLHandle == NULL) {
                  openGLHandle = GetModuleHandle(L"opengl32.dll");
            }
            if (openGLHandle != NULL && glDepthFunc == NULL) {
                  glDepthFunc = (void(__stdcall*)(unsigned
int))GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDepthFunc");
                  // Then we find the location of glDrawElements and offset
to an instruction that is easy to hook
                  unsigned char *opengl_hook_location = (unsigned
char*)GetProcAddress(openGLHandle, "glDrawElements");
                  opengl_hook_location += 0x16;
                  // For the hook, we unprotect the memory at the code we
wish to write at
                  // Then set the first opcode to E9, or jump
                  // Caculate the location using the formula: new_location -
original_location+5
                  // And finally, since the first original instructions
totalled 6 bytes, NOP out the last remaining byte
                  VirtualProtect((void*)opengl_hook_location, 5,
PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE, &old_protect);
                  *opengl_hook_location = 0xE9;
                  *(DWORD*)(opengl_hook_location + 1) =
(DWORD)&opengl_codecave - ((DWORD)opengl_hook_location + 5);
                  *(opengl_hook_location + 5) = 0x90;
                  // Since OpenGL is loaded dynamically, we need to
dynamically calculate the return address
                  opengl_ret_address = (DWORD)(opengl_hook_location + 0x6);
            }
            menu->handle_input();
            playerGeometry->update();
            if (menu->item_enabled[AIMBOT]) {
```

```
playerGeometry->set_player_view();
            }
            // So our thread doesn't constantly run, we have it pause
execution for a millisecond.
            // This allows the processor to schedule other tasks.
            Sleep(1);
      }
}
// When our DLL is loaded, create a thread in the process to create the hook
// We need to do this as our DLL might be loaded before OpenGL is loaded by
the process
// Also create the aimbot and ESP thread and hook the locations for the
triggerbot and printing text
BOOL WINAPI DllMain(HINSTANCE hinstDLL, DWORD fdwReason, LPVOID lpvReserved)
{
      unsigned char* triggerbot_hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x0040AD9D;
      unsigned char* text_hook_location = (unsigned char*)0x0040BE7E;
      if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_ATTACH) {
            triggerbot = new Triggerbot();
            playerGeometry = new PlayerGeometry(0x509B74, 0x50F4F8,
0x50F500);
            menu = new Menu();
            CreateThread(NULL, 0, (LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)injected_thread,
NULL, 0, NULL);
            VirtualProtect((void*)triggerbot_hook_location, 5,
PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE, &old_protect);
            *triggerbot_hook_location = 0xE9;
            *(DWORD*)(triggerbot_hook_location + 1) =
(DWORD)&triggerbot_codecave - ((DWORD)triggerbot_hook_location + 5);
            VirtualProtect((void*)text_hook_location, 5,
PAGE_EXECUTE_READWRITE, &old_protect);
            *text_hook_location = 0xE9;
            *(DWORD*)(text_hook_location + 1) = (DWORD)&text_codecave -
((DWORD)text_hook_location + 5);
      }
      else if (fdwReason == DLL_PROCESS_DETACH) {
            delete triggerbot;
            delete playerGeometry;
            delete menu;
```

} r

}

A.16 Wesnoth Multiplayer Bot

Referenced in Chapter 6.2.

An example client that will connect to a local Wesnoth 1.14.9 server with the username *FFFAAAKKKEEE*.

The majority of the code is based on the Winsock example provided by Microsoft: https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/windows/win32/winsock/complete-client-code

```
#include <winsock2.h>
#include <ws2tcpip.h>
#include <stdio.h>
#pragma comment(lib, "Ws2_32.lib")
#define DEFAULT BUFLEN 512
int main(int argc, char** argv) {
      WSADATA wsaData;
      SOCKET ConnectSocket = INVALID_SOCKET;
      struct addrinfo* result = NULL,
            * ptr = NULL,
            hints;
      char recvbuf[DEFAULT_BUFLEN];
      int iResult;
      int recvbuflen = DEFAULT_BUFLEN;
      // The handshake initiation request
      const unsigned char buff_handshake_p1[] = {
            0x00, 0x00, 0x00, 0x00
```

```
};
      // Contains the version 1.14.9
      const unsigned char buff_handshake_p2[] = {
            0x00, 0x00, 0x00, 0x2f, 0x1f, 0x8b, 0x08, 0x00, 0x00, 0x00,
            0x00, 0x00, 0x00, 0xff, 0x8b, 0x2e, 0x4b, 0x2d, 0x2a, 0xce,
            0xcc, 0xcf, 0x8b, 0xe5, 0xe2, 0x84, 0xb2, 0x6c, 0x95, 0x0c,
            0xf5, 0x0c, 0x4d, 0xf4, 0x2c, 0x95, 0xb8, 0xa2, 0xf5, 0xe1,
            0x92, 0x5c, 0x00, 0xc0, 0x38, 0xd3, 0xd7, 0x28, 0x00, 0x00,
            0x00
      };
      // Contains the username FFFAAAKKKEEE
      const unsigned char buff_send_name[] = {
            0x00, 0x00, 0x00, 0x3a, 0x1f, 0x8b, 0x08, 0x00, 0x00, 0x00,
            0x00, 0x00, 0x00, 0xff, 0x8b, 0xce, 0xc9, 0x4f, 0xcf, 0xcc,
            0x8b, 0xe5, 0xe2, 0x2c, 0x2d, 0x4e, 0x2d, 0xca, 0x4b, 0xcc,
            0x4d, 0xb5, 0x55, 0x72, 0x73, 0x73, 0x73, 0x74, 0x74, 0xf4,
            0xf6, 0xf6, 0x76, 0x75, 0x75, 0x55, 0xe2, 0x8a, 0xd6, 0x87,
            0xaa, 0xe0, 0x02, 0x00, 0xa1, 0xfc, 0x19, 0x4c, 0x2b, 0x00,
            0x00, 0x00
      };
      iResult = WSAStartup(MAKEWORD(2, 2), &wsaData);
      if (iResult != 0) {
            printf("WSAStartup failed: %d\n", iResult);
            return 1;
      }
      ZeroMemory(&hints, sizeof(hints));
      hints.ai_family = AF_INET;
      hints.ai_socktype = SOCK_STREAM;
      hints.ai_protocol = IPPROTO_TCP;
      iResult = getaddrinfo("127.0.0.1", "15000", &hints, &result);
      if (iResult != 0) {
            printf("getaddrinfo failed: %d\n", iResult);
            WSACleanup();
            return 1;
      }
      ptr = result;
      ConnectSocket = socket(ptr->ai_family, ptr->ai_socktype, ptr-
>ai_protocol);
```

```
if (ConnectSocket == INVALID_SOCKET) {
            printf("Error at socket(): %ld\n", WSAGetLastError());
            freeaddrinfo(result);
            WSACleanup();
            return 1;
      }
      iResult = connect(ConnectSocket, ptr->ai_addr, (int)ptr->ai_addrlen);
      if (iResult == SOCKET_ERROR) {
            closesocket(ConnectSocket);
            ConnectSocket = INVALID_SOCKET;
      }
      freeaddrinfo(result);
      if (ConnectSocket == INVALID_SOCKET) {
            printf("Unable to connect to server!\n");
            WSACleanup();
            return 1;
      }
      iResult = send(ConnectSocket, (const char*)buff_handshake_p1,
(int)sizeof(buff_handshake_p1), 0);
      printf("Bytes Sent: %ld\n", iResult);
      iResult = recv(ConnectSocket, recvbuf, recvbuflen, 0);
      printf("Bytes received: %d\n", iResult);
      iResult = send(ConnectSocket, (const char*)buff_handshake_p2,
(int)sizeof(buff_handshake_p2), 0);
      printf("Bytes Sent: %ld\n", iResult);
      iResult = recv(ConnectSocket, recvbuf, recvbuflen, 0);
      printf("Bytes received: %d\n", iResult);
      iResult = send(ConnectSocket, (const char*)buff_send_name,
(int)sizeof(buff_send_name), 0);
      printf("Bytes Sent: %ld\n", iResult);
      do {
            iResult = recv(ConnectSocket, recvbuf, recvbuflen, 0);
            if (iResult > 0)
                  printf("Bytes received: %d\n", iResult);
            else if (iResult == 0)
```

```
printf("Connection closed\n");
else
printf("recv failed with error: %d\n", WSAGetLastError());
} while (iResult > 0);
closesocket(ConnectSocket);
WSACleanup();
return 0;
}
```

A.17 Wesnoth ChatBot

Referenced in Chapter 6.4.

An example chatbot that will connect to a local Wesnoth 1.14.9 server with the username **ChatBot** and respond to the **\wave** command.

The majority of the code is based on the Winsock example provided by Microsoft: https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/windows/win32/winsock/complete-client-code

```
#include <stdio.h>
#include <winsock2.h>
#include <ws2tcpip.h>
#pragma comment(lib, "Ws2_32.lib")
#include <zlib.h>
#define DEFAULT_BUFLEN 512
void send_data(const unsigned char *data, size_t len, SOCKET s) {
    gzFile temp_data = gzopen("packet.gz", "wb");
    gzwrite(temp_data, data, len);
    gzclose(temp_data);
```

```
FILE* temp_file = NULL;
    fopen_s(&temp_file, "packet.gz", "rb");
    if (temp_file) {
        size_t compress_len = 0;
        unsigned char buffer[DEFAULT_BUFLEN] = { 0 };
        compress_len = fread(buffer, 1, sizeof(buffer), temp_file);
        fclose(temp_file);
        unsigned char buff_packet[DEFAULT_BUFLEN] = { 0 };
        memcpy(buff_packet + 3, &compress_len, sizeof(compress_len));
        memcpy(buff_packet + 4, buffer, compress_len);
        int iResult = send(s, (const char*)buff_packet, compress_len + 4, 0);
        printf("Bytes Sent: %ld\n", iResult);
    }
}
bool parse_data(unsigned char *buff, int buff_len) {
    unsigned char data[DEFAULT_BUFLEN] = { 0 };
    memcpy(data, buff + 4, buff_len - 4);
    FILE* temp_file = NULL;
    fopen_s(&temp_file, "packet_recv.gz", "wb");
    if (temp_file) {
        fwrite(data, 1, sizeof(data), temp_file);
        fclose(temp_file);
    }
    gzFile temp_data_in = gzopen("packet_recv.gz", "rb");
    unsigned char decompressed_data[DEFAULT_BUFLEN] = \{ 0 \};
    gzread(temp_data_in, decompressed_data, DEFAULT_BUFLEN);
    fwrite(decompressed_data, 1, DEFAULT_BUFLEN, stdout);
    gzclose(temp_data_in);
    return strstr((const char*)decompressed_data, (const char*)"\\wave");
}
int main(int argc, char** argv) {
    WSADATA wsaData;
    SOCKET ConnectSocket = INVALID_SOCKET;
    struct addrinfo* result = NULL,
        * ptr = NULL,
```

```
hints;
    unsigned char recvbuf[DEFAULT_BUFLEN];
    int iResult;
    int recvbuflen = DEFAULT_BUFLEN;
    // The handshake initiation request
    const unsigned char buff_handshake_p1[] = {
        0x00, 0x00, 0x00, 0x00
    };
    iResult = WSAStartup(MAKEWORD(2, 2), &wsaData);
    if (iResult != 0) {
        printf("WSAStartup failed: %d\n", iResult);
        return 1;
    }
    ZeroMemory(&hints, sizeof(hints));
    hints.ai_family = AF_INET;
    hints.ai_socktype = SOCK_STREAM;
    hints.ai_protocol = IPPROTO_TCP;
    iResult = getaddrinfo("127.0.0.1", "15000", &hints, &result);
    if (iResult != 0) {
        printf("getaddrinfo failed: %d\n", iResult);
        WSACleanup();
        return 1;
    }
    ptr = result;
    ConnectSocket = socket(ptr->ai_family, ptr->ai_socktype, ptr-
>ai_protocol);
    if (ConnectSocket == INVALID_SOCKET) {
        printf("Error at socket(): %ld\n", WSAGetLastError());
        freeaddrinfo(result);
        WSACleanup();
        return 1;
    }
    iResult = connect(ConnectSocket, ptr->ai_addr, (int)ptr->ai_addrlen);
    if (iResult == SOCKET_ERROR) {
        closesocket(ConnectSocket);
        ConnectSocket = INVALID_SOCKET;
    }
```

```
freeaddrinfo(result);
    if (ConnectSocket == INVALID_SOCKET) {
        printf("Unable to connect to server!\n");
        WSACleanup();
        return 1;
    }
    iResult = send(ConnectSocket, (const char*)buff_handshake_p1,
(int)sizeof(buff_handshake_p1), 0);
    printf("Bytes Sent: %ld\n", iResult);
    iResult = recv(ConnectSocket, (char*)recvbuf, recvbuflen, 0);
    printf("Bytes received: %d\n", iResult);
    const unsigned char version[] = "[version]\nversion=\"1.14.9\"\n[/
version]";
    send_data(version, sizeof(version), ConnectSocket);
    iResult = recv(ConnectSocket, (char*)recvbuf, recvbuflen, 0);
    printf("Bytes received: %d\n", iResult);
    const unsigned char name[] = "[login]\nusername=\"ChatBot\"\n[/login]";
    send_data(name, sizeof(name), ConnectSocket);
    const unsigned char first_message[] = "[message]\nmessage=\"ChatBot
connected\"\nroom=\"lobby\"\nsender=\"ChatBot\"\n[/message]";
    send_data(first_message, sizeof(first_message), ConnectSocket);
    do {
        iResult = recv(ConnectSocket, (char*)recvbuf, recvbuflen, 0);
        if (iResult > 0)
            printf("Bytes received: %d\n", iResult);
        else if (iResult == 0)
            printf("Connection closed\n");
        else
            printf("recv failed with error: %d\n", WSAGetLastError());
        if (parse_data(recvbuf, iResult)) {
            const unsigned char message[] = "[message]\nmessage=\"Hello!
\"\nroom=\"lobby\"\nsender=\"ChatBot\"\n[/message]";
            send_data(message, sizeof(message), ConnectSocket);
        }
    } while (iResult > 0);
```

```
closesocket(ConnectSocket);
WSACleanup();
return 0;
```

A.18 Wesnoth Proxy

Referenced in Chapter 6.5.

}

An example proxy for Wesnoth 1.14.9 that allows interception and modification of traffic from a Wesnoth game client to a Wesnoth server. In this case, any time the proxy sees the chat message **\wave**, it will send an additional chat message saying **Hello!**.

The majority of the code is based on the Winsock example provided by Microsoft: https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/windows/win32/winsock/complete-client-code and https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/windows/win32/winsock/complete-client-code and https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/windows/win32/winsock/complete-client-code and https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/windows/win32/winsock/complete-server-code

```
#include <winsock2.h>
#include <ws2tcpip.h>
#include <stdio.h>
#pragma comment (lib, "Ws2_32.lib")
#define DEFAULT_BUFLEN 512
#define DEFAULT_PORT "27015"
#include <zlib.h>
void send_data(const unsigned char* data, size_t len, SOCKET s) {
    gzFile temp_data = gzopen("packet.gz", "wb");
    gzwrite(temp_data, data, len);
    gzclose(temp_data);
    FILE* temp_file = NULL;
    fopen_s(&temp_file, "packet.gz", "rb");
    if (temp_file) {
        size_t compress_len = 0;
        unsigned char buffer[DEFAULT_BUFLEN] = { 0 };
```

```
compress_len = fread(buffer, 1, sizeof(buffer), temp_file);
        fclose(temp_file);
        unsigned char buff_packet[DEFAULT_BUFLEN] = { 0 };
        memcpy(buff_packet + 3, &compress_len, sizeof(compress_len));
        memcpy(buff_packet + 4, buffer, compress_len);
        int iResult = send(s, (const char*)buff_packet, compress_len + 4, 0);
        printf("Bytes Sent: %ld\n", iResult);
    }
}
bool parse_data(unsigned char* buff, int buff_len) {
    unsigned char data[DEFAULT_BUFLEN] = \{ 0 \};
    memcpy(data, buff + 4, buff_len - 4);
    FILE* temp_file = NULL;
    fopen_s(&temp_file, "packet_recv.gz", "wb");
    if (temp_file) {
        fwrite(data, 1, sizeof(data), temp_file);
        fclose(temp_file);
    }
    gzFile temp_data_in = gzopen("packet_recv.gz", "rb");
    unsigned char decompressed_data[DEFAULT_BUFLEN] = { 0 };
    gzread(temp_data_in, decompressed_data, DEFAULT_BUFLEN);
    fwrite(decompressed_data, 1, DEFAULT_BUFLEN, stdout);
    gzclose(temp_data_in);
    return strstr((const char*)decompressed_data, (const char*)"\\wave");
}
int main(void)
{
    WSADATA wsaData;
    int iResult;
    SOCKET ListenSocket = INVALID_SOCKET;
    SOCKET ClientSocket = INVALID_SOCKET;
    SOCKET ServerSocket = INVALID_SOCKET;
    struct addrinfo* result = NULL,
        hints;
```

```
int iSendResult;
    unsigned char recvbuf[DEFAULT_BUFLEN];
    int recvbuflen = DEFAULT_BUFLEN;
    DWORD timeout = 1000;
    // Client Socket
    iResult = WSAStartup(MAKEWORD(2, 2), &wsaData);
    ZeroMemory(&hints, sizeof(hints));
    hints.ai_family = AF_INET;
    hints.ai_socktype = SOCK_STREAM;
    hints.ai_protocol = IPPROTO_TCP;
    hints.ai_flags = AI_PASSIVE;
    iResult = getaddrinfo(NULL, DEFAULT_PORT, &hints, &result);
    ListenSocket = socket(result->ai_family, result->ai_socktype, result-
>ai_protocol);
    iResult = bind(ListenSocket, result->ai_addr, (int)result->ai_addrlen);
    freeaddrinfo(result);
    iResult = listen(ListenSocket, SOMAXCONN);
    ClientSocket = accept(ListenSocket, NULL, NULL);
    closesocket(ListenSocket);
    // Server Socket
    ZeroMemory(&hints, sizeof(hints));
    hints.ai_family = AF_INET;
    hints.ai_socktype = SOCK_STREAM;
    hints.ai_protocol = IPPROTO_TCP;
    iResult = getaddrinfo("127.0.0.1", "15000", &hints, &result);
    ServerSocket = socket(result->ai_family, result->ai_socktype, result-
>ai_protocol);
    iResult = connect(ServerSocket, result->ai_addr, (int)result-
>ai_addrlen);
    freeaddrinfo(result);
    setsockopt(ServerSocket, SOL_SOCKET, SO_RCVTIMEO, (char*)&timeout,
sizeof(timeout));
    do {
        iResult = recv(ClientSocket, (char*)recvbuf, recvbuflen, 0);
        Sleep(100);
```

```
if (iResult > 0) {
            printf("Bytes received: %d\n", iResult);
            if (parse_data(recvbuf, iResult)) {
                const unsigned char message[] = "[message]\nmessage=\"Hello!
\"\nroom=\"lobby\"\nsender=\"ChatBot\"\n[/message]";
                send_data(message, sizeof(message), ServerSocket);
                Sleep(100);
            }
            iSendResult = send(ServerSocket, (char*)recvbuf, iResult, 0);
            Sleep(100);
            printf("Bytes sent: %d\n", iSendResult);
            iResult = recv(ServerSocket, (char*)recvbuf, recvbuflen, 0);
            Sleep(100);
            if (iResult != SOCKET_ERROR) {
                iSendResult = send(ClientSocket, (char*)recvbuf, iResult, 0);
                Sleep(100);
            }
        }
        else if (iResult == 0)
            printf("Connection closing...\n");
        else
            printf("recv failed with error: %d\n", WSAGetLastError());
    } while (iResult > 0 || WSAGetLastError() == WSAETIMEDOUT);
    iResult = shutdown(ClientSocket, SD_SEND);
    closesocket(ClientSocket);
    closesocket(ServerSocket);
    WSACleanup();
    return 0;
}
```

A.19 DLL Injector

Referenced in Chapter 7.1.

A DLL injector that loads the specified DLL into Urban Terror.

To load static and dynamic libraries, Windows executables can use the **LoadLibraryA** API function. This function takes a single argument, which is a full path to the library to load.

HMODULE LoadLibraryA(
 LPCSTR lpLibFileName
);

If we call **LoadLibraryA** in our injector's code, the DLL will be loaded into our injector's memory. Instead, we want our injector to force the game to call **LoadLibraryA**. To do this, we will use the **CreateRemoteThread** API to create a new thread in the game. This thread will then execute **LoadLibraryA** inside the game's running process.

However, since the thread is running inside the game's memory, **LoadLibraryA** will not be able to find the path of our DLL specified in our injector. To get around this, we have to write our DLL's path into the game's memory. To ensure that we do not corrupt any other memory, we will also need to allocate additional memory inside the game using **VirtualAllocEx**.

```
#include <windows.h>
#include <tlhelp32.h>
// The full path to the DLL to be injected.
const char *dll_path = "C:\\Users\\IEUser\\source\\repos\\wallhack\\Debug\
\wallhack.dll";
int main(int argc, char** argv) {
    HANDLE snapshot = 0;
    PROCESSENTRY32 pe32 = { 0 };
    DWORD exitCode = 0;
    pe32.dwSize = sizeof(PROCESSENTRY32);
```

```
// The snapshot code is a reduced version of the example code provided
by Microsoft at
      // https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/windows/win32/toolhelp/taking-a-
snapshot-and-viewing-processes
      snapshot = CreateToolhelp32Snapshot(TH32CS_SNAPPROCESS, 0);
      Process32First(snapshot, &pe32);
      do {
           // We only want to operate on the Urban Terror process
            if (wcscmp(pe32.szExeFile, L"Quake3-UrT.exe") == 0) {
                  // First, we need to get a process handle to use for the
following calls
                  HANDLE process = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true,
pe32.th32ProcessID);
                  // So we don't corrupt any memory, allocate additional
memory to hold our DLL path
                  void *lpBaseAddress = VirtualAllocEx(process, NULL,
strlen(dll_path) + 1, MEM_COMMIT, PAGE_READWRITE);
                  // Write our DLL path into the memory we just allocated
inside the game
                  WriteProcessMemory(process, lpBaseAddress, dll_path,
strlen(dll_path) + 1, NULL);
                  // Create a remote thread inside the game that will execute
LoadLibraryA
                  // To this LoadLibraryA call, we will pass the full path of
our DLL that we wrote into the game
                  HMODULE kernel32base = GetModuleHandle(L"kernel32.dll");
                  HANDLE thread = CreateRemoteThread(process, NULL, 0,
(LPTHREAD_START_ROUTINE)GetProcAddress(kernel32base, "LoadLibraryA"),
lpBaseAddress, 0, NULL);
                  // To make sure that our DLL is injected, we can use the
following two calls to block program execution
                  WaitForSingleObject(thread, INFINITE);
                  GetExitCodeThread(thread, &exitCode);
                  // Finally free the memory and clean up the process handles
                  VirtualFreeEx(process, lpBaseAddress, 0, MEM_RELEASE):
                  CloseHandle(thread);
                  CloseHandle(process);
                  break;
```

```
}
} while (Process32Next(snapshot, &pe32));
return 0;
```

A.20 Pattern Scanner

Referenced in Chapter 7.2.

}

A pattern scanner that will search a running Wesnoth process for the bytes 0x29 42 04. These bytes are the opcode for the **sub** instruction that is responsible for subtracting gold from a player when recruiting a unit.

The scanner works by using **CreateToolhelp32Snapshot** to find the Wesnoth process and the main Wesnoth module. Once located, a buffer is created and the module's memory is read into that buffer. The module's memory mainly contains opcodes for instruction. Once loaded, we loop through all the bytes in the buffer and search for our pattern. Once found, we print the offset.

```
#include <windows.h>
#include <tlhelp32.h>
#include <stdio.h>
// Our opcode pattern to scan for inside the process
unsigned char bytes[] = { 0x29, 0x42, 0x04 };
int main(int argc, char** argv) {
    HANDLE process_snapshot = 0;
    HANDLE module_snapshot = 0;
    PROCESSENTRY32 pe32 = { 0 };
    MODULEENTRY32 me32;
    DWORD exitCode = 0;
    pe32.dwSize = sizeof(PROCESSENTRY32);
    me32.dwSize = sizeof(MODULEENTRY32);
```

 $\ensuremath{//}$ The snapshot code is a reduced version of the example code provided by Microsoft at

// https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/windows/win32/toolhelp/taking-asnapshot-and-viewing-processes process_snapshot = CreateToolhelp32Snapshot(TH32CS_SNAPPROCESS, 0); Process32First(process_snapshot, &pe32); do { // Only scan for patterns inside the Wesnoth process if (wcscmp(pe32.szExeFile, L"wesnoth.exe") == 0) { module_snapshot = CreateToolhelp32Snapshot(TH32CS_SNAPMODULE, pe32.th32ProcessID); // Retrieve a process handle so that we can read the game's memory HANDLE process = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true, pe32.th32ProcessID); Module32First(module_snapshot, &me32); do { // Wesnoth is made up of many modules. For our example, we only want to scan the main executable module's code if (wcscmp(me32.szModule, L"wesnoth.exe") == 0) { // Due to the size of the code, dynamically create a buffer after determining the size unsigned char *buffer = (unsigned char*)calloc(1, me32.modBaseSize); DWORD bytes_read = 0; // Read the entire code block into our buffer ReadProcessMemory(process, (void*)me32.modBaseAddr, buffer, me32.modBaseSize, &bytes_read); // For each byte in the game's code, check to see if the pattern of bytes starts at the byte for (unsigned int i = 0; i < me32.modBaseSize sizeof(bytes); i++) { for (int j = 0; j < sizeof(bytes); j++) { // If so, continue to check if all the bytes match. If one does not, exit the loop if (bytes[j] != buffer[i + j]) { break; } // If we are at the end of the loop, the bytes must all match if (j + 1 == sizeof(bytes)) {

A.21 Memory Scanner

Referenced in Chapter 7.3.

A memory scanner for Wesnoth that allows you to search, filter, and edit memory inside the process. This code can be adapted to any target and is intended to show how tools like Cheat Engine work.

The scanner has three main operations:

- search
- filter
- write

The search operation will scan all memory from 0x00000000 to 0x7FFFFFFF and use **ReadProcessMemory** to determine if the address holds a certain value. Because

ReadProcessMemory fails if a process doesn't have access to an address, the memory is scanned in blocks. Any values that match are saved to **res.txt**.

The filter operation iterates over all addresses in **res.txt** to determine if they match the provided value. If so, they are saved to **res_fil.txt**. At the end, **res_fil.txt** is copied over to **res.txt**.

The write operation uses **WriteProcessMemory** to write a passed value to all addresses in **res.txt**

CreateToolhelp32Snapshot is used to find the Wesnoth process, and **OpenProcess** is used to retrieve a handle.

```
#include <windows.h>
#include <tlhelp32.h>
#include <stdio.h>
#define size 0x00000808
// The search function scans all memory from 0x00000000 to 0x7FFFFFFF for the
passed value
void search(const HANDLE process, const int passed_val) {
      FILE* temp_file = NULL;
      fopen_s(&temp_file, "res.txt", "w");
      unsigned char* buffer = (unsigned char*)calloc(1, size);
      DWORD bytes_read = 0;
      for (DWORD i = 0x00000000; i < 0x7FFFFFFF; i += size) {</pre>
            ReadProcessMemory(process, (void*)i, buffer, size, &bytes_read);
            for (int j = 0; j < size - 4; j += 4) {
                  DWORD val = 0;
                  memcpy(&val, &buffer[j], 4);
                  if (val == passed_val) {
                        fprintf(temp_file, "%x\n", i + j);
                  }
            }
      }
      fclose(temp_file);
      free(buffer);
}
```

```
// The filter function takes a list of addresses in res.txt and checks to see
// if they match the provided value. If so, they are written to res_fil.txt
// After the initial pass, filter writes all the addresses in res_fil.txt to
res.txt
void filter(const HANDLE process, const int passed_val) {
      FILE* temp_file = NULL;
      FILE* temp_file_filter = NULL;
      fopen_s(&temp_file, "res.txt", "r");
      fopen_s(&temp_file_filter, "res_fil.txt", "w");
      DWORD address = 0;
      while (fscanf_s(temp_file, "%x\n", &address) != EOF) {
            DWORD val = 0;
            DWORD bytes_read = 0;
            ReadProcessMemory(process, (void*)address, &val, 4, &bytes_read);
            if (val == passed_val) {
                  fprintf(temp_file_filter, "%x\n", address);
            }
      }
      fclose(temp_file);
      fclose(temp_file_filter);
      fopen_s(&temp_file, "res.txt", "w");
      fopen_s(&temp_file_filter, "res_fil.txt", "r");
      while (fscanf_s(temp_file_filter, "%x\n", &address) != EOF) {
            fprintf(temp_file, "%x\n", address);
      }
      fclose(temp_file);
      fclose(temp_file_filter);
      remove("res_fil.txt");
}
// The write function writes a value to every address in res.txt
void write(const HANDLE process, const int passed_val) {
      FILE* temp_file = NULL;
      fopen_s(&temp_file, "res.txt", "r");
      DWORD address = 0;
      while (fscanf_s(temp_file, "%x\n", &address) != EOF) {
            DWORD bytes_written = 0;
```

```
WriteProcessMemory(process, (void*)address, &passed_val, 4,
&bytes_written);
      }
      fclose(temp_file);
}
// The main function is retrieving a process handle to Wesnoth, parsing the
program's arguments and passing
// execution to the proper operation
int main(int argc, char** argv) {
      HANDLE process_snapshot = 0;
      PROCESSENTRY32 pe32 = \{ 0 \};
      pe32.dwSize = sizeof(PROCESSENTRY32);
      // The snapshot code is a reduced version of the example code provided
by Microsoft at
      // https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/windows/win32/toolhelp/taking-a-
snapshot-and-viewing-processes
      process_snapshot = CreateToolhelp32Snapshot(TH32CS_SNAPPROCESS, 0);
      Process32First(process_snapshot, &pe32);
      do {
            // Only retrieve a process handle for Wesnoth
            if (wcscmp(pe32.szExeFile, L"wesnoth.exe") == 0) {
                  // Retrieve a process handle so that we can read and write
the game's memory
                  HANDLE process = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true,
pe32.th32ProcessID);
                  // Convert the second parameter to a DWORD-like value
                  char* p;
                  long value = strtol(argv[2], &p, 10);
                  // Depending on the first argument, pass execution to the
search, filter, or write operations
                  if(strcmp(argv[1], "search") == 0) {
                        search(process, value);
                  }
                  else if(strcmp(argv[1], "filter") == 0) {
                        filter(process, value);
                  }
                  else if (strcmp(argv[1], "write") == 0) {
```

```
write(process, value);
}
// Close the process handle
CloseHandle(process);
break;
}
while (Process32Next(process_snapshot, &pe32));
return 0;
}
```

A.22 Disassembler

Referenced in Chapter 7.4.

A limited disassembler that will search for a running Wesnoth process and then disassemble **0x50** bytes starting at **0x7ccd91**. These instructions are responsible for subtracting gold from a player when recruiting a unit.

The disassembler works by using **CreateToolhelp32Snapshot** to find the Wesnoth process and the main Wesnoth module. Once it is located, a buffer is created and the module's memory is read into that buffer. The module's memory mainly contains opcodes for instruction. Once they are loaded, we loop through all the bytes in the buffer and disassemble them based on the reference provided by Intel <u>here</u>.

```
#include <windows.h>
#include <tlhelp32.h>
#include <stdio.h>
#define START_ADDRESS 0x7ccd91
// The 8 possible operand values
const char modrm_value[8][4] = {
    "eax",
    "ecx",
    "edx",
    "ebx",
    "ebp",
    "esp",
    "esp",
    "esi",
```

```
"edi"
};
// Table 2-2 in the reference document describes how to retrieve the operands
from a ModR/M value
int decode_operand(unsigned char* buffer, int location) {
      if (buffer[location] >= 0xC0 && buffer[location] <= 0xFF) {</pre>
            printf("%s, %s", modrm_value[buffer[location] % 8],
modrm_value[(buffer[location] >> 3) % 8]);
            return 1;
      }
      else if (buffer[location] >= 0x80 && buffer[location] <= 0xBF) {
            DWORD displacement = buffer[location + 1] | (buffer[location + 2]
<< 8) | (buffer[location + 3] << 16) | (buffer[location + 4] << 24);</pre>
            printf("[%s+%x], %s", modrm_value[buffer[location] % 8],
displacement, modrm_value[(buffer[location] >> 3) % 8]);
            return 5;
      }
      else if (buffer[location] >= 0x40 && buffer[location] <= 0x7F) {</pre>
            printf("[%s+%x], %s", modrm_value[buffer[location] % 8],
buffer[location+1], modrm_value[(buffer[location] >> 3) % 8]);
            return 2;
      }
      return 1;
}
int main(int argc, char** argv) {
      HANDLE process_snapshot = 0;
      HANDLE module_snapshot = 0;
      PROCESSENTRY32 pe32 = \{ 0 \};
      MODULEENTRY32 me32;
      DWORD exitCode = 0;
      pe32.dwSize = sizeof(PROCESSENTRY32);
      me32.dwSize = sizeof(MODULEENTRY32);
      // The snapshot code is a reduced version of the example code provided
by Microsoft at
      // https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/windows/win32/toolhelp/taking-a-
snapshot-and-viewing-processes
      process_snapshot = CreateToolhelp32Snapshot(TH32CS_SNAPPROCESS, 0);
      Process32First(process_snapshot, &pe32);
```

do { // Only disassmble the Wesnoth process if (wcscmp(pe32.szExeFile, L"wesnoth.exe") == 0) { module_snapshot = CreateToolhelp32Snapshot(TH32CS_SNAPMODULE, pe32.th32ProcessID); // Retrieve a process handle so that we can read the game's memory HANDLE process = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true, pe32.th32ProcessID); Module32First(module_snapshot, &me32); do { // Wesnoth is made up of many modules. For our example, we only want to scan the main executable module's code if (wcscmp(me32.szModule, L"wesnoth.exe") == 0) { // Due to the size of the code, dynamically create a buffer after determining the size unsigned char* buffer = (unsigned char*)calloc(1, me32.modBaseSize); DWORD bytes_read = 0; // Read the entire code block into our buffer ReadProcessMemory(process, (void*)me32.modBaseAddr, buffer, me32.modBaseSize, &bytes_read); DWORD loc = 0; unsigned int i = START_ADDRESS -(DWORD)me32.modBaseAddr; // For each byte in the game's code, attempt to disassmble it while (i < START_ADDRESS + 0x50 -(DWORD)me32.modBaseAddr) { printf("%x:\t", i + (DWORD)me32.modBaseAddr); switch (buffer[i]) { case 0x1: printf("ADD "); i++; i += decode_operand(buffer, i); break; case 0x29: printf("SUB "); i++;

```
i += decode_operand(buffer, i);
                                            break;
                                      case 0x74:
                                            printf("JE ");
                                            printf("%x", i +
(DWORD)me32.modBaseAddr + 2 + buffer[i + 1]);
                                            i += 2;
                                            break;
                                      case 0x80:
                                            printf("CMP ");
                                            i++;
                                            i += decode_operand(buffer, i);
                                            break;
                                      case 0x8D:
                                            printf("LEA ");
                                            i++;
                                            i += decode_operand(buffer, i);
                                            break;
                                      case 0x8B:
                                      case 0x89:
                                            printf("MOV ");
                                            i++;
                                            i += decode_operand(buffer, i);
                                            break;
                                      case 0xE8:
                                            printf("CALL ");
                                            i++;
                                            loc = buffer[i] | (buffer[i+1] <<</pre>
8) | (buffer[i+2] << 16) | (buffer[i+3] << 24);
                                            printf("%x", loc + (i +
(DWORD)me32.modBaseAddr) + 4);
                                            i += 4;
                                            break;
                                      default:
                                            printf("%x", buffer[i]);
                                            i++;
                                            break;
                                      }
                                      printf("\n");
                               }
                               free(buffer);
                               break;
                         }
```

```
} while (Module32Next(module_snapshot, &me32));
        CloseHandle(process);
        break;
     }
} while (Process32Next(process_snapshot, &pe32));
return 0;
}
```

A.23 Debugger

Referenced in Chapter 7.5.

An example of a Windows debugger that will attach to a running Assault Cube 1.2.0.2 process, change a specific instruction to an **int 3** instruction (**0**xCC), and then restore the original instruction when the breakpoint is hit. The instruction modified only executes when the player is firing, allowing us to verify that the debugger is working as intended.

```
#include <windows.h>
#include <tlhelp32.h>
#include <stdio.h>
int main(int argc, char** argv) {
    HANDLE process_snapshot = NULL;
    HANDLE thread_handle = NULL;
    HANDLE process_handle = NULL;
    PROCESSENTRY32 pe32 = { 0 };
    DWORD pid;
    DWORD continueStatus = DBG_CONTINUE;
    DWORD bytes_written = 0;
    BYTE instruction_break = 0xcc;
    BYTE instruction_normal = 0x8b;
    DEBUG_EVENT debugEvent = { 0 };
```

```
CONTEXT context = \{ 0 \};
    bool first_break_has_occurred = false;
    pe32.dwSize = sizeof(PROCESSENTRY32);
    // Iterate through all active processes and find the Assault Cube process
    process_snapshot = CreateToolhelp32Snapshot(TH32CS_SNAPPROCESS, 0);
    Process32First(process_snapshot, &pe32);
    do {
        if (wcscmp(pe32.szExeFile, L"ac_client.exe") == 0) {
            // Save the pid and write the int 3 instruction to 0x0046366C
            pid = pe32.th32ProcessID;
            process_handle = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true,
pe32.th32ProcessID);
            WriteProcessMemory(process_handle, (void*)0x0046366C,
&instruction_break, 1, &bytes_written);
    } while (Process32Next(process_snapshot, &pe32));
    // Attach the debugger and enter the main debug loop
    DebugActiveProcess(pid);
    for (;;) {
        continueStatus = DBG_CONTINUE;
        if (!WaitForDebugEvent(&debugEvent, INFINITE))
            return 0;
        switch (debugEvent.dwDebugEventCode) {
        case EXCEPTION_DEBUG_EVENT:
            switch (debugEvent.u.Exception.ExceptionRecord.ExceptionCode)
            ł
            case EXCEPTION_BREAKPOINT:
                printf("Breakpoint hit");
                // Our main breakpoint code
                // This will first be hit when attaching, so ignore the first
time we enter this condition
                if (first_break_has_occurred) {
                    // If we break, open a handle to the thread that
triggered the event and revert back eip to the previous instruction
```
```
thread_handle = OpenThread(THREAD_ALL_ACCESS, true,
debugEvent.dwThreadId);
                    if (thread_handle != NULL) {
                        context.ContextFlags = CONTEXT_ALL;
                        GetThreadContext(thread_handle, &context);
                        context.Eip--;
                        SetThreadContext(thread_handle, &context);
                        CloseHandle(thread_handle);
                        // Then, write back the previous mov instruction so
our breakpoint does not trigger again
                        WriteProcessMemory(process_handle, (void*)0x0046366C,
&instruction_normal, 1, &bytes_written);
                    }
                }
                first_break_has_occurred = true;
                continueStatus = DBG_CONTINUE;
                break;
            default:
                continueStatus = DBG_EXCEPTION_NOT_HANDLED;
                break;
            }
            break;
        default:
            continueStatus = DBG_EXCEPTION_NOT_HANDLED;
            break;
        }
        ContinueDebugEvent(debugEvent.dwProcessId, debugEvent.dwThreadId,
continueStatus);
    }
    CloseHandle(process_handle);
    return 0;
}
```

A.24 Call Logger

Referenced in Chapter 7.6.

An example of a modified Windows debugger that will attach to a running Wesnoth process, locate all **call** instructions, and change them to an **int 3** instruction. When the breakpoint is hit, the location will be logged and the instruction will be restored. Then, after the instruction is executed, an **int 3** instruction will be rewritten to the location.

```
#include <windows.h>
#include <tlhelp32.h>
#include <stdio.h>
#include <Psapi.h>
#define READ_PAGE_SIZE 4096
int main(int argc, char** argv) {
    HANDLE process_snapshot = NULL;
    HANDLE thread_handle = NULL;
    HANDLE process_handle = NULL;
    PROCESSENTRY32 pe32 = \{ 0 \};
    DWORD pid;
    DWORD continueStatus = DBG_CONTINUE;
    DWORD bytes_written = 0;
    BYTE instruction_break = 0xcc;
    BYTE instruction_call = 0xe8;
    DEBUG_EVENT debugEvent = \{ 0 \};
    CONTEXT context = \{ 0 \};
    bool first_break_has_occurred = false;
    HMODULE modules \lceil 128 \rceil = \{ 0 \};
    MODULEINFO module_info = { 0 };
    DWORD bytes_read = 0;
    DWORD offset = 0;
    DWORD call_location = 0;
```

```
DWORD call_location_bytes_read = 0;
    DWORD last_call_location = 0;
    unsigned char instructions[READ_PAGE_SIZE] = { 0 };
    int breakpoints_set = 0;
    pe32.dwSize = sizeof(PROCESSENTRY32);
    // Iterate through all active processes and find the Wesnoth process
    process_snapshot = CreateToolhelp32Snapshot(TH32CS_SNAPPROCESS, 0);
    Process32First(process_snapshot, &pe32);
    do {
        if (wcscmp(pe32.szExeFile, L"wesnoth.exe") == 0) {
            // Save the pid and open a handle to the process
            pid = pe32.th32ProcessID;
            process_handle = OpenProcess(PROCESS_ALL_ACCESS, true,
pe32.th32ProcessID);
        }
    } while (Process32Next(process_snapshot, &pe32));
    // Attach the debugger and enter the main debug loop
    DebugActiveProcess(pid);
    for (;;) {
        continueStatus = DBG_CONTINUE;
        if (!WaitForDebugEvent(&debugEvent, INFINITE))
            return 0;
        switch (debugEvent.dwDebugEventCode) {
        case EXCEPTION_DEBUG_EVENT:
            switch (debugEvent.u.Exception.ExceptionRecord.ExceptionCode)
            {
            case EXCEPTION_BREAKPOINT:
                // On the initial attachment breakpoint, replace all calls
with breakpoints
                if (!first_break_has_occurred) {
                    thread_handle = OpenThread(THREAD_ALL_ACCESS, true,
debugEvent.dwThreadId);
                    printf("Attaching breakpoints\n");
```

// In this code, we will only log all calls in the main game module and not DLLs // To locate the address space of this module, retrieve all the modules and then get the first // module's address space EnumProcessModules(process_handle, modules, sizeof(modules), &bytes_read); GetModuleInformation(process_handle, modules[0], &module_info, sizeof(module_info)); // Next, loop through each section of memory and locate the opcode for calls (0xe8) for (DWORD i = 0; i < module_info.SizeOfImage; i +=</pre> READ_PAGE_SIZE) { // ReadProcessMemory will fail if the memory permissions are not correct for the page // To prevent a single failure from skipping all memory, read a single page of memory at a time ReadProcessMemory(process_handle, (LPVOID) ((DWORD)module_info.lpBaseOfDll + i), &instructions, READ_PAGE_SIZE, &bytes_read); for (DWORD c = 0; $c < bytes_read$; c++) { // If we detect an 0xe8, determine if it is a call instruction // We do this by first reading the next four bytes after the 0xe8 // We then use these bytes to calculate the call location // If this location is outside the address space of the main module, we ignore the opcode if (instructions[c] == instruction_call) { offset = (DWORD)module_info.lpBaseOfDll + i + с; ReadProcessMemory(process_handle, (LPVOID) (offset + 1), &call_location, 4, &call_location_bytes_read); call_location += offset + 5; if (call_location < (DWORD)module_info.lpBaseOfDll || call_location >(DWORD)module_info.lpBaseOfDll + module_info.SizeOfImage) continue: // If the call location is valid, write a break instruction (0xcc) at the address // In this case, 0x0040e3d8 and 0x0040e3ea are two commonly called addresses that contain low-level code

// To prevent them from clogging up the logs, we don't log these locations // In addition, having thousands of breakpoints can cause the executing program to crash // Therefore, we limit the amount of breakpoints to less than 2000 if (offset != 0x0040e3d8 && offset != 0x0040e3ea && breakpoints_set < 2000) {</pre> WriteProcessMemory(process_handle, (void*)offset, &instruction_break, 1, &bytes_written); FlushInstructionCache(process_handle, (LPVOID)offset, 1); breakpoints_set++; } } } } printf("Done attaching breakpoints\n"); } else { // If we break, open a handle to the thread that triggered the event and revert back eip to the previous instruction // Next, we will set single-step mode so that we can restore our breakpoint // After, we will write back the call instruction and continue execution of the program thread_handle = OpenThread(THREAD_ALL_ACCESS, true, debugEvent.dwThreadId); if (thread_handle != NULL) { context.ContextFlags = CONTEXT_ALL; GetThreadContext(thread_handle, &context); context.Eip--; context.EFlags |= 0x100;SetThreadContext(thread_handle, &context); CloseHandle(thread_handle); WriteProcessMemory(process_handle, (void*)context.Eip, &instruction_call, 1, &bytes_written); FlushInstructionCache(process_handle, (LPVOID)context.Eip, 1); last_call_location = context.Eip;

```
}
                }
                first_break_has_occurred = true;
                continueStatus = DBG_CONTINUE;
                break:
            case EXCEPTION_SINGLE_STEP:
                // This code will executed after we enter single-step mode in
the breakpoint statement above
                // Single-step mode executes a single instruction and then
triggers this debug event
                // Therefore, after we execute the call we broke on above,
restore the break instruction so that our breakpoints don't
                // only fire a single time
                thread_handle = OpenThread(THREAD_ALL_ACCESS, true,
debugEvent.dwThreadId);
                if (thread_handle != NULL) {
                    context.ContextFlags = CONTEXT_ALL;
                    GetThreadContext(thread_handle, &context);
                    CloseHandle(thread_handle);
                    WriteProcessMemory(process_handle,
(void*)last_call_location, &instruction_break, 1, &bytes_written);
                    FlushInstructionCache(process_handle,
(LPVOID)last_call_location, 1);
                    printf("0x%08x: call 0x%08x\n", last_call_location,
context.Eip);
                    last_call_location = 0;
                }
                continueStatus = DBG_CONTINUE;
                break;
            default:
                continueStatus = DBG_EXCEPTION_NOT_HANDLED;
                break;
            }
            break;
        default:
            continueStatus = DBG_EXCEPTION_NOT_HANDLED;
            break;
        }
        ContinueDebugEvent(debugEvent.dwProcessId, debugEvent.dwThreadId,
continueStatus);
```

```
}
CloseHandle(process_handle);
return 0;
```

}